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PART

In this Annual Report the terms AES the Company us or we refer to The AES Corporation and all of its

subsidiaries and affiliates collectively The term The AES Corporation and Parent Company refers only to the parent

publicly-held holding company The AES Corporation excluding its subsidiaries and affiliates

FORWARD-LOOKING INFORMATION

In this filing we make statements concerning our expectations beliefs plans objectives goals strategies and future

events or performance Such statements are forward-looking statements within the meaning of the Private Securities

Litigation Reform Act of 1995 Although we believe that these forward-looking statements and the underlying assumptions are

reasonable we cannot assure you that they will prove to be correct

Forward-looking statements involve number of risks and uncertainties and there are factors that could cause actual

results to differ materially from those expressed or implied in our forward-looking statements Some of those factors in

addition to others described elsewhere in this report and in subsequent securities filings include

the economic climate particularly the state of the economy in the areas in which we operate including the fact that

the global economy faces considerable uncertainty for the foreseeable future which further increases many of the

risks discussed in this Form 10-K

changes in inflation demand for power interest rates and foreign currency exchange rates including our ability to

hedge our interest rate and foreign currency risk

changes in the price of electricity at which our Generation businesses sell into the wholesale market and our Utility

businesses purchase to distribute to their customers and the success of our risk management practices such as our

ability to hedge our exposure to such market price risk

changes in the prices and availability of coal gas and other fuels including our ability to have fuel transported to

our facilities and the success of our risk management practices such as our ability to hedge our exposure to such

market price risk and our ability to meet credit support requirements for fuel and power supply contracts

changes in and access to the financial markets particularly changes affecting the availability and cost of capital in

order to refinance existing debt and finance capital expenditures acquisitions investments and other corporate

purposes

our ability to manage liquidity and comply with covenants under our recourse and non-recourse debt including our

ability to manage our significant liquidity needs and to comply with covenants under our senior secured credit

facility and other existing financing obligations

changes in our or any of our subsidiaries corporate credit ratings or the ratings of our or any of our subsidiaries

debt securities or preferred stock and changes in the rating agencies ratings criteria

our ability to purchase and sell assets at attractive prices and on other attractive terms

our ability to compete in markets where we do business

our ability to manage our operational and maintenance costs the performance and reliability of our generating

plants including our ability to reduce unscheduled down-times

our ability to locate and acquire attractive greenfield projects and our ability to finance construct and begin

operating our greenfield projects on schedule and within budget

our ability to enter into long-term contracts which limit volatility in our results of operations and cash flow such as

Power Purchase Agreements PPA fuel supply and other agreements and to manage counterparty credit risks in

these agreements

variations in weather especially mild winters and cooler summers in the areas in which we operate low levels of

wind or sunlight for our wind and solar businesses and the occurrence of difficult hydrological conditions for our

hydro-power plants as well as hurricanes and other storms and disasters

our ability to meet our expectations in the development construction operation and performance of our new

facilities whether greenfield brownfield or investments in the expansion of existing facilities



the success of our initiatives in other renewable energy projects as well as greenhouse gas emissions reduction

projects and energy storage projects

our ability to keep up with advances in technology

the potential effects of threatened or actual acts of terrorism and war

the expropriation or nationalization of our businesses or assets by foreign governments whether with or without

adequate compensation

our ability to achieve expected rate increases in our Utility businesses

changes in laws rules and regulations affecting our international businesses

changes in laws rules and regulations affecting our North America business including but not limited to

regulations which may affect competition the ability to recover net utility assets and other potential stranded costs

by our utilities

changes in law resulting from new local state federal or international energy legislation and changes in political or

regulatory oversight or incentives affecting our wind business our solar joint venture our other renewables projects

and our initiatives in greenhouse gas reductions and energy storage including tax incentives

changes in environmental laws including requirements for reduced emissions of sulfur nitrogen carbon mercury

hazardous air pollutants and other substances greenhouse gas legislation regulation andlor treaties and coal ash

regulation

changes in tax laws and the effects of our strategies to reduce tax payments

the effects of litigation and government and regulatory investigations

our ability to maintain adequate insurance

decreases in the value of pension plan assets increases in pension plan expenses and our ability to fund defined

benefit pension and other post-retirement plans at our subsidiaries

losses on the sale or write-down of assets due to impairment events or changes in management intent with regard to

either holding or selling certain assets

changes in accounting standards corporate governance and securities law requirements

our ability to maintain effective internal controls over financial reporting

our ability to attract and retain talented directors management and other personnel including but not limited to

financial personnel in our foreign businesses that have extensive knowledge of accounting principles generally

accepted in the United States

the performance of business and asset acquisitions including our acquisition of DPL Inc and our ability to

successfully integrate and operate acquired businesses and assets such as DPL and effectively realize anticipated

benefits and

information security breaches

These factors in addition to others described elsewhere in this Form 10-K including those described under Item 1A
Risk Factors and in subsequent securities filings should not be construed as comprehensive listing of factors that could cause

results to vary from our forward-looking information

We undertake no obligation to publicly update or revise any forward-looking statements whether as result of new

information future events or otherwise If one or more forward-looking statements are updated no inference should be drawn

that additional updates will be made with respect to those or other forward-looking statements



ITEM BUSINESS

Overview

We are diversified power generation and utility company organized into six market-oriented Strategic Business Units

SBUs US United States Andes Chile Colombia and Argentina Brazil MCAC Mexico Central America and

Caribbean EMEA Europe Middle East and Africa and Asia We were incorporated in 1981

Item .Business is an outline of our strategy and our businesses by SBU including key financial drivers Additional

items that may have an impact on our businesses are discussed in Item 1A Risk Factors and Item 3.Legal Proceedings

Strategy

Our strategic plan intends to maximize the risk-adjusted value of our portfolio for shareholders through our efforts to

execute upon the following objectives

First we are managing our portfolio of generation and utility businesses to create value for our stakeholders

including customers and shareholders through safe reliable and sustainable operations and effective cost

management

Second we are driving our business to manage capital more effectively and to increase the amount of discretionary

cash available for deployment into debt repayment growth investments shareholder dividends and share buybacks

Third we are realigning our geographic focus To this end we will continue to exit markets where we do not have

competitive advantage or where we are unable to earn fair risk-adjusted return relative to monetization

alternatives In addition we will focus our growth investments on platform expansions or opportunities to expand

our existing operations

Finally we are working to reduce the cash flow and earnings volatility of our businesses by proactively managing

our currency commodity and political risk exposures mostly through contractual and regulatory mechanisms as

well as commercial hedging activities We also will continue to limit our risk by utilizing non-recourse project

financing for the majority of our businesses

Business Lines Strategic Business Units

Within our six SBUs as discussed above we have two lines of business The first business line is generation where we

own and/or operate power plants to generate and sell power to customers such as utilities industrial users and other

intermediaries The second business line is utilities where we own and/or operate utilities to generate or purchase distribute

transmit and sell electricity to end-user customers in the residential commercial industrial and governmental sectors within

defined service area In certain circumstances our utilities also generate and sell electricity on the wholesale market

For each SBU the following table summarizes our generation and utility businesses by capacity number of facilities

utility customers and utility GWh sold

SBU Generation Capacity Gross MW Generation Facilities Utility Customers Utility GWh Utility Businesses

Us
Generation 6015 13

Utilities 6934 18 1.2 million 35595

Andes

Generation 8075 33

Brazil

Generation 3298 13

Utilities 8.0 million 55190

MCAC

Generation 3140 13

Utilities 1.3 million 3655

EMEA
Generation 7513 23

Utilities 936 11 1.0 million 3569

Asia

Generation 1248
______________ ____________ ______________

37159 127 ll.5million 98009

29609 proportional MW Proportional MW is equal to gross MW times AES equity ownership percentage



Generation

We currently own and/or operate generation portfolio of 29289 MW excluding the generation capabilities of our

integrated utilities Our generation fleet is diversified by fuel type See discussion below under Fuel Costs

Performance drivers of our generation businesses include types of electricity sales agreements plant reliability and

flexibility fuel costs fixed-cost management sourcing and competition

E/ectricitt Sales Contracts

Our generation businesses sell electricity under medium- or long-term contracts contract sales or under short-term

agreements in competitive markets short-term sales

oniraci Sales Most of our generation fleet sells electricity under contracts Our medium-term contract sales have term

of to years
while our long-term contracts have term of more than years Across our portfolio the

average remaining

contract term is years

In contract sales our generation businesses recover variable costs including fuel and variable operations and maintenanceOM costs either through direct or indexation-based contractual pass-throughs or tolling arrangements When the contract

does not include fuel pass-through we typically hedge fuel costs or enter into fuel supply agreements for similarcontract

period see discussion under Fuel Costs These contracts are intended to reduce exposure to the volatility of fuel prices and

electricity prices by linking the businesss revenues and costs These contracts also help us to fund significant portion of the

total capital cost of the project through long-term non-recourse project-level financing

Capacity Payments and Contract Sales Most of our contract sales include capacity payment that covers projected fixed

costs of the plant including fixed OM expenses and return on capital invested In addition most of our contracts require

that the majority of the capacity payment be denominated in the
currency matching our fixed costs including debt and return

on capital invested Although our project debt may consist of both fixed and floating rate debt we typically hedge significant

portion of our exposure to variable interest rates For foreign exchange we generally structure the revenue of the business to

match the currency of the debt and fixed costs Some of our contracted businesses also receive regulated market based

capacity payment which are discussed in more detail in the Capacity Payments and Short-Term Sales section

Thus these contracts or other related commercial arrangements significantly mitigate our exposure to changes in power

and fuel prices currency
fluctuations and changes in interest rates In addition these contracts generally provide for

recovery

of our fixed operating expenses and return on our investment as long as we operate the plant to the reliability and efficiency

standards required in the contract

Short- Term Sales Our other generation businesses sell power and ancillary services under short-term contracts with an

average term of less than years including spot sales directly in the short-term market or in some cases at regulated prices

The short-term markets are typically administered by system operator to coordinate dispatch Short-term markets generally

operate on merit order dispatch where the least expensive generation facilities based upon variable cost or bid price are

dispatched first and the most expensive facilities are dispatched last The short-term price is typically set at the marginal cost of

energy or bid price the cost of the last plant required to meet system demand As result the cash flows and earnings

associated with these businesses are more sensitive to fluctuations in the market price for electricity In addition many of these

wholesale markets include markets for ancillary services to support the reliable operation of the transmission system Across

our portfolio we provide wide array of ancillary services including voltage support frequency regulation and spinning

reserves

In certain markets such as Argentina and Kazakhstan regulator establishes the prices for electricity and fuel and adjusts

them periodically for inflation changes in fuel prices and other factors In these cases our businesses are particularly sensitive

to changes in regulation

Capaciti Payments and Short-Term Sales Many of the markets in which we operate include regulated capacity markets

These capacity markets are intended to provide additional revenue based upon availability without reliance on the
energy

margin from the merit order dispatch Capacity markets are typically priced based on the cost of new entrant and the system

capacity relative to the desired level of reserve margin generation available in excess of peak demand Our generating

facilities selling in the short-term markets typically receive capacity payments based on their availability in the market Our

most significant capacity revenues are earned by our generation capacity in Ohio and Northern Ireland



Plant Reliability and Flexibility

Our contract and short-term sales provide incentives to our generation plants to optimally manage availability operating

efficiency and flexibility Capacity payments under contract sales are frequently tied to meeting minimum standards In short-

term sales our plants must be reliable and flexible to capture peak market prices and to maximize market-based revenues In

addition our flexibility allows us to capture ancillary service revenue meeting local market needs

Fuel Costs

For our thermal generation plants fuel is significant component of our total cost of generation For contract sales we

often enter into fuel supply agreements to match the contract period or we may hedge our fuel costs Some of our contracts

have periodic adjustments for changes in fuel cost indices In those cases we have fuel supply agreements with shorter terms to

match those adjustments For certain projects we have tolling arrangements where the power offiaker is responsible for the

supply and cost of fuel to our plants

In short-term sales we sell power at market prices that are generally reflective of the market cost of fuel at the time and

thus
procure

fuel supply on short-term basis generally designed to match up with our market sales profile Since fuel price is

often the primary determinant for power prices the economics of projects with short-term sales are often subject to volatility of

relative fuel prices

30% of our generation fleet is coal-fired In the United States most of our plants are supplied from domestic coal At our

non-U.S generation plants and at our plant in Hawaii we source coal internationally Across our fleet we utilize our global

sourcing program to maximize the purchasing power of our fuel procurement

36% of our generation plants are fueled by natural gas Generally we use gas from local supplies in each market few

exceptions to this are AES Gener in Chile where we purchase imported gas from third parties and our plants in the Dominican

Republic where we import Liquefied Natural Gas LNG to utilize in the local market

5% of our generation fleet utilizes oil diesel and petroleum coke pet coke for fuel Oil and diesel are sourced locally

at prices linked to international markets while pet coke is largely sourced from Mexico and the U.S The remaining 29% of our

portfolio is comprised mostly of hydro wind and solar generation plants and energy storage capacity which do not have

significant fuel costs

Renewable Generation Facilities

We currently own and operate 9216 MW 4959 proportional MW of renewable generation including hydro wind

energy storage biomass and landfill gas Additionally in 2008 we formed 50/50 joint venture with Riverstone to develop

own and operate solar installations Since its launch Silver Ridge Power has commenced commercial operations of 522 MW
261 Proportional MW of solar projects in Bulgaria France Greece India Italy Puerto Rico and Spain and has 266 MW 133

Proportional MW under construction

Energy Storage

AES has more than 170 MW of battery-based grid resources in commercial operation today primarily in the U.S and

Chile By adding these energy storage solutions to existing platforms in its SBUs AES is better serving its customers needs for

reliability services AES is working to further develop its energy storage fleet by adding storage capabilities to projects in

operation and construction and those in advanced development One key market AES is exploring for energy storage

development is California where the Utilities Commission approved target for procurement of approximately 1300 MW of

storage-based resources

Seasonality Weather Variations and Economic Activity

Our generation businesses are affected by seasonal weather patterns throughout the year and therefore operating margin

is not generated evenly by month during the year Additionally weather variations including temperature solar and wind

resources and hydrological conditions may also have an impact on generation output at our renewable generation facilities

See Item Managements Discussion and Analysis Key Trends and Uncertainties of this Form 10-K for further details of

the impact of dry hydrological conditions In competitive markets for power local economic activity can also have an impact

on power demand and short-term prices for power



Fixed-Cost Management

In our businesses with long-term contracts the majority of the fixed operating and maintenance costs are recovered

through the capacity payment However for all generation businesses managing fixed costs and reducing them over time is

driver of business performance

Gmpetition

For our businesses with medium- or long-term contracts there is limited competition during the term of the contract For

short-term sales plant dispatch and the price of electricity are determined by market competition and local dispatch and

reliability rules

Utilities

AES utility businesses distribute power to more than II million people in four countries These businesses also include

generation capacity totaling 7870 MW 7458 proportional MW These businesses have variety of structures ranging from

integrated utility to pure transmission and distribution businesses

In general our utilities sell electricity directly to end-users such as homes and businesses and bill customers directly

Key performance drivers for utilities include the regulated rate of return and tariff seasonality weather variations economic

activity reliability of service and competition

Regulated Rate of Return and Tariff

In exchange for the exclusive right to sell or distribute electricity in franchise area our utility businesses are subject to

government regulation This regulation sets the prices tariffs that our utilities are allowed to charge retail customers for

electricity and establishes service standards that we are required to meet

Our utilities are generally permitted to earn regulated rate of return on assets determined by the regulator based on the

utilitys allowed regulatory asset base capital structure and cost of capital The asset base on which the utility is permitted

return is determined by the regulator and is based on the amount of assets that are considered used and useful in serving

customers Both the allowed return and the asset base are important components of the utilitys earning power The allowed rate

of return and operating expenses deemed reasonable by the regulator are recovered through the regulated tariff that the utility

charges to its customers

The tariff may be reviewed and reset by the regulator from time to time depending on local regulations or the utility may
seek change in its tariffs The tariff is generally based upon certain usage level and may include pass-through to the

customer of costs that are not controlled by the utility such as the costs of fuel in the case of integrated utilities and/or the

costs of purchased energy In addition to fuel and purchased energy other types of costs may be passed through to customers

via an existing mechanism such as certain environmental expenditures that are covered under an environmental tracker at our

utility in Indiana Indianapolis Power Light Company IPL Components of the tariff that are directly passed through to

the customer are usually adjusted through summary regulatory process or an existing formula-based mechanism In some

regulatory regimes customers with demand above an established level are unregulated and can choose to contract with other

retail energy suppliers directly and pay wheeling and other non-bypassable fees which are fees to the distribution company

for use of its distribution system

The regulated tariff generally recognizes that our utility businesses should recover certain operating and fixed costs as

well as manage uncollectible amounts quality of service and non-technical losses Utilities therefore need to manage costs to

the levels reflected in the tariff or risk non-recovery of costs or diminished returns

Seasonality Weather Variations and Economic Activity

Our utility businesses are affected by seasonal weather patterns throughorn the
year and therefore the operating revenues

and associated operating expenses are not generated evenly by month during the year Additionally weather variations may also

have an impact based on the number of customers temperature variances from normal conditions and customers historic usage

levels and patterns The retail kilowatt hours kwh sales after adjustments for weather variations are affected by changes in

local economic activity energy efficiency and distributed generation initiatives as well as the number of retail customers



Reliability of Service

Our utility businesses must meet certain reliability standards such as duration and frequency of outages Those standards

may be specific with incentives or penalties for performance against these standards In other cases the standards are implicit

and the utility must operate to meet customer expectations

Competition

Our integrated utilities such as IPL and The Dayton Power Light Company DPL operate as the sole distributor

of electricity within their respective jurisdictions Our businesses own and operate all of the businesses and facilities necessary

to generate transmit and distribute electricity Competition in the regulated electric business is primarily from the on-site

generation of industrial customers however in Ohio customers in our service territory have the ability to switch to alternative

suppliers for their generation service Our integrated utilities particularly DPL are exposed to the volatility in wholesale

prices to the extent our generating capacity exceeds the native load served under the regulated tariff and short-term contracts

See the full discussion under the US SBU

At our pure transmission and distribution businesses such as those in Brazil and El Salvador we face relatively limited

competition due to significant barriers to entry At many of these businesses large customers as defined by the relevant

regulator can leave and choose to return to regulated service

Development and Construction

We develop and construct new generation facilities For our utility businesses new plants may be built in response to

customer needs or to comply with regulatory developments and are developed subject to regulatory approval that permits

recovery of our capital cost and return on our investment For our generation businesses our priority for development is

platform expansion opportunities where we can add on to our existing facilities in our key platform markets where we have

competitive advantage We make the decision to invest in new projects by evaluating the project returns and financial profile

against fair risk-adjusted return for the investment and against alternative uses of capital including corporate debt repayment

and share buybacks

In some cases we enter into long-term contracts for output from new facilities prior to commencing construction To

limit required equity contributions from The AES Corporation we also seek non-recourse project debt financing and other

sources of capital including partners where it is commercially attractive For construction we typically contract with third

party to manage construction although our construction management team supervises the construction work and tracks

progress against the projects budget and the required safety efficiency and productivity standards

Environmental Matters

We are subject to various international federal state and local regulations in all of our markets These regulations govern

such items as the determination of the market mechanism for setting the system marginal price for energy
and the establishment

of guidelines and incentives for the addition of new capacity

We are also subject to various federal state regional and local environmental protection and health and safety laws and

regulations governing among other things the generation storage handling use disposal and transportation of hazardous

materials the emission and discharge of hazardous and other materials into the environment and the health and safety of our

employees These laws and regulations often require lengthy and complex process
of obtaining and renewing permits and

other governmental authorizations from federal state and local agencies Violation of these laws regulations or permits can

result in substantial fines other sanctions suspension or revocation of permits andlor facility shutdowns See later in Item

Business Environmental and Land Use Regulations for further regulatory and environmental discussion

Strategic Business Units

All SBUs include generation facilities and four include utility businesses The Company measures the operating

performance of its SBUs using Adjusted Pre-Tax Contribution Adjusted PTC non-GAAP measure see definition below

AES primary sources of Revenue Operating Margin and Adjusted PlC are from generation and utility businesses The

contribution to Adjusted PTC by SBU for the year ended December 31 2013 is shown below The percentages shown are the

contribution by each SBU to gross Adjusted PlC i.e the total Adjusted PTC by SBU before deductions for Corporate See

Item 8.Financial Statements and Supplementary Data of this Form 10-K for reconciliation
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In pioxtinatcls of Ad uste ss as cC nO ibuted by out hi si set in tha \niei teas including the

\tidcs Ilraztl sn SElf Asia md Ml accounted for tIme ctnanut

We define Adjuskd P1 preV ix nic mc from onti
iunip Opel ittons ate it utahlc to excluding gain or sses of

the consolidated
itity

due to unrealized tins tfl losses telated to rts tt\ tatisaction unteali ed lot cign cut rcney

tins or In se sionific tnt patti ii lo ses due to ispo it ions intl
qiti

itt il il busiiies intei ests signil icint losses

uL to at ent id ctt due thc en Ccciii nt Pct P1t Vu it lud uet equity ii unings oi

dl iliates on an alA rta basis Adjusted Pt in eicli 5131 includes the tIer of ink teoinpany tiansactions with other 5131

othet than ultetest and chir cs for certain ma agement ctvice

Rit/cs

routinels cur miter and addre isks soni hid nii tuse out lttnt suit to diff nt inietimes

mak Li Ils dill rent thir pre ntl\ uiticipatr he itcp itt of ish ste has nIt tit lied Item Ri if to 01 tl ik

oim It tin hid tIn ollostug

risks related tc out high let el of indebtedness

risk associ ited ss itli ui at lit1 to use neeC ipitil

cxtetn1 risk associated ss ith tevc ne and cat ni igs Sc il

isks associat with out operations and

isks associat is ith gov nnmeittal tegn lation an II iws

categori ol isk identified above ire disC ussed in
gre tAt ol in Item if ra of this IV tm these

ist factor houl he id in conjunction is ith Itcni zia 0/nc/I IPs it oh ii o/ oianc iii ondiiion ai

lt nii Thi and th unsulidateu in mci to inc us ii no uieiu lcd is liete in this
rcpoit

Ow Oigani7ation and Segnenis

Ii scgrnen cporttng structn usc th oinpany iIuitgcmcnt pot tin stint ic as inndation to 11 ct hinis the

Company nianages the business internally arid organized by mogi aphi fcfioi litelt not Ic hette socto political

economic undcistandinc of out business lie ii macmi nt ic pornus sti tuic is meantzed alon ax strategic httsuie units

5131 lcd hs our hid xecutis 0111cc Cl Irn inc the louttli qtmai tcr of 01 ni onjurn lion is th fmalizanou of

its epom ing stru It tIe Compmns met tscd itmtc nil pitt inn to ii ien ni ite In ss ith its lit itioti \s esult the



onipany applied the aLcounting gUdance for segment reportine and detennined that its reportable segments uc aligni ith

tI six Sill as hJow

\udc SBI

Btaiil SBI

Mt AC SBIJ

MFSflt

Coipoiate
md 01/i financial reporting pui pose the ompany Corporate aclis itrcs are repot tcd within

orporatc and Other because they do not tequir sepal ate disclosurc undea segment rcpoting accounting gwdance Sec

IC in Man igrnu nt Dic notion and 4nayszs of inau Ia oizdi0i and Ri suIts of Opti ations and Note Sc gnu in and

Ge ogiap/ne Information included in item manna Statements and Supplemc ntam Data of this Foim for further

discussion of the oinpariy segment structure iscd fbr financial rcportuig purposes

Sils ci idpe Power and certain other tint onsoledated businesses are account fot rising the equity method of ace ounting

eCi taair catira iesulto aic nrlieie in
Nii quitv in atnings olAfliliates on the face of the Consolidated

Statements of Operations not in res curie and opt rating margin

Cot pot Ito md Othcr also uielude costs dated to corpotate ox eihead which ai not dirt ctly associ ited rth the

opetailon of ma ix ri pootable segments and other intercompany charges such as sell insurance pierniums Inch ate fully

eliminated in consolidation See Note Sego tent and oy rap/in Infom motion included in Item cia Statements

and Snppi no ii Da oF this oan tSK inlor milton on cx ernie lionI external customer dimsted 11 non

measure and total assets by segment

lie followrnf clesci ihes our busucsses sx mthmn our six 5131

SP

Our Sill is generation
theilitir irid two integrated utilities in the nited States Our opcrations accounted

for mncl of corwolidatcd Al opcrating rnirgin
and 24c 20 an 11006 of consolidated ALS adjusted PT

nei \P mci urc in 013 2012 utd 2011 spectix clv he perce ntagcs shown are the contribution bx our SB1 to

ross opcrat no margin and adjusted P1 fore dcduetrons fbi Corporate

OOt

01

cmration apacity
12 949 gross MW 12949 proportional MW

ulrtie Pcneta thou 11 70000 customers 35 591 iWh

Jon tin ii acrirtus

tilits lIt slnessc integrated utilities includes 18 neneration plants

Key nciata Businesses Southland Hawaii and US Wind

KcItifil3usrncss
IPI and 111

311
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he lolloss ing map illusti ates the locatioi of ow US facilities

Businesses

Utilities

Jfusinms Dr ii Itwn IP \f owns all of di outstanding common stock of IPI is engaged primal ilv in generating

tran mUting di tribuling and selling ekctric enugy to more than 470000 customers in the city of Indianapolis and neighboring

are is ithin the state of Indiana 1P1 has an cclusisc right to provide ctictric sersicc to those custom rs lP1 seivi area

cos eis about 28 squame
miles with popnhtioii of ippioximitely 919000 WI owns and operates tour gcneiating stations

ss of thi genc rating stations are primam ily coal fired he third station has combination of units that rise co ml haselo

capacity nawral gas
and or oil peaking ipa ity tom fu to produce electricity he fourth station is small peaking station

rh it rises gas
fired comnbustwu tui hint icch foi the podnction if eleti iity III net cleetric ncritioi capaciU fm

ss inter is 427 MW and net summer capacity is 148 M\

Afar kct Stmuctwr P1 is one of many tm usinis ion ystein ncr mi mb is in the Midcontinent lii lependent stem

Operatom Inc MlSY MIS is Regional ransnnssion Organii iti in FO which maintains tune tiorial contmol Os er the

eombincd tiansmission system fit incrnbei and man igcs one of tIn largest em rg and ancillary seiviccs markcts in the

.5 P1 ofDrs the as uilahlc electricity pro luction of ach of it genci ation assets into the MIS day ahead and real tune

urkets \IIS pei ales on mci it om der dmsp tch conside inc truisniissioim coristrnnts and other reliability issu to wee the

total demand in the M1S region

rgul itor 12 imi war/i

Rr tail Rak rnakaii In addition to the mwulatmons rcftired to below in Regulatoi Matleis lPl is suhjet to

regulation by the Indiana tihity Regul itoiy Hnnimssion lIR with respect to IPLs service arid facilities retail iate arid

haige the issuance of long teim sccui ities rid cci tam othem mattcrs lb megulatory po cm of the If over IPl business

is both comprehensive and typical of the traditional form of regulation generally imposed by state public utility conunissions

IPI tam mU mites foi lmlric Sri ice to ctaml istomei onsmst of hisu mates and ch irees which are set and approvcd by the

II after public beam nigs If pivu onsideratmon to all illowable cost for maternakimig purposes mcludin$ fan retum ri

omi the imr Slut of the utility pioperty
used an usefiml in pmos iding seivice to customers In addition IPI rates include

sam iou adjustment rncehamiisms including but riot limite Ito tho to retlict hangcs in tuel cmts to generiR el ctm icky or

purchase pow prices referrcd to as Fuel Adlustnient imges AC arid fbr the timels recovery ot costs wcmnmed to

empl with as oiinir ntil amid reutatm el as Iii mranmi rital ornpl iincr ost Rccos ets Adjustniemit
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DPI wns pcakng net iti units iL prcicntint th located in Ohio md indiana

DPLI coint Ltti5 to tail nit Is tail wI its to or tI in 10 000 iet ustoniers ii Ohio and Illinois

\p io\iniatr l\ b0 hwr bit ilio dioti to iLi of lP thin

i/ad Si at

ucianai iii /tin bnicr lanti is 0f cledi ir en 4oincrs oithni Ohio has hLn peimitted to choose to purchase

po ci Linder coutrac ten ot ipct Itto lull tnc et icr Pt no ide RIoS Pros idet or continue to purchas poo cr

toot bit bc il utility under .4 utdaid Sei si fRi 550 Ic tablished by tai iii 11 and ithei Ohio utilities conintue
to ii toe the air lusior ii ht to provide dcho ci sen ice ni then stat cci tifie territories and DP has th obligation to supply
ictail prner ition exs icr to customers that lot loSe an al tci itilis ipplier lIrpi ining in 2014 portion of the SSO
Pcneration supply will ito Ion be suppl by ut so ill he os id ho thud pat tic through the competitis bid

proce peicctit of ti aSO load ill hr nec tluough cot iv tilts bid in 2014 40c in 2015 70 in 2016 and 100 in

201 he Public ti ities otno ssion of Ohio Pt in tint tins
ui tsdiction os or DP deltvo

ty
of elwtrictty SSO and

other tctail dcclii is es hr Pt lets irr cot its talc liovo uid hen customer can sso ito Ii

gent ration

supphts ow the local utility will nitci tat is th RI .5 Pio idci and turners includine loi billing and coil etion putp om
and which iii nts of utility iato are bvpas ebb avoided by customer thil alec Cs CR1 rovtdei and which
c5r nnts ar non ly s2 ra to alt itolu tit cci vni disri ihunon scm ice iii cspccttvc 01 what entity

pios ides the retail generation cii teol Sco ci uinututics ni DPi sctvi mica base passed oidmnrnccs allowing the

roinntLnutic to hecoi ic citnnent aogi itO fir the putpose of offering retail generation sets icc to then residcnco

Os emIl it in nk prices as or 11 as os ott nietit ttion initiat withi DP servic te itot lvii rI ot

may lead to thr ntnaiir htio it tO
onip or itt iii sets ic ten itot cii t0 tlw ycat ended December 31 2013

approximately 42c of or tonict icpicoitttn of UI or till energy usage CR it witlnn DPi sets ice area had
elected to obtain their

suppt sci ice trotn Rh Pio virbei DPI stibsidiaty DPI If is CR1 Provtdei that has been

nianketint generation tomes to customers ir Ohiri and Illitto is both inside aitd outside DPl service tetritoty Dui mug 1013
DPI 1k accounted lot ippi oxnnately 4iii llioi kR and othrn RI Piovidens accounted for about 411 million
kWh oil th total 4a rnillir it CR sr plir hi RI rrio iolcrs so ithin DP1 romeo trriitors the olume supplied
ho DPI If ept sents DP1 toil il it trthut ott volunto drit tug if II DPL cuniently eattnot determine thr extent to

which cu tooter sssitcli to RI Pros ide will un ni the futunr itid the ipact this ill Into on its operations but ant
additional switchirie could Ii too malt ted ad rise dir dl it its Iutuio so Its ol opetations hnatto tab condition attd molt flows

JbI /5 /Iti 11 is not ihr ti 1341 Ii tr into in PJM he PJM RIO operates the Ii tnsntissiott

systetits ow tied by utilities 01 ci iting in all on ttt ot cttn Is ante No os let sey Maty It nd Delawaic Virgitti Ohio
\4cst Vii rinia Kentu Nor Ii arol in let esscc ndi tie in II llnioi 3M It is an ink itcol

plarttimttg process to tolcnli
fy

potential noerls fin adolittotial tian mis moat tr be built to asoiol fSttni rd ibility piobbo mo PJM al ruits the rIaoaltcad and
meal time rtcngv manko Is anr llai

.s ii tcc irk and In Vat capacity nimrket fbi its menthet 45 metubem of P144
also uhjcct to cli tree and sts assoe tIed itIt 141 opet elicit

ap in is liv tIme ederal
itergy Rcgulatoiy omnnnssmon

11d he Rchabilmy 11 icing \loolei km Vt is it cellar itt eoitsti trot tie
purpose of RPM is tr enable PJM to ohtmmt

sul ticient Idsoturecs tr melt thly meet tIm ncr ds of el cli mc customers svmthim bIte PJM iotprnit PJM cotiduets in trtctmomt to

cot ibli the pm icc by zone IPl lur ito ttas heo located ni th test oil the RIO amea of IM

lie PJM if euctiritts tie held thiee it itt irIs uioL Ion op mod on et nip 12 tiiorttlts statrmrg front June \ucttoi

lot flit pam iodt cnn Jtmrm dl
thtmorigli May Ui copcetenl to take plaec ni May of 2014 utcite auction result

ate depemtolent upo an mis fa to iic1udn the ol in nirl utd supply snuatiomt eapac ty additions amid Ietmro mnemtts amid
any

chattecs in lb cciii nt toie in nlcs mel ted Chin tend nsr attol en igy efficiency nut oes iii the RPM
eapaci auctions in ooo nct itr ati ii 114 tie thlc iis itS prie and tpacity deere for periods thiouoh the cttmctmon

year th16 arc as folIo is

ucin mm an toot ii ttao 20t0 20156 204 201 201 2/t 2011

5tpactty Ic trittU Pnte MV 559 8136 5126 528 816 5110
ipictt lea od MW 31 319 1455 151 1609 66

tt calemid an is cap tr mt
liii

rtnmtuel
tap icits ins emtnin eatmied

projer ted to he eat micol ho DII as

20t6 20ts 2011 2111

oin dci So Icr iso ho Pi lee 5150 Ny 91 54 383

Computed imoss 411 api to Re ie Cs ntillto 5111 5151 810 029
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th it rs join ly owned and expec
ted to cease operations due to the inability to comply with the requirements under \T For

rnorc in lot rnrti see Ut/u nrted ciaies far/i onmenial and so egrslat/on and Regulations discussion later in this

ii Ii ian iii Pus

\liho rgh tIre reec it SI decision prosrdes somc clarity on the underlying di rvei through 2016 challenges remain for

114 SOi 0l

hrongh PI financial results are ikelv to he di is en by nirns factors including hut not limited to the lollowing

PiP capacity prices auctioned already as discussed ibovc

in hypassahlc its enuc $7 million in 2013 and allossed to ff0 $110 million anriuall\ from 2014 through 2016

Unstonic sss nd
ring competitive bidding and SS rates as discussed above

Retail margins
earned at DPIER

Ikyond 16 DPf financial drnsers inclnde many factors such as the ibllownlg

14 capacity pi ices

Recos civ in the power market particularly as it relates to an expansion
in dark spiLacts

Sale or tn ansfer to DPI all iliate of DPI gener ition assets

Pl ability to reduce its cost sIn ucture and lower tIre amount of iron recourse debt ct DPI

Sec Itt mi RisI facial for addition il discussion on DPI

teration

Ru Sr it eq 1/on In the iso ossni diversifi geriei atron portfblro in terms of geography technology and fuel

nrc lire Pr iilC npal roar kc ts here we are enaged in the generation arid supply of electricity energy arid capacity are the

stern 11 etri
ity oordinating Council Wi Ce PJM Southwest Power Pool leerr ic nery \es ork SPP and

lass iii AL Sorithland in tIre El is our most significant generating business

i/S Soul/i/and

Basic ci /es 91/an In terms of aggrerte inst riled capacity AbS Southland is one of di largest generation operators

in alilorrira is mtlr an installed capacity of 3941 MW accounting for approxiniatels 6o of the state installed capacity and

the peak deriianid of Southern Cal forrira dison he three coastal power plants eornpr ising Al Southland arc in areas

that arc ci inical for local reliability arid plas an iriiporlant role in integrating tire increasing amounts of renewable generation

resorrr cc in alrfbrrrr

WaA 5/ nc/nrc \Il of Southland capacity is contracied through long rerm agreement which expires in

rind 018 the lolluig \grcennent Under thc lolling Agreement Ars Southlands largest revenue dover is unit availability

ippr ornately 98U of its revenue come from asailahilnly related payments Historically Al Southland has generally met

or cxeccded its contractoal availability rcqurncrncnts rmnidcr the lolling Agi cement and may capture bonuses fbi exccedmng

ri lability quirensents in peak en nods

lie oPt iker under lii lolling Ngneement pros ides gas to lire three fincrlrties at rio cost therefore Al Socrthland is riot

exposed significant fuel price risk APS Southlancf does however guarantee the efficiency oft ach unit so than airy fuel

consumed in eXt ess of is hat wocrld Irise been consumed had the guaranteed efficiency been achieved is paid Ihr by AES

Southland Additionally if the units operate at an efficiency better than thc guaranteed cfficiencs APS Southland gets ci edit fbi

Inc aim ih ii nor consumed Ihe business is also exposed to the cost of replaccmcnt power for lrnnited tunic period if aniy of

tire plants arc dispatched by tire olttaken and arc not able to mcct the required dispatch schedule for generation of electric

mci

\i Socithlancl delis ers electn nenty into the California lmudcperndenrt Systc mu Operator nrnarket through its lolling

kcm cennncnt counter panty

Ri on/a/ocr am ooik

Iuri /rournenta/ tIn/b

15



Sit ii

%I

Ii

ii

itt ki

ii iii Ii

itt

%tI ly

II Vt
II

tat tl

it

ti IL
ti

sti

t1II II

iii

51

it It St

is
tilt

It ii it lit

itt

ati II

Itt nti Is

Ii

i_ It
itk Ii

Ii It

If Is

it ii



gulated affiliates of the seller 11 prevent mai fet manipulation Fl requires
11cr with ni trkr based rate nh riiy tile

ci in ep rt in md inc triennial updated iret power analysis for markets in ss hch thm ontrol certani threshold aim mis

Of enciatmon

Oth Reyulatoi flatter

fhe holesale dccli ily rirk consist of multmple distinct megiona
market that ame object th der il

me ulatmon as nplementcd by tine II und regional regulation as fined by ules dc mgnc
and in ipi inc ntcd bf tin

RIO non profit corpom at ions that op ate the regional tr umsmission grid and maintain oiganized marl is tom electr itt hese

ules for the mo pall govern sm itciims the tcrmmnation of the market mechanism for ttin thmr tern mnamgin price

foi en noy arid the tabhishment of guid hn Id entmses for the idditmori of cap iemtf lie Risk actors br

additi Mial discussion .8 megulatomy matter

busincsscs aie subject to Irnssion regulations sshieli may result ni mci ased operating costs oi the purchase o1

idditionil pollution contm II equipment if enimssion levels ire exceeded Our husniesses pci todically es icw then ohhigutton Ibm

compliance with envmroniriental 155 in ludin site restoration an remuediation Because of lii nnc itaintmcs associated with

ens nonmerital isses rnent and rcniediatn tel vmtme future sts of cong li inc or memcdiath il could be liiuhem on ncr thar

the tnlount cnn ently ace ued if iiiy oi disc ussion of environrlental laws arid egulatioris affc ting the ho iincs see

ait Stat Ln miin iitil ink land Lg lot on oimd RegIition tata ii thi Si ci mu tn it 11 the

ruic to establish maxin urn iclucs able control tcehnology standards Ri each haiardous aim pollutant mc ulat under the

An Set crnitte from coal and oil fir electric ilities known as MAI became efiLctmse

Thdes SRI

Our Andes SBU has generation fbcihities three countries bile oloinbia and rgentnia Our Sndes op nat ons

iccounted for 17 16 and 19 of onsohidatc lS Operating mrgin and 19 18 and 19 of Si Adju tc dl

nonthiAAP me ssune in 13 2012 and 2011 respectis ely he percent iges shown arc the contribution bt our Sndc 5131

gross Opem atmne Margin and \dj nstcd PT rc dedu lions ibm orpotatc

\l cidile whIm on all of ur aset ma Chile hisor olombm al leimno Vi ri \ii mPn dtnk he

uhlmely listed comp my mm bile SI has 1l ow mmership interest in Al umner am this bmmsmness onsohmdated mn our

mmmanci ml statements

Opematino Man inn 5dm ted 18

lh following talk provides higblmghls our Andes operations

oummnies Chii olomnhia and \rgemitimia

ncra1 api ii gmss MW t59 proponmuonI it \4 Vs

nemieration Iacmlmlies 3/ imicluding under comlstmuctnomi

cnenatmom Busmnesscs ______
AILS Jeg Imivom amid \lS

\mggmitinia

17
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he following map illustrates the location of our Andes facilities

lndes Businescs

hilc

8itsiruss /r icr ipli
In Chile through AFS Gcner we are engaged in the generation and supply of electricity energy

and capacity in thc to principal markets tlic Central lntcrconnected Ilcetricity System SIC and Northern interconnected

Icetricity System SING In terms of aggregate installed capacity AES Gener is the second largest generation operator in

hue with an installed capacity of 4081 MW including lermoAndes and excluding energy storage and market shaic of22o

is of Ieeemhcr 31 2011

jcrer wns di crsrfied eneratcn poilfobo luln turns ofgeoiaphy te hnolngv custnniers and fuel

souicc icncr installed capacity is located near the principal electricity consumption centers including Santiago

Vilparaiso md Antolbgasta AES Geners diverse generation porttdlro composed of hydroelectric coal gas diesel and

hiomass facilities allows the businesses to operate under variety of market and hydrological conditions manage Al Genem

cc ntract tat obligations with regulated md unregulated customers and as required pros ide back up spot market energy to the

Sl arid SING \LS icncr has experienced sigruficarit growth in recent years responding to market opportunities with the

completion of nine genc ration proec ts totaling proximately 700 MW and increasing Genci installed capacity by

49H from 2006 to 201 \dditiorially we are constructing art additional 255 MW comprised of the 152 coal fired

iuacc Ida mn the SI the 532 MW coaEfired Cochrane plant in the SING and the 31 MW Alto Maipo run of the river

hy Irocketi it pant in the SIC

ln bile we align Get crs contracts with their efficient generation capa itv contract ng significant portion of their

ba eload capacity cuirently coal and hydroclcctric under long4erm contiacts with diser died customer base which includes

both regulated md urireguhmted customers AF Gcner reserves its higher variable cost units as designated backup facilities

principally the diesch and gas fired units in hrle for sales to tire spot market during scarce system supply conditions such as

dry hydrolocical conditions arid plant outages In Chile sales on the spot market are made only to other generation companies

that arc members of the ides ant Economic Dispatch enter 11 at tire system marginal cost

Al Gcner currently has longterrn contracts with average terms of 13 and 16 yeats
with regulated distribution

t.ompamues and unregulated customers such as mining and industrial companies In general these long term contracts include

both fixed arid variable myments mlong with mndexation mnechanisnis wInch periodically adjust prices bas on the generation

19



iOTI ci

Its iii

hil

Liii

111% it.t
rn ndiik

ii
II

ii otI %bf Il
iN to

CIt III

till It

ti till

Ii

LsI lit
LI Ii

it.4 ii ii

Itt tfli

it II II

II tit ii

II Iti tI

idi tt
tlTlIt

liii

Ta
151 lit

itt Li it

sit
nalI

at ci it
It it hi

It tw i4 t114- %4Pts itt ittji us Oü oil II

..i in
1Y Lc Its

It ii II

In Cl

II It

ii

icli

It Cl

IL 11 ii



tc nanas and 11 and orgcner and II constr reted between 1964 nnd 1991 in 2012 As of December 31 201 41 encr

his ins isted app omm itely SI 55 million and expects the remaining $96 million will be insested in II in mdcc to ompls

vithin the requned time frame Additionally it equity method investee JO icolda started the installation of new cquipmcnt

diii in spendnig proxiinftels 536 million Cuacolda 11 and IV and the icmaining SI 85 mi llion will ins estcd

Issccn 2014 and 2016

lnlcai liss qu cv rx electricity gc nc atoi to supply certain portion of its total contractual oblijatrons ith non

ii .1 ic sebla ncgC RI In ctohcr IS lime MrRl iw wis ornenclc mn sine flit

reqmni cmcnts II law distinguishes beiwec nergy contrats executed before and after July 201 or cc ntracts ext toted

hctwen August 31 200/ and luly 201 the NCR icquneinent is cqm Ito 500 in 2014 with annual contiaci mere we of

until reaching 10 in 2024 lie RE quirement for onti acts ext cuted aftei JuN 201 Irs equal to in 13 ss ith

annual mncie sscs of thtreaft until reaching IN in 2020 and subsequently annual increases of wOmI it is equal to

20 in ntratiom companies are ible tc meet this requirement by developing their own NC Jfk generation cap mty

win sol sr bromass gcothcimal and small hydroelectric technology purchasing NC RFs from qurlifie gcneratoms or by

paymp thc plic mblc fn is lot nonic mphianc Al thener cuniently fulfills the NCR1 mequnements by utilizing Al cnc ms

ou iomass pouc ph rnts urd by purchasing NCR limit other gcrieiation companies It has sold certain is cr ii hts It

niparics th it arc ties oping
small hydi lN ts colt rim into powci purchase api cements is ith thc se comp nne ii cii cit

pronic Ic ds lop mient of these proicets while at the nne time meeting the NC Rh requirements At pres nt uen ni

the proc ol gotiating additional NC RI supply contiacts to meet tht futuic mcquireinenls

imanc mi li icr

Chile Al fieriers contr icting stratecy determining both the amount ol capacity to contract cm lease uncommitted loi

spot market sale an the reles ml pricimip
for mrilas including rndexation is mmnportumt to our profitability Al Cener aIim its

coon rcts with it cfflem nt gener itmon capacity contracting signific silt pot tion of its efficient capacity urmdei ltmn tnnrn

contmacts is hilt sci mt its hi her ai iahlc cost umnts fbi sales on the spot market lie pcrfmmance of its gc ncratin assets

efficiency and as ailmhility is also critical put of its strateks in otcler to mnaximiie contiacted margins an as cxpo we to

spot pm ice olatihit

Its tlse SI hvdmolc neal conditions are also an important financial dniser since they lmrgc Iv influersce plant cimspat Ii nsd

tIm refc in spot in rkct pniccs \FS lener beet rues short tenmsm purchase of electt icity from oth generation compammic durnm

rainy Is drok gical condi ions when spot niarket prices aic at their lowest amid Al Ge icrs spot sale of dcc tnt Iv ceneiatecl

by tlmeim back cm facilmtic misc cease in pcriods of low watei conditiomis whets spot markct prices are at tiscir Imighe BotI

xtrcisi lmydrologrcal conditions piovmde AlS icncr with umripmovcd earimings and ca flow

5mm 200/ Ah rei lsas comm tructec md initiated commercial operations of appmoximately 700 ofmrcw

cal at iN eprcscmsting significant portion cfl time mnmercisc in installed capacity arid mmsvcstrncnt in the SIC intl SING diii ing thc

eriod Ims Chml \h Cener Ii is two coakflrcd projects under construction itlm gross capucmty of 684 MW l5 MW of is Inch

is repre cnttcl by iuacolda in time noitherms part of tlsc SIC wInds is scheduled to begin operations in tIme sccoiscl half of 015

and the P55 oehm aim project iii the SI NC is Pit ii is expected to begin operations in 2010 lie Cochm ane procc misc lutles

41 item ty stom ag Protect is hcls also heduled to mn itmate opem atiomss in 2016 Additionally irs the SIC ieii

initiated eommstmuctmomm of tIme 531 MN two nmmmit Alto Mnpo un of river lsydioclectm me Protect nm nt ember 2013 mcljaccnt to cmi

xmstmisg \llalfal iwem plamu SIto Mampo is tic largest pemmitted project iii the Sl market and includes ilonsnter of

tunimiel svcsrk as part of th construction his pm ojcet is scheduled to slim opeuanrcms in 201 and is xpected to it prt sdTlt

spproxim
itelv of lie enemgy

demnsnd mm tls SI at that tnsme

th rn/na

This Dc ccmpim \s ol Dec nmber 31 2012 Al Gcnei rset posver pmoductioni in Colomssbia sins 373 iWh of

the cmOy tal gemier itmon hivo subsidiary of hIN cmscm osvmms Isydmoelecti mc ficlity wills installed ip winy ot 000

MW located appioxmmnatelv 160 kits east of tic gota he installed capacity represents appm oxinmately ba of systens capacity

ol Ike msihem II 2013 he plant comm msts of tight 125 MW damn based hydroelectric gcmscratimmg m.mImits in twcm separate srml

licmhtmcs All of Chisor mm stalled capacity mm Colombia is Imydioelcctmmc and is therefore depemsdcnmt oms the prevailing

hydmc4ogmcal conditions in tIme region in is hmch it opemates Iydrologicml conditiomms largely nifluence otmic atmomi intl ilme spot

pm mens it si Inch Ins on sells its noms conmtm acted gencmatiomm mu Colomnbia

lii in co nm icr mal stm atcgy fcwust mm clung betis cii /5c aim 85c of tlsc animstmal Lxpected output to them mntnmt

pm imicipally is ml distribution coinpanme in or her to provide cash flow stability hese bilateral contracts is ills distnmbumtmoms

commipammies am awarded in public bids md no inally last Imons one to thre years he remaining generation is sold omi the spc

rnimket to other gemscnatl ammd tradine companies at the sysfcmms marginal cost allow imsg us to maximmmme the tmpcratmmig nmaremn
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II of th ti ennoclectric lacilitres has tf ability to use natural gas and rccers gas supplied through contracts oh

rkeiitine produceis ln re cot ycus gas supply restrictions in Argentina partic ularly during the inter season have affLeted

somc of the plsnts specifically the ferrnoAndcs plant which is connected to the SING by transmission line owned by AE.S

Gener he ermoAndes plant commenced operations in 2000 selling exclusively into the hmlcmn SING In 2008 fo11o ing

requinments of thc Argentine authorities lermoAndes connected its tsvo gas turbines to the SADE while maintaining its steam

turbine connected to the SING However since mid December 2011 lermoAndes has been selling the plants full capacity in

the WI lermoAndes clectricity permit to export to the SING expired on January 31 2013 and potential renewal is being

cvalu ned

ket So uc hits IlL SADI electi icity market is managed by AMMI SA As of December 31 13 the mnstalkd

capacity of the WI totaled 31399 MW In 201 66 of total energy demand was supplied by thernmoelectnc plants 29 by

hy droc leeti ic plants and from nuclear wind and solar plants

lhernioele tire generation in the SAD1 is principally fueled by natural gas Iloweser since 2004 and due to natural gas

shortages in addition to increasing electricity demand the use of alternative fuels in thermoclectric generation such as oil arid

coal has increased user the importance of hydroelectric facilities in the SADI hydrological conditions deternnnrng riser hors

volumes and inn rml wat Icr els in reservoirs largely influence hydroelectric arid thermoelectric plant dispatch Rainfall occurs

principally in the southern cone rr inter season June to August

Re go/ak ii bfll it or

k/cc hr/c iti Regulation lie Argentine regulatory Ilamework divide the electricity sector into generation transmission

and distribution The sr holesak electric rssarkc is made up of generation companies transmission companies distribution

companies and laige custonrers who are allowed to buy and sell electricity Generation companies can sell their output ni thL

short term niarket or to customers in the contract market lhc wholesale electric niarket is administrated by CAMMI hA

which is responsible for dispatch coordination and determination of short term prices
lhe Flectricity National Regulatory

Agency is iii charge of regulating public sers ice actirities and the Ministry of Federal Planning Public investment and

Sers ices throueh the nergy Secretariat regulares system dispatch and grairts concessions or authorizations for sector

actrs rties

Sin 2001 significant modr reatrons have also been made to the electricity regulatory framers ork hese niodiheat ions

inclnrde tariff conversion to Areentinean Pesos freezing of tariffs the caricelation of inflation adlustment mechanisms and the

introduction of complex pricing system iii the wholesale electric market which hare materially affected clectr rcrtv gericrato

transporters and di triburoms and generated substantial price differences within the market Mmmcc 2004 as result of energy

niarkct rcfunmns and or endue accounts receivables orsed by the government to generators operating in Argentina AE Aig ntmna

contributed certain acconmnts receivables to fund the construction of ness powei plants under FONINVI Mt agreements

These recLrs nibles acer crc interest and are colIc ted in riionthly installments over 10 years once the related plants begin

operations
At this point three funds hare been creatLd to construct three facilities ihe first two plants are operating anal

payments arc being reeds ed srhrlc the third p1 mt is under constructIon ALS Argcntma rs ill reec ive pro rata owner ship

interest in these or rs lvthuilt plants once the accounts receivables has been paid 5er ltLm Gaj Rcsounea and Lzqudfv

Long lenin Rat civabic arid Note inancing Reeeivab/c for lurthem discussion of receivables in Argentina

On March26 201 the Secretariat of nergy released Resolution 95 2013 which afiects the remuneration of 2erscrators

rshose sales prices had been frozen since 2003 This new regulation which modified the curreist regulatory fiamesvonk ton the

clectn icity nnsdustry is rpplicable to generation companies with certain exceptions it defined new compensation systenr based

on compens sting for fixed costs non fuel raniable costs and an additional margin Resolution 95 2013 converted the Argentine

electric market torsards an average cost con ipensation scheme increasing revenues of generators that were not sellnnm their

prodnrctron undrr the bnrergy Plnrs scheme cur under energy supply contracts with CAMMFSA Resolution 95 201 applies to all

of Argentinas p1 mnits excluding TennroAmides I3ased on Note 2053 sent by the Mirsrstry of Lnergy in March ntis

iindenstuud thai Icr mo \ndes units are riot affected by the re lutioni since they sell under else niengv
Plus scheme

lhenmal units mu achrcre an arailahility target which varies by technology in order to reccise full fixed cost rarenues

Ihe mailability of most cit \ES Arhentinas units exceeds this rnamket average As result of Resolution 95 201% revenues to

AlS Angerstmnias thermal nnits nncneased while the impact on hydroelectric units is dependent on hydrology lhe ness

resolution also tablished that all lards except coal are to be provided by CAMMISA hermoelectrnc natunal gas plants not

alfeeted by the rcsolutnon snnch as IermoAmidcs mire able to puiehase gas directly fiom the producers or nergy
Plans sales

Additionally under the resolution thc energy margin is dmvmdcd into two components One component of the margin is

pand on monthly basis anal the second component is held as receivable which will he contributed for future power projects

to be defined hr the authorities similar to FONLNVEMFM The receivables component is lowen than in prevrous regnilations
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21 milhon people and million consumer units Lietropaulo is the largest power ditributoi in Brail according to the 211

iai kina the Ria han 4ssociation of the Dis ibulors of lectric ncrg Abradce

ul sspo hl for ss pplvin lccti icit to 118 iii inicipalities of the inettopolitan tegion of otto Alcgre to the boi

rr ith fin uas ai \i an is atea or rs 99 412 km scrs tag approximateb million people and million

on am unit

forth in die tat helms li of our UraitI 8131 distribution facilities

he 1k ni if
lnstratcs thc location of our Uraitl t4cilitic

BraiI aneiati ni Ru suits ses

Ri /1 liffli

Scquir cd

1998

199

is ir lol of ydi oelcstric 111 ci plants ss ith total installed capacity of haS in the tate of Sa ml

Ii is itiied ni 1991 undet 30 ycat concession expiring in 029 Al owns 24 economi interest ow paitnei thi

llrazihiai 3cr lopnwni Hi nk HNIl owns 28 and the remaining shares are pubhclv held or held hx govetninent
iclatcd

ntitic 81 is the eontiollmg sharehol tsr and wager and consolidates this business

iete sells ncar1 100 of its surcd eiipa ity appioximately 11 108 GWh to lettopaulo under long icim PPA rrhi

is crpirin in ls 1111 14 lie onta pric idjucted anmll 1w inliatton and as of 1ccemhci 31 201 the price

191 vl\\h

ids cc nrc err en ic It ietc Ii an ohhigation to iiicrca its eapacits hr tctc as ss cli otl ci

oncc nan fcici it ire ni ni his ccliii mcnt due to cgulatoi ens ironniental hvdrolog cal md ftcl

nst iits 11 is ha been anti rtcd by his st Itc of 86o Paulo reqn tag tl nivestmcnt to he pet
toi mcd ide is

pioc
it iii 5/iit optic to eel this ohhioattc it

rugnaian is i40 84W as tired combined cI poss ci plant commissioned in lc cmh 2000 manages and

cans 49 economic mterc and the remaining is held by I3\lES Fhic facility is located in the town of Uruguaiana in th

state of Rio iiande do Sal the plant opci itiotls were suspended in 8pitl 200 due to unar ailabihty of gas
ftc facility

30

hhattopaulo

Spproxiliiate NuinhU ol C\S Sold in 418 qwt3 tnicrest

ocation ostonlers Sei rd as of 12 31 2013 201 Percsnt Roundsd

Btail 6682 000 46216 tho

Iii aiib 11000 8974 101

7952000 5L190

24
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by ANI 11 recovery of ins estnierits and co nponc nt ffr return to the distributor he return to distributors is calculated ss

the net set base multiplied by the rep rlatory ncrghtcd serage cost ol apital Regulatory WACC wh ch is set Hr all

idu try par help ints during each tar rtf iLS lie uirnnt Regulatory attn tax is 5o

ach car NI eviews cad di sti ibutor tariff or an moo ut trill adjustment he annual tarnit adjustments allon

br pass through of Pawn costs and inflation impacts on Parcel costs adjusted for expected efficiency gains
and qu tlrt

tori nanee lnstnihutron conipanir are required to contract between 100 and OSo of anticipated energy
needs through

oularrcI anctori in irk It contracted evils tall below equimid les els distribution companies may he suhje it

lmrnmmtatmr mis on the iss through Ii itnierit of err rgy purchase costs is vi elI cii penalties

cry
tour to tis Yeats ANt re ets icli distributors tariff to incorporate the revised Regulatory id

deter ruination of tIre distributors net asset base letropaulo tariti reset occurs ci cry four ear and the next tariff in set will

hr in July 201 $ul tar ilf is reset every live ar arid the next tarift reid is expected in \pril 2018

letr opaulo RLgulator \sset Base Up latc he Br aithan regulator \N has challenged the parameters of tariff reset

for letr opaulo in which the omnpany has 1600 ownc ship inter cst which as implemented in July 2112 arid retroactive to

2011 \N ha assni ted that during the per rod between 2007 and 2011 certain assets that were included in the regulatory asset

base should not have been included arid that letropaulo
should refund customers for the return on the disputed assets that is

earned during this period On 1eeember NI ANI LI determined at the administrative level that letropaulo should adju

the prior 2017 2011 ne ulatom asset base and refund customluens iii the amount of 269 million oven period of up to font tariff

processes beginning in July 2014 letmopauli filed tbr an administrative appeal requesting \NFEI to reconsider their decision

md mequLsied that the de ision he snispeirded until the appeal process was comnipleted On January 28 2014 AN Ii denied

letropaulo rcqnr it to suspend the efleets of the previotis decision On Janu iry 29 2014 Ilefropaulo requested rind received

from the ederal Co itt of Bmaiil art mnjrmnctron Ion the suspension
of the effects of previous decision the injunction ill

remain in died until Nit ion mally decides to in consider their decision If ANI were to confirm the original decision amid

thn relater refund to customnler the injunction would rio longer he effective ftc Company has rccogniied regulatory Inability

of appi oxnmnately $269 rnuillmon inn the onnpaniys tourth qtmar tc nr snrlts of
opc

ations since AN 11 Ii is compelled the omnpany

to tefnrrid custonie beginning mit July 2114 While letropaulo believe it has meritorious angumerits on this mn ittcr amid intends

to punsnmc ins ohjc clions to Nl FE nulmugs rgorously the aferemuienroned mulngs require il imopaulo to fund ustomers

beginning iii Jrry 2014 and thcrelore recognitton ofa regulatory lrnbrlrty us required ii letnopanrlo dries prevail in the underlying

case letmopaulo would scek recovery
ofthc amounts refunded to customers hovie en the can Ic rio assurance that Lletropaulo

will prevail on tire nequn st for mcconsideratu by ANFFI or tIre urtdcrlymnmg case

ken unauenal 11 ic civ

letnopcmnmlo amid Sul arc tffected by the demand lo electricity which is dniseri by economic activity weather gatternis and

customers con utuiption behavior Operating perton nuance also is clnmv cit hi tIme qnrahity of service eflicient managenient of

operating arid nuramutenarrce costs and the abilrty to control rrorm technical losses Finally annual tantff adjirstnuents amid periodic

tariff resets by ANI hi immmpact results from operations
In addition letropaulo is ins olved in dispute with Centrars lictuueas

Brasnlemras hetrobras recar cling Inahilnty tmomui the pr ati/atron on leeropanrlo SLe Bern legal Proceedingv for

fmmrther disc nissno of fbmms disptmte Ii Ic tropaulo is found liable in thin dispute hctropmmmlos resmrlts born open atrons could he

ratLnially afiected

1Cl SB

Ion MC Sill lras portfolio ol dmsi hLrfiorm husnnmesses amid geneicrtion fNcnlities including renev able enmergy no five

counitnie vs nIh total ipacity of 140 MW turd distribution netsi orks semi
mnrg

trill onu custonumers as of Dccennbni Il 201

MC operations
aeeocrnted for 16o arid 1100 ol consolidated Al Opc rating urgmn an1d 90o l90 and 70o of

eons lmdat Al Adjusted Ph non mA \P nneasume in 2011 2112 and 2011 respectiv ely he percentages shovvn are ftc

comimnnhutiorn hi our \I 5131 to Of catnip Mannn and Adjucied Pt hiore dodutonus Hr umpuratn
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ft it/rites Or hstnbut en ho anes ue eitcd iii LI Sale ador and distribute wei ro 1.3 nulh fl pe the

untre his business onsists eoiupanie each which opci ales in ci hned sue ice arc as dese rihed in the table bel ie

IIX\

DLI

It

ocatma

II Is idot

II Sale tdoi

Ii Silsalor

LI Sale clot

ic follow org till
illustrate the loca to of out At 4aeilities

if Busuress

Iominiean pi idle

it

Business lc see Ipiwn Al Iominie in consists ol its operalug subsidiaries Iraho \ndrc md 1omini in Powci

Par tue rs PP SI is ol tk cc ft mpacitc IX a0 MW and supphc appi oinr dely 10 of neigs
denruid ihiouoh

it three gencrati 11 ilitte

ltabo is 50 49.9 cued by ONPIl gos innierit wnc ci utility and the remaining 103

owned by mployc es iho 0cc ns and op cit thet nil power pen ration unils ith 295 MW of installed
cap Icily ctml

Itabo PP 55 ate ith go ci time it ownee 9ist button up mnics and cxpne in 2016

Sndies an 111 ci both es holly ocs ned ubsidiai ics of 51 Sndres Ii is eonibn ccl ycle as lut binc arid gem iatie it

capt cit of II MW and th only NI nnpo Ia ility with 160000 cubic meters of storag ea ae ity
ni the onntry IWP

Mini ncs ccc open ic icitmii cil ut mod nci otu eapwit of 136 M\\ ik Pr tdi and P1

ii MW of install tetty of wIne 451 MW is mo t1 eontraetc until 18 cc lm gove iii ill wncd chsti ibutmon

eomi anics and Lip eustonv rs

Al Dominican has long Ic ni pure hase eontr met thiough 203 for 336 trillion btu yeai with price linked

NYME I1enr huh his uanslat nO in petitive advantage as we are ciii reritly purchasing at pi ices lower th ii

those on th intern itiori ii market lire NC ontraet terms allow the diveision of the cargo to varic us in mike ni iln

nc nc he sc plant iptiliie on the corn titive ly pi iced contract by selitnu pow where the market is dot minaiecl by

expensic fuel oil based em ation

tppt \tuni en usli ott Al quit ii cc

crc as it Il 11/2111 2013 cent Rounded

54/000 214 /50

354000 864 64

12 101 121 /4c

1000

1271101

000

11
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reiiei ator can enter into long term PPAs with distributors or unregulated consumers In addition generator can ntcr

into altern itive supply contracts with each other Outside of the PPA marl cli generators may buy and sell rrierg\ in the short

term ii arket

he itronal Dispatch enter ND unplernents the economic dispatch of Icr tricity in tlir iioleak me lie hr

NI Ys ohjr ens es are to minimize the total cost of generation md raintaum the cli ihrlitv and cur rty of tl iecti me ir

ys em taking into account the price
of atcr which deter mines the dispatch of hydro plants with reserv rmrs Short rum

dLte mined on ar hourly bai by tl last dispatched gcneratrrg unit

go/atoms arnr work he National Secretary of Energy SNI has thr responsibilities of plinnine supr rvisin

controlin policies of the energy sector within Panama With these responsibilities the SN proposes lass and guI itir

the scuuve ageru ies that promote the procurement of electrical enerey hydroear hoirs and alter native em gv 1w he ouril

hr regulator of public services known as the National Authority of Public Servir es ASlP is an autonomous afens

of th government SEP is responsible for the control and oversight of public services including clectneitv and tire

transmission and distribution of natural gas utilities and the companies that provide such service

Generators em only contract their finn capacity Physical generation of energy is determined by the Ni ieg udles

contra mual arralrgerricflms

Acm moans ma f/vers

Given that most of MS portfolio is run of-river hydrological conditions have an important mnflm.nee on its out ib 11

variations mt actual hydrology can result in ex ss or short rnergy halanre relative to our contrar obligations mug th

in iloss
pc

nod January to May generation tends to be lower and Panania may pui chase energy in tire short term mar ke

to cover contractual obligations During the remainder of tire year June to Deceniber geriermtmon trnds to bc hrphsr emieigv

germrated in exce of contract volumes is sold to the shortterm muket In addition to hydiological conditions commodity

pm ices oilert slror ter mu Icetricity prier

Jlea /re

Business Al owns installed capacity of 055 MVv in Mexico including the 50 M\ Iernio leetr Or

molio FED and lermoclfctnrca Pefloles FEP facilities and Menida Ill Menida 505 MW generation Fr dirt

fire ID and coal-fired plants loca ed in Sari Furs Potosr supply power to their oiftakers under long terra PP\s that

has 90 as amiability gum antec and II secure their fuel pet coke under long ternr contract

Mci ida is combined cycls gas
turbine CC iilocated in Men rd on Mexicos Yucatan penunsu Is Men rd his

possei to the ed ril ommission of ilectnrcitv Cl under capacity- arid energy based Ion -terrn PP tiimou 20

Additionally time plant purchases natural
gas

and diesel fEel under long ter in contract tire cost of his is then passed

dir ough no Fm under tire rerms of the

l/lam/r 51 us 1w

Mr xrco has single national electricity grid the National Posy en Sy stern SI cos erinig nearly all of M5x eo

tr rr itony Mexico has an installed capacity totaling 53 GW with generation mix of 62 the mmii hydr electrre nid It

other licctricrty eormsunmptiori is split between the following end users industrial 59c residential 26 and onmnieremal and

sers ice l5
Rsgu/atomy Li amen orl

lire IL svhrh is mandated by the Meim.n Constmtutrwi is the stat -ossnod elwtvrm monopoly whim ii op mii ibm

national grid and generates electricity fbi the public CEl regulrmtes wholesale tariffs which ire largely set the or irpmni

production cost of oil amid gas fired generation Ihe Mexican energy system is fully integrated under tire sole nesponsil ility ot

he Iecnr me Pnmhlrr Service Law allows rivately oss us projects to produce electricity ion selLsnmpply applis itiom amid

IPP structures

Private parties are allowed to invest in certain activities in Mexico rlcetnie power market and obtain pernrits mi

Ministry of nery for generating power frr self-supply ii generating power through cwgenieiation processr

mm ge icr ating power through independent Production iv small scale pnoduetion arid impom tmng arid xportmnf leeti

isv en ci mit holders are required to enter mrrto PPAs with the to sshl all surplus power rodrrced vi rid iii isle sr
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1510155 eatioi

1PH Jordan Jordan

Joi dan Subtotal

MbA lolni

Gross

net MW

Heavy Fuel Oil 247

47

quit Interest xpected ear of

Percent Rounded Conirneiual Operati in

60% 2014

el forth he1o is ilist ol our FMI utility bnsi ess

Busu ess

Soue

11111 /2 Subtotal

IMI lotal

proximate \umber of GWh SokI in

Ocation usa meis Served as of 12 31/2012 2012

ameroon 816 000 3569

816 000 3569

816000 %9

Al Eqwtv Interest Year

Percent Rounded Acquired

56o 2001

AES Equity Interest Year Mquired or

Business otition Fuel ross M%% Percent Rounded Began Operation

Maid Bulgaria oal 690 100% 2011

Si Nikt Ia Bulgaiio Wind 156 89U 2010

Brt/gana Suha tal 846

Kr On an croon ra 216 5600

Dibamhs aineroon Ileaxy ad Oil 86 56%

101 rO11/l Suhiot ii 302

Arrunan ast Jo dan is 380 37%

los dan Subtotal 330

vi Kansenogoisk Ill Mr skhstm oal 1354 100%

Shull iusk 11 PP ikhstan ledro 702

st Kamenogoisk 11P1 akhstan lydia 331

Soci tusk IP Ktakhstaii oal 301 100%

Aaaa3hsian Subtotal 688

lvta tstherlands Pta 630

St //ic c/ant/s Subiotal 630

ru Nieri Gas

Siteria Subtotal 294

Ko teli ukey

Bursa1
lurkey

Kepcika rukcy

Kumkoyt
41

uikey

Danil spinal4 iui key

tubal Km University4 lu kc

in Sid total

13 illyluinford United Kingdom

IC tie oLd Krpk us

Drone Ilill United Kingdom

9orth Klaus aired Kmgd sir

Sixpenny Wood sited Kmgdom
Ivertoti tIed Kingdom

tate rn3dom Suhtotal

MI utal

201

2009

2009

1997

l99

1997

1997

198

9io 001

las 158 S0 p011

Gas 156 50% 2011

Ilyda 28 50U 2010

Ilydro 18 50% 2011

llydro 16 5000 0l0

Gas 50% 2011

378

Gas 246 100% 2010

ad Oil 66 990 19
Wind 29 1000o 2012

Wind 22 l00o 2010

Wmd 20 100% 013

Wind 16 100 2013

1995

513

USi IC met Ii lid fon sale criteri on Nos ci nher 213 he arnings fions these businesses arc ported as part of

iis intinued opei ition See Nc te 23 Dtae vor iucd Opceationc an 11cM for Sale Businesses included in Item Ioiane ial

Stalenrenz zid
Sup//Ic flU rita/p laia of this in Mi ilirUer in torin itiort

Al iutes thee facilities under coneessior agreem ml unnl 01
neonsolidared entities the ic abs of opcratio wha It relic ted in Lquity ut ai rnngs of Affiliates

Joint %nture wills Koc Iloldnig

In ILid Kilro Open Cycle Gas utbnte GI

iidev eons/tm non

lie llowing table lisis oct plants tmdei onstruetton in the MIA SF3U
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Oui ins estments in Bulearia rely on long term PPAs with NLK the stste owned electricity public supplier and energy

It idirig conipany
NEK is facing some liquidity issues and has been delayed in making payments under the PPAs with Marrtza

and St Nikola Fire ke financial challenges foi NI include regulated price that did not fully recover current and prior

periods costs hi2lici than expected costs relatrd to iencwable cncigy resources and nomrecovery of NEK costs for balancing

the electricity syst rn

In iddition parliamentary
elections were held in May 201 aftci the piror government was forced out by social unrest

putlv iclated to protests over the pereeptroa of high energy prices Energy legislation was amended by the nets government in

2013 and new tiritfs became effcctise in Januaiy 2014 which are intended to re balance the energy system and strengthen

NI Ks financial position \t this time it is difficult to predict the impact of these political conditions and icgulatory changes on

our busniesses in Bulgaria

Mai itia has exper ienecd or going delays in the collection ofoutstindmng receivables from NE In November 2013

Maritza and NI signed an agreement to reschc dule payments of the overdue balance as of the agmcemcnt date hrough

Janu try 0l NlK Ens niade payments according to the terms of tire agreement As of December 31 2013 Maritza had an

outstanding receivables balance of $91 million including $70 million of receivables oveidue by less than 90 days and $21

million of current recem ables In addition Maritza had balance of Fo0 million of receivables which are not yet due under the

November 13 agreement See Kec Jcsords id Ln ertainties Macroeconomics Bulgaria in Item Manag meat

Discussion aud liia/ts is to this 0mm It foi further information

he mc sti uctui ing NI is one of the rc quiremnents to complete the liberalization of Bulgarias electricity system under

the uropean
nions eucmgy liber mliation rekage During the lotuth quarter of 2013 Maritza was form thy approached

by NI with request to eonsei to pmoposcd NLK restructuring which contemplates full unburidling of lectricity System

Operator SO fi our and transfer of the transmission grid from NEK to ESO in February 2014 the NEK restructuring

vs as rnmplemented tttLr
appi

oval by the egulatc ry
author ities Maritza and its lenders are analyzing the NEK restructuring and

its impact on Ni Ks financial condition arid liquidity

On February 18 14 Standard Poors lowemed NI Ks credit rating from BB to Bf with negative outlook his

cmcdmt iatuig is lower than thc rtirlg
NI had of BB upon the issuance of the Govermnent Support Letter in 2005 Given the

credit rating is lowc the PPA could he tLnrniir ited at the discretion of Mar itta and the lenders which triggers cross default

tinder the project debt tgr cements Item Ri Pat tots mat not be able to entcr into longler/n contracts which

cedric mo/a/i/itt in our is suits of opt a/it as \s result of any of tire foregouig events we may face loss of earnings
and or

ash flows from tin affected businesses om be unable to cxercise remedies for breach of the PPA and may have to pros
ide

loans or equity to support affected businesses or projects restructure them write down their value and/or face the possibility

that tbcse projects earrnot continue operations cm provide returns corisistcnt with our expectations any of which could have

matei il impact on the onrpair

inant icr 1KB ems

Plant availability is the largest single performance driver of this business Another key driver is NEKs ihilrty to meet the

ter ins of thc existing long terrti PPN

oiled Kingdom

Rusines Pt strip/ion

\l geireratic btrsiriess iii the urte Krrmgdorrr operate in two different markets the Irish Single Electricity Market

\i tm th hnrro lacntt ct rim \urihcm lii land 908 MW aird the UK wholesale ciectricitv market for the businesses

located mit Scotland amid mlland MW

lie Northern Ireland gener itrori Emeilitie consist of two plants within tIre Belfast region Oum Kihmoot plant is 662 MW
coil fired plant and ocir Bahlylumntorcl plant is 246 MVc gss fircd Ph irrt hese planìts provide approximately 70 of the

Northern Ireland installed capacity amid l$ of thc combined installed capacity han the island of Ireland

Kmlm oot is mriemehmnt plan th it bids irrtc the SI mar ket Kilroot derives its valime Ii om the capacity payments oflered

through the SEM apacity Paymiicrrt Mechanism the variable rirargirm when scheduled in merit and the margin from constrained

dispatch vs hen dispatched out merit to snippoit the systeirm in relation to the wind generation voltage and transmrssiomr

conistmarnts ln addition to tI ibos value is also secumed front anemllamy services
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Kazakhstan

businr Jkscriplion Out businesses account fbi appioximatelv 400 of the tot ii annual genciation in Kaakhstau Of the

tpi ty of 688 MW 033 MW is hydroelectric
and operates under concession agrrement

until the heginnino of

Octobet 201 and 6M MW of coalfired capacity is owned outright the thennal plants aie designed to produce heat ss ith

dci tricits as co or product

Va Oisten businesses tot ar merchant plants for dccli icity sales by entering into bilatcial conti acts dueetl it itli

consumers fbr nods of cenerally no rnoie than one year lherr are no opportunities for the plants to he in eontiaeted titus

th ie is no central rfltaker and the few businesses that could take it hole plants generation tend to hay in hous genet ition

rapacity The 012 aniendinents to the lecti ic ty iw state that centr ills organized capacity maiket will tst iblished

016 but tIlL of fiaker still only signs
annual ritraets

lie hydioelectric plants ire run of river md rely on river flow arid precipitation paitit ulatlv snow Due to the pies net

ot irge multi year storag dam upstieam arid growing season muumum rivcr flow rate agreement it ith Russia

doss nstiearn tIme plants ire protected against significant doss nside isk to their olume in sears with loss precipittitiun
\f

does ii coutiol water fk which impacts oui generation

Ust icainenogorsk IP provides
heat tC tI ie city of st amwgorsk lhr ugh the iL heat Pct coup my st

Kamenogorsk Heat Nets hese sales could be considered as contracted sin Ust Yamenogorsk feat Nets has alternatis

suppli is

herA Situ /ure

Kazaklist in electricity inaiket totals ipproximitels 20142 of it Inch 16008 MW is is silable It hulh th

generating capacity in Kazakhstan is theimal it itim coal as the main fuel As coil is abundantly available in Kazaklisian iiiosr

plant are desmened to burn local coal he georsplneal remoteness of Kazakhstan in combination with its abundant resoui rs

means that coal prices arc not reflective of world coal prices orient delis ercd cost is less than 524 per meti it ton lii tdditioi

thc gos
ernment closely monitors coal prices dnre to their rripact on the price of socially necessars heating md on rlecti ieits

mat if Is

Rigi 1ato lapin

All Kazakhstan generating companies sell electricity at or below their respectis tariff cap level hese tai if Cal
lcvels

Ii ise bLen fixed by the Ka akhstan Ministry of industry and New technology MIN fot the period 2009 it foi each ot

the thirteen gr ups of geiwrators
hese gioups svere determined by the MINI based on number of fbctois includine type ml

plant and fuel used

In IuIy 12 Kaz khstan enacted various amendments to its lectnicity ass Among the amendments it is quirLim
it

foi all profits
enciated by electricity producers during lhL am 201 1001 to lit iems ested Accordingly thc bu uiess will Ii

unable pay dividends fbr the period 201 30015 nder the amended leetricity Lass electric its produ ers must an rnnu

basis ent into ins estni ml obligation ecm nts lOAs with the MINI detailing then annual iris estment obltgatmon

Ii se ammual 10 As must equal th sum of the upeomi ne year planned depi eciatiori and prof it Selection of ins estnm nt

prolects for tlss lOAs is at the discretion of electricity producers hut the MIN has tire ight to reject
submitted 10 PtOP

sal

Aim electricity producer without an 10 executed by the IN iy nor charge tariffs exceeding its met enmeimtal cost of

produetmoim excluding Oreciation On Deccruhci 20 2012 the NIIN executed lOA svmth all loin 51 generators iii

Ktmi mkhstan which allow res citric at the tariff cap let el hut all getmerated cash will need to he reins sted

IL it pmoduetion in Kazakhstan is also iegulated as natural monopoly he heat lu ills ate set on cost plus basis hs

making an application to tIme Regulator DARIAI lariffs can either fom one year 01 mnultoycai pet
iods

Rei iflUltetPl Drivcrs

main business ivei arc plamit as ail ihility tarifi caps set by IN sigi nip of 10 appros
of hr it mm if h\ the

Regulatoi and it eatimer conditions

Other lI Busines set

him \ig ima ste own the 294 MW gas
.f red Lhute power plant lie plaimt operates urmdr tip merty ha ed PP

ss ith thr state ow ned entity low Holding ompany of Nig tie ION svlimch expit es mu Not ember Pt 14 at tines etc

dos en Itt unarily mpacity payments paid under the PP It sells pow ci gencrated by nrnr unit brnge iimoum oh mm
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he lolkwulg table prusides rgliglrts our ra operations

ountrrcs

Ucrrcratrorr Capacity

Cerreration militias

Kc Ru messes

India Phrlrppirrcs Sri Lanka and Vietnam

48 gross M\k 964 proporuorral MW
inc ludiuc under construction

Masmrrloc 21 C4 and Mong Duong II

iii
Operating installed capacrts of our sa tOtAls 74k M\k of se hub S3 341 and l3 Incated in the Philippines

India and Sr anka respectrselv Set forth halo in the table is list of our \sia SBI generation facilities

Sri iirka 1r ci

tt miiikü tribioi ii lot

\eia Total 48

ousotidated entitic for es hieh th esrilts of operations are flccrcd in quityin ar nings of Affiliates

rid oils action

Busurtes

Mon Duong II

orition Furl

Victnsn Coal

FS qurts Interest

ross 51V Per rent Rounded

1240 510e

spected Year of

Commerdat Operation

2015

he fol lo rug map nInth ales the local rot 01 Ott sia tad litres

cia Businesses

Philippines

MonlDuorll

fvtnnstnJcic

Bos/u es Description In April 008 Al ac uii tIne 660 NI\s Masinloc coal fired power plant located in uion

tihscquent to thc Icquisitiori Al performed substani ml reh lililarion pioi im that wis ompleted in 2010 resulting in

improsenients in reliability ens rronmcntal cmi snons md plant safety psr fr nanc ieneratrng capacity was improved from

431 at acquisition to 630 MW and plant esarlabninly iucrcascd from 74 at at qursntion to current 89

More than 90c of Masinloc pcak capmeit mud ai ible
margin arc contractc through medium 10 long term bilateral

enttJt pronar il with Meralco sm coil eDe op ins um2 indir4rial ustoin me

rFS Equrf Interest Year Acquired
Business me Oion Iuel ross \1\% Percent Rounded Began Operation

OP India oal 420 49% 1998

India Si/unto

Masiriloc Phil
itt

tire oal 92o 2008

15/rmtmpf iii Sri/li to

Kclmnitrssa 2001
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01 ha 30 year
PP with iRIDCO united state utility expiring in 2026 fhe PPA is eoinpiised of capacity

vinent scd on fixed parameters and anable cc mponent comprised of fuel costs whcie actual fuel costs are psss

through an un nsolidatcd entity and results are ic ported in Equity in li arnmgs of Affiliates

ha one oal toed project undei dev lopment wit total capacity of .320 MW which is an expansion of our

existing OPG business he
pi oj ct is expecte Ito start eonsti uetion in 2014 and begin operatioin in 2018

Vietnam

Business Dr script

ihe ng Duone 11 power project isa 240 MW plant being constructed undet Build Operate and Transfer BOF

ieenient in Qu uig hinh prox nice of Vietnin fhe prolect is curiently the largest private sector power project in the count

Al Morig Duong Pow ornpany united the BO Company limited liability joint venture established by the

nfl ii iate of Al 51 os nergy orporattoti 30 and hina Ins estment Corporation 190 he BOl onipany has

PPAteiin of 25 years
with Vietnam liectricity VN At the cod of the temi of the PPA the BOT Company will be

ttansleired to the \ietnamese Government in coidance with the 1301 contract Upon reaching cornniereial operaticns 1VN

will have exclusive tights on thc facility entire capacity and energy Vietnam National Coal Mmeral Industries Gioup

inicomin stated wned entity the pr jects coal suppliei under 25year coal supply agreement

lie tai if has two onipone apacity charge and th foreign component of Operation and Maintenance Chaige

0M which aie psid in Dollars and th local component of 0M and fuel charge which ate paid in Vietnam Dong

In addition the Dollar and Vietn sm Don coniponent
of OM are Iinkcd published Consumer Price Index of the U.S

and Vi tnani me per tively nd costs in gc
tieral are pass through elements ni the fuel ehsrge

lie proeet is currently under cc nsttuctic ar scheduled to commence operations in the second half of 2015

FumunLiu/ Datu by uhti

he ible below pr sents inlorniation liv coutitO about ow consolidated operations fom each of the three years
ended

December 31 2013 2012 and 11 tespe tivcly and property plant and equipment as of December 31 2013 arid 2012

respectively Revenue is tecognized in the country in which it is earned and assets are reflected in the ount in which they are

wated

II
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emissions such as SO2 NON particulate matter mercury and other hazardous air pollutants Such risks and uncertainties could

result in increased capital expenditures or other compliance costs which could have material adverse effect on certain of our

United States or international subsidiaries and our consolidated results of operations For further information about these risks

see Item 1A.Risk Factors Our businesses are subject to stringent environmental laws and regulations Our businesses

are subject to enforcement initiatives from environmental regulatory agencies and Regulators politicians non-governmental

organizations and other private parties have expressed concern about greenhouse gas or GHG emissions and the potential

risks associated with climate change and are taking actions which could have material adverse impact on our consolidated

results of operations financial condition and cash flows in this Form 10-K For discussion of the laws and regulations of

individual countries within each SBU where our subsidiaries operate see discussion within Item of this Form 10-K under the

applicable SBUs

Many of the countries in which the Company does business also have laws and regulations relating to the siting

construction permitting ownership operation modification repair and decommissioning of and power sales from electric

power generation or distribution assets In addition international projects funded by the International Finance Corporation the

private sector lending arm of the World Bank or many other international lenders are subject to World Bank environmental

standards or similar standards which tend to be more stringent than local country standards The Company often has used

advanced generation technologies in order to minimize environmental impacts such as circulating fluidized bed CFB
boilers and advanced gas turbines and environmental control devices such as flue gas desulphurization for SO2 emissions and

selective catalytic reduction for NO emissions

Environmental laws and regulations affecting electric power generation and distribution facilities are complex change

frequently and have become more stringent over time The Company has incurred and will continue to incur capital costs and

other expenditures to comply with these environmental laws and regulations See Item 7Management Discussion and

Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of OperationsEnvironmental Capital Expenditures in this Form 10-K for more

detail The Company and its subsidiaries may be required to make significant capital or other expenditures to comply with these

regulations There can be no assurance that the businesses operated by the subsidiaries of the Company will be able to recover

any of these compliance costs from their counterparties or customers such that the Companys consolidated results of

operations financial condition and cash flows would not be materially affected

Various licenses permits and approvals are required for our operations Failure to comply with permits or approvals or

with environmental laws can result in fines penalties capital expenditures interruptions or changes to our operations Certain

subsidiaries of the Company are subject to litigation or regulatory action relating to environmental permits or approvals See

Item Legal Proceedings in this Form 10-K for more detail with respect to environmental litigation and regulatory action

including Notice of Violation NOV issued by the United States Environmental Protection Agency EPA against IPL

concerning new source review and prevention of significant deterioration issues under the United States Clean Air Act

CAA
United States Environmental and Land Use Legislation and Regulations

In the United States the CAA and various state laws and regulations regulate emissions of air pollutants including S02

NOx particulate matter PM mercury and other hazardous air pollutants HAPs Certain applicable rules are discussed in

further detail below

CAIR and CSAPR The EPA promulgated the Clean Air Interstate Rule CAIR on March 10 2005 which required

allowance surrender for SO2 and NO emissions from existing power plants located in 28 eastern states and the District of

Columbia CAIR contemplated two implementation phases The first phase was to begin in 2009 and 2010 for NO and SO2

respectively second phase with additional allowance surrender obligations for both air emissions was to begin in 2015 To

implement the required emission reductions for this rule the states were to establish emission allowance based cap-and-trade

programs CAIR was subsequently challenged in federal court and on July 11 2008 the United States Court of Appeals for the

D.C Circuit issued an opinion striking down much of CAIR and remanding it to the EPA

In
response to the D.C Circuits opinion on July 2011 the EPA issued new rule titled Federal Implementation Plans

to Reduce Interstate Transport of Fine Particulate Matter and Ozone in 27 States which is now referred to as the Cross-State

Air Pollution Rule CSAPR The CSAPR was scheduled to go into force on January 2012 and would have required

significant reductions in S02 and NOx emissions from power plants in many states in which subsidiaries of the Company

operate Once fully implemented the rule would have required additional SO2 emission reductions of 73% and additional NOx
reductions of 54% from 2005 levels

Many states utilities and other affected parties filed petitions for review challenging the CSAPR before the D.C Circuit

On August 21 2012 three-judge panel of the D.C Circuit vacated the CSAPR and required EPA to continue administering

CAIR pending the promulgation of valid replacement to the CSAPR In June 2013 the U.S Supreme Court granted petition

43



to review the D.C Circuits decision vacating CSAPR Oral argument was held on December 10 2013 and decision is

expected in the next several months We cannot predict the U.S Supreme Courts actions and it is difficult to predict what steps

would follow any ruling If the U.S Supreme Court were to reverse the D.C Circuit there remain numerous challenges to the

CSAPR that must be addressed some of which could again result in delay or invalidation of the CSAPR Further it is difficult

to predict what the EPA will do in response to any decision EPA has announced plans to propose transport rule for NOx
emissions that would address ozone in October 2014 This rule would be based on more stringent ozone standard than was the

original CSAPR Also many of the areas that were projected to be in non-attainment for both ozone and PM25 are now in

attainment calling into question the basis for the original CSAPR Nonetheless the Company anticipates an increase in capital

costs and other expenditures and the operational restrictions that would be required to comply with reinstated CSAPR or with

replacement rules addressing transport of NO and SO2 At this time we cannot predict the impact that such rules would have

on the Company they could have material impact on the Companys business financial condition and results of operations

MA TS The EPA is obligated under Section 112 of the CAA to develop rule requiring pollution controls for hazardous

air pollutants including mercury hydrogen chloride hydrogen fluoride and nickel species among other substances from coal

and oil-fired power plants In connection with such rule the CAA requires the EPA to establish Maximum Achievable Control

Technology MACT MACT is defined as the emission limitation achieved by the best performing 12% of sources in the

source category Pursuant to Section 112 of the CAA the EPA promulgated final rule on December 16 2011 called the

Mercury Air Toxics Standards MATS establishing National Emissions Standards for Hazardous Air Pollutants

NESHAP from coal and oil-fired electric utility steam generating units These emission standards reflect the EPAs

application of MATS standards for each pollutant regulated under the rule The rule requires all coal-fired power plants to

comply with the applicable MATS standards within three years with the possibility of obtaining an additional year if needed

to complete the installation of
necessary

controls To comply with the rule many coal-fired power plants may need to install

additional control technology to control acid gases mercury or particulate matter or they may need to repower with an

alternate fuel or retire operations Most of the Companys United States coal-fired plants operated by the Companys

subsidiaries have scrubbers or comparable control technologies designed to remove SO2 and which also remove some acid

gases However there are other improvements to such control technologies that may be needed even at these plants to assure

compliance with the MATS standards Older coal-fired facilities that do not currently have SO2 scrubber installed are

particularly at risk For discussion of the deactivation and planned deactivation of certain units owned or partially owned by

IPL and DPL as result of existing and expected environmental regulations including MATS see Unit Retirement and

Replacement Generation below

IPL estimates additional expenditures related to the MATS rule for environmental controls for its baseload generating

units to be approximately $511 million through 2016 excluding demolition costs In August 2013 the Indiana Utility

Regulatory Commission IURC approved IPLs MATS petition and request for Certificate of Public Convenience and

Necessity for this amount including supplemental testimony These filings detail the installations of new pollution control

equipment that IPL plans to add to its five largest baseload generating units The IURC also approved with certain stipulations

IPLs request to recover through its environmental rate adjustment mechanism all operating and capital expenditures including

return related to compliance Recovery of these costs is through an Indiana statute that allows for 100% recoveiy
of

qualifying costs through rate adjustment mechanism As part of its Order the IURC stipulated that if IPLs Harding Street unit

is retired before IPL has fully depreciated the new controls which have 20-year depreciable life IPL shall not continue to

collect depreciation expense on the clean energy projects included in the MATS Order for that unit IPL management is

currently evaluating the impact of this recent Order

Several lawsuits challenging the MATS rule have been filed and consolidated into single proceeding before the United

States Court of Appeals for the District of Columbia Circuit Oral argument was held on the challenges on December 10 2013

and decision on the challenges is anticipated in the next several months We cannot predict the outcome of this litigation

New Source Review The new source review NSR requirements under the CAA impose certain requirements on major

emission sources such as electric generating stations if changes are made to the sources that result in significant increase in

air emissions Certain projects including power plant modifications are excluded from these NSR requirements if they meet

the routine maintenance repair and replacement RJVIRR exclusion of the CAA There is ongoing uncertainty and

significant litigation regarding which projects fall within the RMRR exclusion The EPA has pursued coordinated compliance

and enforcement strategy to address NSR compliance issues at the nations coal-fired power plants The strategy has included

both the filing of suits against power plant owners and the issuance of Notices of Violation NOVs to number of power

plant owners alleging NSR violations See Item 3Legal Proceedings in this Form 10-K for more detail with respect to

environmental litigation and regulatory action including NOV issued by the EPA against IPL concerning NSR and prevention

of signiticant deterioration issues under the CAA

DPLs Stuart Station and Hutchings Station have received NOVs from the EPA alleging that certain activities

undertaken in the past are outside the scope of the RIvIRR exclusion Additionally generation units partially owned by DPL
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but operated by other utilities have received such NOVs relating to equipment repairs or replacements alleged to be outside the

RMRR exclusion The NOVs issued to DPL-operated plants have not been pursued through litigation by the EPA

If NSR requirements were imposed on any of the power plants owned by the Companys subsidiaries the results could

have material adverse impact on the Companys business financial condition and results of operations In connection with the

imposition of any such NSR requirements on our U.S utilities DPL and IPL the utilities would seek recovery of any

operating or capital expenditures related to air pollution control technology to reduce regulated air emissions however there

can be no assurances that they would be successful in that regard

Regional Haze Rule In July 1999 the EPA published the Regional Haze Rule to reduce haze and protect visibility in

designated federal areas On June 15 2005 the EPA proposed amendments to the Regional Haze Rule that set guidelines for

determining best available retrofit technology BART at affected plants and how to demonstrate reasonable progress
towards eliminating man-made haze by 2064 The amendment to the Regional Haze Rule required states to consider five

factors when establishing BART for sources including the availability of emission controls the cost of the controls and the

effect of reducing emission on visibility in Class areas including wilderness areas national parks and similarareas The

statute requires compliance within five years after the EPA approves the relevant state implementation plan SIP or issues

federal implementation plan although individual states may impose more stringent compliance schedules

The EPA had previously determined that states included in the CAIR or CSAPR would not be required to make source-

specific BART determinations for BART-affected electric generating units reasoning that the emissions reductions required by
these rules were better than BART Some environmental

groups challenged these determinations On December 2011 the

EPA published notice that it entered consent decree with several environmental groups that requires the EPA to review and

take final action on regional haze requirements for more than 40 states and tenitories including those states that are subject to

CAIR or CSAPR That requirement has been held in abeyance pending the outcome of the U.S Supreme Court ruling on the

CSAPR

Greenhouse Gas Emissions In July 2013 President Obama announced plans to use executive orders to reduce

greenhouse gas GHG emissions and related climate change measures In particular the President directed the EPA to

initiate rulemakings to set new source performance standards NSPS for fossil fuel-fired electric generating units pursuant to

Section 111b of the CAA The President also directed the EPA to begin process pursuant to Section 111d of the CAA
under which the states and the EPA would seek to achieve reductions in GHG emissions from existing fossil fuel-fired electric

generating units through the establishment of existing source performance standards ESPS

The EPA proposed the NSPS for new electric generating units on January 2014 The proposed NSPS would establish

CO2 standards of 1100 lbs/MWh for newly constructed coal-fueled electric generating plant which reflects the partial capture

and storage of CO2 emissions from the plant The NSPS also would impose standards of 1000 lbs/MWh for large natural gas
combined cycle NGCC facilities and 1100 lbs/MWh for smaller and peaking NGCC facilities These standards would apply

to any electric generating unit with construction commencing after January 2014 The comment period for this rule will run

through March 10 2014 The Company cannot predict whether these standards will be changed prior to the rule becoming
final but the NSPS could have an impact on the Companys plans to construct and/or reconstruct electric generating units in

some locations

The EPA also has announced plans to issue regulations designed to achieve GHG emissions reductions from existing
electric generating units The EPA plans to propose rule requiring states to submit to EPA plan for establishing GHG
performance standards for coal- and gas-fired electric generating units in June 2014 The EPA also will issue guidelines to the

states regarding the process for setting the performance standards including how to determine the best system of emission

reduction which is to be the basis for setting the performance standards The EPA will take comment on the proposed rule and

guidelines and has stated its intention to finalize the rule in June 2015 The EPA has stated that it expects the states to submit

plans for implementing the existing source performance standards by June 2016 At this time the Company cannot predict
whether this rule will have material impact on the Company or its subsidiaries

Water Discharges The Companys facilities are subject to variety of rules governing water discharges In particular the

Companys U.S facilities are subject to the U.S Clean Water Act Section 316b rule issued by the EPA which seeks to protect
fish and other aquatic organisms by requiring existing steam electric generating facilities to utilize the Best Technology
Available BTA for cooling water intake structures The EPA published proposed rule establishing requirements under

316b regulations on April 20 2011 The proposal establishes BTA requirements regarding impingement standards with

respect to aquatic organisms for all facilities that withdraw above million gallons per day of water from certain bodies of

water and utilize at least 25% of the withdrawn water for cooling purposes To meet these BTA requirements as cunently

proposed cooling water intake structures associated with once through cooling processes will need modifications of existing

traveling screens that protect aquatic organisms and will need to add fish return and handling system for each cooling system

45



Existing closed cycle cooling facilities may require upgrades to water intake structure systems The proposal would also require

comprehensive site-specific studies during the permitting process and may require closed-cycle cooling systems in order to

meet BTA entrainment standards

Under consent decree filed in the U.S District Court for the Southern District of New York the EPA was required to

issue final rule by January 14 2014 however the EPA has not yet issued such final rule Until such regulations are final the

EPA has instructed state regulatory agencies to use their best professional judgment in determining how to evaluate what

constitutes BTA for protecting fish and other aquatic organisms from cooling water intake structures Certain states in which the

Company operates power generation facilities have been delegated authority and are moving forward to issue National

Pollutant Discharge Elimination System NPDES permits with best technology available determinations in the absence of

any final rule from the EPA On September 27 2010 the California Office of Administrative Law approved policy adopted

by the California State Water Resources Control Board with respect to power plant cooling water intake structures that

withdraw from coastal and estuarine waters This policy became effective on October 2010 and establishes technology-

based standards to implement Section 316b of the U.S Clean Water Act in NPDES permits that withdraw from coastal and

estuarine waters in California At this time it is contemplated that the Companys Redondo Beach Huntington Beach and

Alamitos power plants in California collectively AES Southland will need to have in place BTA by December 31 2020 or

repower the facilities On April 2011 AES Southland filed an Implementation Plan with the State Water Resources Control

Board that indicated its intent to repower the facilities in phased approach with the final units being in compliance by 2024

The State Water Resources Board is currently reviewing the implementation plans and has requested additional information to

assist with its evaluation Power plants will be required to comply with the more stringent of state or federal requirements At

present the Company cannot predict the final requirements under the EPA Section 316b regulation but the Company

anticipates compliance costs could have material impact on our consolidated financial condition or results of operations

On January 2013 the Ohio EPA issued an NPDES permit for J.M Stuart Station The primary issues involve the

temperature
and thermal discharges from the Station including the point at which the water quality standards are applied i.e

whether water quality standards apply at the point where the Station discharge canal discharges into the Ohio River or whether

as the EPA alleges the discharge canal is an extension of Little Three Mile Creek and the water quality standards apply at the

point where water enters the discharge canal In addition there are number of other water-related permit requirements

established with respect to metals and other materials contained in the discharges from the Station The NPDES permit

establishes interim standards related to the thermal discharge for 54 months that are comparable to current levels of discharge

by Stuart Station Permanent standards for both temperature and overall thermal discharges are established as of 55 months

after the permit is effective except that an additional transitional period of approximately 22 months is allowed if compliance

with the permanent standards is to be achieved through plan of construction and various milestones on the construction

schedule are met DPL is still analyzing the NPDES permit but it is believed that there is strong potential that compliance

will require capital expenses that are material to DPL The cost of compliance and the timing of such costs is uncertain and

may vary considerably depending on compliance plan that would need to be developed the type of capital projects that may

be necessary and the uncertainties that may arise in the likely event that permits and approvals from other governmental

entities would likely be required to construct and operate any such capital project DPL has appealed various aspects of the

final permit to the Environmental Review Appeals Commission The outcome of such appeal is uncertain

On August 28 2012 the Indiana Department of Environmental Management IDEM issued NPDES permits to the IPL

Petersburg 1-larding Street and Eagle Valley generating stations which became effective in October 2012 NPDES permits

regulate specific industrial waste water and storm water discharges to the waters of Indiana under Sections 402 and 405 of the

U.S Clean Water Act These permits set new levels of acceptable metal effluent water discharge as well as monitoring and

other requirements designed to protect aquatic life with full compliance required by October 2015 As part of an agreed order

with IDEM in April 2013 IPL received two-year extension of the required compliance date through September 2017 IPL is

conducting studies to determine what operational changes and/or additional equipment will be required to comply with the new

limitation In developing its compliance plans IPL must make assumptions about the outcomes of future federal rulemaking

with respect to coal combustion byproducts cooling water intake and waste water effluents In light of the uncertainties at this

time we cannot predict the impact of these regulations on our consolidated results of operations cash flows or financial

condition but it is expected to be material to IPL Recovery of these costs is expected through an Indiana statute which allows

for 80% recovery of qualifing costs through rate adjustment mechanism and the remainder through base rate case

proceeding however there can be no assurances that IPL would be successful in that regard

In April 2013 the EPA announced proposed rules to reduce toxic pollutants discharged into waterways by power plants

The proposed rules are intended to update the existing technology-based rules for controlling the discharge of pollutants from

various waste streams associated with steam electric generating facilities The proposed rules identify four preferred options for

controlling the discharge of these pollutants and EPA believes that over half of existing power plants will comply with these

rules if they become final without incurring costs However it is too early to determine whether the impacts of this rule if and
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when it becomes final will materially impact the Company or its subsidiaries EPA is required to finalize these rules by May

2014

Waste Management In the course of operations the Companys facilities generate solid and liquid waste materials

requiring eventual disposal or processing With the exception of coal combustion byproducts CCBthe wastes are not

usually physically disposed of on our property but are shipped off site for final disposal treatment or recycling CCB which

consists of bottom ash fly ash and air pollution control wastes is disposed of at some of our coal-fired power generation plant

sites using engineered permitted landfills Waste materials generated
at our electric power and distribution facilities include

CCB oil scrap metal rubbish small quantities of industrial hazardous wastes such as spent solvents tree and land clearing

wastes and polychlorinated biphenyl PCB contaminated liquids and solids The Company endeavors to ensure that all of its

solid and liquid wastes are disposed of in accordance with applicable national regional state and local regulations On June 21

2010 the EPA published in the Federal Register proposed rule to regulate CCB under the Resource Conservation and

Recovery Act RCRA The proposed rule provides two possible options for CCB regulation and both options contemplate

heightened structural integrity requirements
for surface impoundments of CCB The first option contemplates regulation of

CCB as hazardous waste subject to regulation under Subtitle of the RCRA Under this option existing surface

impoundments containing CCB would be required to be retrofitted with composite liners and these impoundments would likely

be phased out over several years
State and/or federal permit programs would be developed for storage transport and disposal

of CCB States could bring enforcement actions for non-compliance with permitting requirements and the EPA would have

oversight responsibilities as well as the authority to bring lawsuits for non-compliance The second option contemplates

regulation of CCB under Subtitle of the RCRA Under this option the EPA would create national criteria applicable to CCB

landfills and surface impoundments Existing impoundments would also be required to be retrofitted with composite liners and

would likely be phased out over several years
This option would not contain federal or state permitting requirements The

primary enforcement mechanism under regulation pursuant to Subtitle would be private
lawsuits

Although the public comment period
for this proposed regulation has expired the EPA twice issued Notice of Data

Availability NODA which allowed the public to submit additional information The EPA is expected to promulgate
final

rule in 2014 The EPA is also conducting coal ash reuse risk analysis that the EPA has stated it will complete before issuing

final rule The EPA is likely to retain its five-year deadline for meeting the final rules surface impoundment requirements

While the exact impact and compliance cost associated with future regulations of CCB cannot be established until such

regulations are finalized there can be no assurance that the Companys businesses financial condition or results of operations

would not be materially and adversely affected by such regulations

Senate Bill 251 In May 2011 Senate Bill 251 became law in the State of Indiana Senate Bill 251 is comprehensive

bill which among other things provides Indiana utilities including IPL with means for recovering 80% of costs incurred to

comply with federal mandates through periodic retail rate adjustment
mechanism This includes costs to comply with

regulations from the EPA FERC the North American Electric Reliability Corporation NERC Department of Energy etc

including capital intensive requirements
and/or proposals

described herein such as cooling water intake regulations waste

management and coal combustion byproducts wastewater effluent MISO transmission expansion costs and polychlorinated

biphenyls It does not change existing legislation that allows for 100% recovery of clean coal technology designed to reduce air

pollutants

Some of the most important features of Senate Bill 251 to IPL are as follows Any energy utility in Indiana seeking to

recover federally mandated costs incurred in coimection with compliance project shall apply to the Indiana Utility Regulatory

Commission IURC for certificate of public convenience and necessity CPCN for the compliance project It sets forth

certain factors that the IURC must consider in determining whether to grant CPCN It further specifies that if the IURC

approves proposed compliance project and the projected federally mandated costs associated with the project the following

apply 80% of the approved costs shall be recovered by the energy utility through periodic retail rate adjustment

mechanism ii 20% of the approved costs shall be deferred and recovered by the energy utility as part of the next general rate

case filed with the IURC and iii actual costs exceeding the projected federally mandated costs of the approved compliance

project by more than 25% shall require specific justification
and approval before being authorized in the energy utilitys next

general rate case Senate Bill 251 also requires the IURC to adopt rules to establish voluntary clean energy portfolio standard

program Such program will provide incentives to participating electricity suppliers to obtain specified percentages
of

electricity from clean energy sources in accordance with clean portfolio standard goals including requiring at least 50% of the

clean energy to originate from Indiana suppliers The goals can also be met by purchasing clean energy credits

CERCLA The Comprehensive Environmental Response Compensation and Liability Act of 1980 CERCLA aka

Superfund may be the source of claims against certain of the Companys U.S subsidiaries from time to time There is

ongoing litigation at site known as the South Dayton Landfill where group
of companies already recognized as Potentially

Responsible
Parties PRP have sued DPL and other unrelated entities seeking contribution towards the costs of

assessment and remediation DPL is actively opposing such claims In 2003 DPL received notice that the EPA considers
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DPL to be PRP at the Tremont City landfill Superfund site No actions have taken place since 2003 regarding the Tremont
City landfill The Company is unable to determine whether there will be any liability or the size of any liability that may
ultimately be assessed against DPL at these two sites but any such liability could be material to DPL

Uiit Retirement and Replacement Generation In the second quarter of 2013 IPL retired in place five oil-fired peakingunits with an average life of
approximately 61 years approximately 168 MW net capacity in total as such units were not

equipped with the advanced environmental control technologies need to comply with existing and expected environmental
regulations Although these units represented approximately 5% of IPLs

generating capacity they were seldom dispatched by
Midcontinent Independent System Operator Inc in recent years due to their

relatively higher production cost and in some
instances repairs were needed In addition to these recently retired units IPL has several other generating units that it

expects to
retire or refuel by 2017 These units are primarily coal-fired and represent 472 MW of net capacity in total To replace this

generation in April 2013 IPL filed petition and case-in-chief with the IURC in April 2013 seeking CPCN to build 550 to
725 MW combined cycle gas turbine CCGT at its Eagle Valley Station site in Indiana and to refuel Harding Street Station
Units and from coal to natural

gas 106 MW net capacity each The total estimated cost of these projects is $667 million
IPL is seeking authority to accrue post in-service allowance for debt and equity funds used during construction and to defer the

recognition of depreciation expense of the CCGT until such time that IPL is allowed to collect return and depreciation
expense on the CCGT If approved the CCGT is expected to be placed into service in April 2017 and the refueling project is

expected to be complete by April 2016 If IPL receives
approval for the CCGT the costs to build and operate the equipment

other than fuel costs would not be recoverable by IPL until the resolution of base rate case with the IURC For the refueling
project IPL is requesting timely recovery of 80% of the revenue requirement of these federally mandated costs under Senate
Bill 251 and deferral of the remaining 20% until the resolution of base rate case filed with the IURC If the Harding Street
Units and are not refueled they will likely need to be retired because it is

currently not economical to install controls on
those units to comply with MATS IPL expects to receive an order on the CPCN from the IURC in the second quarter of 2014

As result of existing and expected environmental regulations including MATS DPL notified PJM that it plans to
retire the six coal-fired units

aggregating approximately 360 MW at its wholly-owned Hutchings Generation Station
HutchingsUnit was retired in June 2013 In conjunction with administrative agreements reached in 2013 with the EPA and Ohios

Regional Air Pollution Control Authority that resolved alleged violations of air quality standards DPL accelerated its plans
with respect to Hutchings Units 12 and by June 2015 and has removed equipment so that combustion of coal will not
be possible after September 2013 Conversion of the coal-fired units to natural

gas was investigated but the cost of investment
exceeded the expected return In addition DPL owns approximately 207 MW of coal-fired generation at Beckjord Unit
which is operated by Duke Energy Ohio The co-owners of Beckjord Unit have notified PJM that they plan to retire Beckjord
Unit by June 2015 At this time DPL does not have plans to replace the units that will be retired

International Environmental Regulations

For discussion of the fED regulations adopted by the European Commission see EMEA Businesses-United
Kingdom Environmental Regulation above

Customers

We sell to wide
variety of customers No individual customer accounted for 10% or more of our 2013 total revenue In

our generation business we own and/or operate power plants to generate and sell power to wholesale customers such as
utilities and other intermediaries Our utilities sell to end-user customers in the residential commercial industrial and
governmental sectors in defined service area

Employees

As of December 31 2013 we employed approximately 22000 people
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Executive Officers

The following individuals are our executive officers

AndrØs Gluski 56 years old has been President Chief Executive Officer CEO and member of our Board of

Directors since September 2011 and is Chairman of the Strategy and Investment Committee of the Board Prior to assuming his

current position Mr Gluski served as Executive Vice President EVP and Chief Operating Officer COOof the Company
since March 2007 Prior to becoming the COO of AES Mr Gluski was EVP and the Regional President of Latin America from
2006 to 2007 Mr Gluski was Senior Vice President SVP for the Caribbean and Central America from 2003 to 2006 CEO
of La Electricidad de Caracas EDC from 2002 to 2003 and CEO ofAES Gener Chile in 2001 Prior to joining AES in

2000 Mr Gluski was EVP and ChiefFinancial Officer CFOof EDC EVP of Banco de Venezuela Grupo Santander Vice
President VP for Santander Investment and EVP and CFO of CANTV subsidiary of GTE Mr Gluski has also worked
with the International Monetary Fund in the Treasury and Latin American Departments and served as Director General of the

Ministry of Finance of Venezuela Mr Gluski is also Chairman ofAES Gener since 2005 and AES Brasiliana since 2006 and

serves on the Board of AES Entek joint venture between ABS and Koc Holdings that will develop and operate power projects
in Turkey Mr Gluski is also on the Boards of Cliffs Natural Resources The Council of Americas US Spain Council The
Edison Electric Institute and the U.S.-Brazil CEO Forum In 2013 President Obama appointed Mr Gluski to the Presidents

Export Council Mr Gluski is magna cum laude graduate of Wake Forest University and holds an M.A and Ph.D in

Economics from the University of Virginia

Elizabeth Hackenson 53 years old was named Chief Information Officer ClO and SVP of AES in October

2008 Prior to assuming her current position Ms Hackenson was the SVP and ClO at Alcatel-Lucent from 2006 to 2008 where
she managed the development of technology programs for Applications Operations and Infrastructure Previously she also

served as the EVP and CIO for MCI from 2004 to 2006 Her corporate tenure has spanned several Fortune 100 companies
including British Telecom Concert AOL UUINET and EDS She served in variety of senior management positions

working on the management and delivery of information technology services to support business needs across corporate-wide

enterprise Ms Hackenson serves on the Boards of Dayton Power Light and its parent company DPL Inc Indianapolis
Power Light and its parent company IPALCO ABS Sul and ABS Chivor She also serves as Director on the Greater

Washington Board of Trade and is Strategic Advisor to the Paladin Group Ms Hackenson earned her degree from New York
State University

Brian Miller 48 years old is an EVP of the Company General Counsel and Corporate Secretary Mr Miller joined
the Company in 2001 and has served in various positions including VP Deputy General Counsel Corporate Secretary General

Counsel for North America and Assistant General Counsel In 2010 Mr Miller joined the Board of AES Entek joint venture
that will develop and operate power projects in Turkey between AES and Koc Holdings In November of 2011 Mr Miller

joined the Board of Dayton Power Light Company and its parent company DPL Inc He is also member of the Board of

AES Chivor and Silver Ridge Power ajoint venture between AES and Riverstone Holdings LLC Prior to joining AES he was
an attorney with the law firm Chadbourne Parke LLP Mr Miller received bachelors degree in History and Economics
from Boston College and holds Juris Doctorate from the University of Connecticut School Of Law

Thomas OFlynn age 54 has served as EVP and CFO of the Company since September of 2012 Previously
Mr OFlynn served as Senior Advisor to the Private Equity Group of Blackstone an investment and advisory group and held
this position from 2010 to 2012 During this period Mr OFlynn also served as COO and CFO of Transmission Developers
Inc TDI Blackstone-controlled company that develops innovative power transmission projects in an environmentally

responsible manner From 2001 to 2009 he served as the CFO of PSEG New Jersey-based merchant power and utility

company He also served as President of PSEG Energy Holdings from 2007 to 2009 From 1986 to 2001 Mr OFlynn was in

the Global Power and Utility Group of Morgan Stanley He served as Managing Director for his last five years and as head of
the North American Power Group from 2000 to 2001 He was responsible for senior client

relationships and led number of

large merger financing restructuring and advisory transactions Mr OFlynn serves as member of the Boards of ABS Gener
Silver Ridge Power joint venture between AES and Riverstone Holdings LLC Dayton Power Light and its parent

company DPL Inc He is also
currently on the Board of Directors of the New Jersey Performing Arts Center and is Chairman

of the Institute for Sustainability Energy at Northwestern University Mr OFlynn has BA in Economics from
Northwestern University and an MBA in Finance from the University of Chicago

Andrew Vesey 58 years old serves as COO and EVP since November of 2012 In this position he leads AES Global

Operations Portfolio Mr Vesey has held numerous positions with AES including EVP and COO Global Utilities from
October of 2011 to November of 2012 EVP and Regional President of Latin America and Africa from April of 2009 through
October of 2011 EVP and Regional President for Latin America from March 2008 through March 2009 and Chief Operating
Officer for Latin America from July 2007 through February 2008 Mr Vesey also served as VP and Group Manager for AES
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Latin America DR-CAFTA Region VP of the Global Business Transformation Group and Vice President of the Integrated

Utilities Development Group Mr Vesey is also Chairman of the Indianapolis Power Light IPALCO Dayton Power Light

and DPL Inc Boards and serves on the Boards of AES Sonel and AES Gener In addition Mr Vesey is member of the Board

of the Trust for the Americas US Energy Association US Philippines Society and the Institute of the Americas Prior to joining

AES in 2004 Mr Vesey was Managing Director of the Utility Finance and Regulatory Advisory Practice at FTI Consulting

Inc partner
in the Energy Chemicals and Utilities Practice of Ernst Young LLP and CEO and Managing Director of

Citipower Pty of Melbourne Australia He received his BA in Economics and BS in Mechanical Engineering from Union

College in Schenectady New York and his MS from New York University

How to Contact AES and Sources of Other Information

Our principal offices are located at 4300 Wilson Boulevard Arlington Virginia 22203 Our telephone number is

703 522-1315 Our website address is http//www.aes.com Our annual reports on Form 10-K quarterly reports on Form l0-Q

and current reports on Form 8-K and any amendments to such reports filed pursuant to Section 13a or Section 15d of the

Securities Exchange Act of 1934 the Exchange Act are posted on our website After the reports are filed with or furnished

to the Securities and Exchange Commission SEC they are available from us free of charge Material contained on our

website is not part of and is not incorporated by reference in this Form 10-K You may also read and copy any materials we file

with the SEC at the SECs Public Reference Room at 100 Street N.E Washington D.C 20549 You may obtain information

about the operation of the Public Reference Room by calling the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330 The SEC maintains an internet

website that contains the reports proxy and information statements and other information that we file electronically with the

SEC at www.sec.gov

Our CEO and our CFO have provided certifications to the SEC as required by Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of

2002 These certifications are included as exhibits to this Annual Report on Form 10-K

Our CEO provided certification pursuant to Section 303A of the New York Stock Exchange Listed Company Manual on

May 17 2013

Our Code of Business Conduct Code of Conduct and Corporate Governance Guidelines have been adopted by our

Board of Directors The Code of Conduct is intended to govern as requirement of employment the actions of everyone who

works at AES including employees of our subsidiaries and affiliates Our Ethics and Compliance Department provides

training information and certification programs for AES employees related to the Code of Conduct The Ethics and

Compliance Department also has programs in place to prevent and detect criminal conduct promote an organizational culture

that encourages
ethical behavior and commitment to compliance with the law and to monitor and enforce AES policies on

corruption bribery money laundering and associations with terrorists groups The Code of Conduct and the Corporate

Governance Guidelines are located in their entirety on our website Any person may obtain copy of the Code of Conduct or

the Corporate Governance Guidelines without charge by making written request to Corporate Secretary The AES

Corporation 4300 Wilson Boulevard Arlington VA 22203 If any amendments to or waivers from the Code of Conduct or the

Corporate Governance Guidelines are made we will disclose such amendments or waivers on our website

ITEM IA RISK FACTORS

You should consider carefully theJbllowing risks along with the other infbrmation contained in or incorporated by

reterence in this Form 10-K Additional risks and uncertainties also may adversely affect our business and operations including

those discussed in Item 7Management Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations in this

Form 10-K If any of the following events actually occur our businessfinancial results andfinancial condition could be

material/v adversely ajfcted

Risks Related to our High Level of Indebtedness

We have significant amount of debt large percentage of which is secured which could adversely affect our

business and the ability to fulfill our obligations

As of December 31 2013 we had approximately $21.0 billion of outstanding indebtedness on consolidated basis All

outstanding borrowings under The AES Corporations senior secured credit facility and certain other indebtedness are secured

by certain of our assets including the pledge of capital stock of many of The AES Corporations directly held subsidiaries

Most of the debt of The AES Corporations subsidiaries is secured by substantially all of the assets of those subsidiaries Since

we have such high level of debt substantial portion of cash flow from operations must be used to make payments on this

debt Furthermore since significant percentage of our assets are used to secure this debt this reduces the amount of collateral
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that is available for future secured debt or credit support and reduces our flexibility in dealing with these secured assets This

high level of indebtedness and related security could have other important consequences to us and our investors including

making it more difficult to satisfy debt service and other obligations at the holding company and/or individual

subsidiaries

increasing the likelihood of downgrade of our debt which could cause future debt costs and/or payments to

increase under our debt and related hedging instruments and consume an even greater portion of cash flow

increasing our vulnerability to general adverse industry conditions and economic conditions including but not

limited to adverse changes in foreign exchange rates and commodity prices

reducing the availability of cash flow to fund other corporate purposes and grow our business

limiting our flexibility in planning for or reacting to changes in our business and the industry

placing us at competitive disadvantage to our competitors that are not as highly leveraged and

limiting along with the financial and other restrictive covenants relating to such indebtedness among other things

our ability to borrow additional funds as needed or take advantage of business opportunities as they arise pay cash

dividends or repurchase common stock

The agreements governing our indebtedness including the indebtedness of our subsidiaries limit but do not prohibit the

incurrence of additional indebtedness To the extent we become more leveraged the risks described above would increase

Further our actual cash requirements in the future may be greater than expected Accordingly our cash flows may not be

sufficient to repay at maturity all of the outstanding debt as it becomes due and in that event we may not be able to borrow

money sell assets raise equity or otherwise raise funds on acceptable terms or at all to refinance our debt as it becomes due

See Note 12 Debt included in Item of this Form 10-K for schedule of our debt maturities

The AES Corporation is holding company and its ability to make payments on its outstanding indebtedness

including its public debt securities is dependent upon the receipt offunds from its subsidiaries by way of dividends fees

interest loans or otherwise

The AES Corporation is holding company with no material assets other than the stock of its subsidiaries All of The

AES Corporations revenue is generated through its subsidiaries Accordingly almost all ofTheAES Corporations cash flow is

generated by the operating activities of its subsidiaries Therefore The AES Corporations ability to make payments on its

indebtedness and to fund its other obligations is dependent not only on the ability of its subsidiaries to generate cash but also

on the ability of the subsidiaries to distribute cash to it in the form of dividends fees interest tax sharing loans or otherwise

However our subsidiaries face various restrictions in their ability to distribute cash to The AES Corporation Most of the

subsidiaries are obligated pursuant to loan agreements indentures or non-recourse financing arrangements to satisfy certain

restricted payment covenants or other conditions before they may make distributions to The AES Corporation In addition the

payment of dividends or the making of loans advances or other payments to The AES Corporation may be subject to other

contractual legal or regulatory restrictions or may be prohibited altogether Business performance and local accounting and tax

rules may limit the amount of retained earnings that may be distributed to us as dividend Subsidiaries in foreign countries

may also be prevented from distributing funds to The AES Corporation as result of foreign governments restricting the

repatriation of funds or the conversion of currencies Any right that The AES Corporation has to receive any assets of any of its

subsidiaries upon any liquidation dissolution winding up receivership reorganization bankruptcy insolvency or similar

proceedings and the consequent right of the holders of The AES Corporations indebtedness to participate in the distribution

of or to realize proceeds from those assets will be effectively subordinated to the claims of any such subsidiarys creditors

including trade creditors and holders of debt issued by such subsidiary

The AES Corporations subsidiaries are separate and distinct legal entities and unless they have expressly guaranteed any

of The AES Corporations indebtedness have no obligation contingent or otherwise to pay any amounts due pursuant to such

debt or to make any funds available whether by dividends fees loans or other payments

Even though The AES Corporation is holding company existing and potential future defaults by subsidiaries or

affiliates could adversely affect The AES Corporation

We attempt to finance our domestic and foreign projects primarily under loan agreements and related documents which

except as noted below require the loans to be repaid solely from the projects revenues and provide that the repayment of the

loans and interest thereon is secured solely by the capital stock physical assets contracts and cash flow of that project
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subsidiary or affiliate This type of financing is usually referred to as non-recourse debt or non-recourse financing In some

non-recourse financings The AES Corporation has explicitly agreed to undertake certain limited obligations and contingent

liabilities most of which by their terms will only be effective or will be terminated upon the occurrence of future events These

obligations and liabilities take the form of guarantees indemnities letter of credit reimbursement agreements and agreements

to pay in certain circumstances the project lenders or other parties

As of December 31 2013 we had approximately $2 1.0 billion of outstanding indebtedness on consolidated basis of

which approximately $5.7 billion was recourse debt of The AES Corporation and approximately $15.4 billion was non-recourse

debt In addition we have outstanding guarantees indemnities letters of credit and other credit support commitments which

are further described in this Form 10-K in Item 7Managements Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results

of Operations-Capital Resources and LiquiditvParent Company Liquidity

Sonic of our subsidiaries are currently in default with respect to all or portion of their outstanding indebtedness The

total debt classified as current in our consolidated balance sheets related to such defaults was $1.1 billion at December

2013 While the lenders under our non-recourse financings generally do not have direct recourse to The AES Corporation other

than to the extent of
any

credit support given by The AES Corporation defaults thereunder can still have important

consequences for The AES Corporation including without limitation

reducing The AES Corporations receipt of subsidiary dividends fees interest payments loans and other sources of

cash since the project subsidiary will typically be prohibited from distributing cash to The AES Corporation during

the pendency of any default

under certain circumstances triggering The AES Corporations obligation to make payments under any financial

guarantee letter of credit or other credit support which The AES Corporation has provided to or on behalf of such

subsidiary

causing The AES Corporation to record loss in the event the lender forecloses on the assets

triggering defaults in The AES Corporations outstanding debt and trust preferred securities For example The AES

Corporations senior secured credit facilities and outstanding senior notes include events of default for certain

bankruptcy related events involving material subsidiaries In addition The AES Corporations senior secured credit

facilities include certain events of default relating to accelerations of outstanding material debt of material

subsidiaries or any subsidiaries that in the aggregate constitute material subsidiary

the loss or impairment of investor confidence in the Company or

foreclosure on the assets that are pledged under the non-recourse loans therefore eliminating any and all potential

future benefits derived from those assets

None of the projects that are currently in default are owned by subsidiaries that individually or in the aggregate meet the

applicable standard of materiality in The AES Corporations senior secured credit facilities or other debt agreements in order

for such defaults to trigger an event of default or permit acceleration under such indebtedness However as result of future

mix of distributions write-down of assets dispositions and other matters that affect our financial position and results of

operations it is possible that one or more of these subsidiaries individually or in the aggregate could fall within the applicable

standard of materiality and thereby upon an acceleration of such subsidiarys debt trigger an event of default and possible

acceleration of the indebtedness under The AES Corporations senior secured credit facilities or other indebtedness of The AES

Corporation

Risks Associated with our Ability to Raise Needed Capital

The AES Corporation or the Parent Company has significant cash requirements and limited sources of liquidity

The AES Corporation requires cash primarily to fund

principal repayments of debt

interest and preferred dividends

acquisitions

construction and other project commitments

other equity commitments including business development investments
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equity repurchases and/or cash dividends on our common stock

taxes and

Parent Company overhead costs

The AES Corporations principal sources of liquidity are

dividends and other distributions from its subsidiaries

proceeds from debt and equity financings at the Parent Company level and

proceeds from asset sales

For more detailed discussion of The AES Corporations cash requirements and sources of liquidity please see Item

Managements Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of OperationsCapital Resources and Liquidity of

this Form 10-K

While we believe that these sources will be adequate to meet our obligations at the Parent Company level for the

foreseeable future this belief is based on number of material assumptions including without limitation assumptions about

our ability to access the capital or commercial lending markets the operating and financial performance of our subsidiaries

exchange rates our ability to sell assets and the ability of our subsidiaries to pay dividends Any number of assumptions could

prove to be incorrect and therefore there can be no assurance that these sources will be available when needed or that our actual

cash requirements will not be greater than expected For example in recent years certain financial institutions have gone

bankrupt In the event that bank who is party to our senior secured credit facility or other facilities
goes bankrupt or is

otherwise unable to fund its commitments we would need to replace that bank in our syndicate or risk reduction in the size of

the facility which would reduce our liquidity In addition our cash flow may not be sufficient to repay at maturity the entire

principal outstanding under our credit facilities and our debt securities and we may have to refinance such obligations There

can be no assurance that we will be successful in obtaining such refinancing on terms acceptable to us or at all and any of these

events could have material effect on us

Our ability to grow our business could be materially adversely affected if we were unable to raise capital on favorable

terms

From time to time we rely on access to capital markets as source of liquidity for capital requirements not satisfied by

operating cash flows Our ability to arrange for financing on either recourse or non-recourse basis and the costs of such

capital are dependent on numerous factors some of which are beyond our control including

general economic and capital market conditions

the availability of bank credit

investor confidence

the financial condition performance and prospects of The AES Corporation in general andlor that of any subsidiary

requiring the financing as well as companies in our industry or similar financial circumstances and

changes in tax and securities laws which are conducive to raising capital

Should future access to capital not be available to us we may have to sell assets or decide not to build new plants or

expand or improve existing facilities either of which would affect our future growth results of operations or financial

condition

downgrade in the credit ratings of The AES Corporation or its subsidiaries could adversely afftct our ability to

access the capital markets which could increase our interest costs or adversely affect our liquidity and cash flow

If any of the credit ratings of The AES Corporation or its subsidiaries were to be downgraded our ability to raise capital

on favorable terms could be impaired and our borrowing costs could increase Furthermore depending on The AES
Corporations credit ratings and the trading prices of its equity and debt securities counterparties may no longer be as willing to

accept general unsecured commitments by The AES Corporation to provide credit
support Accordingly with respect to both

new and existing commitments The AES Corporation may be required to provide some other form of assurance such as

letter of credit and/or collateral to backstop or replace any credit support by The AES Corporation There can be no assurance

that such counterparties will accept such guarantees or that AES could
arrange

such further assurances in the future In addition
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to the extent The AES Corporation is required and able to provide letters of credit or other collateral to such counterparties it

will limit the amount of credit available to The AES Corporation to meet its other liquidity needs

We may not be able to raise sufficient capital to fund developing projects in certain less developed economies which

could change or in some cases adversely affect our growth strategy

Part of our strategy is to grow our business by developing businesses in less developed economies where the return on

our investment may be greater than projects in more developed economies Commercial lending institutions sometimes refuse

to provide non-recourse project financing in certain less developed economies and in these situations we have sought and will

continue to seek direct or indirect through credit support or guarantees project financing from limited number of multilateral

or bilateral international financial institutions or agencies As precondition to making such project financing available the

lending institutions may also require governmental guarantees of certain project and sovereign related risks There can be no

assurance however that project financing from the international financial agencies or that governmental guarantees will be

available when needed and if they are not we may have to abandon the project or invest more of our own funds which may not

be in line with our investment objectives and would leave less funds for other projects

External Risks Associated with Revenue and Earnings Volatility

Our businesses may incur substantial costs and liabilities and be exposed to price volatility as result of risks

associated with the wholesale electricity markets which could have material adverse effect on our financial performance

Some of our businesses sell electricity in the wholesale spot markets in cases where they operate at levels in excess of

their power sales agreements or retail load obligations Our businesses may also buy electricity in the wholesale spot markets

As result we are exposed to the risks of rising and falling prices in those markets The open market wholesale prices for

electricity can be volatile and often reflect the fluctuating cost of fuels such as coal natural gas or oil in addition to other

factors described below Consequently any changes in the supply and cost of coal natural gas or oil may impact the open

market wholesale price of electricity

Volatility in market prices for fuel and electricity may result from among other things

plant availability in the markets generally

availability and effectiveness of transmission facilities owned and operated by third parties

competition

demand for
energy commodities

electricity usage

seasonality

interest rate and foreign exchange rate fluctuation

availability and price of emission credits

input prices

hydrology and other weather conditions

illiquid markets

transmission or transportation constraints or inefficiencies

availability of competitively priced renewables sources

available supplies of natural gas crude oil and refined products and coal

generating unit performance

natural disasters terrorism wars embargoes and other catastrophic events

energy market and environmental regulation legislation and policies

geopolitical concerns affecting global supply of oil and natural gas
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general economic conditions in areas where we operate which impact energy consumption and

bidding behavior and market bidding rules

Our financial position and results of operations may fluctuate significantly due to fluctuations in currency exchange

rates experienced at our foreign operations

Our exposure to currency exchange rate fluctuations results primarily from the translation exposure
associated with the

preparation
of the Consolidated Financial Statements as well as from transaction exposure

associated with transactions in

currencies other than an entitys functional currency While the Consolidated Financial Statements are reported in U.S Dollars

the financial statements of many of our subsidiaries outside the United States are prepared using the local currency as the

functional currency and translated into U.S Dollars by applying appropriate exchange rates As result fluctuations in the

exchange rate of the U.S Dollar relative to the local currencies where our subsidiaries outside the United States report could

cause significant fluctuations in our results In addition while our expenses
with respect to foreign operations are generally

denominated in the same currency as corresponding sales we have transaction exposure
to the extent receipts and expenditures

are not denominated in the subsidiarys functional currency Moreover the costs of doing business abroad may increase as

result of adverse exchange rate fluctuations Our financial position
and results of operations could be affected by fluctuations in

the value of number of currencies See Item 7A.Quantitative and Qualitative Information Disclosures about Market Risk to

this Form 10-K for further information

We may not be adequately hedged against our exposure to changes in commodity prices or interest rates

We routinely enter into contracts to hedge portion of our purchase
and sale commitments for electricity fuel

requirements and other commodities to lower our financial exposure related to commodity price fluctuations As part of this

strategy we routinely utilize fixed price forward physical purchase and sales contracts futures financial swaps and option

contracts traded in the over-the-counter markets or on exchanges We also enter into contracts which help us hedge our interest

rate exposure on variable rate debt However we may not cover the entire exposure
of our assets or positions to market price or

interest rate volatility and the coverage
will vary over time Furthermore the risk management practices we have in place may

not always perform as planned In particular if prices of commodities or interest rates significantly deviate from historical

prices or interest rates or if the price or interest rate volatility or distribution of these changes deviates from historical norms

our risk management practices may not protect us from significant losses As result fluctuating commodity prices or interest

rates may negatively impact our financial results to the extent we have unhedged or inadequately hedged positions In addition

certain types of economic hedging activities may not qualifi for hedge accounting under GAAP resulting in increased

volatility in our net income The Company may also suffer losses associated with basis risk which is the difference in

performance between the hedge instrument and the targeted underlying exposure Furthermore there is risk that the current

counterparties to these arrangements may fail or are unable to perform part or all of their obligations under these arrangements

In the past few years we have faced substantial challenges in the United States as result of high coal prices relative to

natural gas which has affected the results of certain of our coal plants in the region particularly those which are merchant

plants that are exposed to market risk and those that have hybrid merchant risk meaning those businesses that have PPA in

place but purchase fuel at market prices or under short term contracts For our businesses with PPA pricing that does not

perfectly pass through our fuel costs the businesses attempt to manage the exposure through flexible fuel purchasing and

timing of entry and terms of our fuel supply agreements however these risk management efforts may not be successful and the

resulting commodity exposure
could have material impact on these businesses andlor our results of operations

Supplier and/or customer concentration may expose the Company to significant financial credit or performance risks

We often rely on single contracted supplier or small number of suppliers for the provision of fuel transportation of

fuel and other services required for the operation of certain of our facilities If these suppliers cannot perform we would seek to

meet our fuel requirements by purchasing fuel at market prices exposing us to market price volatility and the risk that fuel and

transportation may not be available during certain periods at any price which could adversely impact the profitability of the

affected business and our results of operations and could result in breach of agreements with other counterparties including

without limitation offtakers or lenders

At times we rely on single customer or few customers to purchase all or significant portion of facilitys output in

some cases under long-term agreements that account for substantial percentage
of the anticipated revenue from given

facility We have also hedged portion of our exposure to power price fluctuations through forward fixed price power sales

Counterparties to these agreements may breach or may be unable to perform their obligations We may not be able to enter into

replacement agreements on terms as favorable as our existing agreements or at all If we were unable to enter into replacement

PPAs these businesses may have to sell power at market prices breach by counterparty of PPA or other agreement could

also result in the breach of other agreements including without limitation the debt documents of the affected business
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The failure of any supplier or customer to fulfill its contractual obligations to The AES Corporation or our subsidiaries
could have material adverse effect on our financial results Consequently the financial performance of our facilities is

dependent on the credit quality of and continued performance by suppliers and customers

The market pricing of our common stock has been volatile and may continue to be volatile in future periods

The market
price for our common stock has been volatile in the

past and the price of our common stock could fluctuate

substantially in the future Stock price movements on quarter by quarter basis for the
past two years are set forth in Item

MarketMarket Intorniation of this Form 10-K Factors that could affect the price of our common stock in the future include
general conditions in our industry in the power markets in which we participate and in the world including environmental and
economic developments over which we have no control as well as developments specific to us including risks that could
result in revenue and earnings volatility as well as other risk factors described in this Item IARisk Factoc and those matters
described in Item 7.----i1Janagement Discussion and 4naIicis of Financial Conditions and Results of Operations

Risks Associated with our Operations

We do significant amount of business outside the United States including in
developing countries which presents

significant risks

significant amount of our revenue is generated outside the United States and significant portion of our international

operations is conducted in developing countries Part of our growth strategy is to expand our business in developing countries
because the growth rates and the opportunity to implement operating improvements and achieve higher operating margins may
be greater than those typically achievable in more developed countries International

operations particularly the operation
fiuiancing and development of projects in developing countries entail significant risks and uncertainties including without
Ii itati on

economic social and political instability in
any particular country or region

adverse changes in currency exchange rates

government restrictions on converting currencies or repatriating funds

unexpected changes in foreign laws and regulations or in trade monetary or fiscal policies

high inflation and monetary fluctuations

restrictions on imports of coal oil gas or other raw materials required by our generation businesses to operate

threatened or consummated expropriation or nationalization of our assets by foreign governments

risks relating to the failure to comply with the U.S Foreign Corrupt Practices Act United Kingdom Bribery Act or
other anti-bribery laws applicable to our operations

difficulties in hiring training and retaining qualified personnel particularly finance and
accounting personnel with

GAAP expertise

unwillingness of governments government agencies similar organizations or other
counterparties to honor their

contracts

unwillingness of governments government agencies courts or similar bodies to enforce contracts that are

economically advantageous to subsidiaries of the Company and economically unfavorable to counterparties against
such counterparties whether such counterparties are governments or private parties

inability to obtain access to fair and equitable political regulatory administrative and legal systenis

adverse changes in government tax policy

difficulties in
enforcing our contractual rights or enforcing judgments or obtaining favorable result in local

jurisdictions and

potentially adverse tax consequences of operating in multiple jurisdictions

Any of these factors by itself or in combination with others could materially and adversely affect our business results of
operations and financial condition Our operations may experience volatility in revenues and operating margin which have
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caused and are expected to cause significant volatility in our results of operations and cash flows The volatility is caused by

regulatory and economic difficulties political instability and currency devaluations being experienced in many of these

countries This volatility reduces the predictability and enhances the uncertainty associated with cash flows from these

businesses number of our businesses are facing challenges associated with regulatory changes

The operation of power generation distribution and transmission facilities involves significant risks that could

adversely affect our financial results We and/or our subsidiaries may not have adequate risk mitigation and/or insurance

coverage for liabilities

We are in the business of generating and distributing electricity which involves certain risks that can adversely affect

financial and operating performance including

changes in the availability of our generation facilities or distribution systems due to increases in scheduled and

unscheduled plant outages equipment failure failure of transmission systems labor disputes disruptions in fuel

supply poor hydrologic and wind conditions inability to comply with regulatory or permit requirements or

catastrophic events such as fires floods storms hurricanes earthquakes explosions terrorist acts cyber attacks or

other similar occurrences and

changes in our operating cost structure including but not limited to increases in costs relating to gas coal oil and

other fuel fuel transportation purchased electricity operations maintenance and repair environmental compliance

including the cost of purchasing emissions offsets and capital expenditures to install environmental emission

equipment transmission access and insurance

Our businesses require reliable transportation sources including related infrastructure such as roads ports and rail

power sources and water sources to access and conduct operations The availability and cost of this infrastructure affects capital

and operating costs and levels of production and sales Limitations or interruptions in this infrastructure or at the facilities of

our subsidiaries including as result of third parties intentionally or unintentionally disrupting this infrastructure or the

facilities of our subsidiaries could impede their ability to produce electricity This could have material adverse effect on our

businesses results of operations financial condition and prospects

In addition portion of our generation facilities were constructed many years ago Older generating equipment may
require significant capital expenditures for maintenance The equipment at our plants whether old or new is also likely to

require periodic upgrading improvement or repair and replacement equipment or parts may be difficult to obtain in

circumstances where we rely on single supplier or small number of suppliers The inability to obtain replacement equipment

or parts may impact the ability of our plants to perform and could therefore have material impact on our business and results

of operations Breakdown or failure of one of our operating facilities may prevent the facility from performing under applicable

power sales agreements which in certain situations could result in termination of power purchase or other agreement or

incurrence of liability for liquidated damages andlor other penalties

As result of the above risks and other potential hazards associated with the power generation distribution and

transmission industries we may from time to time become exposed to significant liabilities for which we may not have

adequate risk mitigation andlor insurance coverage Power generation involves hazardous activities including acquiring

transporting and unloading fuel operating large pieces of rotating equipment and delivering electricity to transmission and

distribution systems In addition to natural risks such as earthquakes floods lightning hurricanes and wind hazards such as

fire explosion collapse and machinery failure are inherent risks in our operations which may occur as result of inadequate

internal processes technological flaws human error or actions of third parties or other external events The control and

management of these risks depend upon adequate development and training of personnel and on the existence of operational

procedures preventative maintenance plans and specific programs supported by quality control systems which reduce but do

not eliminate the possibility of the occurrence and impact of these risks

The hazards described above along with other safety hazards associated with our operations can cause significant

personal injury or loss of life severe damage to and destruction of property plant and equipment contamination of or damage

to the environment and suspension of operations The occurrence of any one of these events may result in our being named as

defendant in lawsuits asserting claims for substantial damages environmental cleanup costs personal injury and fines and/or

penalties We maintain an amount of insurance protection that we believe is customary but there can be no assurance that our

insurance will be sufficient or effective under all circumstances and against all hazards or liabilities to which we may be

subject claim for which we are not fully insured or insured at all could hurt our financial results and materially harm our

financial condition Further due to rising insurance costs and changes in the insurance markets we cannot provide assurance

that insurance coverage will continue to be available on terms similar to those presently available to us or at all Any losses not

covered by insurance could have material adverse effect on our financial condition results of operations or cash flows
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Our businesses insurance does not cover every potential risk associated with its operations Adequate coverage at

reasonable rates is not always obtainable In addition insurance may not fully cover the liability or the consequences of any

business interruptions such as equipment failure or labor dispute The occurrence of significant adverse event not fully or

partially covered by insurance could have material adverse effect on the Companys business results or operations financial

condition and prospects

Any of the above risks could have material adverse effect on our business and results of operations

Our inability to attract and retain skilled people could have material adverse effect on our operations

Our operating success and ability to carry out growth initiatives depends in part on our ability to retain executives and to

attract and retain additional qualified personnel who have experience in our industry and in operating company of our size

and complexity including people in our foreign businesses The inability to attract and retain qualified personnel could have

material adverse effect on our business because of the difficulty of promptly finding qualified replacements For example we

routinely are required to assess the financial impacts of complicated business transactions which occur on worldwide basis

These assessments are dependent on hiring personnel on worldwide basis with sufficient expertise in U.S GAAP to timely

and accurately comply with United States reporting obligations An inability to maintain adequate internal accounting and

managerial controls and hire and retain qualified personnel could have an adverse effect on our financial and tax reporting

We have contractual obligations to certain customers to provide full requirements service which makes it difficult to

predict and plan for load requirements and may result in increased operating costs to certain of our businesses

We have contractual obligations to certain customers to supply power to satisfy all or portion of their energy

requirements The uncertainty regarding the amount of power that our power generation and distribution facilities must be

prepared to supply to customers may increase our operating costs significant underor over-estimation of load requirements

could result in our facilities not having enough or having too much power to cover their obligations in which case we would be

required to buy or sell power from or to third parties at prevailing market prices Those prices may not be favorable and thus

could increase our operating costs

We may not be able to enter into long-term contracts which reduce volatility in our results of operations Even when

we successfully enter into long-term contracts our generation businesses are often dependent on one or limited number of

customers and limited number offuel suppliers

Many of our generation plants conduct business under long-term sales and supply contracts which helps these businesses

to manage risks by reducing the volatility associated with power and input costs and providing stable revenue and cost

structure In these instances we rely on power sales contracts with one or limited number of customers for the majority of

and in some cases all of the relevant plants output and revenues over the term of the power sales contract The remaining

terms of the power sales contracts of our generation plants range from one to 25 years In many cases we also limit our

exposure to fluctuations in fuel prices by entering into long-term contracts for fuel with limited number of suppliers In these

instances the cash flows and results of operations are dependent on the continued ability of customers and suppliers to meet

their obligations under the relevant power sales contract or fuel supply contract respectively Some of our long-term power

sales agreements are at prices above current spot market prices and some of our long-term fuel supply contracts are at prices

below current market prices The loss of significant power sales contracts or fuel supply contracts or the failure by any of the

parties to such contracts that prevents us from fulfilling our obligations there under could adversely impact our strategy by

resulting in costs that exceed revenue which could have material adverse impact on our business results of operations and

financial condition In addition depending on market conditions and regulatory regimes it may be difficult for us to secure

long-term contracts either where our current contracts are expiring or for new development projects The inability to enter into

long-term contracts could require many of our businesses to purchase inputs at market prices and sell electricity into spot

markets which may not be favorable

We have sought to reduce counterparty credit risk under our long-term contracts in part by entering into power sales

contracts with utilities or other customers of strong credit quality and by obtaining guarantees from certain sovereign

governments of the customers obligations However many of our customers do not have or have failed to maintain an

investment-grade credit rating and our generation business cannot always obtain government guarantees and if they do the

government does not always have an investment grade credit rating We have also sought to reduce our credit risk by locating

our plants in different geographic areas in order to mitigate the effects of regional economic downturns However there can be

no assurance that our efforts to mitigate this risk will be successful

58



Competition is increasing and could adversely affect us

The power production markets in which we operate are characterized by numerous strong and capable competitors many

of whom may have extensive and diversified developmental or operating experience including
both domestic and

international and financial resources similar to or greater than ours Further in recent years the power production industry has

been characterized by strong and increasing competition with respect to both obtaining power sales agreements and acquiring

existing power generation assets In certain markets these factors have caused reductions in prices contained in new power

sales agreements and in many cases have caused higher acquisition prices for existing assets through competitive bidding

practices The evolution of competitive electricity markets and the development of highly efficient gas-fired power plants have

also caused or are anticipated to cause price pressure in certain power markets where we sell or intend to sell power These

competitive factors could have material adverse effect on us

Some of our subsidiaries participate in defined ben efit pension plans and their net pension plan obligations may

require additional significant contributions

Certain of our subsidiaries have defined benefit pension plans covering substantially all of their respective employees Of

the thirty defined benefit plans five are at United States subsidiaries and the remaining plans are at foreign subsidiaries

Pension costs are based upon number of actuarial assumptions including an expected long-term rate of return on pension plan

assets the expected life span
of pension plan beneficiaries and the discount rate used to determine the present value of future

pension obligations Any of these assumptions could prove to be wrong resulting in shortfall of pension plan assets compared

to pension obligations under the pension plan The Company periodically evaluates the value of the pension plan assets to

ensure that they will be sufficient to fund the respective pension obligations The Companys exposure to market volatility is

mitigated to some extent due to the fact that the asset allocations in our largest plans include significant weighting of

investments in fixed income securities that are less volatile than investments in equity securities Future downturns in the debt

andlor equity markets or the inaccuracy of any of our significant assumptions underlying the estimates of our subsidiaries

pension plan obligations could result in an increase in pension expense and future funding requirements which may be

material Our subsidiaries who participate in these plans are responsible for satisfying the funding requirements required by law

in their respective jurisdiction for any shortfall of pension plan assets compared to pension obligations under the pension plan

This may necessitate additional cash contributions to the pension plans that could adversely affect the Parent Company and our

subsidiaries liquidity

For additional information regarding the funding position of the Companys pension plans see Item 7.Managements

Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of OperationsCritical AccountingEstimatesPension and

Postretirement Obligations and Note 15 Benefit Plans included in Item Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

included in this Form 10-K

Our business is subject to substantial development uncertainties

Certain of our subsidiaries and affiliates are in various stages of developing and constructing power plants some but not

all of which have signed long-term contracts or made similar arrangements for the sale of electricity Successful completion

depends upon overcoming substantial risks including but not limited to risks relating to siting financing engineering and

construction permitting governmental approvals commissioning delays or the potential for termination of the power sales

contract as result of failure to meet certain milestones

In certain cases our subsidiaries may enter into obligations in the development process even though the subsidiaries have

not yet
secured financing power purchase arrangements or other aspects of the development process For example in certain

cases our subsidiaries may instruct contractors to begin the construction process or seek to procure equipment even where they

do not have financing or power purchase agreement in place or conversely to enter into power purchase procurement or

other agreement without financing in place If the project does not proceed our subsidiaries may remain obligated for certain

liabilities even though the project will not proceed Development is inherently uncertain and we may forgo certain development

opportunities and we may undertake significant development costs before determining that we will not proceed with

particular project We believe that capitalized costs for projects under development are recoverable however there can be no

assurance that any individual project will be completed and reach commercial operation If these development efforts are not

successful we may abandon project under development and write off the costs incurred in connection with such project At

the time of abandonment we would expense
all capitalized development costs incurred in connection therewith and could incur

additional losses associated with any related contingent liabilities
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In some of our joint venture projects and businesses and at The AES Corporation we have granted protective rights to

minority shareholders or we own less than
majority of the equity in the project or business and do not manage or

otherwise control the project or business which entails certain risks

We have invested in some joint ventures where our subsidiaries share operational management investment and/or other
control rights with our joint venture partners In many cases we may exert influence over the joint venture pursuant to

management contract by holding positions on the board of the joint venture company or on management committees and/or

through certain limited governance rights such as rights to veto significant actions However we do not always have this
type

of influence over the project or business in
every instance and we may be dependent on our joint venture partners or the

management team of the joint venture to operate manage invest or otherwise control such projects or businesses Our joint
venture partners or the management team of our joint ventures may not have the level of experience technical expertise human
resources management and other attributes

necessary to operate these projects or businesses optimally and they may not share
our business priorities In some joint venture agreements where we do have majority control of the

voting securities we have
entered into shareholder

agreements granting protective minority rights to the other shareholders

The approval ofjoint venture partners also may be required for us to receive distributions of funds from jointly owned
entities or to transfer our interest in

projects or businesses The control or influence exerted by our joint venture partners may
result in operational management and/or investment decisions which are different from the decisions our subsidiaries would
make if they operated independently and could impact the profitability and value of these joint ventures In addition in the

event that ajoint venture partner becomes insolvent or bankrupt or is otherwise unable to meet its obligations to the joint
venture or its share of liabilities at the joint venture we may be subject to joint and several liability for these joint ventures if
and to the extent provided for in our governing documents or applicable law

The AES Corporation entered into Shareholders Agreement with Terrific Investment Corporation Investor
subsidiary of China Investment Corporation in connection with the purchase of shares from AES in 2010 The Shareholders
Agreement provides Investor with certain rights including without limitation the right to nominate Director to the Board of
The AES Corporation registration rights for the shares held by Investor including demand registration rights and piggyback
registration rights Further information regarding the Shareholders Agreement can be found in the agreement itself which is

filed as an exhibit to this Form 10-K

Our renewable energy projects and other initiatives face considerable uncertainties including development
operational and regulatory challenges

Wind Generation Silver Ridge Power formerly AES Solar and our investments in projects such as energy storage are
subject to substantial risks Projects of this nature have been developed through advancement in technologies which may not be
proven or whose commercial application is limited and which are unrelated to our core business Some of these business lines

are dependent upon favorable regulatory incentives to support continued investment and there is significant uncertainty about
the extent to which such favorable regulatory incentives will be available in the future

Furthermore production levels for our wind and solar projects may be dependent upon adequate wind or sunlight or
biogas production which can vary significantly from period to period resulting in volatility in production levels and
profitability For example for our wind projects wind resource estimates are based on historical experience when available and
on wind resource studies conducted by an independent engineer and are not expected to reflect actual wind

energy production
in any given year

As result these
types of renewable energy projects face considerable risk relative to our core business including the

risk that favorable
regulatory regimes expire or are adversely modified In addition because certain of these projects depend on

technology outside of our expertise in generation and utility businesses there are risks associated with our ability to develop
and manage such projects profitably Furthermore at the development or acquisition stage because of the nascent nature of
these industries or the limited experience with the relevant technologies our ability to predict actual performance results may
be hindered and the projects may not perform as predicted There are also risks associated with the fact that some of these
projects exist in markets where long-term fixed price contracts for the major cost and revenue components may be unavailable
which in turn may result in these projects having relatively high levels of volatility Even where available many of our
renewable projects sell power under Feed-in-Tariff which may be eliminated or reduced which can impact the profitability
of these projects or make money through the sale of Emission Reductions products such as Certified Emissions Reductions
Renewable Energy Certificates or Renewable Obligation Certificates and the price of these products may be volatile

These projects can be capital-intensive and generally are designed with view to obtaining third
party financing which

may be difficult to obtain As result these capital constraints may reduce our ability to develop these projects or obtain third

party financing for these projects These risks may be exacerbated by the current global economic crisis including our
managements increased focus on liquidity which may also result in slower growth in the number of projects we can pursue
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The economic downturn could also impact the value of our assets in these countries and our ability to develop these projects If

the value of these assets decline this could result in material impairment or series of impairments which are material in the

aggregate which would adversely affect our financial statements

Impairment of goodwill or long-lived assets would negatively impact our consolidated results of operations and net
worth

As of December 31 2013 the Company had approximately $1.6 billion of goodwill which represented approximately
4.0% of our total assets on its Consolidated Balance Sheet Goodwill is not amortized but is evaluated for impairment at least

annually or more frequently if impairment indicators are present We could be required to evaluate the potential impairment of

goodwill outside of the required annual evaluation process if we experience situations including but not limited to

deterioration in general economic conditions or our operating or regulatory environment increased competitive environment
increase in fuel costs particularly when we are unable to pass through the impact to customers negative or declining cash

flows loss of key contract or customer particularly when we are unable to replace it on equally favorable terms divestiture of

significant component of our business or adverse actions or assessments by regulator These types of events and the

resulting analyses could result in goodwill impairment which could substantially affect our results of operations for those

periods Additionally goodwill may be impaired if our acquisitions do not perform as expected See the risk factor Our
acquisitions may not perfbrm as expected for further discussion

Long-lived assets are initially recorded at fair value and are amortized or depreciated over their estimated useful lives

Long-lived assets are evaluated for impairment only when impairment indicators are present whereas goodwill is evaluated for

impairment on an annual basis or more frequently if potential impairment indicators are present Otherwise the recoverability
assessment of long-lived assets is similar to the potential impairment evaluation of goodwill particularly as it relates to the

identification of potential impairment indicators and making estimates and assumptions to determine fair value as described

above

Certain of our businesses are sensitive to variations in weather

Our businesses are affected by variations in general weather conditions and unusually severe weather Our businesses

forecast electric sales on the basis of normal weather which represents long-term historical average While we also consider

possible variations in normal weather patterns and potential impacts on our facilities and our businesses there can be no

assurance that such planning can prevent these impacts which can adversely affect our business Generally demand for

electricity peaks in winter and summer Typically when winters are warmer than expected and summers are cooler than

expected demand for energy is lower resulting in less demand for electricity than forecasted Significant variations from
normal weather where our businesses are located could have material impact on our results of operations

In addition we are dependent upon hydrological conditions prevailing from time to time in the broad geographic regions
in which our hydroelectric generation facilities are located If hydrological conditions result in droughts or other conditions that

negatively affect our hydroelectric generation business our results of operations could be materially adversely affected

Information security breaches could harm our business

security breach of our information technology systems or plant control systems used to manage and monitor operations
could impact the reliability of our generation fleets and/or the reliability of our transmission and distribution systems
security breach that impairs our technology infrastructure could disrupt normal business operations and affect our ability to

control our transmission and distribution assets access customer information and limit our communications with third parties
Our security measures may not prevent such security breaches Any loss of confidential or proprietary data through breach

could impair our reputation expose us to legal claims or impact our ability to make collections or otherwise impact our

operations and materially adversely affect our business and results of operations

Our acquisitions may not perform as expected

Historically acquisitions have been significant part of our growth strategy We may continue to grow our business

through acquisitions Although acquired businesses may have significant operating histories we will have limited or no

history of owning and operating many of these businesses and possibly limited or no experience operating in the
country or

region where these businesses are located Some of these businesses may have been government owned and some may be

operated as part of larger integrated utility prior to their acquisition If we were to acquire any of these types of businesses
there can be no assurance that

we will be successful in transitioning them to private ownership

such businesses will perform as expected
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integration or other one-time costs will not be greater than expected

we will not incur unforeseen obligations or liabilities

such businesses will generate sufficient cash flow to support the indebtedness incurred to acquire them or the capital

expenditures needed to develop them or

the rate of return from such businesses will justify our decision to invest capital to acquire them

We have not realized the anticipated benefits and cost savings of the DPL acquisition and DPL continues tofiice

business and regulatory challenges

In November 2011 we acquired DPL Inc owner of DPL To date we have not realized the benefits that we anticipated

at the time of acquisition During 2012 DPL obtained waiver and amendment to certain of its loan documents which

included new covenants and various restrictions including restrictions on DPLs ability to distribute dividends to The AES

Corporation DPL continues to face number of business and regulatory challenges

Many of the risks facing DPL are similar to the risks facing our other regulated utility businesses including with respect

to rate regulation which is moving towards market-based pricing mechanism under the laws of Ohio increased costs due to

energy efteieney requirements and other environmental and health and safety regulations volatility of fuels costs increased

benefit plan costs and exposure to environmental liabilities In September 2013 the PUCO issued an order on the Electric

Service Plan ESP field by DPL to establish SSO rates that were to be in effect starting January 2013 The order approved

plan of non-bypassable charge that is designed to recover $110 million
per year for three years

from all customers beginning

January 2014 and ending December 2016 with the potential for an additional $45.8 million for five months beginning January

2017 and ending May 2017 The ESP also includes three year five month transition to market whereby wholesale

competitive bidding structure will be phased in to supply generation service to SSO customers DPL filed its plan for legal

separation of its generation assets The outcome of final separation plans is uncertain and could have material impact on our

results See Item .---Business---US SBU BusinessesDPL Inc for further information on the ESP and separation plan

DPL also faces unique risks including increased competition as result of Ohio legislation that permits its customers to

select alternative electric generation service providers Under this legislation customers can elect to buy transmission and

generation service from PUCO-certified Competitive Retail Electric Service Provider CRES Provider offering services to

customers in DPLs service territory Increased competition by CRES Providers in DPLs service territory for retail

generation service has resulted in the loss of existing customers and reduced revenues and could result in the loss of additional

customers and further reduced revenues as well as increased costs to retain existing customers or attract new customers The

following are few of the factors that could result in increased switching by customers to PUCO-certified CRES Providers in

the future

Low wholesale price levels may lead to existing CRES Providers becoming more active in DPLs service territory

and additional CRES Providers entering DPLs territory

DPL could also experience customer switching through governmental aggregation where municipality may

contract with CRES Provider to provide generation service to the customers located within the municipal

boundaries Greater than expected customers switching would decrease DPLs margins and increase its costs thereby

causing its financial performance to be worse than the Company projected

Failure by DPL to perform as expected for any reason could adversely affect DPLs business and financial results and

could adversely affect DPLs ability to refinance certain debt or to do so on favorable terms which is due in the near or

intermediate term DPL has scheduled debt maturities in 2013 totaling approximately $771 million including $200 million

revolving credit facility and $101 million letter of credit facility Certain of these maturities are currently subject to first

mortgage It is DPLs intention to refinance the first mortgage bonds under similar terms that would also allow for the

potential legal separation of its generation assets While DPL and its advisors believe that such refinancing under favorable

terms is probable there can be no assurances that the prospective creditors might require pricing terms and/or conditions that

are worse than those currently in place Any of the foregoing could have material adverse effect on the Company

The Company and DPL have operated and will continue to operate independently It is possible that the ongoing

integration process
could result in the loss of key DPL employees the disruption of DPLs ongoing businesses unexpected

integration issues higher than expected integration costs or an overall integration process that takes longer than originally

anticipated
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In addition at times the attention of certain members of the Companys and DPLs management and resources may be

focused on the ongoing integration of the businesses of the two companies and diverted from day-to-day business operations

which may disrupt each of the companies ongoing businesses and the business of the combined company

Risks associated with Governmental Regulation and Laws

Our operations are subject to significant government regulation and our business and results of operations could be

adversely affected by changes in the law or regulatory schemes

Our inability to predict influence or respond appropriately to changes in law or regulatory schemes including any

inability to obtain expected or contracted increases in electricity tariff or contract rates or tariff adjustments for increased

expenses could adversely impact our results of operations or our ability to meet publicly announced projections or analysts

expectations Furthermore changes in laws or regulations or changes in the application or interpretation of regulatory

provisions in jurisdictions where we operate particularly at our utilities where electricity tariffs are subject to regulatory review

or approval could adversely affect our business including but not limited to

changes in the determination definition or classification of costs to be included as reimbursable or pass-through

costs to be included in the rates we charge our customers including but not limited to costs incurred to upgrade our

power plants to comply with more stringent environmental regulations

changes in the determination of what is an appropriate rate of return on invested capital or determination that

utilitys operating income or the rates it charges customers are too high resulting in reduction of rates or consumer

rebates

changes in the definition or determination of controllable or non-controllable costs

adverse changes in tax law

changes in law or regulation which limit or otherwise affect the ability of our counterparties including sovereign or

private parties to fulfill their obligations including payment obligations to us or our subsidiaries

changes in environmental law which impose additional costs on our subsidiaries

changes in the definition of events which may or may not qualify as changes in economic equilibrium

changes in the timing of tariff increases

other changes in the regulatory determinations under the relevant concessions

other changes related to licensing or permitting which affect our ability to conduct business or

other changes that impact the short or long term price-setting mechanism in the markets where we operate

Any of the above events may result in lower margins for the affected businesses which can adversely affect our business

In many countries where we conduct business the regulatory environment is constantly changing and it may be difficult

to predict the impact of the regulations on our businesses On July 21 2010 President Obama signed the Dodd-Frank Wall

Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act the Dodd-Frank Act While the bulk of regulations contained in the Dodd-

Frank Act regulate financial institutions and their products there are several provisions related to corporate governance

executive compensation disclosure and other matters which relate to public companies generally The types of provisions

described above are currently not expected to have material impact on the Company or its results of operations Furthermore

while the Dodd-Frank Act substantially expands the regulation regarding the trading clearing and reporting of derivative

transactions the Dodd-Frank Act provides for commercial end-user exemptions which may apply to our derivative transactions

However even with the exemption the Dodd-Frank Act could still have material adverse impact on the Company as the

regulation of derivatives which includes capital and margin requirements for non-exempt companies could limit the

availability of derivative transactions that we use to reduce interest rate commodity and currency risks which would increase

our exposure to these risks Even if derivative transactions remain available the costs to enter into these transactions may

increase which could adversely affect the operating results of certain projects cause us to default on certain types of contracts

where we are contractually obligated to hedge certain risks such as project financing agreements prevent us from developing

new projects where interest rate hedging is required cause the Company to abandon certain of its hedging strategies and

transactions thereby increasing our exposure to interest rate commodity and currency risk and/or consume substantial

liquidity by forcing the Company to post cash and/or other permitted collateral in support of these derivatives In addition to the

Dodd-Frank Act in 2012 the European Market Infrastructure Regulation EMIR became effective EMIR includes
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regulations related to the trading reporting and clearing of derivatives and the impacts described above could also result from
our or our subsidiaries efforts to comply with EMIR It is also possible that additional similar regulations may be passed in

other jurisdictions where we conduct business Any of these outcomes could have material adverse effect on the Company

Our business in the United States is subject to the provisions of various laws and regulations administered in whole or
in part by the FERC and NERc including PURPA the Federal Power Act and the EPA ci 2005 Actions by the FERC
NERC and by state utility commissions can have material effect on our operations

EPAct 2005 authorizes the FERC to remove the obligation of electric utilities under Section 210 of PURPA to enter into

new contracts for the purchase or sale of electricity from or to QFs if certain market conditions are met Pursuant to this

authority the FERC has instituted rebuttable presumption that utilities located within the control areas of the Midwest
Independent Transmission System Operator Inc PJM Interconnection L.L.C ISO New England Inc the New York

Independent System Operator Inc NYISO and the Electric Reliability Council of Texas Inc are not required to purchase
or sell power from or to QFs above certain size In addition the FERC is authorized under EPAct 2005 to remove the

purchase/sale obligations of individual utilities on case-by-case basis While this law does not affect existing contracts as
result of the changes to PURPA our QFs may face more difficult market environment when their current long-term contracts

expire

EPAct 2005 repealed PUHCA 1935 and enacted PUHCA 2005 in its place PUHCA 1935 had the effect of requiring
utility holding companies to operate in

geographically proximate regions and therefore limited the
range of potential

combinations and
mergers among utilities By comparison PUHCA 2005 has no such restrictions and simply provides the

FERC and state utility commissions with enhanced access to the books and records of certain utility holding companies The
repeal of PUHCA 1935 removed barriers to mergers and other potential combinations which could result in the creation of

large geographically dispersed utility holding companies These entities may have enhanced financial strength and therefore an
increased ability to compete with us in the United States generation market

In accordance with Congressional mandates in the EPAct 1992 and now in EPAct 2005 the FERC has strongly
encouraged competition in wholesale electric markets Increased competition may have the effect of lowering our operating
margins Among other steps the FERC has encouraged RTOs and ISOs to develop demand response bidding programs as

mechanism for responding to peak electric demand These programs may reduce the value of our peaking assets which rely on
very high prices during relatively small number of hours to recover their costs Similarly the FERC is encouraging the
construction of new transmission infrastructure in accordance with provisions of EPAct 2005 Although new transmission lines

may increase market opportunities they may also increase the competition in our existing markets

While the FERC continues to promote competition some state utility commissions have reversed course and begun to

encourage the construction of generation facilities by traditional utilities to be paid for on cost-of-service basis by retail

ratepayers Such actions have the effect of reducing sale opportunities in the competitive wholesale generating markets in

which we operate

FERC has civil penalty authority over violations of any provision of Part of the Federal Power Act FPA which
concerns wholesale generation or transmission as well as any rule or order issued thereunder FERC is authorized to assess
maximum civil penalty of$1 million

per violation for each day that the violation continues The FPA also provides for the
assessment of criminal fines and imprisonment for violations under the FPA This penalty authority was enhanced in EPAct
2005 With this expanded enforcement authority violations of the FPA and FERCs regulations could potentially have more
serious

consequences than in the past

Pursuant to EPAct 2005 the North American Electric Reliability Corporation NERC has been certified by FERC as
the Electric Reliability Organization ERO to develop mandatory and enforceable electric system reliability standards

applicable throughout the United States to improve the overall reliability of the electric grid These standards are subject to

FERC review and approval Once approved the reliability standards may be enforced by FERC
independently or alternatively

by the ERO and regional reliability organizations with responsibility for auditing investigating and otherwise ensuring
compliance with reliability standards subject to FERC oversight Monetary penalties of up to $1 million per day per violation

may be assessed for violations of the reliability standards

Our utility businesses in the U.S face significant regulation by their respective state utility commissions The

regulatory discretion is reasonably broad in both Indiana and Ohio and includes regulation as to services and facilities the

valuation of
property the construction purchase or lease of electric generating facilities the classification of accounts rates of

depreciation the increase or decrease in retail rates and charges the issuance of certain securities the acquisition and sale of
some public utility properties or securities and certain other matters These businesses face the risk of unexpected or adverse

regulatory action which could have material adverse effect on our results of operations financial condition and cash flows
See Item Business-US SBU US Utilities and Item lARisk Factors We have not realized the anticipated benefits
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and cost savings of the DPL acquisition and DPL continues toftice business and regulatory challenges for further

information on the regulation faced by our U.S utilities

Our businesses are subject to stringent environmental laws and regulations

Our activities are subject to stringent environmental laws and regulations by many federal regional state and local

authorities international treaties and foreign governmental authorities These laws and regulations generally concern emissions
into the air effluents into the water use of water wetlands preservation remediation of contamination waste disposal
endangered species and noise regulation among others Failure to comply with such laws and regulations or to obtain or

comply with any necessary environmental permits pursuant to such laws and regulations could result in fines or other sanctions
Environmental laws and regulations affecting power generation and distribution are complex and have tended to become more
stringent over time Congress and other domestic and foreign governmental authorities have either considered or implemented
various laws and regulations to restrict or tax certain emissions particularly those involving air emissions and water discharges
See the various descriptions of these laws and regulations contained in Item l.Business of this Form 10-K These laws and
regulations have imposed and proposed laws and regulations could impose in the future additional costs on the operation of
our power plants We have incurred and will continue to incur significant capital and other expenditures to comply with these
and other environmental laws and regulations Changes in or new environmental restrictions may force the Company to incur
significant expenses or expenses that may exceed our estimates There can be no assurance that we would be able to recover all

or any increased environmental costs from our customers or that our business financial condition including recorded asset

values or results of operations would not be materially and adversely affected by such expenditures or any changes in domestic
or foreign environmental laws and regulations

Our businesses are subject to enforcement initiatives from environmental regulatory agencies

The EPA has pursued an enforcement initiative against coal-fired generating plants alleging wide-spread violations of the
new source review and prevention of significant deterioration provisions of the CAA The EPA has brought suit against
number of companies and has obtained settlements with approximately 26 companies over such allegations The allegations
typically involve claims that company made major modifications to coal-fired

generating unit without proper permit
approval and without installing best available control technology The principal but not exclusive focus of this EPA
enforcement initiative is emissions of SO2 and NOR In connection with this enforcement initiative the EPA has imposed fines

and required companies to install improved pollution control
technologies to reduce emissions of SO2 and NOR There can be

no assurance that foreign environmental
regulatory agencies in countries in which our subsidiaries operate will not pursue

similarenforcement initiatives under relevant laws and regulations

Regulators politicians non-governmental organizations and other pri vate parties have expressed concern about
greenhouse gas or GHG emissions and the potential risks associated with climate change and are taking actions which
could have material adverse impact on our consolidated results of operations financial condition and cash flows

As discussed in Item Business at the international federal and various regional and state levels rules are in effect or
policies are under development to regulate GHG emissions thereby effectively putting cost on such emissions in order to

create financial incentives to reduce them In 2013 the Companys subsidiaries operated businesses which had total CO2
emissions of approximately 72.1 million metric tonnes approximately 40.6 million of which were emitted by businesses
located in the United States both figures ownership adjusted The Company uses CO2 emission estimation methodologies
supported by The Greenhouse Gas Protocol reporting standard on GHG emissions For existing power generation plantsCO2 emissions data are either obtained

directly from plant continuous emission monitoring systems or calculated from actual
fuel heat inputs and fuel type CO2 emission factors The estimated annual CO2 emissions from fossil fuel electric power
generation facilities of the Companys subsidiaries that are in construction or development and have received the necessary air

permits for commercial operations are approximately 19.3 million metric tonnes ownership adjusted This overall estimate is

based on number of projections and assumptions which may prove to be incorrect such as the forecasted dispatch anticipated
plant efficiency fuel type CO2 emissions rates and our subsidiaries achieving completion of such construction and
development projects However it is certain that the projects under construction or development when completed will increase
emissions of our portfolio and therefore could increase the risks associated with regulation of GHG emissions Because there is

significant uncertainty regarding these estimates actual emissions from these projects under construction or development may
vary substantially from these estimates

The non-utility generation subsidiaries of the Company often seek to pass on any costs arising from CO2 emissions to

contract counterparties but there can be no assurance that such subsidiaries of the Company will effectively pass such costs
onto the contract counterparties or that the cost and burden associated with any dispute over which party bears such costs
would not be burdensome and costly to the relevant subsidiaries of the Company The utility subsidiaries of the Company may
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seek to pass on any costs arising from CO2 emissions to customers but there can be no assurance that such subsidiaries of the

Company will effectively pass
such costs to the customers or that they will be able to fully or timely recover such costs

Foreign federal state or regional regulation of GHG emissions could have material adverse impact on the Companys

financial performance The actual impact on the Companys financial performance
and the financial performance of the

Companys subsidiaries will depend on number of factors including among others the degree and timing of GUG emissions

reductions required under any
such legislation or regulations the cost of emissions reduction equipment and the price and

availability of offsets the extent to which market based compliance options are available the extent to which our subsidiaries

would be entitled to receive GHG emissions allowances without having to purchase
them in an auction or on the open market

and the impact of such legislation or regulation on the ability of our subsidiaries to recover costs incurred through rate increases

or otherwise As result of these factors our cost of compliance could be substantial and could have material adverse impact

on our results of operations

In January 2005 based on European Community Directive 2003/87/EC on Greenhouse Gas Emission Allowance

Trading the European Union Greenhouse Gas Emission Trading Scheme EU ETS commenced operation as the largest

multi-country GHG emission trading scheme in the world On February 16 2005 the Kyoto Protocol became effective The

Kyoto Protocol requires all developed countries that have ratified it to substantially reduce their GHG emissions including

CO2 To date compliance with the Kyoto Protocol and the EU ETS has not had material adverse effect on the Companys

consolidated results of operations financial condition and cash flows

The United States has not ratified the Kyoto Protocol In the United States there currently is no federal legislation

imposing mandatory GHG emission reduction programs including for CO2 affecting the electric power generation facilities

of the Companys subsidiaries However the EPA has adopted regulations pertaining to GHG emissions that require new

sources of GHG emissions of over 100000 tons per year and existing sources planning physical changes that would increase

their GHG emissions by more than 75000 tons per year to obtain new source review permits from the EPA prior to

construction or modification Additionally the EPA has proposed rule establishing New Source Performance Standards for

CO2 emissions for newly constructed fossil-fueled electric utility steam generating units EUSGUs larger than 25 MW The

EPA is expected to propose regulations that would apply to modified or existing EUSGUs by June 2014 For further discussion

of the regulation
of GHG emission see Item Business Environmental and Land Use Regulations United States

Environmental and Land Use Legislation and Regulations Greenhouse Gas Emissions above

Such regulations and in particular regulations applying to modified or existing EUSGUs could increase our costs

directly and indirectly and have material adverse effect on our business and/or results of operations See Item -Business of

this Form 10-K for further discussion about these environmental agreements laws and regulations

At the state level the Regional
Greenhouse Gas Initiative RGGI cap-and-trade program covering CO2 emissions

from electric power generation facilities in the Northeast became effective in January 2009 and California has adopted

comprehensive legislation
and regulations that requires mandatory GHG reductions from several industrial sectors including

the electric power generation industry At this time other than with regard to RGGI further described below and proposed

Hawaii regulations relating to the collection of fees on GHG emissions the impact of both of which we do not expect to be

material the Company cannot estimate the costs of compliance with United States federal regional or state CO2 emissions

reduction legislation or initiatives due to the fact that most of these proposals are not being actively pursued or are in the early

stages of development and any
final regulations or laws if adopted could vary drastically from current proposals in the case of

California we anticipate no material impact due to the fact that we expect such costs will be passed through to our offtakers

under the terms of existing tolling agreements

The RGGI program became effective in January 2009 The first regional auction of RGGI allowances needed to be

acquired by power generators to comply with state programs implementing RGGI was held in September 2008 with

subsequent auctions occurring approximately every quarter Our subsidiary in Maryland is our only subsidiary that was subject

to RGGI in 2013 Of the approximately
40.6 million metric tonnes of CO2 emitted in the United States by our subsidiaries in

2013 ownership adjusted approximately
1.5 million metric tonnes were emitted by our subsidiary in Maryland The

Company estimates that the RGGI compliance costs could be approximately $3.2 million for 2014 There is risk that our

actual compliance costs under RGGI will differ from our estimates by material amount and that our model could

underestimate our costs of compliance

In addition to government regulators
other groups such as politicians environmentalists and other private parties have

expressed increasing concern about GHG emissions For example certain financial institutions have expressed concern about

providing financing for facilities which would emit GHGs which can affect our ability to obtain capital or if we can obtain

capital to receive it on commercially viable terms Further rating agencies may decide to downgrade our credit ratings based

on the emissions of the businesses operated by our subsidiaries or increased compliance costs which could make financing
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unattractive In addition plaintiffs have brought tort lawsuits against the Company because of its subsidiaries GHG emissions

Unless the United States Congress acts to preempt such suits as part of comprehensive federal legislation additional lawsuits

may be brought against the Company or its subsidiaries in the future While the litigation mentioned has been dismissed it is

impossible to predict whether similar future lawsuits are likely to prevail or result in damages awards or other relief

Consequently it is impossible to determine whether such lawsuits are likely to have material adverse effect on the Companys

consolidated results of operations and financial condition

Furthermore according to the Intergovernmental
Panel on Climate Change physical

risks from climate change could

include but are not limited to increased runoff and earlier spring peak discharge in many glacier and snow-fed rivers warming

of lakes and rivers an increase in sea level changes and variability in precipitation and in the intensity and frequency of

extreme weather events Physical impacts may have the potential to significantly affect the Companys business and operations

and any such potential impact may render it more difficult for our businesses to obtain financing For example extreme

weather events could result in increased downtime and operation and maintenance costs at the electric power generation

facilities and support facilities of the Companys subsidiaries Variations in weather conditions primarily temperature
and

humidity also would be expected to affect the energy needs of customers decrease in energy consumption could decrease the

revenues of the Companys subsidiaries In addition while revenues would be expected to increase if the energy consumption

of customers increased such increase could prompt the need for additional investment in generation capacity Changes in the

temperature of lakes and rivers and changes in precipitation
that result in drought could adversely affect the operations of the

fossil fuel-fired electric power generation facilities of the Companys subsidiaries Changes in temperature precipitation and

snow pack conditions also could affect the amount and timing of hydroelectric generation

In addition to potential physical risks noted by the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change there could be damage to

the reputation of the Company and its subsidiaries due to public perception of GHG emissions by the Companys subsidiaries

and any such negative public perception or concerns could ultimately result in decreased demand for electric power

generation or distribution from our subsidiaries The level of GHG emissions made by subsidiaries of the Company is not

factor in the compensation of executives of the Company

If any of the foregoing risks materialize costs may increase or revenues may decrease and there could be material

adverse effect on the electric power generation businesses of the Companys subsidiaries and on the Companys consolidated

results of operations financial condition and cash flows

Tax legislation
initiatives or challenges to our tax positions could adversely affect our results of operations and

financial condition

Our subsidiaries have operations in the United States and various non-United States jurisdictions As such we are subject

to the tax laws and regulations of the United States federal state and local governments and of many non-United States

jurisdictions From time to time legislative measures may be enacted that could adversely affect our overall tax positions

regarding income or other taxes There can be no assurance that our effective tax rate or tax payments will not be adversely

affected by these legislative measures In addition United States federal state and local as well as non-United States tax laws

and regulations are extremely complex and subject to varying interpretations
There can be no assurance that our tax positions

will be sustained if challenged by relevant tax authorities and if not sustained there could be material impact on our results of

operations

We and our affiliates are subject to material litigation and regulatory proceedings

We and our affiliates are parties to material litigation and regulatory proceedings See Item 3.Legal Proceedings below

There can be no assurances that the outcome of such matters will not have material adverse effect on our consolidated

financial position

ITEM lB UNRESOL VED STAFF COMMENTS

None

ITEM PROPERTIES

We maintain offices in many places around the world generally pursuant to the provisions of longand short-term

leases none of which we believe are material With few exceptions our facilities which are described in Item of this

Form 10-K are subject to mortgages or other liens or encumbrances as part of the projects related finance facility In addition

the majority of our facilities are located on land that is leased However in few instances no accompanying project financing

exists for the facility and in few of these cases the land interest may not be subject to any
encumbrance and is owned

outright by the subsidiary or affiliate
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ITEM LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

The Company is involved in certain claims suits and legal proceedings in the normal course of business The Company
has accrued for litigation and claims where it is probable that liability has been incurred and the amount of loss can be

reasonably estimated The Company believes based upon information it currently possesses and taking into account established
reserves for estimated liabilities and its insurance coverage that the ultimate outcome of these proceedings and actions is

unlikely to have material adverse effect on the Companys financial statements It is reasonably possible however that some
matters could be decided

unfavorably to the Company and could require the Company to pay damages or make expenditures in

amounts that could be material but cannot be estimated as of December 31 2013

In 1989 Centrais ElØtricas Brasileiras S.A EletrobrÆs filed suit in the Fifth District Court in the State of Rio de
Janeiro FDC against Eletropaulo Eletricidade de Sio Paulo S.A EEDSP relating to the methodology for calculating
monetary adjustments under the parties financing agreement In April 1999 the FDC found for EletrobrÆs and in September
2001 EletrobrÆs initiated an execution suit in the FDC to collect approximately R$1.43 billion $605 million from Eletropaulo
as estimated by Eletropaulo and lesser amount from an unrelated company Companhia de Transmissäo de Energia ElØtrica

Paulista CTEEP Eletropaulo and CTEEP were spun off of EEDSP
pursuant to its privatization in 1998 In November

2002 the FDC rejected Eletropaulos defenses in the execution suit On appeal the case was remanded to the FDC for further

proceedings In December 2012 the FDC issued decision that Eletropaulo is liable for the debt However that decision was
annulled on appeal and the case was remanded to the FDC for further proceedings On remand at the FDC an accounting

expert will issue report on the amount of the alleged debt and the responsibility for its payment in light of the privatization
The parties will be entitled to take discovery and present arguments on the issues to be determined by the expert If the FDC
again finds Eletropaulo liable for the debt after the amount of the alleged debt is determined EletrobrÆs will be entitled to

resume the execution suit in the FDC If ElctrobrÆs does so Eletropaulo will be required to provide security for its alleged
liability In that case if EletrobrÆs

requests the seizure of such security and the FDC grants such
request Eletropaulos results

of operations may be materially adversely affected and in turn the Companys results of operations could be materially
adversely affected In addition in February 2008 CTEEP filed lawsuit in the FDC against EletrobrÆs and Eletropaulo seeking

declaration that CTEEP is not liable for
any debt under the financing agreement Eletropaulo believes it has meritorious

defenses to the claims asserted against it and will defend itself vigorously in these proceedings however there can be no
assurances that it will he successful in its efforts

In September 1996 public civil action was asserted against Eletropaulo and Associaço Desportiva Cultural

Eletropaulo the Associaçao relating to alleged environmental damage caused by construction of the Associaço near

Guarapiranga Reservoir The initial decision that was upheld by the Appellate Court of the State of Säo Paulo in 2006 found
that Eletropaulo should repair the alleged environmental damage by demolishing certain construction and reforesting the area
and either sponsor an environmental project which would cost approximately R$ 1.5 million $635 thousand as of
December 31 2012 or pay an indemnification amount of

approximately R$ 15 million $6 million Eletropaulo has appealed
this decision to the Supreme Court and the Supreme Court affirmed the decision of the Appellate Court Following the Supreme
Courts decision the case is being remanded to the court of first instance for further proceedings and to monitor compliance by
the defendants with the terms of the decision

In December 2001 Gridco Ltd Gridco served notice to arbitrate pursuant to the Indian Arbitration and Conciliation
Act of 1996 on the Company AES Orissa Distribution Private Limited AES ODPL and Jyoti Structures Jyoti pursuant
to the terms of the shareholders agreement between Gridco the Company AES ODPL Jyoti and the Central Electricity Supply
Company of Orissa Ltd CESCO an affiliate of the Company In the arbitration Gridco asserted that comfort letter issued

by the Company in connection with the Companys indirect investment in CESCO obligates the Company to provide additional
financial

support to cover all of CESCOs financial obligations to Gridco Gridco appeared to be seeking approximately $189
million in damages plus undisclosed penalties and interest but detailed alleged damage analysis was not filed by Gridco The
Company counterelaimed against Gridco for damages In June 2007 2-to-l majority of the arbitral tribunal rendered its

award rejecting Gridcos claims and holding that none of the respondents the Company AES ODPL or Jyoti had
any liability

to Iridco The respondents counterclaims were also rejected majority of the tribunal later awarded the respondents

including the Company some of their costs relating to the arbitration Gridco has filed
challenges of the tribunals awards with

the local Indian court Those challenges remain pending The Company believes that it has meritorious defenses to the claims
asserted against it and will defend itself vigorously in these proceedings however there can be no assurances that it will he
successful in its efforts

In March 2003 the office of the Federal Public Prosecutor for the State of Sªo Paulo Brazil MPFnotified

Eletropaulo that it had commenced an inquiry into the BNDES financings provided to AES Elpa and AES Transgas the

rationing loan provided to Eletropaulo changes in the control of Eletropaulo sales of assets by Eletropaulo and the quality of
service provided by Eletropaulo to its customers The MPF requested various documents from Eletropaulo relating to these
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matters In July 2004 the MPF filed public civil lawsuit in the Federal Court of Säo Paulo FCSP alleging that BNDES

violated Law 8429/92 the Administrative Misconduct Act and BNDESs internal rules by approving the AES Elpa and

AES TransgÆs loans extending the payment terms on the AES Elpa and AES TransgÆs loans authorizing the sale of

Eletropaulos preferred shares at stock-market auction accepting Eletropaulos preferred shares to secure the loan

provided to Eletropaulo and allowing the restructurings of Light Servicos de Eletricidade S.A and Eletropaulo The MPF

also named AES Elpa and AES TransgÆs as defendants in the lawsuit because they allegedly benefited from BNDESs alleged

violations In May 2006 the FCSP ruled that the MPF could pursue
its claims based on the first second and fourth alleged

violations noted above The MPF subsequently filed an interlocutory appeal with the Federal Court of Appeals FCA
seeking to require the FCSP to consider all five alleged violations Also in July 2006 AES Elpa and AES TransgÆs filed an

interlocutory appeal with the FCA which was subsequently consolidated with the MPFs interlocutory appeal seeking

transfer of venue and to enjoin the FCSP from considering any of the alleged violations In June 2009 the FCA granted the

injunction sought byAES Elpa andAES TransgÆs and transferred the case to the Federal Court of Rio de Janeiro In May 2010

the MPF filed an appeal with the Superior Court of Justice SCJ challenging the transfer In November 2012 the SCJ ruled

that the lawsuit must be returned to the FCSP AES Elpa and AES Brasiliana the successor of AES TransgÆs believe they have

meritorious defenses to the allegations asserted against them and will defend themselves vigorously in these proceedings

however there can be no assurances that they will be successful in their efforts

Pursuant to their environmental audit AES Sul and AES Florestal discovered 200 barrels of solid creosote waste and

other contaminants at pole factory that AES Florestal had been operating The conclusion of the audit was that prior

operator
of the pole factory Companhia Estadual de Energia CEEE had been using those contaminants to treat the poles

that were manufactured at the factory On their initiative AES Sul and AES Florestal communicated with Brazilian authorities

and CEEE about the adoption of containment and remediation measures In March 2008 the State Attorney of the State of Rio

Grande do Sul Brazil filed public civil action against AES Sul AES Florestal and CEEE seeking an order requiring the

companies to recover the contaminated area located on the grounds of the pole factory and an indemnity payment

approximately R$6 million $3 million to the States Environmental Fund In October 2011 the State Attorney Office filed

request for an injunction ordering the defendant companies to remediate the contaminated area immediately The court granted

injunctive relief on October 18 2011 but determined only that defendant CEEE was required to proceed with the remediation

work In May 2012 CEEE began the remediation work in compliance with the injunction The remediation costs are estimated

to be approximately R$60 million $25 million and the work is ongoing The case is in the evidentiary stage awaiting the

production of the courts expert opinion on several matters including which of the parties had utilized the products found in the

area The Company believes that it has meritorious defenses to the claims asserted against it and will defend itself vigorously in

these proceedings however there can be no assurances that it will be successful in its efforts

In January 2004 the Company received notice of Formulation of Charges filed against the Company by the

Superintendence
of Electricity of the Dominican Republic In the Formulation of Charges the Superintendence asserts that

the existence of three generation companies Empresa Generadora de Electricidad Itabo S.A Itabo Dominican Power

Partners and AES Andres BV and one distribution company Empresa Distribuidora de Electricidad del Este S.A Este in

the Dominican Republic violates certain cross-ownership restrictions contained in the General Electricity Law of the

Dominican Republic In February 2004 the Company filed in the First Instance Court of the National District of the Dominican

Republic an action seeking injunctive relief based on several constitutional due process
violations contained in the

Formulation of Charges Constitutional Injunction In February 2004 the Court granted the Constitutional Injunction and

ordered the immediate cessation of any effects of the Formulation of Charges and the enactment by the Superintendence of

Electricity of special procedure to prosecute alleged antitrust complaints under the General Electricity Law In March 2004

the Superintendence of Electricity appealed the Courts decision In July 2004 the Company divested any interest in Este The

Superintendence of Electricitys appeal remains pending The Company believes it has meritorious defenses to the claims

asserted against it and will defend itself vigorously in these proceedings however there can be no assurances that it will be

successful in its efforts

In March 2009 AES Uruguaiana Empreendimentos S.A AESU in Brazil initiated arbitration in the International

Chamber of Commerce ICC against YPF S.A YPF seeking damages and other relief relating to YPF breach of the

parties gas supply agreement GSA Thereafter in April 2009 YPF initiated arbitration in the ICC against AESU and two

unrelated parties Companhia de Gas do Estado do Rio Grande do Sul and Transportador de Gas del Mercosur S.A TGM
claiming that AESU wrongfully terminated the GSA and caused the termination of transportation agreement TA between

YPF and TGM YPF Arbitration YPF sought an unspecified amount of damages from AESU declaration that YPFs

performance was excused under the GSA due to certain alleged force majeure events or in the alternative declaration that

the GSA and the TA should be terminated without finding of liability against YPF because of the allegedly onerous

obligations imposed on YPF by those agreements In addition in the YPF Arbitration TGM asserted that if it was determined

that AESU was responsible for the termination of the GSA AESU was liable for TGMs alleged losses including losses under

the TA In April 2011 the arbitrations were consolidated into single proceeding The hearing on liability issues took place in
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Deceniber 2011 In May 2013 the arbitral Tribunal issued liability award in AESUs favor YPF thereafter challenged the

award in Argentine court That challenge is pending Also after it issued the liability award the arbitral Tribunal temporarily

suspended the next phase of the arbitration on damages issues but the Tribunal subsequently lifted that suspension AESU has

made its initial submission on damages The Tribunal has advised that the final
evidentiary hearing will take place in December

2014 AESU believes it has meritorious claims and defenses and will assert them vigorously however there can be no

assurances that it will be successful in its efforts

In April 2009 the Antimonopoly Agency in Kazakhstan initiated an investigation of the power sales of Ust-Kamenogorsk
HPP UK HPP and Shulbinsk HPP hydroelectric plants under AES concession collectively the Hydros for the period of

January-February 2009 The Antimonopoly Agency determined that the Hydros abused their market position and charged

rnonopolistically high prices for power from
January-February 2009 The Agency sought an order from the administrative court

requiring UK HPP to pay an administrative fine of approximately KZT 120 million $1 million and to disgorge profits for the

period at issue estimated by the Antimonopoly Agency to be approximately KZT 440 million $3 million No fines or

damages have been paid to date however as the proceedings in the administrative court have been suspended due to the

imtiation of related criminal proceedings against officials of the Hydros In the course of criminal proceedings the financial

police have expanded the periods at issue to the entirety of 2009 in the case of UK HPP and from January-October 2009 in the

case of Shulhinsk HPP and sought increased damages of KZT 1.2 billion $8 million from UK HPP and KZT 1.3 billion $8
million from Shulbinsk HPP The Hydros believe they have meritorious defenses and will assert them vigorously in these

proceedings however there can be no assurances that they will be successful in their efforts

In October 2009 AES Merida 111 de R.L de CV AES Merida one of our businesses in Mexico initiated arbitration

agamst its fuel supplier and electricity offtaker Comisión Federal de Electricidad CFEseeking declaration that CFE
breached the parties power purchase agreement PPA by supplying gas that did not comply with the PPAs
specifications Alternatively AES Merida requested declaration that the supply of such

gas by CFE is force majeure event
under the PPA CFE disputed the claims Although it did not assert counterclaims in its closing brief CFE asserted that it is

entitled to partial refund of the capacity charge payments that it made for power generated with the out-of-specification gas
In July 2012 the arbitral Tribunal issued an award in AES Meridas favor In December 2012 CFE initiated an action in

Mexican court seeking to nullify the award That action remains pending AES Merida has opposed the request and asserted

counterclaim to confirm the award AES Merida believes it has meritorious defenses in that action however there can be no

assurances that it will be successful

In October 2009 IPL received Notice of Violation NOV and Finding of Violation from the EPA pursuant to the

Clcan Air Act CAA Section 113a The NOV alleges violations of the CAA at IPLs three primarily coal-fired electric

generating facilities dating back to 1986 The alleged violations primarily pertain to the Prevention of Significant Deterioration

and nonattainment New Source Review requirements under the CAA Since receiving the letter IPL management has met with

EPA staff regarding possible resolutions of the NOV At this time we cannot predict the ultimate resolution of this matter

However settlements and litigated outcomes of similar cases have required companies to pay civil penalties install additional

pollution control technology on coal-fired electric generating units retire existing generating units and invest in additional

environmental projects similar outcome in this case could have material impact to IPL and could in turn have material

impact on the Company IPL would seek recovery of any operating or capital expenditures related to air pollution control

technology to reduce regulated air emissions however there can be no assurances that it would be successful in that regard

In November 2009 April 2010 December 2010 April 2011 June 2011 August 2011 and November 2011 substantially

similarpersonal injury lawsuits were filed by total of 49 residents and decedent estates in the Dominican Republic against the

Company AES Atlantis Inc AES Puerto Rico LP AES Puerto Rico Inc and AES Puerto Rico Services Inc in the Superior
Court for the State of Delaware In each lawsuit the plaintiffs allege that the coal combustion byproducts of AES Puerto Ricos

power plant were illegally placed in the Dominican Republic from October 2003 through March 2004 and subsequently caused
the plaintiffs birth defects other personal injuries and/or deaths The plaintiffs did not quantify their alleged damages but

generally alleged that they are entitled to compensatory and punitive damages The Company is not able to estimate damages if

any at this time The AES defendants moved for partial dismissal of both the November 2009 and April 2010 lawsuits on
various grounds In July 2011 the Superior Court dismissed the plaintiffs international law and punitive damages claims but

held that the plaintiffs had stated intentional tort negligence and strict liability claims under Dominican law which the

Superior Court found governed the lawsuits The Superior Court granted the plaintiffs leave to amend their complaints in

accordance with its decision and in September 2011 the plaintiffs in the November 2009 and April 2010 lawsuits did so In

November 2011 the AES defendants again moved for partial dismissal of those amended complaints and in both lawsuits the

Superior Court dismissed the plaintiffs claims for future medical monitoring expenses but declined to dismiss their claims
under Dominican Republic Law 64-00 The AES defendants filed an answer to the November 2009 lawsuit in June 2012 The

Superior Court has stayed the remaining six lawsuits as well as any subsequently filed similar lawsuits The Superior Court has

also ordered that for the present discovery will proceed only in the November 2009 lawsuit and will be limited to causation
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and exposure issues The AES defendants believe they have meritorious defenses and will defend themselves vigorously

however there can be no assurances that they will be successful in their efforts

On December 21 2010 AES-3C Maritza East EOOD which owns 670 MW lignite-fired power plant in Bulgaria

made the first in series of demands on the performance bond securing the construction Contractors obligations under the

parties EPC Contract The Contractor failed to complete the plant on schedule The total amount demanded by Maritza under

the performance bond was approximately 155 million The Contractor obtained an injunction from lower French court

purportedly preventing the issuing bank from honoring the bond demands However the Versailles Court of Appeal canceled

the injunction in July 2011 and therefore the issuing bank paid the bond demands in full In addition in December 2010 the

Contractor stopped commissioning of the power plants two units allegedly because of the purported characteristics of the

lignite supplied to it for commissioning In January 2011 the Contractor initiated arbitration on its lignite claim seeking an

extension of time to complete the power plant an increase to the contract price and other relief including in relation to the

bond demands The Contractor later added claims relating to the alleged unavailability of the grid during commissioning

Maritza rejected the Contractors claims and asserted counterclaims for delay liquidated damages and other relief relating to the

Contractors failure to complete the power plant and other breaches of the EPC Contract Maritza also terminated the EPC

Contract for cause and asserted arbitration claims against the Contractor relating to the termination The Contractor asserted

counterclaims relating to the termination The Contractor is seeking approximately 240 million $330 million in the

arbitration unspecified damages for alleged injury to reputation and other relief The arbitral hearing took place on

November 27-December 2013 and on January 6-17 2014 The parties will make final written and oral submissions later this

year Maritza believes it has meritorious claims and defenses and will assert them vigorously in these proceedings however

there can be no assurances that it will be successful in its efforts

On February 11 2011 Eletropaulo received notice of violation from Sªo Paulo States Environmental Authorities for

allegedly destroying 0.32119 hectares of native vegetation at the Conservation Park of Serra do Mar Park without previous

authorization or license The notice of violation asserted fine of approximately R$ million $423 thousand and the

suspension of Eletropaulo activities in the Park As response to this administrative procedure before the Sªo Paulo State

Environmental Authorities Sªo Paulo EA Eletropaulo timely presented its defense on February 28 2011 seeking to vacate

the notice of violation or reduce the fine In December 2011 the Sªo Paulo EA declined to vacate the notice of violation but

recognized the possibility of 40% reduction in the fine if Eletropaulo agrees to recover the affected area with additional

vegetation Eletropaulo has not appealed the decision and is now discussing the terms of possible settlement with the Sªo

Paulo EA including plan to recover the affected area by primarily planting additional trees In March 2012 the State of Sªo

Paulo Prosecutors Office of Sªo Bernardo do Campo initiated Civil Proceeding to review the compliance by Eletropaulo

with the terms of any possible settlement Eletropaulo has had several meetings and field inspections to settle the details of the

recovery project Eletropaulo was informed by the Park Administrator that the area where the recovery project was to be

located was no longer available The Park Administrator subsequently approved new area for the recovery project subject to

approval of the current owner which Eletropaulo is seeking Eletropaulo is also considering alternatives to recover the damage

other than reforestation

In February 2011 consumer protection group S.O.S Consumidores SOSC filed lawsuit in the State of Sªo Paulo

Federal Court against the Brazilian Regulatory Agency ANEEL Eletropaulo and all other distribution companies in the

State of Sªo Paulo claiming that the distribution companies had overcharged customers for electricity SOSC asserted that the

distribution companies tariffs had been incorrectly calculated by ANEEL and that the tariffs were required to be corrected

from the effective dates of the relevant concession contracts SOSC asserted that ANEEL erred in May 2010 when the agency

corrected the alleged error going forward but declared that the tariff calculations made in the past were correct Eletropaulo

opposed the lawsuit on the ground that it had not wrongfully collected amounts from its customers as its tariffs had been

calculated in accordance with the concession contract with the Federal Government and ANEELs rules Subsequently the

lawsuit was transferred to the Federal Court of Belo Horizonte FCBH which was presiding over similar lawsuits against

other distribution companies and ANEEL In January 2014 the FCBH dismissed the lawsuit against Eletropaulo and the other

distribution companies SOSC may appeal Even if it does not SOSCs lawsuit will continue against ANEEL If SOSC

ultimately prevails against the agency it is possible that SOSC may file lawsuit against Eletropaulo seeking refunds

Eletropaulo estimates that its liability to customers could be approximately R$855 million $362 million Eletropaulo believes

it has meritorious defenses and will defend itself vigorously in this lawsuit however there can be no assurances that it will be

successful in its efforts

in June 2011 the Sªo Paulo Municipal Tax Authority the Municipality filed 60 tax assessments in Sªo Paulo

administrative court against Eletropaulo seeking approximately R$l.2 billion $508 million in services tax ISS that

allegedly had not been collected on revenues for services rendered by Eletropaulo Eletropaulo challenged the assessments on

the ground that the revenues at issue were not subject to ISS In October 2013 the First Instance Administrative Court

determined that Eletropaulo is liable for approximately R$l.03 billion $436 million in ISS and related penalties Eletropaulo

has appealed to the Second Instance Administrative Court Eletropaulo believes it has meritorious defenses to the assessments
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and will defend itself vigorously in these proceedings however there can be no assurances that it will be successful in its

efforts

In January 2012 the Brazil Federal Tax Authority issued an assessment alleging that AES TietŒ paid PIS and COFINS
taxes from 2007 to 2010 at lower rate than the tax authority believed was applicable AES TietŒ challenged the assessment on
the ground that the tax rate was set in the applicable legislation In April 2013 the First Instance Administrative Court

determined that AES TietŒ should calculate the taxes at the higher rate and that AES TietŒ was liable for R$829 million $351
million in unpaid taxes interest and penalties AES TietØ has filed an appeal to the Second Instance Administrative Court and

no tax is due while the appeal is pending AES TietØ believes it has meritorious defenses to the claim and will defend itself

vigorously in these proceedings however there can be no assurances that it will be successful in its efforts

In August 2012 Fondo Patrimonial de las Empresas Reformadas FONPER the Dominican instrumentality that holds

the Dominican Republics shares in Empresa Generadora de Electricidad Itabo S.A Itabo filed criminal complaint

against certain current and former employees of AES The criminal proceedings include related civil component initiated

against Coastal Itabo Ltd Coastal the AES affiliate shareholder of Itabo and New Caribbean Investment S.A NCI
the AES affiliate that manages ltabo FONPER asserts claims relating to the alleged mismanagement of Itabo and seeks

approximately $270 million in damages The Dominican District Attorney DA has admitted the criminal complaint and is

investigating the allegations set forth therein In September 2012 one of the individual defendants responded to the criminal

complaint denying the charges and seeking an immediate dismissal of same In April 2013 the DA requested that the

Dominican Camara de Cuentas Camara perform an audit of the allegations in the criminal complaint The audit is ongoing
and the Camara has not issued its report to date Further in August 2012 Coastal and NCI initiated an international arbitration

proceeding against FONPER and the Dominican Republic seeking declaration that Coastal and NCI have acted both lawfully
and in accordance with the relevant contracts with FONPER and the Dominican Republic in relation to the management of

ltabo Coastal and NCI also seek declaration that the criminal complaint is breach of the relevant contracts between the

parties including the obligation to arbitrate disputes Coastal and NCI further seek damages from FONPER and the Dominican

Republic resulting from their breach of contract FONPER and the Dominican Republic have denied the claims and challenged
the jurisdiction of the arbitral tribunal The tribunal has not yet established the procedural schedule for the arbitration The AES
defendants believe they have meritorious claims and defenses which they will assert vigorously however there can be no
assurance that they will be successful in their efforts

In April 2013 the East Kazakhstan Ecology Department ED issued an order directing AES Ust-Kamenogorsk
CHP UK CHP to pay approximately KZT 720 million $4.6 million in damages EDs April 2013 Order The ED
claimed that UK CHP was illegally operating without an emissions permit for 27 days in February-March 2013 In June 2013
the ED filed lawsuit with the Specialized Interregional Economic Court the Economic Court seeking to require UK CHP
to pay the assessed damages UK CHP thereafter filed

separate lawsuit with the Economic Court challenging the EDs April
2013 Order and EDs allegations En August 2013 the Economic Court ruled in favor of UK CHP in the lawsuit filed by UK
CHP and required the ED to vacate the EDs April 2013 Order That ruling was upheld on intermediate appeal The ED may
appeal The Economic Court also dismissed the lawsuit filed by the ED UK CHP believes it has meritorious claims and
defenses to the claims asserted against it and will defend itself vigorously in these proceedings however there can be no
assurance that it will be successful in its efforts

In December 2013 AES Changuinolas EPC Contractor initiated arbitration pursuant to the parties EPC Contract and
related settlement agreements The Contractor alleges among other things that AES Changuinola has failed to make
settlement payment release retainage and acknowledge completion of AES Changuinola hydropower facility In total the

Contractor seeks approximately $41 million in damages plus interest and costs AES Changuinola will contest the claims AES
Changuinola believes it has meritorious defenses which it will assert vigorously however there can be no assurance that it will

be successful in its efforts

ITEM MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES

Not applicable
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PART II

ITEM MARKET FOR REGISTRANTS COMMON EQUIT1 RELATED STOCKHOLDER MA TTERS AND
ISSUER PURCHASES OFEQUITY SECURITIES

Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities

None

Purchases of Equity Securities by the Issuer and Affiliated Purchasers

Stock Repurchase Program

In December 2013 the Companys Board of Directors approved an increase of $211 million to the stock repurchase

program the Program under which the Company can repurchase AES common stock The Board authorization permits the

Company to repurchase stock through variety of methods including open market repurchases and/or privately negotiated

transactions There can be no assurances as to the amount timing or prices of repurchases which may vary based on market

conditions and other factors The Program does not have an expiration date and can be modified or terminated by the Board of

Directors at any time During the year ended December 31 2013 shares of common stock repurchased under this plan totaled

25297042 at total cost of $322 million which includes nominal amount of commissions average of$l2.73 per share

including commissions bringing the cumulative total purchases under the program to 94728430 shares at total cost of $1.1

billion which includes nominal amount of commissions average of $12.10 per share including commissions

The following table presents information regarding purchases made by The AES Corporation of its common stock in the

fourth quarter of 2013

Total Number of Shares Dollar Value of Maximum
Total Number of Average Price Paid Repurchased as part of Publicly Number Of Shares To Be

Repurchase Period Shares Purchased Per Share Announced Purchase Plan Purchased Under the Plan

10/1/2013 10/31/13 237465.694

11/1/2013- 11/30/13 237465694

12/1/2013 12/31/13 20000000 12.91 20000000 191479504

Total 20000000 12.91 20000.000

Market Information

Our common stock is currently traded on the New York Stock Exchange NYSE under the symbol AES The closing

price of our common stock as reported by the NYSE on February 18 2014 was $14.76 per share The Company repurchased

25297042 24790384 and 25541980 shares of its common stock in 2013 2012 and 2011 respectively The following tables

set forth the high and low stock prices and cash dividends declared for the periods indicated

2013 2012

Sales Prices Cash Dividends Sales Prices Cash Dividends

High Low Declared High Low Declared

FirstQuarter 12.73 10.66 14.01 11.85

Second Quarter 14.00 11.17 0.08 13.25 11.64

Third Quarter 13.77 11.62 12.94 10.83 0.04

FourthQuarter 15.54 13.16 0.09 11.25 9.52 0.04

Dividends

We commenced quarterly cash dividend of $0.04 per share beginning in the fourth quarter of 2012 During the fourth

quarter of 2013 the Board of Directors voted to increase the quarterly dividend to $0.05 per share There can be no assurance

that the AES Board will declare the dividend or if declared the amount of any dividend

Under the tenns of our senior secured credit facility which we entered into with commercial bank syndicate we have

limitations on our ability to pay cash dividends andlor repurchase stock Our project subsidiaries ability to declare and pay
cash dividends to us is subject to certain limitations contained in the project loans governmental provisions and other

agreements to which our project subsidiaries are subject See the information contained under Item 12.Security Ownership of
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Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder MattersSecurities Authorized for Issuance under

Equity ompensatlon Plans of this Form 10K

Holders

As of February 18 2014 there were approximately 5529 record holders of our common stock

Performance Graph
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THE AES CORPORATION
PEER GROUP INDEX/STOCK PRICE PERFORMANCE

AES SP 500 SP Utilities

Source Bloomberg

We have selected the Standard and Poors SP 500 Utilities Index as our peer group index The SP 500 Utilities

Index is published sector index comprising the 31 electric and gas utilities included in the SP 500

The five year total return chart assumes $100 invested on December 31 2008 in AES Common Stock the SP 500 Index

and the SP 500 Utilities Index The information included under the heading Performance Graph shall not be considered

filed for purposes of Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 or incorporated by reference in any filing under the

Securities Act of 1933 or the Securities Exchange Act of 1934

ITEM SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The following table sets forth our selected financial data as of the dates and for the periods indicated You should read

this data together with Item 7.Managementc Discussion andAnalysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations and

the Consolidated Financial Statements and the notes thereto included in Item 8.Financial Statements and Supplementary

Data of this Form 10-K The selected financial data for each of the years in the five year period ended December 31 2013 have

been derived from our audited Consolidated Financial Statements Prior period amounts have been restated to reflect

discontinued operations in all periods presented Our historical results are not necessarily indicative of our future results
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Acquisitions disposals reclassifications and changes in accounting principles affect the comparability of information

included in the tables below Please refer to the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements included in Item Financial

Statements and Supplementary Data of this Form 10-K for further explanation of the effect of such activities Please also refer

to Item A.--Risk Factors of this Form 10-K and Note 26----Risks and Uncertainties to the Consolidated Financial Statements

included in Item Financial Statements and Supplementary Data of this Form 10-K for certain risks and uncertainties that

may cause the data reflected herein not to be indicative of our future financial condition or results of operations

SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

Statement of Operations Data

Year Ended December 31

2013 2012 2011 2010 2009

in millions except per share amounts

15891 17164 16098 14644 12038

Income loss from continuing operations2 730 420 1602 1420 1699

Income loss from continuing operations attributable to The AES

Corporation net of tax

Discontinued operations net of tax

Net income loss attributable to The

AES Corporation

Per Common Share Data

Basic loss earnings per share

Income loss from continuing operations attributable to The AES

Corporation net of tax

Discontinued operations net of tax

Basic earnings loss per share

Diluted loss earnings per share

Income loss from continuing operations attributable to The AES

Corporation net of tax

Discontinued operations net of tax

Diluted earnings loss per share

Dividends Declared Per Common Share

December 31

2013 2012 2011 2010 2009

in millions

Total assets
40411 41830 45346 40511 39535

Non-recourse debt noncurrent
13318 12265 13261 10986 11454

Non-recourse debt noncurrentDiscontinued operations 124 322 1369 1558 1410

Recourse debt noncurrent
5551 5951 6180 4149 5301

Cumulative preferred stock of subsidiaries 78 78 78 60 60

Retained earnings accumulated deficit 150 264 678 620 650

The AES Corporation stockholders equity 4330 4569 5946 6473 4675

DPL was acquired on November 28 2011 and its results of operations have been included in AESs consolidated results of operations

from the date of acquisition See Note 24Acquisitions and Dispositions to the Consolidated Financial Statements included in Item

Financial Statements and Supplementary Data of this Form 10-K for further information

Includes pretax impairment of $467 million $1.9 billion $190 million $325 million and $139 million for the years ended December 31

2013 2012 2011 2010 and 2009 respectively See Note 10Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets and Note 1Asset Impairment

Expense included in Item 8Financial Statements and Supplementary Data of this Form 10-K for further information

ITEM MANAGEMENTS DISCUSSIONAND ANAL YSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITIONAND RESULTS OF

OPERATIONS

We are diversified power generation
and utility company organized into six market-oriented Strategic Business Units

SBUs US United States Andes Chile Colombia and Argentina Brazil MCAC Mexico Central America and the

Caribbean EMEA Europe Middle East and Africa and Asia For additional information regarding our business see Item

Business of this Form 10-K

Overview of Our Business

Revenue

284 960 506 457 632

170 48 4481 448 26

114 912 58 658

0.38 1.27 0.65 0.59 0.95

0.23 0.06 0.58 0.58 0.04

0.15 1.21 0.07 0.01 0.99

0.38 1.27 0.65 0.59 0.94

0.23 0.06 0.58 0.58 0.04

0.15 1.21 0.07 0.01 0.98

0.17 0.08

Balance Sheet Data
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Our Organization The segment reporting structure uses the Companys management reporting structure as its

foundation to reflect how the Company manages the business internally and is organized by geographic regions which provide
better socio-political-econornic understanding of our business The management reporting structure is organized along six

strategic business units SBUs led by our Chief Executive Officer CEO In 2012 the Company substantially

completed its operational management and reporting restructuring During the fourth quarter of 2013 the Company finalized its

internal operational reporting and applied the accounting guidance for segment reporting As result the Company has
determined that its reportable segments are aligned with the six SBUs Managements discussion and analysis of Operating
Margin Adjusted Operating Margin and Adjusted Pre-Tax Contribution is organized according to the SBU structure as follows

USSBU

Andes SBU

Brazil SBU

MCACSBU

EMEASBU

Asia SBU

Corporate and Other The Companys corporate operations are reported within Corporate and Other because they do
not require separate disclosure under segment reporting accounting guidance

Key Topics in the Management Discussion and Analysis

Our discussion covers the following

Overview of 2013 Results and Strategic Performance

Review of Consolidated Results of Operations

SBU Analysis and Non-GAAP Measures

Key Trends and Uncertainties

Capital Resources and Liquidity

Overview of 2013 Results and Strategic Performance

In 2013 our performance was driven by very dry hydrological conditions across key markets in Latin America our cost
reductions capital allocation decisions including debt repayment and share repurchases and lower effective tax rate

Earnings Per Share Results in 2013

Year Ended December 31

2013 2012 2011

Diluted earnings per share from continuing operations 0.38 1.27 0.65

Adjusted earnings per share non-GAAPmeasure 1.29 1.21 1.11

See reconciliation and definition under Non-GAAP Measure

Diluted earnings per share from continuing operations increased $1.65 to $0.38 principally due to lower goodwill
impairment expense lower income tax expense lower foreign currency losses and lower interest expense partially offset by
lower operating margin an increase in losses on early extinguishment of debt lower gain on sale of investments higher losses

from disposal and impairment of discontinued businesses and higher other than temporary impairments of our equity method
investments

Adjusted earnings per share non-GAAP measure increased by 7% to $1.29 primarily due to lower effective tax rate
lower interest expense and lower general and administrative expenses partially offset by lower operating margin

Management Priorities

Management is focused on the following priorities

Management of our portfolio of Generation and Utility businesses to create value for our stakeholders including
customers and shareholders through safe reliable and sustainable operations and effective cost management
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Driving our business to manage capital more effectively and to increase the amount of discretionary cash available

for deployment into debt repayment growth investments shareholder dividends and share buybacks

Realignment of our geographic focus To this end we will continue to exit markets where we do not have

competitive advantage or where we are unable to earn fair risk-adjusted return relative to monetization alternatives

In addition we will focus our growth investments on platform expansions or opportunities to expand our existing

operations and

Reduce the cash flow and earnings volatility of our businesses by proactively managing our currency commodity and

political risk exposures mostly through contractual and regulatory mechanisms as well as commercial hedging
activities We also will continue to limit our risk by utilizing non-recourse project financing for the majority of our

businesses

2013 Strategic PeJirmance

We continued to execute on our strategic objectives of safe reliable and sustainable operations improvement of available

capital and deployment of discretionary cash and realignment of our geographic focus Key highlights of our progress during
the

year ended December 31 2013 include

SaJ Reliable and Sustainable Operations Our 2013 operating performance for the
year was driven by the strategic

management of our assets and cost reductions across our portfolio but we also faced dry hydrological conditions across many
markets in Latin America and challenges at two of our utilities in Brazil and the US

We continue to focus on safety as our top priority Our safety performance improved in 2013 as we lowered our lost-time

incident case rates for both employees and operational contractors

AES strategic initiatives have resulted in both better operational availability and reliability of our generation portfolio as

measured by our Key Performance Indicators KPIs For example our asset management program works to optimize the

timing of plant maintenance by focusing on market pricing trends to minimize the costs of outages This is evidenced by our

performance in the Commercial Availability CAKPI as defined below which improved 4% Another strategic initiative

focuses on the techniques of coal blending and using variety of coals to improve margin Coal blending can reduce the

efficiency of certain generating units which unfavorably affects our heat rate however it is offset by the financial benefits

from utilizing lower-cost coal

Our utility portfolio also recorded some improvements in KPIs for the year Our dedication to providing reliable
energy

is evidenced by the improvement in our System Average Interruption Duration Index SAIDI and System Average
Interruption Frequency Index SAIFI which improved 15% and 24% respectively compared to 2012 SAIDI and SAIFI
metrics benefited in 2013 from fewer significant weather events in the US and asset optimization in the US and Brazil such as

crew productivity improvement tree-trimming and pole replacement

Our key performance indicators for 2013 and 2012 are as follows

For the Years Ended December 31

2013 2012 Variance 2012-2013

Safety Employee Lost-Time Incident Case Rate .105 .108 3%
Safety Operational Contractor Lost-Time Incident Case Rate .114 .173 34%

Generation

Commercial Availability 93.55% 89.09% 4.46

Equivalent Forced Outage Factor EFOF 2.92% 2.93%

Heat Rate HTU/kWh
9638 9476 162

System Average Interruption Duration Index SAIDI hours 5.96 7.01 1.05

System Average Interruption Frequency Index SAIFI number of interruptions 2.97 3.93 0.96

Non-Technical Losses
2.52% 2.19% 0.33%

Definitions

Lost-Time Incident Case Rate Number of lost-time cases per number of full-time employees or contractors

Commercial Availability Actual variable margin as percentage of potential variable margin if the unit had been available at full

capacity during outages

Equivalent Forced Outage Factor The percentage of the time that plant is not capable of producing energy due to unplanned
operational reductions in production
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Heat Rate The amount of energy
used by an electrical generator or power plant to generate one kilowatt-hour kWh

System Average Interruption Duration Index The total hours of interruption the average customer experiences annually

System Average Interruption Frequency Index The average number of interruptions the average customer experiences annually

Non-Technical Losses Delivered energy that was not billed due to measurement error theft or other reasons

We achieved the improvement in our KPls while also reducing costs across our portfolio Since 2011 we have reduced

our general and administrative and business development costs at our corporate offices and our SBUs by $143 million

While we made progress on our KPIs and cost cutting initiatives in 2013 generation in gigawatt-hours GWh decreased

4% driven by dry hydrological conditions in many markets in Latin America The impact of low water inflows on our

generation was most significant in Panama Colombia and Brazil

Finally two of our utility businesses in Brazil and Ohio faced some challenges In Brazil Eletropaulo received ruling

on customer refunds in December 2013 which resulted in $269 million regulatory liability recognized in the fourth quarter

AES owns 16% of Eletropaulo See Item Brazil SBU Eletropaulo Eletropaulo Regulatory Asset Base Update for

further discussion

In Ohio DPL received ruling on its ESP application to establish rates effective January 2014 While the ruling allows

for non-bypassable charge through 2016 lower expectations for dark spreads and capacity prices present longer-term

challenges for the business As result of these and other factors DPL recorded goodwill impairment of $307 million in the

fourth quarter See Item Us SBU DPL Regulatory Matters for further discussion of the ruling and Note 10 Goodwill

and Other Intangibles for further discussion of the impairment

Improving Available Capital and Deployment of Discretionary Cash

We continue to focus on improving cash generation and optimizing the use of our parent discretionary cash During 2013

we generated $2.7 billion of cash flow from operating activities and closed multiple asset sales In terms of uses we deployed

our discretionary cash to pay four quarterly dividends of $0.04 per share allocated $322 million to repurchase 25 million shares

see Note 16 Equity in Item Financial Statements of this Form 10-K for further information allocated $464 million to

reduce recourse debt and extend near-term maturities at the Parent Company and invested $198 million in our subsidiaries for

platform expansions and other purposes The largest platform investments in 2013 included environmental upgrades at

Indianapolis Power Light facilities that will receive full recovery for qualifying costs including return on equity and our

expansion project at our Amman East facility in Jordan

Realigning Our Geographic Focus

In 2013 we announced or closed asset sale transactions representing $497 million in equity proceeds to AES With

these transactions we exited operations in Spain China Ukraine and Trinidad and we plan to exit Cameroon after the sale of

our Cameroonian businesses closes in 2014 These asset sales are part of our strategy to drive shareholder value by exiting

markets where we do not have compelling competitive advantage and reinvesting capital into expanding our platforms

Throughout 2013 we added 522 MW of new capacity through four platform expansion projects Our planned future

capacity growth will come from combination of projects currently under construction and development We have 2762 MW

of new capacity under construction including the 531 MW Alto Maipo hydroelectric project in Chile which broke ground late

in 2013 In addition we have environmental upgrades of approximately 2400 MW under construction at Indianapolis Power

Light IPL These projects are scheduled to come on-line through 2018
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Review of Consolidated Results of Operations

Years Ended December 31

Results of operations

Revenue

US SBU

Andes SBU

Brazil SBU

MCAC SBU

EMEA SBU

Asia SBU

Corporate and Other

Intersegment eliminations

Total Revenue

Operating Margin

US SBU

Andes SBU

Brazil SBU

MCAC SBU

EMEA SBU

Asia SBU

Corporate and Other

Intersegment eliminations

Total Operating Margin

General and administrative expenses

Interest expense

Interest income

Loss on extinguishment of debt

Other expense

Other income

Gain on sale of investments

Goodwill impairment expense

Asset impairment expense

Foreign currency transaction losses

Other non-operating expense

Income tax expense

Net equity in earnings losses of affiliates

Income loss from continuing operations

Income loss from operations of discontinued businesses

Net gain loss from disposal and impairments of

discontinued businesses

Net income loss

Noncontrolling interests

Loss from continuing operations attributable to

noncontrolling interests

Income loss from discontinued operations attributable to

noncontrolling interests

Net income loss attributable to The AES Corporation

AMOUNTS ATTRIBUTABLE TO THE AES

CORPORATION COMMON STOCKHOLDERS

Income loss from continuing operations net of tax

Income loss from discontinued operations net of tax

Net income loss

Net cash provided by operating activities

Cash dividends per common share

446 540 1096

15 376

114 912 58

2013 2012 2011 %change2ol3vs.2012 %change2ol2vs.201t

in millions except per share amounts

3630 3736 2088 -3% 79%

2639 3020 2989 -13% 1%

5015 5788 6640 -13% -13%

2713 2573 2327 5% 11%

1347 1344 1469 -9%

550 733 625 -25% 17%

-22% 13%

10 39 48 74% 19%

15891 17164 16098 -7% 7%

668 711 395 -6% 80%

533 580 743 -8% -22%

871 969 1802 -10% -46%

543 560 512 -3% 9%

415 504 395 -18% 28%

169 236 167 -28% 41%

16 12 -33% NA

64 35 26 83% 35%

3247 3583 4040 -9% -11%

220 274 346 20% 21%

1482 1544 1530 4% -1%

275 348 398 -21% -13%

229 62 NM 87%

76 82 86 7% 5%

125 98 142 28% -31%

26 219 -88% NM

372 1817 17 80% NM

95 73 173 -30% 58%

22 170 32 87% -431%

129 50 82 -158% 39%

343 685 656 50% -4%

25 35 -29% NM

730 420 1602 274% -126%

27 47 158 -157% 130%

152 16 86 NM -81%

551 357 1530 254% -123%

17% 51%

160% 96%

113% NM

NM Not meaningful

284 960 506 130% -290%

170 48 448 -454% 111%

114 912 58 113% NM

2715 2901 2884 -6% 1%

0.17 0.08 113% NA
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Components ot Revenue Cost of Sales and Operating MarginRevenue includes revenue earned from the sale of energy
froii our utilities and the production of energy from our generation plants which are classified as regulated and non-regulated
on the Consolidated Statements of Operations respectively Revenue also includes the gains or losses on derivatives including
embedded derivatives other than foreign currency embedded derivatives associated with the sale of electricity

Cost of sales includes costs incurred directly by the businesses in the ordinary course of business Examples include

electricity and fuel purchases operations and maintenance costs depreciation and amortization expense bad debt
expense and

recoveries general administrative and support costs including employee-related costs directly associated with the operations of
the business Cost of sales also includes the gains or losses on derivatives including embedded derivatives other than foreign

currency embedded derivatives associated with the purchase of electricity or fuel

Operating margin is defined as revenue less cost of sales

Year ended December 31 2013

Revenue decreased $1.3 billion or 7% to $15.9 billion in 2013 compared with $17.2 billion in 2012 The key operating
drivers of the change at each of the SBUs are as follows

US Overall unfavorable impact of $106 million driven by the early termination of the PPA at Beaver Valley
in early 2013 customer switching as well as lower capacity rates at DPL and the short-term restart in 2012 of

two Huntington Beach generating units at Southland in California partially offset by higher wholesale volume
and prices at IPL in Indiana

Andes Overall unfavorable impact of $381 million driven by unfavorable FX of$128 million lower prices

from the impact of Resolution 95 in Argentina and lower contract and spot prices at Gener in Chile partially

offset by higher spot prices at Chivor in Colombia as result of dry hydrology

Brazil Overall unfavorable impact of $773 million driven by unfavorable FX of $631 million lower demand
as well as lower pass-through costs and the tariff reset implemented in April 2013 at Sul and decrease at

Eletropaulo related to the recognition of regulatory liability for customer refunds See Item Business

Brazil SBU Eletropaulo Regulatoiy Asset Base Update somewhat offset by higher tariffs Negative results

above partially offset by higher prices and sales at TietØ and the temporary re-start of operations during

February and March of 2013 at Uruguaiana

MCAC Overall favorable impact of$140 million driven by higher spot prices as well as higher spot and
gas

sales to third parties in the Dominican Republic higher prices in Mexico and Puerto Rico partially offset by
lower generation net of higher prices due to lower hydrology in Panama

EMEA Overall favorable impact of $3 million driven by higher energy prices at Kilroot pass-through costs

at Marjtza and Jordan as well as higher dispatch and fewer outages at Ballylumford partially offset by lower

capacity prices The favorable results above were largely offset by the sale of 80% of our ownership in

Cartagena in February 2012 and non-recurring favorable arbitration settlement in 2012

AsiaOverall unfavorable impact of$ 183 million due to higher contract levels at lower prices to reduce spot

exposure the reversal of contingency and unrealized derivative gains in 2012 at Masinloc in the Philippines
as well as lower generation at Kelanitissa in Sri Lanka as result of higher hydrology

Operating margin decreased $336 million or 9% to $3.2 billion in 2013 compared with $3.6 billion in 2012 The key
operating drivers of the change at each of the SBUs are as follows

US -- Overall unfavorable impact of $43 million driven by the short-term restart of two Huntington Beach
units at Southland in 2012 higher outages and related fixed costs at Hawaii and higher maintenance costs at

IPL in Indiana The negative drivers above were partially offset by higher contributions for US Wind businesses

and DPL with lower amortization expense largely offset by higher customer switching

Andes --- Overall unfavorable impact of $47 million driven by Chivor due to lower generation somewhat offset

by higher spot prices due to dry hydrology and Chile due to lower generation higher spot purchases and lower

contract prices offset by the commencement of operations of Ventanas IV in March 2013 These negative
drivers were partially offset by lower outages and higher volumes at Argentina somewhat offset by unfavorable

foreign currency translation and lower rates from the implementation of Resolution 95

Brazil Overall unfavorable impact of $98 million driven by unfavorable FX impact of $84 million lower

tariffs and demand at Sul as well as lower volumes and higher energy purchases due to low
hydrology at TietŒ

partially offset by the favorable reversal of liability and the temporary re-start of operations at Uruguaiana and
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higher tariffs and lower fixed costs at Eletropaulo somewhat offset by recognition of regulatory liability as

discussed above

MCAC Overall unfavorable impact of $17 million driven by Panama due to dry hydrological conditions

which resulted in lower generation and higher energy purchases at higher prices somewhat offset by favorable

net settlements Negative drivers above were partially offset by the Dominican Republic with higher spot sales

higher international gas prices and volume of
gas

sales to third parties and higher availability in El Salvador due

to the tariff increase at the beginning of 2013

EMEA Overall unfavorable impact of $89 million driven by Cartagena due to non-recurring favorable

arbitration settlement in 2012 and the two-stage sale of the business as discussed above as well as Ballylumford

due to lower capacity payments somewhat offset by fewer outages The negative results above were partially

offset by favorable dark spreads from higher energy prices and lower coal costs at Kilroot and fewer outages

and lower fixed costs at Maritza

Asia Overall unfavorable impact of $67 million driven by higher contracted volume at lower prices as

discussed above as well as reversal of contingency of $16 million and an unrealized derivative gain in 2012 at

Masinloc

Year Ended December 31 2012

Revenue increased $1.1 billion or 7% to $17.2 billion in 2012 compared with $16.1 billion in 2011 The key operating

drivers of the change at each of the SBUs are as follows

US Overall favorable impact of $1.6 billion driven by the impact of new businesses including $1.5 billion at

DPL acquired in November 2011 Additional drivers include IPL in Indiana with higher prices and Southland in

California due to the short-term restart of two Huntington Beach generating units in 2012

Andes Overall favorable impact of $31 million driven by Chile due to the impact of new operations at Angamos

in Chile which commenced operations in April 2011 as well as higher contract volume partially offset by lower spot

sales from Termoandes in Argentina to Chile and Chivor due to higher prices Favorable drivers above partially

offset by unfavorable FX of $66 million and Argentina due to lower prices and the impact of outages despite higher

volume

Brazil Overall unfavorable impact of $852 million driven by unfavorable FX of $1.1 billion as well as

Eletropaulo due to lower tariffs as result of the July 2012 tariff reset which was delayed from July 2011 partially

offset by higher pass-through costs at Sul and higher contract and spot prices at TietØ

MCAC Overall favorable impact of $246 million driven by new operations at Changuinola which commenced

operations in October 2011 and the re-start of operations at the Esti plant
in Panama as well as the Dominican

Republic due to higher prices and volume from gas
sales and higher ancillary services slightly offset by unfavorable

foreign currency translation impact of $17 million in Mexico

EMEA Overall unfavorable impact of $125 million driven by unfavorable FX of $39 million decrease at

Cartagena due to the sale of 80% of our ownership in February 2012 somewhat offset by non-recurring favorable

arbitration settlement and Ballylumford in the United Kingdom due to higher outages and lower demand The

lower results were partially offset by new operations at Maritza which commenced operations in June 2011

Asia Overall favorable impact of $108 million driven by Masinloc in the Philippines due to higher demand net of

lower prices the reversal of contingency and unrealized derivative gains in 2012 and favorable foreign currency

translation of$14 million

Operating margin decreased $457 million or 11% to $3.6 billion in 2012 compared with $4.0 billion in 2011 The key

operating drivers of the change at each of the SBUs are as follows

US Overall favorable impact of $316 million driven by the first full year of operations at DPL lower repair and

maintenance costs at IPL the short-term restart of two units at Southland and fewer outages at Hawaii

Andes Overall unfavorable impact of $163 million driven by Chile due to higher replacement energy costs and

lower spot sales at Termoandes Argentina due to lower prices and higher fixed costs partially offset by an increase

at Chivor due to non-recurring equity tax in 2011 and net favorable impact of higher spot prices and lower

volumes
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Brazil Overall unfavorable impact of $833 million driven by unfavorable FX impact of$146 million lower

tariffs at Eletropaulo as discussed above and higher fixed costs partially offset by higher contract prices from the

annual PPA price adjustment at TietŒ and higher tariffs at Sul

MCAC Overall favorable impact of $48 million driven by Panama due to the first full year of operations at

Changuinola as well as the re-start of operations at the Esti plant somewhat offset by lower prices as well as

Mexico due to fewer
outages and higher volume and the Dominican Republic due to favorable prices primarily

higher spot and LNG prices somewhat offset by lower availability

EMEA Overall favorable impact of$109 million driven by Maritza due to the first full year of operations
Kilroot with increased dispatch and Cartagena due to non-recurring favorable arbitration settlement somewhat
offset by the sale of 80% as discussed above The favorable drivers above were partially offset by Ballylumford due
to lower capacity prices higher outages and related maintenance costs and lower volume

Asia Overall favorable impact of $69 million driven by Masinloc due to higher market demand net of lower

rates the reversal of contingency and higher unrealized derivative gains

General and administrative expenses

General and administrative expenses includes expenses related to corporate staff functions and/or initiatives executive

management finance legal human resources and information systems as well as global development costs

General and administrative
expenses decreased $54 million or 20% to $220 million in 2013 from 2012 primarily due to

Company restructuring efforts resulting in decrease in employee related costs professional fees and business development
costs

General and administrative expenses decreased $72 million or 21% to $274 million in 2012 from 2011 primarily due to

reductions in business development and systems administration costs

Interest expense

Interest expense decreased $62 million or 4% to $1.5 billion in 2013 from 2012 The decrease was primarily due to

reduced debt principal as well as the prior year prepayment of an interest rate cash flow hedge that resulted in reclassification

of deferred losses from other comprehensive income to earnings at the Parent Company favorable foreign currency translation

and lower interest rates in Brazil as well as income resulting from ineffectiveness on interest rate swaps in Puerto Rico that

continue to qualif for hedge accounting These decreases were partially offset by monetary correction on the adjustment to

the regulatory liability related to the asset base at Eletropaulo as result of ruling by the regulator in December 2013

Interest expense increased $14 million or 1% to $1.5 billion in 2012 from 2011 This increase was primarily due to debt

at DPL acquired in November 2011 additional indebtedness at the Parent Company to finance the acquisition of DPL and less

interest capitalization due to the commencement of operations at various projects The increase was partially offset by
reduction in interest

expense in Brazil due to lower short-term interest rates lower debt principal and favorable foreign

currency translation as well as lower interest
expense for Cartagena which was deconsolidated following the sale of 80% of

our interest in the first quarter of 2012 and higher capitalized interest at Gener in 2012

Interest income

Interest income decreased $73 million or 21% to $275 million in 2013 from 2012 The decrease was primarily in Brazil
due to lower interest-bearing assets lower investment balances unfavorable foreign currency translation and lower interest

rates The decrease was partially offset by interest income related to FONINVEMEM III receivables in Argentina which
satisfied the criteria for recognition during 2013

Interest income decreased $50 million or 13% to $348 million in 2012 from 2011 The decrease was mainly in Brazil
due to reduction in interest-bearing assets unfavorable foreign currency translation and lower interest rates partially offset by
inflation adjustments on interest-bearing assets and interest earned on receivables for spot sales in the Dominican Republic

82



Loss on extinguishment of debt

Loss on extinguishment of debt was $229 million for the year ended December 31 2013 This loss was primarily related

to the loss on the early retirement of recourse debt at the Parent Company and the loss on the early extinguishment of debt at

Masinloc See Note 12 Debt included in Item Financial Statements and Supplementary Data of this Form 10-K for

further information

Loss on extinguishment of debt was $8 million and $62 million for the years
ended December 31 2012 and 2011 The

loss in 2012 was primarily related to early retirement of debt at the Parent Company and at Eletropaulo The loss in 2011 was

primarily related to $36 million premium paid on early retirement of debt at Gener and $15 million related to the early

retirement of senior notes due in 2011 at IPL

Other income and expense

See discussion of the components of other income and expense in Note 20 Other Income and Expense included in

Item Financial Statements and Supplementary Data of this Form 10-K for further information

Gain on sale of investments

Gain on sale of investments for the year ended December 31 2013 was $26 million which is primarily related to the sale

of our remaining 20% interest in Cartagena as well as the sale of our 10% equity interest in Trinidad Generation Unlimited

See Note 24 Acquisitions and Dispositions included in Item Financial Statements and Supplemental Data of this Form

10-K for further information

Gain on sale of investments for the year ended December 31 2012 was $219 million which was primarily related to the

sale of 80% of our interest in Cartagena as well as the sale of certain investments in China

Gain on sale of investments for the year ended December 31 2011 was $8 million which was primarily related to the

sale of Wuhu an equity method investment in China

Goodwill impairment

The Company recognized goodwill impairment expense of $372 million $1.8 billion and $17 million for the years ended

December 31 2013 2012 and 2011 See Note 10 Goodwill Impairment included in Item Financial Statements and

Supplementary Data of this Form 10-K for further information

Asset impairment expense

The Company recognized asset impairment expense
of $95 million $73 million and $173 million respectively for the

years ended December 31 2013 2012 and 2011 See Note 21 Asset Impairment Expense included in Item Financial

Statements and Supplementary Data of this Form 10-K for further information

Foreign currency
transaction gains losses

Foreign currency
transaction gains losses were as follows

Years Ended December 31

2013 2012 2011

in millions

Chile 20 19
Brazil 12 16 12

Philippines
10 159

AES Corporation

Argentina
16

Other
13 16

Total 22 170 32

Includes gains losses of $60 million 160 million and $44 million on foreign currency derivative contracts for the years ended December

2013 2012 and 2011 respectively
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The Company recognized net foreign currency transaction losses of $22 million for the
year ended December 31 2013

primarily due to

losses of $20 million in Chile were primarily due to 9% weakening of the Chilean Peso resulting in losses at

Gener U.S Dollar functional currency subsidiary associated with net working capital denominated in Chilean

Pesos mainly cash accounts receivables and tax receivables partially offset by gains related to foreign currency
derivatives

losses ofSl2 million in Brazil were primarily due to 15% weakening of the Brazilian Real resulting in losses

mainly associated with U.S Dollar denominated liabilities and

losses of$lO million in the Philippines U.S Dollar functional
currency subsidiary beginning in 2013 were

primarily due to the 8% weakening of the Philippine Peso resulting in revaluation of cash accounts customer

receivables and deferred tax asset partially offset by

Gains of $8 million at The AES Corporation were primarily due to increases in the valuation of intercompany

notes receivable denominated in foreign currencies resulting from the strengthening of the Euro and British

Pound during the year partially offset by losses related to foreign currency option purchases

The Company recognized foreign currency transaction losses of $170 million for the year ended December 31 2012

primarily due to

losses of$159 million in the Philippines were primarily due to unrealized foreign exchange losses on embedded

derivatives as result of the forecasted strengthening of the Philippine Peso partially offset by gains from the 7%
appreciation of the Philippine Peso on U.S Dollar denominated debt at Masinloc which had been Philippine
Peso functional

currency subsidiary and

losses of $16 million in Brazil were primarily due to 9% devaluation of the Brazilian Real resulting in losses

mainly associated with U.S Dollar denoniinated liabilities partially offset by

gains of $10 million at The AES Corporation were primarily due to increases in the valuation of intercompany

notes receivable denominated in foreign currencies resulting from the strengthening of the Euro and British

Pound during the year partially offset by losses related to foreign currency option purchases

The Company recognized foreign currency transaction losses of $32 million for the
year ended December 31 2011

primarily due to

losses of $19 million in Chile were primarily due to an 11% devaluation of the Chilean Peso resulting in losses at

Gcner U.S Dollar functional currency subsidiary associated with net working capital denominated in Chilean

Pesos mainly cash accounts receivable tax receivables and $5 million loss on foreign currency derivatives and

losses of$12 million in Brazil were primarily due to 13% devaluation of the Brazilian Real resulting in losses

mainly associated with U.S Dollar denominated liabilities and

losses of $8 million at The AES Corporation were primarily due to decreases in the valuation of intercompany
notes receivable denominated in foreign currencies resulting from the weakening of the Euro and British Pound

during the year partially offset by gains related to foreign currency option purchases partially offset by

gains of $16 million in Argentina were primarily due to an unrealized gain on foreign currency embedded

derivative related to government receivables partially offset by losses due to the 8% devaluation of the Argentine

Peso resulting in losses at AES Argentina an Argentine Peso functional
currency subsidiary associated with its

U.S Dollar denominated debt

Other non-operating expense

Total other non-operating expense was $129 million $50 million and $82 million for the
years ended December 31

2013 2012 and 2011 See Note Other Non-Operating Expense included in Item Financial Statements and

Supplenientary Data of this Form 10-K for further information

Income tax expense

Income tax expense decreased $342 million or 50% to $343 million in 2013 The Companys effective tax rates were
33% and 298% for the years ended December31 2013 and 2012 respectively
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The net decrease in the 2013 effective tax rate was principally due to 2012 nondeductible impairment of goodwill at our

U.S utility DPL and in part to net favorable resolution of various uncertain tax positions in 2013 See Note 10 Goodwill and

Other Intangible Assets for additional information regarding goodwill impairment and Note 22 Income Taxes included in

Item Financial Statements and Supplementary Data of this Form 10-K for additional information regarding uncertain tax

positions

Income tax expense increased $29 million or 4% to $685 million in 2012 The Companys effective tax rates were 298%

and 29% for the years
ended December 31 2012 and 2011 respectively

The net increase in the 2012 effective tax rate was principally
due to nondeductible impairment of goodwill at our U.S

utility DPL See Note 10 Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets included in Item Financial Statements and

Supplementary Data of this Form 10-K for additional information regarding goodwill impairment

Our effective tax rate reflects the tax effect of significant operations outside the United States which are generally taxed

at rates lower than the U.S statutory rate of 35 percent
future proportionate change in the composition of income before

income taxes from foreign and domestic tax jurisdictions
could impact our periodic

effective tax rate

We recognized tax expense of $343 million for the year ended December 31 2013 while our cash payments for income

taxes net of refunds totaled $570 million The difference resulted primarily
from income tax benefit on current year U.S

losses and from the loss associated with the regulatory liability for customer refunds recognized at Eletropaulo which is not

currently deductible for local tax purposes

The Company also benefits from reduced tax rates in certain countries as result of satisfying specific commitments

regarding employment and capital investment One such benefit related to our operations in the Philippines
will expire in the

4th quarter
of 2014 Accordingly the Companys effective tax rate and cash tax payments may increase in future periods See

Note 22 Income Taxes for additional information regarding these reduced rates

Net equity in earnings of affiliates

Net equity in earnings of affiliates decreased $10 million or 29% to $25 million in 2013 from $35 million in 2012 The

decrease was primarily due to the sale of Yangcheng in China in the third quarter of 2012 as well as higher losses at Entek in

Turkey resulting from loss on an embedded foreign currency derivative partially offset by increased earnings at Guacolda

due to higher energy
sales as result of lower purchase costs

Net equity in earnings of affiliates increased $37 million to $35 million in 2012 from net loss of $2 million in 2011 The

increase was primarily related to increased tariff pricing lower coal prices and lower depreciation at Yangcheng in China in

2012 Additionally there were impairment charges at AES Solar in 2011 of which our share was $36 million This was partially

offset by lower net income caused by higher electricity purchase costs at Guacolda

Income from continuing operations attributable to noncontrolling interests

Income from continuing operations attributable to noncontrolling interests decreased $94 million or 17% to $446

million in 2013 The decrease was primarily due to lower operating income at Tiete and Panama related to lower hydrology the

recognition of regulatory liability related to customer refunds at Eletropaulo and reduction in income at Cartagena which

was deconsolidated in February 2012 as result of the sale of 80% of our interest

The loss from continuing operations attributable to noncontrolling interests decreased $556 million or 51% from $1096

to $540 million in 2012 This was primarily due to decreased operating margin at Eletropaulo as result of the tariff reset and

higher fixed costs

Discontinued operations

Total discontinued operations was net loss of $179 million net income of $63 million and net loss of $72 million

for the years
ended December 31 2013 2012 and 2011 respectively

See Note 23Discontinued Operations
and field-for-

Sale Businesses included in Item Financial Statements and Supplementary Data of this Form 10-K for further

information
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Net Income attributable to The AES Corporation

Net income attributable to The AES Corporation increased $1.0 billion to $114 million in 2013 compared to net loss of
$912 million in 2012 The key drivers of the increase included

lower goodwill impairment expense

lower income tax expense

lower foreign currency losses

lower interest expense primarily at the Parent Company due to reduction in debt principal as well as the prior
year prepayment of an interest rate cash flow hedge that resulted in reclassification of deferred losses from
other comprehensive income to earnings and

lower general and administrative expense

These increases were partially offset by

lower operating margin as described above

the loss on the early extinguishment of debt at the Parent Company and at Masinloc
lower gain on sale of investments recorded in 2013 on the sale of our remaining 20% interest in Cartagena as
well as our 10% equity interest in Trinidad compared to the prior year gain recorded from the sale of 80% of
our interest in Cartagena in the first quarter of 2012

an increase in losses from the disposal and impairment of the discontinued businesses

other
non-operating expense associated with an impairment at our equity method investment at Elsta in the

Netherlands

Net loss attributable to The AES Corporation was $912 million in 2012 which is decrease of $1 billion compared to net
income of $58 million in 2011 The key driver of the decrease was the goodwill impairment at DPL of $1.82 billion as
described in Note 0Goodwill Impairment and Other Intangible Assets included in Item 8.Financial Statements and
Supplementary Data of this Form 10-K

Excluding the goodwill impairment at DPL the Company would have reported net income attributable to AES of $905
million which is an improvement of $847 million compared to 2011 The key drivers of this increase were

the favorable impact of operating margin earned by new businesses mainly our wholly-owned subsidiaries DPL
Maritza and Changuinola higher demand at Masinloc 92% owned subsidiary partially offset by reduced
operating margin at Eletropaulo in which we hold only 16% economic interest and lower

operating margin
earned by our generation businesses in Chile and Argentina

the gains related to the sale in 2012 of 80% of our interest in Cartagena and the sale of our investments in China as
well as the loss recorded in 2011 on the sale of our Argentina distribution businesses

decrease in losses from the operation of discontinued businesses primarily related to Eastern Energy in New York
which was deconsolidated in December 2011

the decrease in asset impairments related to Wind projects and Kelanitissa

lower general and administrative expenses in 2012 compared to 2011 and

the 2011 premium paid on the early retirement of debt in Chile and at IPL

These increases were partially offset by

higher foreign currency transaction losses in 2012 compared to 2011 and

an increase in interest expense primarily due to debt at DPL which was acquired in November 2011 and additional
debt at the Parent Company to finance the acquisition of DPL

Net Cash Provided by Operating ActivitiesConsists of the
operating cash flow of all consolidated subsidiaries

including noncontrolling interests
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The net decrease in cash flows from operating activities of $186 million or 6% to $2.7 billion for the year
ended

December 31 2013 compared to the year ended December 31 2012 was primarily the result of the following

US an increase of $74 million primarily due to bankruptcy settlement payment to the New York entities in

2012 and the proceeds from the PPA termination at Beaver Valley in January 2013

Andes decrease of $276 million primarily driven by higher working capital requirements

Brazil decrease of $106 million primarily related to lower collections and higher energy purchases at Sul

partially offset by the recovery of deferred costs from regulator lower transmission costs and regulatory charges

at Eletropaulo

MCAC an increase of $185 million primarily driven by $90 million payment related to an amendment to

fuel contract and lower working capital requirements

Asia decrease of $85 million primarily driven by higher working capital requirements and lower operating

results at Masinloc

The net decrease in cash flows from operating activities of $17 million or 1% to $2.9 billion for the year ended

December 31 2012 compared to the year ended December 31 2011 was primarily the result of the following

US an increase of $320 million at our utility businesses primarily due to the operations net of debt service

costs of DPL which was acquired in November 2011

Andes an increase of $57 million driven by cash provided by the operating
activities of the new plant at

Angamos recovery of value added tax at Campiche and reduced working capital requirements at Gener partially

offset by reduced operating margin from Gener operations other than Angamos

Brazil decrease of $503 million at our utility businesses primarily driven by higher priced energy purchases

regulatory charges and transmission costs payments higher operating and maintenance expenses and lower

accounts receivable collections due to the lower tariff starting in July 2012 at Eletropaulo partially offset by

lower payment of income taxes

MCAC an increase of $25 million at our generation businesses primarily due to the operations of the Esti plant

being back on line from June 2012 and higher
volumes of PPA sales at Panama and lower coal volume and price

in 2012 at Itabo partially offset by lower collections and lower sales in the Dominican Republic and higher taxes

paid at Panama

EMEA an increase of $42 million driven primarily by cash provided by the operating activities of the new

plant at Maritza partially offset by loss in revenue from generator failure at Ballylumford in Northern Ireland

and

Asia an increase of $88 million driven primarily by Masinloc in the Philippines due to higher demand and

reduced working capital requirements

Non-GAAP Measures

Adjusted Operating Margin adjusted pre-tax contribution Adjusted PTC and adjusted earnings per share Adjusted

EPS are non-GAAP supplemental measures that are used by management and external users of our consolidated financial

statements such as investors industry analysts and lenders

Adjusted Operating Margin

Operating margin is defined as revenue less cost of sales Cost of sales includes costs incurred directly by the businesses

in the ordinary course of business such as

Electricity and fuel purchases

Operations and maintenance costs

Depreciation and amortization expense

Bad debt expense and recoveries

General administrative and support costs at the businesses and

Gains or losses on derivatives associated with the purchase of electricity or fuel
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We define Adjusted Operating Margin as operating margin adjusted for the impact of noncontrolling interests excluding
unrealized gains or losses related to derivative transactions

The GAAP measure most comparable to Adjusted Operating Margin is operating margin We believe that Adjusted

Operating Margin better reflects the underlying business performance of the Company Factors in this determination include
the impact of noncontrolling interests where AES consolidates the results of subsidiary that is not wholly-owned by the

Company as well as the variability due to unrealized derivatives gains or losses Adjusted Operating Margin should not be

construed as an alternative to operating margin which is deterniined in accordance with GAAP

Adjusted Pre-Tax Contribution and Adjusted Earnings Per Share

We define adjusted pre-tax contribution Adjusted PTC as pre-tax income from continuing operations attributable to

AES excluding gains or losses of the consolidated entity due to unrealized gains or losses related to derivative transactions
unrealized foreign currency gains or losses gains or losses due to dispositions and acquisitions of business interests
losses due to impairments and costs due to the early retirement of debt Adjusted PTC also includes net equity in

earnings of affiliates on an after-tax basis

Adjusted pre-tax contribution reflects the impact of noncontrolling interests and excludes the items specified in the

definition above In addition to the revenue and cost of sales reflected in operating margin adjusted pre-tax contribution

includes the other components of our income statement such as

leneral and administrative expense in the corporate segment as well as business development costs

Interest expense and interest income

Other expense and other income

Realized foreign currency transaction gains and losses and

Net equity in earnings of affiliates

We define Adjusted EPS as diluted earnings per share from continuing operations excluding gains or losses of the

consolidated entity due to unrealized gains or losses related to derivative transactions unrealized foreign currency gains
or losses gains or losses due to dispositions and acquisitions of business interests losses due to impairments and

costs due to the early retirement of debt

The GAAP measure most comparable to Adjusted PTC is income from continuing operations attributable to AES The
AAP measure most comparable to Adjusted EPS is diluted earnings per share from

continuing operations We believe that

Adjusted PTC and Adjusted EPS better reflect the underlying business performance of the Company and are considered in the

Companys internal evaluation of financial performance Factors in this determination include the variability due to unrealized

gains or losses related to derivative transactions unrealized foreign currency gains or losses losses due to impairments and

strategic decisions to dispose of or acquire business interests or retire debt which affect results in given period or periods In

addition for Adjusted PTC earnings before tax represents the business performance of the Company before the application of

statutory income tax rates and tax adjustments including the effects of tax planning corresponding to the various jurisdictions

in which the Company operates Adjusted PTC and Adjusted EPS should not be construed as alternatives to income from

continuing operations attributable to AES and diluted earnings per share from continuing operations which are determined in

accordance with IiAAP

For the year ended December 31 2013 the Company changed the definition of Adjusted PTC and Adjusted EPS to

exclude the gains or losses attributable to AES common stockholders at our equity method investments for these same types of

items Previously these amounts were not excluded from the calculation of Adjusted EPS and Adjusted PTC because the

Company did not have controlled process for obtaining this information from our equity method investments Accordingly
the Company has also reflected the change in the comparative years ended December 31 2012 and 2011
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Reconciliations of Non-GAAP Measures

Adjusted Operating Margin

Reconciliation of Adjusted Operating Margin to Operating Margin

Adjusted Operating Margin

Us

Andes

Brazil

MCAC

EMEA

Asia

Corp/Other

Intersegment Eliminations

Total Adjusted Operating Margin

Noncontrolling Interests Adjustment

Derivatives Adjustment

Operating Margin

Years Ended December 31

2013 2012 2011

ss in millions

684 707 406

402 431 564

271 356 489

472 489 419

392 447 351

159 204 153

16 12

64 35 26

2428 2657 2410

833 908 1643

14 18 13
3247 3583 4040

Adjusted Pre-Tax Contribution For reconciliation of Adjusted PTC to net income from continuing operations see Note 17

Segment and Geographic Information included in Item Financial Statements and Supplementaiy Data of this Form

10-K

Adjusted EPS

Reconciliation of Adjusted Earnings Per Share

Diluted earnings loss per share from continuing operations

Unrealized derivative gains losses

Unrealized foreign currency transaction gains losses

Disposition/acquisition gains

Impairment losses

Loss on extinguishment of debt

Adjusted earnings per share

Years Ended December 31

________
2012 2011

1.26 0.65

0.11 0.02

0.02 0.06

0.18

2.55 0.38

0.01 0.04
10

_______
1.21 1.11

Unrealized derivative gains losses were net of income tax per share of $0.02 $0.04 and $0.0l in 2013 2012 and 2011
respectively

Unrealized foreign currency transaction gains losses were net of income tax per share of $0.02 $0.00 and $0.01 in 2013 2012 and

2011 respectively

Amount primarily relates to the gain from the sale of the remaining 20% of our interest in Cartagena for $20 million $15 million or

$0.02 per share net of income tax per share of $0.01 as well as the gain from the sale of Trinidad for $3 million $4 million or

$0.01 per share net of income tax per share of $0.00
Amount primarily relates to the gains from the sale of 80% of our interest in Cartagena for $178 million $109 million or $0.14 per

share net of income tax per share of $0.09 and equity method investments in China of $24 million $25 million or $0.03 per share

including an income tax credit of $1 million or income tax per share of $0.00
Amount primarily relates to the goodwill impairments at DPL of $307 million $307 million or $0.41 per share net of income tax

per share of $0.00 at Ebute of $58 million $58 million or $0.08 per share net of income tax per share of $0.00 and at Mountain
View of $7 million $7 million or $0.01 per share net of income tax per share of $0.00 Amount also includes an other-than-

temporary impairment of our equity method investment at Elsta in the Netherlands of $129 million $128 million or $0.17 per share
net of income tax per share of $0.00 and asset impairments at Beaver Valley of $46 million $30 million or $0.04 per share net of

income tax per share of $0.02 at DPL of $26 million $17 million or $0.02 per share net of income tax per share of $0.01 at Itabo

San Lorenzo of $16 million $6 million or $0.01 per share net of noncontrolling interest of $8 million and of income tax per share

of $0.00 at El Salvador for $4 million $4 million or $0.01 per share net of income tax per share of $0.00
Amount primarily relates to the goodwill impairment at DPL of $1.82 billion $1.82 billion or $2.39 per share net of income tax per

share of $0.00 Amount also includes other-than-temporary impairment of equity method investments in China of $32 million $32
million or $0.04 per share net of income tax per share of $0.00 and at Inno Vent of $17 million $17 million or $0.02 per share net

of income tax per share of $0.00 as well as asset impairments of Wind turbines and projects of $41 million $26 million or $0.03

per share net of income tax per share of $0.02 and asset impairments at Kelanitissa of $19 million $17 million or $0.02 per share

2013

0.38

0.05

0.02

0.03

0.75

0.22

1.29
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net of noncontrolling interest of $2 million and of income tax per share of $0.00 and at St Patrick of$11 million $11 million or

$0.01 per share net of income tax per share of $0.00

Amount includes other-than-temporary impairment of equity method investments at Chigen including Yangcheng of $79 million

$79 million or $0.10 per share net of income tax per share of $0.00 asset impairment of Wind turbines of $116 million $75

million or $0.10 per share net of income tax per share of $0.05 Kelanitissa of $42 million $38 million or $0.05 per share net of

noncontrolling interest of $4 million and income tax per share of $0.00 Bohemia of $9 million $9 million and $0.0 per share net

of income tax per share of $0.00 and goodwill impairment at Chigen of $17 million $17 million or $0.02 per share net of income

tax per share of $0.00

Amounts primarily relates to the loss on early retirement of debt at Corporate of $165 million $107 million or $0.14 per share net

of income tax per share of $0.08 at Masinloc of $43 million $39 million or $0.05 per share net of income tax per share of $0.00

and Changuinola of$l4 million $10 million or $0.01 per share net of income tax per share of $0.01

Amount primarily relates to the loss on retirement of debt at the Parent Company of $15 million $10 million or $0.0 per share net

of income tax per share of $0.0
10 Amount includes loss on retirement of debt at Gener of $38 million $22 million or $0.03 per share net of noncontrolling interest of

$11 million and of income tax per share of $0.01 and at TPL of$15 million $10 million or $0.01 per share net of income tax per

share of $0.0

The Company reported loss from continuing operations of $1.27 per share in 2012 For purposes of measuring diluted

loss per share under GAAP common stock equivalents were excluded from weighted-average shares as their inclusion would

be anti-dilutive However for purposes of computing Adjusted EPS the Company has included the impact of dilutive common

stock equivalents as the inclusion of the defined adjustments result in income for Adjusted EPS The table below reconciles the

weighted-average shares used in GAAP diluted earnings per share to the weighted-average shares used in calculating the non

GAAP measure of Adjusted EPS

Year Ended December 31 2012

Loss Shares per share

Reconciliation of Denominator Used For Adjusted Earnings Per Share in millions except per share data

GAAP DILUTED LOSS PER SHARE

Loss from continuing operations attributable to The AES Corporation common stockholders 960 755 1.27

EFFECT OF DILUTIVE SECURITIES

Stock options

Restricted stock units
0.01

NON-GAAP DILUTED LOSS PER SHARE 960 760 1.26

Operating Margin and Adjusted PTC Analysis

US SBU

The following table summarizes Operating Margin Adjusted Operating Margin and Adjusted PlC for our US SBU for

the periods indicated

For the Years Ended December 31

Change Change

2013 2012 2011 2013vs.2012 2012vs.2011

Ss in millions

668 711 395 43 316

16 11

684 707 406

440 403 181

Fiscal year 20/3 versus 2012

Operating margin for 2013 decreased $43 million or 6% This performance was driven primarily by the following

businesses and key operating drivers

US Generation decreased $26 million driven by $24 million decline from the short-term restart of two

Huntington Beach units at Southland in 2012 and higher outages at Hawaii of $24 million partially offset by

higher contributions from the US Wind portfolio of $32 million

Operating Margin

Noncontrolling Interests Adjustment

Derivatives Adjustment

Adjusted Operating Margin

Adjusted PTC

Change Change
2013 vs 2012 2012 vs 2011

23
37

-6%

-3%

9%

301

222

80%

74%

123%
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IPL declined $23 million as result of $13 million in higher maintenance costs driven by the timing and

duration of major generating unit overhauls and higher depreciation expense of $6 million due to additional

utility plant assets placed in service

These decreases were partially offset by

DPL increased $6 million as lower amortization expense of $81 million offset

$30 million decrease in sales margin as customer switching drove retail price decreases partially

offset by higher wholesale volumes

Lower PJM capacity margins of $12 million and

$19 million from unrealized gains on derivatives in 2012 which did not recur in 2013

Adjusted Operating Margin declined $23 million for the US SBU due to the drivers above excluding the impact of

unrealized derivative gains and losses AES owns 100% of its businesses in the US so there is no adjustment for

noncontrolling interests

Adjusted PTC increased $37 million driven by net gains of $53 million recognized as result of the early termination of

the PPA and coal supply contract at Beaver Valley partially offset by the decrease of $23 million in Adjusted Operating Margin

described above

Fiscal year 2012 versus 2011

Operating margin increased by $316 million or 80% This performance was driven primarily by the following businesses

and key operating drivers

DPL increased $249 million from the first full year of operations as the acquisition was completed in

November 2011

IPL increased $15 million due to $21 million in lower repairs and maintenance costs as result of fewer

generating unit outages partially offset by higher pension expenses of $5 million

US Generation increased $53 million as result of $21 million increase from the short-term restart of two

Huntington Beach generating units at Southland and fewer outages at Hawaii of $19 million

Adjusted Operating Margin increased $301 million due to the drivers above excluding the impact of unrealized derivative

gains and losses

Adjusted PTC increased $222 million driven by the increase of $301 million in Adjusted Operating Margin described

above partially offset by higher interest
expense

from the first full year of operations at DPL

Andes SBU

The following table summarizes Operating Margin Adjusted Operating Margin and Adjusted PTC for our Andes SBU for

the periods indicated

For the Years Ended December 31

Change Change Change Change
2013 2012 2011 2013vs.2012 2012vs.211 2013vs.2012 2012vs.2011

Ss in millions

Operating Margin 533 580 743 47 163 -8% -22%

Noncontrolling Interests Adjustment 131 149 179

Derivatives Adjustment

Adjusted Operating Margin 402 431 564 29 133 -7% -24%

Adjusted PTC 353 369 510 16 141 -4% -28%

Fiscal year 2013 versus 2012

Including the unfavorable impact of foreign currency translation and remeasurement of $18 million operating margin

decreased $47 million or 8% This performance was driven primarily by the following businesses and key operating drivers

Chivor Colombia decreased $42 million as dry hydrological conditions reduced generation output and spot

volumes but increased spot prices in the market Lower volumes had an unfavorable impact of $115 million

partially offset by the favorable impact of $84 million from higher prices
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Gener Chile declined $8 million as reduction of $30 million from lower contract prices and higher spot

purchases was partially offset by higher generation of $24 million as the commencement of operations at

Ventanas IV in March 2013 was offset by lower gas availability and lower coal generation

These decreases were partially offset by

AES Argentina increased $4 million as lower outages of $18 million and higher volumes of $15 million were

partially offset by lower rates of $8 million from the implementation of Resolution 95 and unfavorable

exchange rates of $9 million

Adjusted Operating Margin declined $29 million for the year due to the drivers above adjusted for the impact of

noncontrolling interests AES owns 71% of Gener and Chivor and 100% of AES Argentina

Adjusted PTC decreased $16 million driven by the decrease of $29 million in Adjusted Operating Margin described

above partially offset by higher interest income from the beginning of the accrual of interest on the FONINVEMEM III

receivables in Argentina

Fiscal year 2012 versus 2011

Including the unfavorable impact of foreign currency translation and remeasurement of $4 million operating margin for

2012 decreased $163 million or 22% This performance was driven primarily by the following businesses and key operating

drivers

Gener decreased $122 million driven by decrease of $108 million from higher costs to supply energy

contracts and lower spot sales from Termoandes in Argentina to Chile

AES Argentina declined $61 million as result of lower prices of $28 million and higher fixed costs of $25

million

These decreases were partially offset by

Chivor increased $26 million due to non-recurring equity tax of $11 million recognized in 2011 and

favorable impact of $9 million from higher spot prices

Adjusted Operating Margin declined $133 million due to the drivers above excluding the impact of unrealized derivative

losses AES owns 71% of Gener and Chivor and 100% of AES Argentina

Adjusted PTC decreased $141 million driven by the decrease of $133 million in Adjusted Operating Margin described

above and decrease in equity earnings from Guacolda of $12 million

Brazil SBU

The following table summarizes Operating Margin Adjusted Operating Margin and Adjusted PTC for our Brazil SBU for

the periods indicated

For the Years Ended December 31

Change Change Change Change
2013 2012 2011 2013 vs.2012 2012 vs.2011 2013 vs.2011 2012 vs 2011

Ss in millions

Operating Margin 871 969 1802 98 833 -10% -46%

Noncontrolling Interests Adjustment 600 613 1313

Derivatives Adjustment

Adjusted Operating Margin 271 356 489 85 133 -24% -27%

Adjusted PTC 212 321 415 109 94 -34% -23%

Fiscal year 2013 versus 2012

Including the unfavorable impact of foreign currency translation of $84 million operating margin decreased $98 million

or 10% This performance was driven primarily by the following businesses and key operating drivers

Sul decreased $96 million due to lower tariffs of $33 million from the April 2013 tariff reset and lower

volumes of $44 million due to lower demand

TietØ decreased $81 million driven by the negative impact of foreign currency translation of $68 million and

lower volumes and higher energy purchases due to low hydrology of $24 million
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These decreases were partially offset by

Uruguaiana increased $64 million as result of the extinguishment of liability of $57 million and the

temporary re-start of operations during February and March of 2013

Eletropaulo increased $17 million driven by higher tariffs of $171 million and lower fixed costs of $42 million

partially offset by the recognition of regulatory liability $224 million related to customer refunds

Adjusted Operating Margin decreased $85 million primarily due to the drivers discussed above adjusted for the impact of

noncontrolling interests AES owns 16% of Eletropaulo 46% of Uruguaiana 100% of Sul and 24% of TietŒ

Adjusted PTC decreased $109 million driven by the decrease of $85 million in Adjusted Operating Margin described

above and higher interest expense from higher outstanding debt and monetary correction related to the asset base ruling for

Eletropaulo in December 2013

Fiscal year 2012 versus 2011

Including the unfavorable impact of foreign currency translation of $146 million operating margin decreased $833

million or 46% This performance was driven primarily by the following businesses and key operating drivers

Eletropaulo decreased by $761 million due to lower tariffs of $640 million driven by the July 2012 tariff reset

which was delayed from July 2011 and higher fixed costs of $218 million

TietØ decreased $78 million driven by the negative impact of foreign currency translation of $125 million

partially offset by higher PPA prices of $72 million from the annual PPA price adjustment

These decreases were partially offset by

Sul increased $10 million as result of included higher tariffs of $33 million from the annual tariff adjustment

partially offset by the negative impact of foreign currency translation of $26 million

Adjusted Operating Margin decreased $133 million for the year primarily due to the drivers discussed above adjusted for

the impact of noncontrolling interests AES owns 16% of Eletropaulo 46% of Uruguaiana 100% of Sul and 24% of TietŒ

Adjusted PTC decreased $94 million as result of the decrease of $133 million in Adjusted Operating Margin described

above partially offset by lower interest expense as result of lower interest rates and the prepayment of Brasiliana debt in

December 2011

MCAC SBU

The following table summarizes Operating Margin Adjusted Operating Margin and Adjusted PTC for our MCAC SBU

for the periods indicated

For the Years Ended December 31

Change Change Change Change
2013 2012 2011 2013vs.2012 2012vs.2011 2013vs.2012 2012vs.2011

$s in millions

OperatingMargin 543 560 512 17 48 -3% 9%

Noncontrolling Interests Adjustment 69 74 93
Derivatives Adjustment

Adjusted Operating Margin 472 489 419 17 70 -3% 17%

Adjusted PTC 339 387 307 48 80 -12% 26%

Fiscal year 2013 versus 2012

Including the unfavorable impact of currency translation of $2 million operating margin decreased $17 million or 3%
This performance was driven primarily by the following businesses and key operating drivers

Panama decreased $75 million driven by dry hydrological conditions which resulted in lower generation and

higher energy purchases at higher prices of $88 million partially offset by favorable net settlements related to

the Esti tunnel of $22 million
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This decrease was partially offset by

Dominican Republic increased $42 million as result of higher net energy transactions of $28 million higher

gas sales to third parties of $20 million partially offset by $6 million due to other factors such as higher fixed

costs

El Salvador increased $17 million due to the tariff increase approved by the regulator at the beginning of 2013

Adjusted Operating Margin decreased $17 million due to the drivers above adjusted for the impact of noncontrolling

interests and excluding unrealized gains and losses on derivatives AES owns 89.8% of Changuinola and 49% of its other

generation facilities in Panama 100% of Andres and Los Mina and 50% of Itabo in the Dominican Republic and weighted

average of 75% of its businesses in El Salvador

Adjusted PTC decreased $48 million driven by the decrease in Adjusted Operating Margin of $17 million described

above and lower interest income in the Dominican Republic and the receipt of property damage insurance proceeds in 2012

related to the Esti tunnel in Panama

Fiscal year 2012 versus 2011

Including the unfavorable impact of foreign currency translation of $2 million operating margin increased $48 million

or 9% This performance was driven primarily by the following businesses and key operating drivers

Panama which increased $30 million primarily driven by higher generation of $50 million from the re-start of

operations at the Esti plant and the first full year of operations at Changuinola which commenced operations

in September 2011 partially offset by lower spot prices of $21 million

Dominican Republic which increased $10 million primarily as result of favorable prices of $35 million

primarily higher spot and LNG prices as well as lower coal costs partially offset by lower availability of $19

million

Mexico which increased by $12 million driven by fewer outages at TEG and TEP of $8 million and higher

volumes at Merida of $7 million

Adjusted Operating Margin increased $70 million due to the drivers above adjusted for the impact of noncontrolling

interests and excluding unrealized gains and losses on derivatives AES owned 100% of Changuinola 49% of its other

generation facilities in Panama 100% of Andres and Los Mina and 50% of Itabo in the Dominican Republic and 100% of TEG
and TEP and 65% of Merida in Mexico

Adjusted PTC increased $80 million driven by the increase in Adjusted Operating Margin of $70 million described

above realized foreign currency transaction gains in Mexico and higher equity in earnings from Trinidad These favorable

trends were partially offset by one-time reimbursement of tax expense
in the Dominican Republic in 2011

EMEA SBU

The following table summarizes Operating Margin Adjusted Operating Margin and Adjusted PTC for our EMEA SBU
for the periods indicated

For the Years Ended December 31

Change Change Change Change
2013 2012 2011 2013vs.2012 2012vs.2011 2013vs.2012 2012vs.2011

Ss in millions

Operating Margin 415 504 395 89 109 -18% 28%

Noncontrolling Interests Adjustment 23 55 46
Derivatives Adjustment

Adjusted Operating Margin 392 447 351 55 96 -12% 27%

Adjusted PTC 345 375 276 30 99 -8% 36%

Fiscal year 2013 versus 2012

Including the favorable impact of foreign currency translation of $5 million operating margin decreased $89 million or

18% This performance was driven primarily by the following businesses and key operating drivers

Cartagena Spain declined $105 million as result of
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non-recurring favorable arbitration settlement of $95 million in the first quarter of 2012 and

The two-stage sale of the business as AES owned 71% of the facility through February 2012 and 14% through

April 2013 when the sale was completed

Ballylumford United Kingdom decreased $29 million due to lower rates and capacity payments of $48 million

partially offset by fewer outages of $19 million

These decreases were partially offset by

Maritza Bulgaria increased $30 million driven by $10 million from fewer outages $6 million lower fixed costs and

favorable foreign exchange rates of $7 million

Kilroot United Kingdom increased $28 million driven by favorable dark spreads from higher energy prices and

lower coal costs

Adjusted Operating Margin decreased $55 million due to the drivers above adjusted for noncontrolling interests primarily

Cartagena and excluding unrealized gains and losses on derivatives

Adjusted PTC decreased $30 million driven primarily by the decrease of $55 million in Adjusted Operating Margin

described above partially offset by lower interest expense and realized foreign currency gains at Kilroot and higher equity

earnings from Turkey and Elsta

Fiscal year 2012 versus 2011

Including the unfavorable impact of foreign currency translation of $20 million operating margin increased $109 million

or 28% This performance was driven primarily by the following businesses and key operating drivers

Maritza increased $113 million as result of the first full year of operations The plant commenced commercial

operations in June 2011 and reached full capacity in December 2011

Kilroot increased $35 million due to increased dispatch of the plant

Cartagena increased $26 million due to

non-recurring favorable arbitration settlement of $95 million

Partially offset by decrease from the sale of 80% of our ownership of Cartagena in February 2012 as

discussed above

These increases were partially offset by

Ballylumford decreased $49 million due to lower rates and capacity payments under the PPA of $20 million higher

outages and related maintenance costs of $16 million and lower volumes of $8 million

Adjusted Operating Margin increased $96 million for the year due to the drivers above adjusted for the impact of

noncontrolling interests primarily Cartagena and excluding unrealized gains and losses on derivatives

Adjusted PTC increased $99 million driven by the increase of $96 million in Adjusted Operating Margin described

above as well as lower interest expense

Asia SBU

Asia Generation

The following table summarizes Operating Margin Adjusted Operating Margin and Adjusted PTC for our Generation

businesses in Asia for the periods indicated

For the Years Ended December 31

Change Change Change Change
2013 2012 2011 2013vs.2012 2012vs.2011 2013vs.2012 2012vs.2011

Ss in millions

Operating Margin 169 236 167 67 69 -28% 41%

Noncontrolling Interests Adjustment 10 17 12
Derivatives Adjustment 15

Adjusted Operating Margin 159 204 153 45 51 -22% 33%

AdjustedPTC 142 201 100 59 101 -29% 101%
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Fiscal year 2013 versus 2012

Operating margin decreased $67 million or 28% This performance was driven primarily by the following business and

key operating drivers

Masinloc Philippines decreased $62 million due to

The net impact of higher contracted volumes at lower prices as result of new 7-year contract to reduce

spot exposure with an unfavorable impact of $31 million

reversal of contingency of $16 million in 2012 and

An unrealized derivative gain of $15 million in 2012

Adjusted Operating Margin decreased $45 million due to the drivers above adjusted for the impact of non-controlling

interests and excluding unrealized gains on derivatives AES owns 92% of Masinloc

Adjusted PTC decreased $59 million driven by the decrease of $45 million in Adjusted Operating Margin described

above as well as reduction in equity earnings from the sale of our businesses in China in 2012 partially offset by lower

interest expense at Masinloc

Fiscal year 2012 versus 2011

Including the favorable impact of foreign currency translation of $6 million operating margin increased $69 million or

41% This performance was driven primarily by the following business and key operating drivers

Masinloc increased by $73 million due to higher market demand partially offset by lower rates of $36 million

reversal of contingency of $16 million and higher unrealized derivative gain of $13 million

Adjusted Operating Margin increased $51 million due to the drivers discussed above adjusted for the impact of

noncontrolling interests and excluding unrealized gains on derivatives AES owns 92% of Masinloc

Adjusted PTC increased $101 million driven primarily by the increase of $51 million in Adjusted Operating Margin

described above as well as higher net equity in earnings from businesses in China and lower business development costs

Key Trends and Uncertainties

During 2014 and beyond we expect to face the following challenges at certain of our businesses Management expects

that improved operating performance at certain businesses growth from new businesses and global cost reduction initiatives

may lessen or offset their impact If these favorable effects do not occur or if the challenges described below and elsewhere in

this section impact us more significantly than we currently anticipate or if volatile foreign currencies and commodities move

more unfavorably then these adverse factors or other adverse factors unknown to us may impact our operating margin net

income attributable to The AES Corporation and cash flows We continue to monitor our operations and address challenges as

they arise For the risk factors related to our business see Item Business and Item IA Risk Factors of this Form 10-K

Operational

Seiisitivily to Dry Hydrological Conditions

Our hydroelectric generation facilities are sensitive to changes in the weather particularly the level of water inflows into

generation facilities In 2013 Brazil Panama Colombia and Chile experienced lower than expected rainfall while Chile also

recorded lower snowpack relative to historical levels Low rainfall and water inflows caused reservoir levels to be below

historical levels reduced generation output and increased prices for electricity Through February 2014 hydrological

conditions in Brazil Panama Chile and Colombia continue to be below historical averages If our hydroelectric generation

facilities cannot generate sufficient energy to meet contractual arrangements we may need to purchase energy to fulfill our

obligations which could have material adverse impact on our results of operations We expect hydrological volatility to

continue for the remainder of 2014

In Brazil the system operator controls all hydroelectric generation dispatch and reservoir levels and manages an Energy

Reallocation Mechanism to share hydrological risk across all generators The Energy Reallocation Mechanism helps to manage

our exposure to spot market prices in below-average hydrology scenarios We expect the system operator in Brazil to pursue

more conservative reservoir management strategy going forward including the dispatch of 12 to 15 GW of thermal generation

capacity which could result in electricity prices higher than historical levels
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Macroeconomic and Political

During the past few years economic conditions in some countries where our subsidiaries conduct business have

deteriorated Global economic conditions remain volatile and could have an adverse impact on our businesses in the event these

recent trends continue

Argentina In Argentina economic conditions are deteriorating as measured by indicators such as non-receding

inflation increased government deficits diminished sovereign reserves lack of foreign currency accessibility the potential for

continued devaluation of the local currency and decline in expectations for economic growth Many of these economic

conditions in conjunction with the restrictions to freely access the foreign exchange currency
established by the Argentine

Government since 2012 have contributed to the development of limited parallel unofficial foreign exchange market that is

less favorable than the official exchange At December 31 2013 all transactions at our businesses in Argentina were translated

using the official exchange rate published by the Argentine Central Bank See Note Long-Term Financing Receivables in

Item Financial Statements and Supplementary Data of this Form 10-K for further information on the long-term

receivables In January 2014 the Argentine Peso devalued by approximately 20% the most rapid depreciation since 2002

Further weakening of the Argentine Peso and local economic activity could cause significant volatility in our results of

operations cash flows the ability to pay dividends to the Parent Company and the value of our assets

BulgariaOur investments in Bulgaria rely on offtaker contracts with NEK the state-owned electricity public supplier

and energy trading company Maritza coal-fired generation facility has experienced ongoing delays in the collection of

outstanding receivables from its offlaker In November 2013 Maritza and NEK signed rescheduling agreement for the

overdue receivables as of the agreement date Under the terms of the agreement NEK paid $70 million of the overdue

receivables and agreed to pay the remaining receivables in 13 equal monthly installments beginning December 2013 NEK has

made payments according to the schedule through January 2014 As of December 31 2013 Maritza had an outstanding

receivables of $151 million representing $21 million of current receivables $60 million of the rescheduled receivables not yet

due and $70 million of receivables overdue by less than 90 days Although Maritza continued to collect overdue receivables

during the fourth quarter of 2013 there can be no assurance that the business will continue making collections which could

result in write-off of the remaining receivables In addition depending on NEKs ability to honor its obligations and other

factors the value of other assets could also be impaired or the business may be in another default of its loan covenants The

Company has long-lived assets in Bulgaria of $1.7 billion and net equity of $639 million See Note 12 Debt included in Item

8.Financial Statements and Supplementary Data of this Form 10-K for further information on current existing debt defaults

Further Maritza is in litigation related to construction delays and related matters For further information on the litigation see

Item Legal Proceedings

Furthermore as noted in Item Business Bulgaria during the fourth quarter of 2013 NEK requested consent

from Maritza for restructuring In February 2014 the NEK restructuring was implemented after approval by the regulatory

authorities Maritza and its lenders are analyzing the NEK restructuring and its impact on NEKs financial condition and

liquidity If Maritza and its lenders do not consent and if NEKs credit rating falls below the rating NEK had upon the issuance

of the Government Support Letter in 2005 NEK will have defaulted under the PPA which will trigger an event of default

under the project debt agreements For further information on the importance of long-term contracts and our counterparty credit

risk see Item Risk Factors We may not be able to enter into long-term contracts which reduce volatility in our

results of operations As result of any of the foregoing events we may face loss of earnings and/or cash flows from the

affected businesses or be unable to exercise remedies for breach of the PPA and may have to provide loans or equity to

support affected businesses or projects restructure them write down their value and/or face the possibility that these projects

cannot continue operations or provide returns consistent with our expectations any of which could have material impact on

the Company

If global economic conditions deteriorate further it could also affect the prices we receive for the electricity we generate

or transmit Utility regulators or parties to our generation contracts may seek to lower our prices based on prevailing market

conditions pursuant to PPAs concession agreements or other contracts as they come up for renewal or reset In addition rising

fuel and other costs coupled with contractual price or tariff decreases could restrict our ability to operate profitably in given

market Each of these factors as well as those discussed above could result in decline in the value of our assets including

those at the businesses we operate our equity investments and projects under development and could result in asset

impairments that could be material to our operations We continue to monitor our projects and businesses
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Impairments

Goodwill In the fourth quarter of 2013 the Company completed its annual October goodwill impairment tests and

recognized goodwill impairment expense of $314 million The Company also identified three reporting units DPL DPLER
and Buffalo Gap which were considered at risk reporting unit is considered at risk when its fair value is not higher than

its carrying amount by more than 10% The Company monitors its reporting units at risk of step failure on an ongoing basis

During the nine months ended September 30 2013 such evaluations continued at Ebute considered at risk as of December 31

2012 and culminated in the recognition of goodwill impairment expense of $58 million in the third quarter of 2013 Since

2012 the DPL reporting unit remains at risk subsequent to its goodwill impairment of $1.82 billion recognized in 2012 and

$307 million in the fourth quarter of 2013 During the nine months ended September 30 2013 the Company continued to

monitor the business environment and regulatory developments In the fourth quarter of 2013 DPL recognized goodwill

impairment expense of $307 million as part of its annual goodwill impairment test Buffalo Gap failed Step of the annual

goodwill impairment test but no goodwill impairment was recognized It is possible that the Company may incur goodwill

impairment at DPL DPLER Buffalo Gap or any of other reporting unit in future periods if adverse changes in their business

or operating environments occur As of December 31 2013 DPL DPLER and Buffalo Gap had goodwill of $316 million

136 million and $28 million respectively See Note 10 Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets included in Item

Financial Statements and Supplementary Data of this Form 10-K for further information

Capital Resources and Liquidity

Overview

As of December 31 2013 the Company had unrestricted cash and cash equivalents of$1.6 billion of which

approximately $132 million was held at the Parent Company and qualified holding companies and approximately $668 million

was held in short term investments primarily at subsidiaries In addition we had restricted cash and debt service reserves of

$1 .1 billion The Company also had non-recourse and recourse aggregate principal amounts of debt outstanding of $15.4 billion

and $5.7 billion respectively Of the approximately $2.1 billion of our current non-recourse debt $1.0 billion was presented as

such because it is due in the next twelve months and $1.1 billion relates to debt considered in default due to covenant

violations We expect such current maturities will be repaid from net cash provided by operating activities of the subsidiary to

which the debt relates or through opportunistic refinancing activity or some combination thereof Approximately $118 million

of our recourse debt matures within the next twelve months which we expect to repay using combination of cash on hand at

the Parent Company net cash provided by operating activities and/or net proceeds from the issuance of new debt at the Parent

Company

We rely mainly on long-term debt obligations to fund our construction activities We have to the extent available at

acceptable terms utilized non-recourse debt to fund significant portion of the capital expenditures and investments required

to construct and acquire our electric power plants distribution companies and related assets Our non-recourse financing is

designed to limit cross default risk to the Parent Company or other subsidiaries and affiliates Our non-recourse long-term debt

is combination of fixed and variable interest rate instruments Generally portion or all of the variable rate debt is fixed

through the use of interest rate swaps In addition the debt is typically denominated in the
currency that matches the currency

of the revenue expected to be generated from the benefiting project thereby reducing currency risk In certain cases the

currency is matched through the use of derivative instruments The majority of our non-recourse debt is funded by international

commercial banks with debt capacity supplemented by multilaterals and local regional banks

Given our long-term debt obligations the Company is subject to interest rate risk on debt balances that accrue interest at

variable rates When possible the Company will borrow funds at fixed interest rates or hedge its variable rate debt to fix its

interest costs on such obligations In addition the Company has historically tried to maintain at least 70% of its consolidated

long-term obligations at fixed interest rates including fixing the interest rate through the use of interest rate swaps These

efforts apply to the notional amount of the swaps compared to the amount of related underlying debt Presently the Parent

Companys only material un-hedged exposure to variable interest rate debt relates to indebtedness under its senior secured

credit facility On consolidated basis of the Companys $15.4 billion of total non-recourse debt outstanding as of

December 31 2013 approximately $3.8 billion bore interest at variable rates that were not subject to derivative instrument

which fixed the interest rate

In addition to utilizing non-recourse debt at subsidiary level when available the Parent Company provides portion or

in certain instances all of the remaining long-term financing or credit required to fund development construction or acquisition

of particular project These investments have generally taken the form of equity investments or intercompany loans which are

subordinated to the projects non-recourse loans We generally obtain the funds for these investments from our cash flows from

operations proceeds from the sales of assets and/or the proceeds from our issuances of debt common stock and other

securities Similarly in certain of our businesses the Parent Company may provide financial guarantees or other credit support
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for the benefit of counterparties who have entered into contracts for the purchase or sale of electricity equipment or other

services with our subsidiaries or lenders In such circumstances if business defaults on its payment or supply obligation the

Parent Company will be responsible for the business obligations up to the amount provided for in the relevant guarantee or

other credit support At December 31 2013 the Parent Company had provided outstanding financial and performance-related

guarantees or other credit support commitments to or for the benefit of our businesses which were limited by the terms of the

agreements of approximately $661 million in aggregate excluding those collateralized by letters of credit and other

obligations discussed below

As result of the Parent Companys below investment grade rating counterparties may be unwilling to accept our

general unsecured commitments to provide credit support Accordingly with respect to both new and existing commitments

the Parent Company may be required to provide some other form of assurance such as letter of credit to backstop or replace

our credit support The Parent Company may not be able to provide adequate assurances to such counterparties To the extent

we are required and able to provide letters of credit or other collateral to such coi.jnterparties this will reduce the amount of

credit available to us to meet our other liquidity needs At December 31 2013 we had $1 million in letters of credit

outstanding provided under our senior secured credit facility and $163 million in cash collateralized letters of credit

outstanding outside of our senior secured credit facility These letters of credit operate to guarantee performance relating to

certain project development activities and business operations During the
year

ended December 31 2013 the Company paid

letter of credit fees ranging from 0.2% to 3.25% per annum on the outstanding amounts

We expect to continue to seek where possible non-recourse debt financing in connection with the assets or businesses

that we or our affiliates may develop construct or acquire However depending on local and global market conditions and the

unique characteristics of individual businesses non-recourse debt may not be available on economically attractive terms or at

all If we decide not to provide any additional funding or credit support to subsidiary project that is under construction or has

near-term debt payment obligations and that subsidiary is unable to obtain additional non-recourse debt such subsidiary may

become insolvent and we may lose our investment in that subsidiary Additionally if any of our subsidiaries lose significant

customer the subsidiary may need to withdraw from project or restructure the non-recourse debt financing If we or the

subsidiary choose not to proceed with project or are unable to successfully complete restructuring of the non-recourse debt

we may lose our investment .in that subsidiary

Many of our subsidiaries depend on timely and continued access to capital markets to manage their liquidity needs The

inability to raise capital on favorable terms to refinance existing indebtedness or to fund operations and other commitments

during times of political or economic uncertainty may have material adverse effects on the financial condition and results of

operations of those subsidiaries In addition changes in the timing of tariff increases or delays in the regulatory determinations

under the relevant concessions could affect the cash flows and results of operations of our businesses

As of December 31 2013 the Company had approximately $306 million and $24 million of accounts receivable related

to certain of its generation businesses in Argentina and the Dominican Republic and its utility businesses in Brazil classified as

Noncurrent assets other and Current assets Accounts receivable respectively The noncurrent portion primarily

consists of accounts receivable in Argentina that pursuant to amended agreements or government resolutions have collection

periods that extend beyond December 31 2014 or one year
from the latest balance sheet date The majority of Argentinian

receivables have been converted into long-term financing for the construction of power plants See Note Long- Term

Financing Receivables included in Item Financial Statements and Supplementary Data and Item Business

Regulatory Matters Argentina of this Form 10-K for further information

Consolidated Cash Flows

During the year ended December 31 2013 cash and cash equivalents decreased $258 million to $1.6 billion The

decrease in cash and cash equivalents was due to $2.7 billion of cash provided by operating activities $1.8 billion of cash used

in investing activities $1.1 billion of cash used in financing activities an unfavorable effect of foreign currency exchange rates

on cash of $59 million and $4 million increase in cash of discontinued and held-for-sale businesses

Change

2013 2012 2011 2013 vs 2012 2012 vs 2011

in millions

Netcashprovidedbyusedinoperatingactivities 2715 2901 2884 186 17

Net cash provided by used in investing activities 1774 895 4906 879 4011

Net cash provided by used in financing activities 1136 1867 1412 731 3279
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Operating Activities

Operating cash flow for the year ended December 31 2013 resulted primarily from the net income adjusted for non-cash

items principally depreciation and amortization gain from sale of investments and impairment expense partially offset by

net use of cash for operating activities of $76 million in operating assets and liabilities This was primarily due to the following

decrease of $725 million in accounts payable and other current liabilities primarily at Eletropaulo and Sul due to

lower costs and decrease in regulatory liabilities and at Uruguaiana primarily related to the extinguishment of

liability as well as lower generation and higher payments to fuel supplier at Kelanitissa

an increase of $103 million in other assets primarily due to an increase in noncurrent regulatory assets at

Eletropaulo and Sul resulting from higher priced energy purchases which are recoverable through future tariffs

and an increase at Alicura related to the recognition of interest associated to FONINVEMEM agreement partially

offset by decrease in noncurrent regulatory assets at IPL related to the annual adjustment to pension benefits

based on the actuarial valuation partially offset by

decrease of $358 million in prepaid expenses and other current assets mainly due to decrease in current

regulatory assets for the recovery of prior period tariff cycle energy purchases and regulatory charges at

Eletropaulo

decrease of $146 million in accounts receivable primarily related to lower tariffs at Eletropaulo combined with

lower tariff and reduced consumption at Sul as well as lower revenue offset by higher collections at Kelanitissa

partially offset by lower collections at Maritza and

an increase of $137 million in other liabilities primarily due to an increase in noncurrent regulatory liabilities at

Eletropaulo partially offset by decrease in pension liability at IPL

an increase of $95 million in net income tax and other tax payables primarily due to accruals for new current tax

liabilities offset by payments of income taxes

Net cash provided by operating activities was $2.9 billion during the year ended December 31 2012 Operating cash flow

for the year ended December 31 2012 resulted primarily from net loss adjusted for non-cash items principally gain and losses

on sales and disposals and impairment charges depreciation and amortization and deferred income taxes partially offset by

net use of cash for operating activities of $68 million for operating assets and liabilities This was primarily due to

an increase of $589 million in other assets primarily due to an increase in noncurrent regulatory assets at

Eletropaulo resulting from higher priced energy purchases regulatory charges and transmission costs which are

recoverable through future tariffs and the establishment of noncurrent note receivable at Cartagena in Spain

following the arbitration settlement prior to its deconsolidation

an increase of $241 million in accounts receivable primarily due to lower collection Eletropaulo and Andres as

well as an increase in revenue at Sul and Kelanitissa

decrease of $47 million in net income tax and other tax payables primarily for the payment of income taxes in

excess of the accrual of new tax liabilities partially offset by

an increase of $335 million in other liabilities primarily explained by an increase in noncurrent regulatory

liabilities at Eletropaulo related to the tariff reset

an increase of $330 million in accounts payable and other current liabilities primarily at Eletropaulo due to an

increase in current regulatory liabilities driven by the tariff reset offset by decrease in other current liabilities

arising from value-added tax payables and

decrease of $120 million in prepaid expenses and other current assets mainly due to the recovery of value-added

taxes at our construction projects in Chile

Net cash provided by operating activities was $2.9 billion for the year ended December 31 201 Operating cash flow

resulted primarily from net income adjusted for non-cash items principally depreciation and amortization contingencies

deferred income taxes losses on the extinguishment of debt gains and losses on sales and disposals and impairment charges as

well as net favorable change of $52 million in operating assets and liabilities This was primarily due to

an increase of $351 million in other liabilities primarily due to an increase in noncurrent regulatory liabilities at

Eletropaulo and Sul as the result of lower prices paid for energy purchases compared with the charges recovered

through the tariff
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an increase of $322 million in accounts payable and other current liabilities
primarily driven by an increase in

current regulatory liabilities at Eletropaulo driven by the tariff reset partially offset by the amount returned to
consumers for

regulatory liabilities and VAT on commercial losses
reversal as well as an increase in accrued

interest on recourse debt at the Parent Company
an increase of $166 million net income tax payables and other tax payables primarily due to accruals for newcurrent tax liabilities offset by payments of income

taxes partially offset by
an increase of $403 million in other assets mainly explained by an increase in noncurrent

regulatory assets atEletropaulo resulting from higher priced energy purchases transmission costs and
regulatory charges compared

with
charges recovered through the tarift

an increase of $236 million in accounts receivable
primarily due to an increase in amounts billed at several

businesses
including Eletropaulo and new plants at Maritza and Angamos and

an increase of $141 million in
inventory primarily driven by higher coal purchases at Gener as well as increased

inventory at Angamos as it started operations in 2011

The net decrease in cash flows from
operating activities of$186

million or 6% to $2.7 billion for the
year ended

December 31 2013 compared to the
year ended December 31 2012 was

primarily the result of the
following

US an increase of $74 million
primarily due to

bankruptcy settlement payment of the New York entities in
2012 and the proceeds from the PPA termination at Beaver

Valley in January 2013
Andes decrease of $276 million

primarily driven by higher working capital requirements
Brazil decrease of$106 million

primarily related to lower collections and higher energy purchases at Sul
partially offset by the

recovery of deferred costs from regulato lower transmission costs and
regulatory charges

at Eletropaulo

MCAC an increase of $185 million
primarily driven by $90 million payment related to an amendment to

fuel contract and lower working capital requirements

Asia decrease of $85 million
primarily driven by higher working capital requirements and lower

operating
results at Masinloc

The net decrease in cash flows from
operating activities of$l7 million or 1% to $2.9 billion for the year ended

December 31 2012 compared to the
year ended December 31 2011 was primarily the result of the following

US an increase of $320 million at our utility businesses
primarily due to the

operations net of debt service
costs of DPL which was acquired in November 2011
Andes an increase of $57 million driven by cash provided by the

operating activities of the new plant atAngamos
recovery of value added tax at Campiche and reduced

working capital requirements at Gener partially
offset by reduced

operating margin from Gener operations other than Angamos
Brazil decrease of $503 million at our utility businesses

primarily driven by higher priced energy purchasesregulatory charges and transmission costs payments higher operating and maintenance expenses and lower
accounts receivable collections due to the lower tariff

starting in
July 2012 at Eletropaulo partially offset by

lower payment of income taxes

MCAC an increase of $25 million at our generation businesses
primarily due to the operations of the Esti plant

being back on line from June 2012 and higher volumes of PPA sales at Panama and lower coal volume and prices
in 2012 at Itabo partially offset by lower collections and lower sales in the Dominican

Republic and higher taxes
paid at Panama

EMEA an increase of $42 million driven
primarily by cash provided by the

operating activities of the newplant at Maritza
partially offset by loss in revenue from

generator failure at Ballylumford in Northern
Ireland

and

Asia an increase of $88 million driven primarily by Masinloc in the
Philippines due to higher demand andreduced working capital requirements
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Investing Activities

Net cash used in investing activities was $1.8 billion for the year
ended December 31 2013 primarily

attributable to the

following

Capital expenditures
of $2.0 billion consisting

of $1.1 billion of growth capital expenditures
and $934 million of

maintenance and environmental capital expenditures
Growth capital expenditures

included amounts at Gener of

$317 million Eletropaulo of $223 million Jordan of $200 million Sul of $72 million Mong Duong of $48

million DPL of $40 million Sixpenny Wood of $25 million Altai of $21 million Yelvertoft of $20 million and

Kribi of $20 million Maintenance and environmental expenditures
included amounts at IPL of $246 million

Eletropaulo
of $138 million TietØ of $94 million Gener of $92 million DPL of $76 million Sul of $61 million

and Altai of $43 million partially
offset by

Proceeds from the sale of businesses net of cash sold of $170 million including $110 million for the sale of the

Ukraine businesses $31 million for the sale of our 10% equity
interest in Trinidad and $24 million for the sale of

our remaining
interest in Cartagefla

Net cash used in investing activities was $895 million for the year
ended December 31 2012 primarily

attributable to the

following

Net cash used in investing
activities increased $879 million to $1.8 billion for the year

ended December 31 2013

compared to net cash used in investing activities of $895 million for the year
ended December 31 2012 This net increase was

primarily
due to an increase in purchases

of short-term investments net of sales of $612 million and decrease in proceeds

from the sale of businesses net of cash sold of $469 million partially
offset by decrease in capital expenditures

of $120

million

Capital expenditures
of $2.1 billion consisting of $1.1 billion of growth capital expenditures

and $1 billion of

maintenance and environmental capital expenditures
Growth capital expenditures

included anountS at Gener of

$258 million Eletropaulo
of $236 million Sul of $111 million Mong Duong of $83 million DPLq$71 million

Kribi of $51 Maritza of $35 million K2 YEL of $24 million Drone Hill of $20 million and Mouiªin View of

$18 million Maintenance and environmental capital expenditures
included amounts at Eletropaulo

of $215

million IPL of $134 million DPL of $117 million Sul of $90 million Gener of $77 million Panama of $68

million TietŒ of$63 million Altai of $26 million Termo Andes of $24 million Alicura of $22 million and Itabo

of $22 million partially
offset by

Proceeds from the sale of businesses net of cash sold of $639 million including $228 million for the sale of Red

Oak and Ironwood $164 million for the sale of three wholly-owned hydropower plants previously
owned by the

IC Ictas joint
venture to our Entek joint venture in which we hold 50% interest $131 million for the sale of Cili

and several equity
method investments in China $63 million for the sale of 80% of our interest in Cartagena and

$42 million for the sale of our investments in Innovent and St Patrick

Sales of short-term investments net of purchases
of $530 million including amounts at Eletropaulo

of $232

million Gener of $126 million Brasiliana of $102 million Sul of $56 million and TietŒ of $28 million and

Proceeds from govemment grants
for asset construction of $122 million including amounts at Laurel Mountain of

$82 million and Mountain View of $30 million

Financing Activities

Net cash used in financing
activities was $1.1 billion for the year

ended December 31 2013 primarily
attributable to the

Repayments of recourse and non-recourse debt of $4.6 billion including amounts at the Parent Company of $1.2

billion DPL of $948 million Masinloc of $560 million Changuinola of $412 million Tietº of $396 million

Caess of $301 million IPL of $110 million Warrior Run of $100 million Puerto Rico of $73 million Maritza of

$57 million Southland of $54 million Sonel of $47 million and Sul of $44 million

Payments for financed capital expenditures
were $591 million primarily at Mong Duong for payments to the

contractors which took place more than three months after the associated equipment was purchased
or work

performed

Distributions to noncontrolling interests of $557 million including amounts at TietŒ of $205 million Brasiliana of

$128 million Gener of $62 million and Buffalo Gap of $54 million

following
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Purchase of treasury stock of $322 million at the Parent Company

Payments for financing fees of $176 million including amounts at Gener of $54 million including amounts at the

Alto Maipo and Cochrane projects Mong Duong of $28 million and Eletropaulo of $25 million partially offset

by

Issuances of recourse and non-recourse debt of $5 billion including amounts of $750 million at the Parent

Company Gener of $707 million including amounts at the Cochrane and Alto Maipo projects DPL of $645

million Masinloc of $500 million TietŒ of $496 million Mong Duong of $471 million Changuinola of $420

million Caess of $310 million Jordan of $180 million IPL of$l70 million and Sul of $153 million and

Contributions from noncontrolling interests of $210 million including amounts at Gener of $109 million including

amounts at the Cochrane and Alto Maipo projects and at Mong Duong of $77 million

Net cash used in financing activities was $1.9 billion for the year ended December 31 2012 primarily attributable to the

following

Repayments of recourse and non-recourse debt of $1.6 billion including amounts at Eletropaulo of $510 million

the Parent Company of $236 million Kribi of $181 million Gener of $83 million Southland of $48 million

Maritza of $47 million Puerto Rico of $47 million Sonel of $47 million Nigen of $40 million Masinloc of $40

million Warrior Run of $35 million and Hawaii of $30 million

Distributions to noncontrolling interests of $895 million including amounts at Brasiliana of $255 million TietØ of

$249 million Eletropaulo of $203 million Gener of $93 million and Panama of $23 million

Repayments under the revolving credit facilities of $321 million including amounts at the Parent Company of

$295 million and Alicura of $33 million

The purchase of treasury stock at the Parent Company was $301 million

Financed capital expenditures of $162 million primarily at Mong Duong for payments to the contractors which

took place more than three months after the associated equipment was purchased or work performed partially

offset by

Issuance of non-recourse debt of $1.4 billion including amounts at Eletropaulo of $715 million Kribi of $245

million Mong Duong of $185 million K2 YEL of $48 million Sul of $48 million Alicura of $35 million and

Panama of $25 million

Net cash used in financing activities decreased $731 million to $1.1 billion for the year
ended December 31 2013

compared to net cash used in financing activities of $1.9 billion for the year ended December 31 2012 This net decrease was

primarily due to an increase in the issuance of recourse and non-recourse debt of $3.6 billion decreases in distributions to

noncontrolling interests of $338 million net repayments under revolving credit facilities of $299 million and an increase in

contributions from noncontrolling interests of $167 million This was partially offset by an increase in the repayments of

recourse and non-recourse debt of $3 billion an increase in payments for financed capital expenditures of $429 million an

increase in payments for financings fees of $136 million and dividends paid of $89 million

Proportional Free Cash Flow non-GAAP measure

We define Proportional Free Cash Flow as cash flows from operating activities less maintenance capital expenditures

including non-recoverable environmental capital expenditures adjusted for the estimated impact of noncontrolling interests

We exclude environmental capital expenditures that are expected to be recovered through regulatory contractual or other

mechanisms An example of recoverable environmental capital expenditures is IPLs investment in MATS-related

environmental upgrades that are recovered through tracker See Item US SBU IPL Environmental Matters for details

of these investments

The GAAP measure most comparable to proportional free cash flow is cash flows from operating activities We believe

that proportional free cash flow better reflects the underlying business performance of the Company as it measures the cash

generated by the business after the funding of maintenance capital expenditures that may be available for investing or

repaying debt or other purposes Factors in this determination include the impact of noncontrolling interests where AES

consolidates the results of subsidiary that is not wholly-owned by the Company

The presentation of free cash flow has material limitations Proportional free cash flow should not be construed as an

alternative to cash from operating activities which is determined in accordance with GAAP Proportional free cash flow does

not represent our cash flow available for discretionary payments because it excludes certain payments that are required or to
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which we have committed such as debt service requirements and dividend payments Our definition of proportional free cash
flow may not be comparable to similarly titled measures presented by other companies

Consolidated

Net cash provided by operating activities

Less Maintenance Capital Expenditures net of reinsurance proceeds

Less Non-recoverable Environmental Capital Expenditures
________

Free Cash Flow

Reconciliation of Proportional Operatin2 Cash Flow

Proportional

Proportional Operating Cash Flow

Less Proportional Maintenance Capital Expenditures net of reinsurance proceeds
Less Proportional Non-recoverable Environmental Capital Expenditures

________ ________
Proportional Free Cash Flow

Proportional Free Cash Flow for the
year

ended December 31 2013 compared to the year ended December 31 2012
increased $2 million driven primarily by increases from the following SBUs and key operating drivers

MCAC driven by higher operating cash flow as result of $90 million payment related to an amendment to

fuel contract and lower working capital requirements and

US as result of higher operating cash flow from bankruptcy settlement payment of the New York entities in

2012 and the proceeds from the PPA termination at Beaver Valley in January 2013 as well as lower capital

expenditures

These increases were partially offset by

Andes driven by lower operating cash flow from higher working capital requirements and

Asia largely due to lower operating cash flow from higher working capital requirements and lower operating
results at Masinloc

Proportional Free Cash Flow for the
year ended December 31 2012 compared to the

year ended December 31 2011

increased $253 million driven primarily by increases from the following SBUs and key operating drivers

US driven by higher operating cash flow at our utility businesses primarily due to the operations net of debt

service costs of DPL which was acquired in November 2011

This increase was partially offset by

Brazil driven by lower operating cash flow at Eletropaulo

Contractual Obligations

summary of our contractual obligations commitments and other liabilities as of December 31 2013 is presented in the

table below which excludes any businesses classified as discontinued operations or held-for-sale in millions

Contractual Obligations

Debt Obligations

Interest Payments on Long-Term Debt2

Capital Lease Obligationst3t

Operating Lease Obligations3

Electricity Obligatons

Fuel Obligations

Other Purchase Obligationst3

Other Long-Term Liabilities

Reflected on AESs Consolidated Balance Sheet under GAAPt4

Total

Net cash provided by operating activities

Less Proportional Adjustment Factor

Proportional Operating Cash Flow

2013 2012 2011

in millions

$2715 $2901 $2884

760 923 878

101 66 17

$1854 $1912 1989

$2715 $2901 $2884

834 966 1312

1.881 1.935 1.572

$1881 1935 $1572

535 634 563

75 51 12

1.271 1.250 997

Less than

Total
year 1-3 years

21049 2180 3846

8159 1215 2177

195 13 25

More
3-5 than

years years

4158 10865

1583 3184

21 136

80 399

4941 27831

866 3451

1250 5419

602 41

41165 2793

6746 1274

10496 1526

82

5600

1155

2301

Footnot5
Other Reference

12

nla

13

13

13

13

13

869 255 93 381 140 n/a

$89281 9042 $15441 $12992 $51666 140
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Includes recourse and non-recourse debt presented on the Consolidated Balance Sheet See Note 12Debt to the Consolidated

Financial Statements included in Item 8Financial Statements and Supplementary Data of this Form 10-K which provides

additional disclosure regarding these obligations These amounts exclude capital lease obligations which are included in the capital

lease category see below

Interest payments are estimated based on final maturity dates of debt securities outstanding at December 31 2013 and do not reflect

anticipated future refinancing early redemptions or new debt issuances Variable rate interest obligations are estimated based on rates

as of December 31 2013

See Note 13Commitments to the Consolidated Financial Statements included in Item of this Form 10-K for further information

These amounts do not include current liabilities on the Consolidated Balance Sheet except for the current portion of uncertain tax

obligations Noncurrent uncertain tax obligations are reflected in the Other column of the table above as the Company is not able to

reasonably estimate the timing of the future payments In addition the amounts do not include regulatory liabilities See Note 11

Regulatory Assets and Liabilities contingencies See Note 4Contingencies pension and other post retirement

employee benefit liabilities see Note 15Benefit Plans or any taxes See Note 22Income Taxes except for uncertain tax

obligations as the Company is not able to reasonably estimate the timing of future payments See the indicated notes to the

Consolidated Financial Statements included in Item of this Form 10-K for additional information on the items excluded

Derivatives See Note 6Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities and incentive compensation are excluded as the Company

is not able to reasonably estimate the timing or amount of the future payments

For further information see the note referenced below in Item 8.Financial Statements and Supplementary Data of this form 10-K

Parent Company Liquidity

The following discussion of Parent Company Liquidity has been included because we believe it is useful measure of the

liquidity available to The AES Corporation or the Parent Company given the non-recourse nature of most of our indebtedness

Parent Company Liquidity as outlined below is non-GAAP measure and should not be construed as an alternative to cash and

cash equivalents which are determined in accordance with GAAP as measure of liquidity Cash and cash equivalents are

disclosed in the condensed consolidated statements of cash flows Parent Company Liquidity may differ from similarlytitled

measures used by other companies The principal sources of liquidity at the Parent Company level are

dividends and other distributions from our subsidiaries including refinancing proceeds

proceeds from debt and equity financings at the Parent Company level including availability under our credit

facilities and

proceeds from asset sales

Cash requirements at the Parent Company level are primarily to fund

interest

principal repayments of debt

acquisitions

construction commitments

other equity commitments

common stock repurchases

taxes

Parent Company overhead and development costs and

dividends on common stock

The Company defines Parent Company Liquidity as cash available to the Parent Company plus available borrowings

under existing credit facilities The cash held at qualified holding companies represents cash sent to subsidiaries of the

Company domiciled outside of the U.S Such subsidiaries have no contractual restrictions on their ability to send cash to the

Parent Company Parent Company Liquidity is reconciled to its most directly comparable U.S GAAP financial measure cash

and cash equivalents at December 31 2013 and 2012 as follows
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Parent Company Liquidity 2013 2012

in millions

Consolidated cash and cash equivalents 1642 1900
Less Lash and cash equivalents at subsidiaries 1510 1589

Parent and qualified holding companies cash and cash equivalents 132 311

Commitments under Parent credit facilities 800 800
Less Letters of credit under the credit facilities

Borrowings available under Parent credit facilities
799 795

Total Parent Company Liquidity 931 1.106

The Company paid dividends of $0.16 per share to its common stockholders during the year ended December 31 2013
While we intend to continue payment of dividends and believe we will have sufficient liquidity to do so we can provide no

assurance we will be able to continue the payment of dividends In December 2013 the Company repurchased 20 million

shares of its common stock from CIC for $258 million See Note 16Equity StockRepurchase Program for further

information

Recourse Debt

Our recourse debt at year-end was approximately $5.7 billion and $6.0 billion in 2013 and 2012 respectively The

following table sets forth our Parent Company contingent contractual obligations as of December 31 2013

Contingent contractual obligations Amount Number of Agreements Maximum Exposure Range for Each Agreement

in millions in millions

661 $1-280

163 $1 109

Guarantees

Cash collateralized letters of credit

Letters of credit under the senior secured credit
facility

Total 825

As of December 2013 the Company had no commitments to invest in subsidiaries under construction and to purchase
related equipment that were not included in the letters of credit discussed above

We have diverse portfolio of performance-related contingent contractual obligations These obligations are designed

to cover potential risks and only require payment if certain targets are not met or certain contingencies occur The risks

associated with these obligations include change of control construction cost overruns subsidiary default political risk tax

indemnities spot market power prices sponsor support and liquidated damages under power sales agreements for projects in

development in operation and under construction In addition we have an asset sale program through which we may have

customaiy indemnity obligations under certain assets sale agreements While we do not expect that we will be required to fund

any material amounts under these contingent contractual obligations beyond 2013 many of the events which would give rise to

such obligations arc beyond our control We can provide no assurance that we will be able to fund our obligations under these

contingent contractual obligations if we are required to make substantial payments thereunder

While we believe that our sources of liquidity will be adequate to meet our needs for the foreseeable future this belief is

based on number of material assumptions including without limitation assumptions about our ability to access the capital

markets sec Kei Trends and Uncertainties Global Economic Conditions the operating and financial performance of our

subsidiaries currency exchange rates power market pool prices and the ability of our subsidiaries to pay dividends In

addition our subsidiaries ability to declare and pay cash dividends to us at the Parent Company level is subject to certain

limitations contained in loans governmental provisions and other agreements We can provide no assurance that these sources

will be available when needed or that the actual cash requirements will not be greater than anticipated See Item IA.Risk
Factors The AES Corporation is holding company and its ability to make payments on its outstanding indebtedness

including its public debt securities is dependent upon the receipt offunds from its subsidiaries by way of dividends fees
interest loans or otherwise of this Form 10K

Various debt instruments at the Parent Company level including our senior secured credit facility contain certain

restrictive covenants The covenants provide for among other items

limitations on other indebtedness liens investments and guarantees

limitations on dividends stock repurchases and other equity transactions

restrictions and limitations on mergers and acquisitions sales of assets leases transactions with affiliates and

off-balance sheet and derivative arrangements

$1
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maintenance of certain financial ratios and

financial and other reporting requirements

As of December 31 2013 we were in compliance with these covenants at the Parent Company level

Non-Recourse Debt

While the lenders under our non-recourse debt financings generally do not have direct recourse to the Parent Company

defaults thereunder can still have important consequences
for our results of operations

and liquidity including without

limitation

reducing our cash flows as the subsidiary will typically be prohibited from distributing cash to the Parent

Company during the time period
of any default

triggering our obligation to make payments under any financial guarantee letter of credit or other credit support

we have provided to or on behalf of such subsidiary

causing us to record loss in the event the lender forecloses on the assets and

triggering defaults in our outstanding debt at the Parent Company

For example our senior secured credit facilities and outstanding debt securities at the Parent Company include events of

default for certain bankruptcy related events involving material subsidiaries In addition our revolving credit agreement at the

Parent Company includes events of default related to payment defaults and accelerations of outstanding debt of material

subsidiaries

Some of our subsidiaries are currently in default with respect to all or portion of their outstanding indebtedness The

total non-recourse debt classified as current in the accompanying condensed consolidated balance sheet amounts to $2.1 billion

The portion of current debt related to such defaults was $1.1 billion at December 31 2013 all of which was non-recourse debt

related to two subsidiaries Maritza and Kavarna In addition discontinued operations at Sonel and Kribi had debt in default

of $257 million and $247 million respectively and discontinued operations at Saurashtra had debt of $21 million that is

classified as current because covenant violation is probable within the next twelve months

None of the subsidiaries that are currently in default are subsidiaries that met the applicable definition of materiality

under AES corporate debt agreements as of December 31 2013 in order for such defaults to trigger an event of default or

permit acceleration under AES indebtedness However as result of additional dispositions
of assets other significant

reductions in asset carrying values or other matters in the future that may impact our financial position and results of operations

or the financial position of the individual subsidiary it is possible that one or more of these subsidiaries could fall within the

definition of material subsidiary and thereby upon an acceleration trigger an event of default and possible
acceleration of

the indebtedness under the Parent Companys outstanding debt securities

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

The Consolidated Financial Statements of AES are prepared in conformity with U.S GAAP which requires the use of

estimates judgments and assumptions
that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of the financial

statements and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the periods presented AES significant accounting

policies are described in Note 1General and Summary of Sign flcant Accounting Policies to the Consolidated Financial

Statements included in Item of this Form 10-K

An accounting estimate is considered critical if

the estimate requires management to make assumptions about matters that were highly uncertain at the time the

estimate was made

different estimates reasonably could have been used or

the impact of the estimates and assumptions on financial condition or operating performance is material

Management believes that the accounting estimates employed are appropriate and the resulting balances are reasonable

however actual results could materially differ from the original estimates requiring adjustments to these balances in future

periods Management has discussed these critical accounting policies with the Audit Committee as appropriate
Listed below
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are the Companys most significant critical
accounting estimates and assumptions used in the preparation of the Consolidated

Financial Statements

In come Taxes

We are subject to income taxes in both the United States and numerous foreign jurisdictions Our worldwide income tax
provision requires significant judgment and is based on calculations and assumptions that are subject to examination by the
Internal Revenue Service and other taxing authorities The Company and certain of its subsidiaries are under examination by
relevant taxing authorities for various tax years The Company regularly assesses the potential outcome of these examinations
in each tax jurisdiction when

determining the adequacy of the provision for income taxes Accounting guidance for uncertainty
in income taxes prescribes more-likely-than-not recognition threshold Tax reserves have been established which the
Company believes to be adequate in relation to the potential for additional assessments Once established reserves are adjusted
only when there is more information available or when an event occurs necessitating change to the reserves While the
Company believes that the amounts of the tax estimates are reasonable it is

possible that the ultimate outcome of current or
future examinations may be materially different than the reserve amounts

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the future tax consequences attributable to differences between the
financial statement carrying amounts of the existing assets and liabilities and their respective income tax bases The Company
establishes valuation allowance when it is more likely than not that all or portion of deferred tax asset will not be realized

The Companys provision for income taxes could be
adversely impacted by changes to the U.S taxation of earnings of

our foreign subsidiaries Since 2006 the Company has benefited from the Controlled Foreign Corporation look-through rule
originally enacted for the 2006 through 2009 tax years in the Tax Increase Prevention and Reconciliation Act TIPRA of
2005 and retroactively reinstated for the 2010 and 2011 tax years via the Tax Relief Unemployment Insurance Reauthorization
and Job Creation Act of 2010 On January 2013 the Controlled Foreign Corporation look-through rule was retroactively
reinstated to January 2012 for period of two years through the American Taxpayer Relief Act of 2012 In determining the
Companys effective tax rate for the year ended December 31 2012 the Company excluded the benefits of this provision since
enactment of this reinstatement did not occur by December 31 2012 Howevei the benefit was recorded in the first quarter of
2013 for the retroactive reinstatement of the provision There can be no assurance that this provision will continue to be
extended beyond the two year period that ended December 31 2013 Accordingly if this provision is not renewed our
expected effective tax rate could increase by amounts that may be material

Impairments

Our accounting policies on goodwill and long-lived assets are described in detail in Note 1General and Summary of
Sign Ulcant Accounting Policies included in Item of this Form 10-K The Company makes considerable judgments in its

impairment evaluations of goodwill and long-lived assets however the fair value determination is typically the most
judgmental part in an impairment evaluation

The Company determines the fair value of reporting unit or long-lived asset asset group by applying the approaches
prescribed under the fair value measurement accounting framework Generally the market approach and income approach are
most relevant in the fair value measurement of our reporting units and long-lived assets however due to the lack of available
relevant observable market information in many circumstances the Company often relies on the income approach The
Company may engage an independent valuation firm to assist management with the valuation The decision to engage an
independent valuation firm considers all relevant facts and circumstances including cost/benefit analysis and the Companys
internal valuation knowledge of the long-lived asset asset group or business The Company develops the underlying
assumptions consistent with its internal budgets and forecasts for such valuations

Additionally the Company uses an internal
discounted cash flow valuation model the DCF model based on the principles of present value

techniques to estimate the
fair value of its reporting units or long-lived assets under the income approach The DCF model estimates fair value by
discounting our internal budgets and cash flow forecasts adjusted to reflect market participant assumptions to the extent
necessary at an appropriate discount rate

Management applies considerable judgment in selecting several input assumptions during the development of our internal

budgets and cash flow forecasts Examples of the input assumptions that our budgets and forecasts are sensitive to include
macroeconomic factors such as growth rates industry demand inflation exchange rates power prices and commodity prices
Whenever appropriate management obtains these input assumptions from observable market data sources e.g Economic
Intelligence Unit and extrapolates the market information if an input assumption is not observable for the entire forecast
period Many of these input assumptions are dependent on other economic assumptions which are often derived from statistical
economic models with inherent limitations such as estimation differences Further several input assumptions are based on
historical trends which often do not recur The input assumptions most significant to our budgets and cash flows are based on
expectations of macroeconomic factors which have been volatile recently It is not uncommon that different market data
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sources have different views of the macroeconomic factors expectations and related assumptions As result macroeconomic

factors and related assumptions are often available in narrow range however in some situations these ranges become wide

and the use of different set of input assumptions could produce significantly different budgets and cash flow forecasts

considerable amount ofjudgment is also applied in the estimation of the discount rate used in the DCF model To the

extent practical inputs to the discount rate are obtained from market data sources e.g Bloomberg Capital IQ etc. The

Company selects and uses set of publicly traded companies from the relevant industry to estimate the discount rate inputs

Management applies judgment in the selection of such companies based on its view of the most likely market participants It is

reasonably possible that the selection of different set of likely market participants could produce different input assumptions

and result in the use of different discount rate

Fair value of reporting unit or long-lived asset asset group is sensitive to both input assumptions to our budgets and

cash flow forecasts and the discount rate Further estimates of long-term growth and terminal value are often critical to the fair

value determination As part of the impairment evaluation process management analyzes the sensitivity of fair value to various

underlying assumptions The level of scrutiny increases as the gap between fair value and carrying amount decreases Changes

in any of these assumptions could result in management reaching different conclusion regarding the potential impairment

which could be material Our impairment evaluations inherently involve uncertainties from uncontrollable events that could

positively or negatively impact the anticipated future economic and operating conditions

Further discussion of the impairment charges recognized by the Company can be found within Note 10Goodwill and

Other Intangible Assets Note 21Asset Impairment Expense and Note 9Other Non-Operating Expense to the Consolidated

Financial Statements included in Item of this Form 10-K

Fair Value

Fair Value Hierarchy

The Company uses valuation techniques and methodologies that maximize the use of observable inputs and minimize the

use of unobservable inputs Where available fair value is based on observable market prices or parameters or derived from

such prices or parameters Where observable prices are not available valuation models are applied to estimate the fair value

using the available observable inputs The valuation techniques involve some level of management estimation and judgment

the degree of which is dependent on the price transparency for the instruments or market and the instruments complexity

To increase consistency and enhance disclosure of the fair value of financial instruments the fair value measurement

standard includes fair value hierarchy to prioritize the inputs used to measure fair value into three categories An asset or

liabilitys level within the fair value hierarchy is based on the lowest level of input significant to the fair value measurement

where Level is the highest and Level is the lowest For more information regarding the fair value hierarchy see Note

General and Summary of Sign flcant Accounting Policies included in Item Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

of this Form 10-K

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

significant number of the Companys financial instruments are carried at fair value with changes in fair value

recognized in earnings or other comprehensive income each period The Company makes estimates regarding the valuation of

assets and liabilities measured at fair value in preparing the Consolidated Financial Statements These assets and liabilities

include short and long-term investments in debt and equity securities included in the balance sheet line items Short-term

investments and Other assets Noncurrent derivative assets included in Other current assets and Other assets

Noncurrent and derivative liabilities included in Accrued and other liabilities current and Other long-term liabilities

Investments are generally fair valued based on quoted market prices or other observable market data such as interest rate

indices The Companys investments are primarily certificates of deposit government debt securities and money market funds

Derivatives are valued using observable data as inputs into internal valuation models The Companys derivatives primarily

consist of interest rate swaps foreign currency instruments and commodity and embedded derivatives Additional discussion

regarding the nature of these financial instruments and valuation techniques can be found in Note 4Fair Value included in

Item Financial Statements and Supplementary Data of this Form 10-K

Fair Value of NonfinancialAssets and Liabilities

Significant estimates are made in determining the fair value of long-lived tangible and intangible assets i.e property

plant and equipment intangible assets and goodwill during the impairment evaluation process In addition the majority of

assets acquired and liabilities assumed in business combination are required to be recognized at fair value under the relevant
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accounting guidance In determining the fair value of these items management makes several assumptions discussed in the

Impairments section

Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities

We enter into various derivative transactions in order to hedge our exposure to certain market risks We primarily use

derivative instruments to manage our interest rate commodity and foreign currency exposures We do not enter into derivative

transactions for trading purposes

In accordance with the accounting standards for derivatives and hedging we recognize all derivatives as either assets or

liabilities in the balance sheet and measure those instruments at fair value except where derivatives qualify and are designated

as normal purchase/normal sale transactions Changes in fair value of derivatives are recognized in earnings unless specific

hedge criteria are met Income and expense related to derivative instruments are recognized in the same category as that

generated by the underlying asset or liability See Note 6Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities included in Item of

this Form 10-K for further information on the classification

The accounting standards for derivatives and hedging enable companies to designate qualifying derivatives as hedging

instruments based on the exposure being hedged These hedge designations include fair value hedges and cash flow hedges

Changes in the fair value of derivative that is highly effective and is designated and qualifies as fair value hedge are

recognized in earnings as offsets to the changes in fair value of the exposure being hedged The Company has no fair value

hedges at this time Changes in the fair value of derivative that is highly effective and is designated as and qualifies as cash

flow hedge are deferred in accumulated other comprehensive income and are recognized into earnings as the hedged

transactions occur Any ineffectiveness is recognized in earnings immediately For all hedge contracts the Company provides

formal documentation of the hedge and effectiveness testing in accordance with the accounting standards for derivatives and

hedging

The fair value measurement accounting standard provides additional guidance on the definition of fair value and defines

fair value as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer liability in an orderly transaction between

market participants at the measurement date or exit price The fair value measurement standard requires the Company to

consider and reflect the assumptions of market participants in the fair value calculation These factors include nonperformance

risk the risk that the obligation will not be fulfilled and credit risk both of the reporting entity for liabilities and of the

counterparty for assets Due to the nature of the Companys interest rate swaps which are typically associated with non-

recourse debt credit risk for AES is evaluated at the subsidiary level rather than at the Parent Company level Nonperformance

risk on the Companys derivative instruments is an adjustment to the initial asset/liability fair value position that is derived

from internally developed valuation models that utilize observable market inputs

As result of uncertainty complexity and judgment accounting estimates related to derivative accounting could result in

material changes to our financial statements under different conditions or utilizing different assumptions As part of

accounting for these derivatives we make estimates concerning nonperformance volatilities market liquidity future

commodity prices interest rates credit ratings both ours and our counterpartys and exchange rates

The fair value of our derivative portfolio is generally determined using internal valuation models most of which are

based on observable market inputs including interest rate curves and forward and spot prices for currencies and commodities

The Company derives most of its financial instrument market assumptions from market efficient data sources e.g Bloomberg

Reuters and Platts In some cases where market data is not readily available management uses comparable market sources

and empirical evidence to derive market assumptions to determine financial instruments fair value In certain instances the

published curve may not extend through the remaining term of the contract and management must make assumptions to

extrapolate the curve Additionally in the absence of quoted prices we may rely on indicative pricing quotes from financial

institutions to input into our valuation model for certain of our foreign currency swaps These indicative pricing quotes do not

constitute either bid or ask price and therefore are not considered observable market data For individual contracts the use of

different valuation models or assumptions could have material effect on the calculated fair value

Regulatory Assets and Liabilities

Management continually assesses whether the regulatory assets are probable of future recovery by considering factors

such as applicable regulatory changes recent rate orders applicable to other regulated entities and the status of any pending or

potential deregulation legislation If future
recovery

of costs ceases to be probable any asset write-offs would be required to be

recognized in operating income

New Accounting Pronouncements
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The Company did not adopt any new accounting pronouncements during the year that had material impact on the

Companys financial position or results of operations See Note General and Summary of Sign ficant Accounting Policies

included in Item of this Form 10-K for further information about accounting pronouncements issued but not yet effective

ITEM 7A QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

Overview Regarding Market Risks

Our businesses are exposed to and proactively manage market risk Our primary market risk exposure is to the price of

commodities particularly electricity oil natural gas coal and environmental credits We operate in multiple countries and as

such are subject to volatility in exchange rates at varying degrees at the subsidiary level and between our functional currency

the U.S Dollar and currencies of the countries in which we operate We are also exposed to interest rate fluctuations due to our

issuance of debt and related financial instruments

These disclosures set forth in this Item 7A are based upon number of assumptions actual effects may differ The safe

harbor provided in Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933 and Section 21 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 shall

apply to the disclosures contained in this Item 7A For further information regarding market risk see Item 1A Risk Factors

Our financial position and results of operations may fluctuate sign flcantly due to fluctuations in currency exchange rates

experienced at our foreign operations Our businesses may incur substantial costs and liabilities and be exposed to price

volatility as result of risks associated with the wholesale electricity markets which could have material adverse effect on

our financial performance and We may not be adequately hedged against our exposure to changes in commodity prices or

interest rates of the 2012 Form 10-K

Commodity Price Risk

Although we prefer to hedge our exposure to the impact of market fluctuations in the price of electricity fuels and

environmental credits some of our generation businesses operate under short-term sales or under contract sales that leave an

un-hedged exposure on some of our capacity or through imperfect fuel pass-throughs In our utility businesses we may be

exposed to commodity price movements depending on our excess or shortfall of generation relative to load obligations and

sharing or pass-through mechanisms These businesses subject our operational results to the volatility of prices for electricity

fuels and environmental credits in competitive markets We employ risk management strategies to hedge our financial

performance against the effects of fluctuations in energy commodity prices The implementation of these strategies can involve

the use of physical and financial commodity contracts futures swaps and options At our generation businesses for 2014-2016

75% to 80% of our variable margin is hedged against changes in commodity prices At our utility businesses for 2014-2016

85% to 90% of our variable margin is insulated from changes in commodity prices

When hedging the output of our generation assets we utilize contract sales that lock in the spread per MWh between

variable costs and the price at which the electricity can be sold The portion of our sales and purchases that are not subject to

such agreements or contracted businesses where indexation is not perfectly matched to business drivers will be exposed to

commodity price risk

AES businesses will see changes in variable margin performance as global commodity prices shift For 2014 we project

pretax earnings exposure on 10% move in commodity prices would be approximately $25 million for natural gas $15 million

for oil and $10 million for coal Our estimates exclude correlation of oil with coal or natural gas For example decline in oil

or natural gas prices can be accompanied by decline in coal price if commodity prices are correlated In aggregate the

Companys downside exposure occurs with lower oil lower natural gas and higher coal prices Exposures at individual

businesses will change as new contracts or financial hedges are executed and our sensitivity to changes in commodity prices

generally increases in later years with reduced hedge levels at some of our businesses

Commodity prices affect our businesses differently depending on the local market characteristics and risk management

strategies Generation costs can be directly affected by movements in the price of natural gas oil and coal Spot power prices

and contract indexation provisions are affected by the same commodity price movements We have some natural offsets across

our businesses such that low commodity prices may benefit certain businesses and be cost to others Offsets are not perfectly

linear or symmetric The sensitivities are affected by number of non-market or indirect market factors Examples of these

factors include hydrology energy market supply/demand balances regional fuel supply issues regional competition bidding

strategies and regulatory interventions such as price caps Operational flexibility changes the shape of our sensitivities For

instance certain power plants may limit downside exposure by reducing dispatch in low market environments Volume

variation also affects our commodity exposure The volume sold under contracts or retail concessions can vary
based on

weather and economic conditions resulting in higher or lower volume of sales in spot markets Thermal unit availability and

hydrology can affect the generation output available for sale and can affect the marginal unit setting power prices
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In the US SBU the generation businesses are largely contracted but may have residual risk to the extent contracts are not

perfectly indexed to the business drivers IPL sells power at wholesale once retail demand is served so retail sales demand may
affect commodity exposure Additionally at DPL open access allows our retail customers to switch to alternative suppliers
falling energy prices may increase the rate at which our customers switch to alternative suppliers DPL sells generation in

excess of its retail demand under short-term sales Given that natural gas-fired generators set power prices for many markets
higher natural

gas prices expand margins The positive impact on margins will be moderated if natural gas-fired generators set

the market price only during peak periods

In the Andes SBU our business in Chile owns assets in the central and northern regions of the country and has portfolio
of contract sales in both In the central region the contract sales cover the efficient generation from our coal-fired and

hydroelectric assets Any residual spot price risk will primarily be driven by the amount of hydrological inflows In the case of
low hydroelectric generation spot price exposure is capped by the ability to dispatch our natural gas/diesel assets There is

small amount of coal generation in the northern region that is not covered by the portfolio of contract sales and therefore

subject to spot price risk In both regions generators with oil or oil-linked fuel generally set power prices In Colombia we
operate under short-term sales strategy and have commodity exposure to un-hedged volumes Because we own hydroelectric
assets there contracts are not indexed to fuel

In the Brazil SBU the hydroelectric generating facility is covered by contract sales Under normal hydrological volatility

spot price risk is mitigated through regulated sharing mechanism across all hydroelectric generators in the country Under
more extreme hydrological conditions the sharing mechanism may not be sufficient to cover the business contract position
and therefore it may have to purchase power at spot prices driven by the cost of thermal generation

In the MCAC SBU our businesses have commodity exposure on un-hedged volumes Panama is largely contracted under
portfolio of fixed volume contract sales To the extent hydrological inflows are greater than or less than the contract sales

volume the business will be sensitive to changes in spot power prices which may be driven by oil prices in some time periods
In the Dominican Republic we own natural gas-fired assets contracted under portfolio of contract sales and coal-fired asset

contracted with single contract and both contract and spot prices may move with commodity prices

In the EMEA SBU our Kilroot facility operates on short-term sales strategy To the extent that sales are un-hedged the

commodity risk at our Kilroot business is due to the dark spread -- the difference between electricity price and our coal-based
variable dispatch cost Natural gas-fired generators set power prices for many periods so higher natural

gas prices expand
margins and higher coal prices reduce them The positive impact on margins will be moderated if natural gas-fired generators
set the market price only during certain peak periods At our Ballylumford facility the regulator has the right to terminate the

contract which would impact our commodity exposure Our operations in Turkey are sensitive to the spread between power
and natural

gas prices both of which have historically demonstrated relationship to oil As result of these relationships

falling oil prices could compress margins realized at the business

In the Asia SBU our Masinloc business is coal-fired generation facility which hedges its output under portfolio of

contract sales that are indexed to fuel prices with generation in excess of contract volume sold in the spot market Low oil

prices may be driver of margin compression since oil affects spot power sale prices

Foreign Exchange Rate Risk

In the normal course of business we are exposed to foreign currency risk and other foreign operations risks that arise

from investments in foreign subsidiaries and affiliates key component of these risks stems from the fact that some of our

foreign subsidiaries and affiliates utilize currencies other than our consolidated reporting currency the U.S Dollar

Additionally certain of our foreign subsidiaries and affiliates have entered into monetary obligations in the U.S Dollar or
currencies other than their own functional currencies We have varying degrees of exposure to changes in the exchange rate

between the U.S Dollar and the following currencies Argentine Peso Brazilian Real British Pound Chilean Peso Colombian
Peso Dominican Peso Euro Indian Rupee Kazakhstani Tenge Mexican Peso and Philippine Peso These subsidiaries and
affiliates have attempted to limit potential foreign exchange exposure by entering into revenue contracts that adjust to changes
in foreign exchange rates We also use foreign currency forwards swaps and options where possible to manage our risk

related to certain foreign currency fluctuations

We have entered into hedges to partially mitigate the exposure of earnings translated into the U.S Dollar to foreign
exchange volatility The largest foreign exchange risks over twelve-month

forward-looking period are stemming from the

following currencies Argentine Peso Brazilian Real Colombian Peso and Euro As of December 31 2013 assuming 10%
U.S Dollar appreciation adjusted pretax earnings attributable to foreign subsidiaries exposed to movement in the exchange
rate of the Argentine Peso Brazilian Real Colombian Peso and Euro relative to the U.S Dollar are projected to be reduced by
approximately $5 million $20 million less than $10 million and less than $10 million respectively for 2014 These numbers
have been produced by applying one-time 10% U.S Dollar appreciation to forecasted exposed pretax earnings for 2014
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coming from the respective subsidiaries exposed to the currencies listed above net of the impact of outstanding hedges and

holding all other variables constant The numbers presented above are net of any transactional gains/losses
These sensitivities

may change in the future as new hedges are executed or existing hedges are unwound Additionally updates to the forecasted

pretax earnings exposed to foreign exchange risk may result in further modification The sensitivities presented do not capture

the impacts of any administrative market restrictions or currency inconvertibility

Interest Rate Risks

We are exposed to risk resulting from changes in interest rates as result of our issuance of variable and fixed-rate debt

as well as interest rate swap cap
and floor and option agreements

Decisions on the fixed-floating debt ratio are made to be consistent with the risk factors faced by individual businesses or

plants Depending on whether plants capacity payments or revenue stream is fixed or varies with inflation we partially hedge

against interest rate fluctuations by arranging fixed-rate or variable-rate financing In certain cases particularly for non-

recourse financing we execute interest rate swap cap
and floor agreements

to effectively fix or limit the interest rate exposure

on the underlying financing Most of our interest rate risk is related to non-recourse financings at our businesses

As of December 31 2013 the portfolios pretax earnings exposure
for 2014 to 100-basis-point increase in interest rates

for our Argentine Peso Brazilian Real British Pound Colombian Peso Euro Kazakhstani Tenge and U.S Dollar denominated

debt would be approximately $20 million based on the impact of one time 100-basis-point upward shift in interest rates on

interest expense
for the debt denominated in these currencies The amounts do not take into account the historical correlation

between these interest rates
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ITEM FINANCIAL STATEMENTSAND SUPPLEMENTARYDATA

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Board of Directors and Stockholders of The AES Corporation

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of The AES Corporation as of December 31 2013 and 2012
and the related consolidated statements of operations comprehensive income changes in equity and cash flows for each of the
three years in the period ended December 31 2013 Our audits also included the financial statement schedules listed in the
index at Item 15a These financial statements and schedules are the responsibility of the Companys management Our
responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board United StatesThose standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial

statements are free of material misstatement An audit also includes examining on test basis evidence
supporting the amounts

and disclosures in the financial statements An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant
estimates made by management as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation We believe that our audits
provide reasonable basis for our opinion

In our opinion the financial statements referred to above present fairly in all material respects the consolidated financial

position of The AES Corporation at December 31 2013 and 2012 and the consolidated results of its operations and its cash
flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31 2013 in conformity with U.S

generally accepted
accounting principles Also in our opinion the related financial statement schedules when considered in relation to the basic
financial statements taken as whole present fairly in all material respects the information set forth therein

We also have audited in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board United StatesThe AES Corporations intemal control over financial reporting as of December 31 2013 based on criteria established in

Internal Control-Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission

1992 framework and our report dated February 25 2014 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon

Is Ernst Young LLP

McLean Virginia

February 25 2014
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THE AES CORPORATION

Restricted cash

Short-term investments

Accounts receivable net of allowance for doubtful accounts of $134 and $195 respectively

Inventory

Deferred income taxes

Prepaid expenses

Other current assets

Current assets of discontinued operations and held-for-sale assets

Total current assets

NONCURRENT ASSETS

Property Plant and Equipment

Land

Electric generation distribution assets and other

Accumulated depreciation

Construction in progress

Property plant and equipment net

Other Assets

December 31 December 31

2013 2012

in millions except share

and per share data

Additional paid-in capital

8443 8525

Accumulated deficit

150 264

Accumulated other comprehensive loss
2882 2920

Treasury stock at cost 90808168 shares at December 31 2013 and 66415984 shares at December 31 2012 10891 780

Total AES Corporation stockholders equity
4330 4569

NONCONTROLLING INTERESTS
3321 2945

Total equity

7651 7514

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
40.411 1.830

See Accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Investments in and advances to affiliates

Debt service reserves and other deposits

Goodwill

Other intangible assets net of accumulated amortization of $153 and $222 respectively

Deferred income taxes

Other noncurrent assets

Noncurrent assets of discontinued operations and held-for-sale assets

Total other assets

TOTAL ASSETS

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

CURRENT LIABILITIES

Accounts payable

Accrued interest

Accrued and other liabilities

Non-recourse debt including $267 and $275 respectively related to variable interest entities

Recourse debt

Current liabilities of discontinued operations and held-for-sale businesses

Total current liabilities

NONCURRENT LIABILITIES

Non-recourse debt including $979 and $858 respectively related to variable interest entities

Recourse debt

Deferred income taxes

Pension and other post-retirement liabilities

Other noncurrent liabilities

Noncurrent liabilities of discontin9ed operations and held-for-sale businesses

Total noncurrent liabilities

Contingencies and Commitments see Notes 13 and 14

Cumulative preferred stock of subsidiaries

EQUITY

THE AES CORPORATION STOCKHOLDERS EQUITY

Common stock $0.01 par value 1200000000 shares authorized 813316510 issued and 722508342

outstanding at December312013 and 810679839 issued and 744263855 outstanding at December 31 2012

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

DECEMBER 31 2013 AND 2012

ASSETS

CURRENT ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents

1642 1900

597 734

668 693

2363 2539

684 719

166 199

179 222

976 1072

464 387

7739 8465

922 1005

30596 30278

9604 9145

3198 2497

25112 24635

1010 1196

541 510

1999

297 324

666 940

2170 2188

1254 1573

7560 8730

40A11 41.830

2259

263

2114

2545

287

2347

2494

118 11

837 635

7653 8319

13318 12265

5551 5951

1119 1179

1310 2418

3299 3523

432 583

25029 25919

78 78
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THE AES CORPORATION

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31 2013 2012 AND 2011

Revenue

Regulated

Non-Regulated

Total revenue

Cost of Sales

Regulated

Non-Regulated

Total cost of sales

Operating margin

General and administrative expenses

Interest expense

Interest income

Loss on extinguishment of debt

Other expense

Other income

Gain on sale of investments

Goodwill impairment expense

Asset impairment expense

Foreign currency transaction losses

Other non-operating expense

INCOME FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS BEFORE TAXES AND EQUITY IN
EARNINGS OF A1FlLIATES

Income tax expense

Net equity in earnings losses of affiliates

INCOME LOSS FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS
Income loss from operations of discontinued businesses net of income tax benefit expenseof $24 $26 and $48 respectively

Net gain loss from disposal and impairments of discontinued businesses net of income tax
benefit expense of 15 $68 and $300 respectively

NET INCOME LOSS
Noncontrolling interests

Less Income from continuing operations attributable to noncontrollmg interests

Less Income loss from discontinued operations attributable to noncontrolling interests

Total net income attributable to noncontrolling interests

NET INCOME LOSS ArFRIBIJrABLE TO THE AES CORPORATION
AMOUNTS ATFRIBUTAJ3LE TO THE AES CORPORATION COMMON STOCKHOLDERS

Income loss from continuing operations net of tax

Income loss from discontinued operations net of tax

Net income loss

BASIC EARNINGS PER SHARE
Income loss from continuing operations attributable to The AES Corporation common

stockholders net of tax

Income loss from discontinued operations attributable to The AES Corporation common
stockholders net of tax

NET INCOME LOSS ATTRiBUTABLE TO THE AES CORPORATION COMMON
STOCKHOLDERS

DILUTED EARNINGS PER SHARE
Income loss from continuing operations attributable to The AES Corporation common

stockholders net of tax

Income loss from discontinued operations attributable to The AES Corporation common
stockholders net of tax

NET INCOME LOSS ATTRIBUTABLE TO THE AES CORPORATION COMMON
STOCKHOLDERS

DIVIDENDS DECLARED PER COMMON SHARE

2013 2012 2011

in millions except per share amounts

8056 8977 8699

7835 8187 7399

15891 17164 16098

6837

5807

12644

3247

220

1482
275

229

76
125

7594 6325
5987 5733

13581 12058
3583 4040

274 346
1544 1530

348 398

62
82 86

98 142

26 219

372 1817 17
95 73 173
22 170 32

129 50 82

1048 230 2260

343 685 656
25 35

730 420 1602

27 47 158

152 16 86

551 357 1530

446 540 1096

15 376
437 555 1472

114 912 58

284 960 506

170 48 448
114 912 58

0.38 1.27 0.65

0.23 0.06 0.58

0.15 1.21 0.07

0.38 1.27 0.65

0.23 0.06 0.58

0.15 1.21 0.07

0.17 0.08

See Accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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THE AES CORPORATION

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31 2013 2012 AND 2011

2013 2012 2011

in millions

NETINCOMELOSS 551 357 1530

Available-for-sale secunties activity

Change in fair value of available-for-sale securities net of income tax

expense benefit of $0 $0 and $0 respectively

Reclassification to earnings net of income tax expense benefit of $0 $0

and $0 respectively ____________ ____________ ____________

Total change in fair value of available-for-sale securities

Foreign currency translation activity

Foreign currency translation adjustments net of income tax expense
benefit of $10 $0 and $18 respectively

Reclassification to earnings net of income tax expense benefit of $0 $0

and $0 respectively ____________ ____________ ____________

Total foreign currency translation adjustments

Derivative activity

Change in derivative fair value net of income tax expense benefit of $3
$35 and $108 respectively

Reclassification to earnings net of income tax expense of $41 $56 and

$22 respectively ____________ ____________ ____________

Total change in fair value of derivatives

Pension activity

Change in pension adjustments due to prior service cost net of income tax

expense benefit of $0 $0 and $0

Change in pension adjustments due to net actuarial gain loss for the period

net of income tax expense benefit of 198 $300 and $117

Reclassification to earnings due to amortization of net actuarial loss net of

income tax expense of $26 15 and $6 respectively
____________ ____________ ____________

Total pension adjustments
___________ ___________ ___________

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME LOSS ________ ________ ________
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME LOSS

Less Comprehensive income loss attributable to noncontrolling interests

COMPREHENSIVE INCOME LOSS ATTRIBUTABLE TO THE AES

CORPORATION ________

See Accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

375 247 484

41 37 188

334 210 296

108 134 379

139 177 137

247 43 242

379 587 223

52 24 13

431 564 210

344 731 749

895 1088 781

743 14 1098

152 1074 317
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THE AES CORPORATION

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31 2013 2012 AND 2011

THE AES CORPORATION STOCKHOLDERS

llalanceatianuary 12011

Net income

Total change in fair value of available-for-sale securities net of
income tax

Total
Foreign currency translation adjustment net of income

tax

Total change in derivative fair value including

reclassification to earnings net of income tax

Total pension adjustments net of income tax

Total other comprehensive income

Capital contributions from
noncontrolling interests

Distributions to noncontrolling interests

Disposition of businesses

Acquisition
of

treasury stock

Issuance and exercise of stock-based compensation benefit

plans net of income tax

Sale of subsidiary shares to
noncontrolling

interests

Acquisition of subsidiary shares from
noncontrolling interests

Balance at December 31 2011

Net income loss

Total Foreign currency translation adjustment net of income

tax

Total change in derivative fair value including

reclassification to earnings net of income tax

Total pension adjustments net of income tax

Total other comprehensive income

Capital contributions from noncontroiling interests

Distributions to noncontrolling interests

Disposition of businesses

Acquisition of treasury stock

Issuance and exercise of stock-based compensation benefit

plans net of income tax

Dividends declared on common stock $0.08 per share

Sale of subsidiary shares to noncontrolling interests

Acquisition of subsidiary shares from noncontrolling interests

Balance at December 31 2012

Net income loss

Total
Foreign currency translation adjustment net of income

tax

Total change in derivative fair value including

reclassification to earnings net of income tax

Total
pension adjustments net of income tax

Total other comprehensive income

Capital contributions from
noncontrolling interests

Distributions to noncontrolling interests

Disposition of businesses

Acquisition of treasury stock

Issuance and exercise of stock-based compensation benefit

plans net of income tax

Dividends declared on common stock $0.17 per share

Sale of subsidiary shares to
noncontrolling

interests

Acquisition of subsidiary shares from
noncontrolling interests

Balance at December 31 2013

See Accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Common Stock Treasury Stock Additional Accn1hulated

Paid-In
Accumulated Comprehensive Noncontrolhng

Shares Amount Shares Amount Capital Deficit Loss Interests

_________ __________ _________ __________
In millions

8049 173 216 8444 4O- 2.383 3940

58 1472

143 153

190 52

41 169

375 374

1254

27
25.5 279

2.7 0.4 44

19 16

807.6 42.4 489 8507 678 2758 3.783

912 555

90 120

53 10

125 439

162 569

30

802

44
24.8 301

3.1 .- 0.8 10 37

30 30

13
810.7 66.4 780 8525 264 2920 2945

114 437

227 107

t74 73

91 340

38 306

109

553

13
25.3 322

2.6 0.9 13 33

125

16
91

-.- --

813.3 90.8 1089 8443 ISO 2882 3321
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THE AES CORPORATION

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31 2013 2012 AND 2011

OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Net income loss

Adjustments to net income loss

Depreciation and amortization

Loss gain on sale of assets and investments

Impairment expenses

Deferred income taxes

Provisions for contingencies

Loss on the extinguishment of debt

Lots gain on disposals and impairments discontinued operations

Other

Changes in operating assetsahd liabilities

Increase decrease in accounts receivable

Increase decrease in inventory

Increase decrease in prepaid expenses and other current assets

Increase decrease in other assets

Increase decrease in accounts payable and other current liabilities

Increase decrease in income tax payables net and other tax payables

Increase decrease in other liabilities

Net cash provided by operating activities

INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Capital expenditures

Acquisitions net of cash acquired

Proceeds from the sale of businesses net of cash sold

Proceeds from the sale of assets

Sale of short-term investments

Purchase of short-term investments

Decrease increase in restricted cash debt service reserves and Other assets

Affiliate advances and equity investments

Proceeds from performance bond

Proceeds from government grants for asset construction

Other investing

Net cash used in investing activities

FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Repayments borrowings under the revolving credit facilities net

Issuance of recourse debt

Issuance of non-recourse debt

Repayments of recourse debt

Repayments of non-recourse debt

Payments for financing fees

Distributions to noncontrolling interests

Contributions from noncontrolhng interests

Dividends paid on AES common stock

Payments for fiæànced capital expenditures

Purchase of treasury stock

Other financing

Net cash used in provided by financing activities

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash

Increase decrease in cash of discontinued and held-for-sale businesses

Total increase decrease in cash andcash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents beginning

Cash and cash equivalents ending

SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURES

Cash payments for interest net of amounts capitalized

Cash payments for income taxes net of refunds

SCHEDULE OF NONCASH INVESTING AND FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Assets acquired in noncash asset exchange or capital lease

See Accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

2013 2012 2011

in millions

551 357 1530

1294 1394

14 174
661 1940

158 162

44 47

229

163 84
33

146 241
16 24

358 120

103 589

725 330

95 47
137 335 351

2715 2901 2884

1262

20

366

199
30

62

388
149

236

141

403
322

166

1988

170

2108
20
639

62 46

4361 6437

4443 5907

44 15
89

122

2430

3562
927

117

6075

5860

223

155

199

32

1774 895 4906

22 321 437

750 2050

4277 1391 3218

1210 235 476

3390 1325 2217

176 40 202

557 895 1088
210 43

119 30
591 162 31

322 301 279

14

1136 1867 1412

59 122
132

258 276 736

1900 1624 2360

642 1900 1624

1398 .$ 1509 1442

570 647 971

34 12 20
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THE AES CORPORATION

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31 2013 2012 AND 2011

GENERAL AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The AES Corporation is holding company the Parent Company that through its subsidiaries and affiliates

collectively AES or the Company operates geographically diversified portfolio of electricity generation and distribution

businesses Generally given this holding company structure the liabilities of the individual operating entities are not recourse

to the parent and are isolated to the operating entities Most of our operating entities are structured as limited liability entities

which limit the liability of shareholders The structure is generally the same regardless of whether subsidiary is consolidated

under voting or interest model

CORRECTION OF AN ERRORCertain amounts related to the payment of costs for the construction of our Muong
Dong facility in Vietnam were misclassified as an investing activity on the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows in 2012
The error was related to costs that were paid under extended payment terms as allowed by the construction contract but should

have been reflected as financing activities in accordance with the accounting guidance for cash flows As result cash flows

from investing activities were overstated by $128 million and cash flows from financing activities were understated by $128

million Cash flows from investing activities were previously reported as $1 billion and have now been restated to $895 million

for the year ended December 31 2012 Cash flows from financing activities were previously reported as $1.7 billion and have

now been restated to $1.9 billion for the
year ended December 31 2012 There was no impact on amounts presented on the

Consolidated Balance Sheet as of December 31 2012 or the Consolidated Statement of Operations for the year ended

December 31 2012

PRINCIPLES OF CONSOLIDATIONThe Consolidated Financial Statements of the Company include the accounts

of The AES Corporation and its subsidiaries which are the entities that it controls Furthermore variable interest entities

VIEs in which the Company has variable interest have been consolidated where the Company is the primary beneficiary

and thus controls the VIE Intercompany transactions and balances are eliminated in consolidation Investments in which the

Company has the ability to exercise significant influence but not control are accounted for using the equity method of

accounting

DPL our utility in Ohio has undivided interests in seven generation facilities and numerous transmission facilities

These undivided interests in jointly-owned facilities are accounted for on pro rata basis in our consolidated fmancial

statements Certain expenses primarily fuel costs for the generating units are allocated to the joint owners based on their

energy usage The remaining expenses investments in fuel inventory plant materials and operating supplies and capital

additions are allocated to the joint owners in accordance with their respective ownership interests

USE OF ESTIMATESThe preparation of these consolidated financial statements in conformity with accounting

principles generally accepted in the United States of America U.S GAAP requires the Company to make estimates and

assumptions that affect reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities at the date

of the consolidated financial statements as well as the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the reporting period

Actual results could differ from those estimates Items subject to such estimates and assumptions include the carrying amount
and estimated useful lives of long-lived assets impairment of goodwill long-lived assets and equity method investments

valuation allowances for receivables and deferred tax assets the recoverability of regulatory assets the estimation of regulatory

liabilities the fair value of financial instruments the fair value of assets and liabilities acquired in business combination the

measurement of noncontrolling interest using the hypothetical liquidation at book value HLBV method for certain wind

generation partnerships pension liabilities environmental liabilities and potential litigation claims and settlements

DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS AND RECLASSIFICATIONSA discontinued operation is component of the

Company that either has been disposed of or is classified as held for sale and the Company does not expect to have significant

cash flows from or significant continuing involvement with the component as of one year after its disposal or sale component
comprises operations and cash flows that can be clearly distinguished operationally and for financial reporting purposes from

the rest of the Company Prior period amounts have been retrospectively revised to reflect the businesses determined to be

discontinued operations Cash flows at discontinued and held for sale businesses are included within the relevant categories
within operating investing and financing activities The aggregate amount of cash flows is offset by the net increase or decrease

in cash of discontinued and held for sale businesses which is presented as separate line item in the Consolidated Statements

of Cash Flows When an operation is classified as held for sale the Company recognizes impairment if any at the consolidated

financial statement level which also includes
noncontrolling interests However any gain or loss on the completion of

disposal transaction is recognized only for the Companys ownership interest When reclassifications are made in the current

period the amounts reported in the prior period financial statements are reclassified to conform to the current year presentation
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THE AES CORPORATION

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTSContinued
DECEMBER 31 2013 2012 AND 2011

The reclassifications relate primarily to general and administrative costs at certain of the Companys strategic business units

SBUs that were previously classified as geileral and administrative expenses that were reclassified to cost of sales

FAIR VALUEFair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer liability in an

orderly hypothetical transaction between market participants at the measurement date or exit price The Company applies the

fair value measurement accounting guidance to financial assets and liabilities in determining the fair value of investments in

marketable debt and equity securities included in the consolidated balance sheet line items Short-term investments and

Other assets noncurrent derivative assets included in Other current assets and Other assets noncurrent and

derivative liabilities included in Accrued and other liabilities current and Other long-term liabilities The Company

applies the fair value measurement guidance to nonfinancial assets and liabilities upon the acquisition of business or in

conjunction with the measurement of potential impairment loss on an asset group or goodwill under the accounting guidance

for the impairment of long-lived assets or goodwill

The Company makes assumptions about what market participants would assume in valuing an asset or liability based on

the best information available These factors include nonperformance risk the risk that the obligation will not be fulfilled and

credit risk of the subsidiary for liabilities and of the counterparty for assets The Company is prohibited from including

transaction costs and any adjustments for blockage factors in determining fair value The principal or most advantageous market

is considered from the perspective of the subsidiary owning the asset or with the liability

Fair value is based on observable market prices where available Where they are not available specific valuation models

and techniques are applied depending on what is being fair valued These models and techniques maximize the use of

observable inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs The process involves varying levels of management judgment

the degree of which is dependent on price transparency and complexity An assets or liabilitys level within the fair value

hierarchy is based on the lowest level of input significant to the fair value measurement where Level is the highest and

Level is the lowest The three levels are defined as follows

Level 1unadjusted quoted prices in active markets accessible by the Company for identical assets or liabilities

Active markets are those in which transactions for the asset or liability occur with sufficient frequency and volume to

provide pricing information on an ongoing basis

Level 2pricing inputs other than quoted market prices included in Level which are based on observable market

data that are directly or indirectly observable for substantially the full term of the asset or liability These include

quoted market prices for similar assets or liabilities quoted market prices for identical or similar assets in markets that

are not active adjusted quoted market prices inputs from observable data such as interest rate and yield curves

volatilities or default rates observable at commonly quoted intervals or inputs derived from observable market data by

correlation or other means

Level 3pricing inputs that are unobservable from objective sources Unobservable inputs are only used to the extent

observable inputs are not available These inputs maintain the concept of an exit price from the perspective of market

participant and reflect assumptions of other market participants The Company considers all market participant

assumptions that are available without unreasonable cost and effort These are given the lowest priority and are

generally used in internally developed methodologies to generate managements best estimate of the fair value when

no observable market data is available

Any transfers between all levels within the fair value hierarchy levels are recognized at the end of the reporting period

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTSThe Company considers unrestricted cash on hand deposits in banks

certificates of deposit and short-term marketable securities that mature within three months or less from the date of purchase to

be cash and cash equivalents The carrying amounts of such balances approximate fair value

RESTRICTED CASH AND DEBT SERVICE RESERVESThese include cash balances which are restricted as to

withdrawal or usage by the subsidiary that owns the cash The nature of restrictions includes restrictions imposed by financing

agreements such as security deposits kept as collateral debt service reserves maintenance reserves and others as well as

restrictions imposed by long-term PPAs

INVESTMENTS IN MARKETABLE SECURITIESThe Companys marketable investments are primarily

unsecured debentures certificates of deposit government debt securities and money market funds Short-term investments in

marketable debt and equity securities consist of securities with original maturities in excess of three months with remaining

maturities of less than one year
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Marketable debt securities that the Company has both the positive intent and ability to hold to maturity are classified as

held-to-maturity and are carried at amortized cost Other marketable securities that the Company does not intend to hold to

maturity are classified as available-for-sale or trading and are carried at fair value Available-for-sale investments are fair valued

at the end of each reporting period where the unrealized gains or losses are reflected in accumulated other comprehensive loss

AOCL separate component of equity However in measuring the other-than-temporary impairment of debt securities the

Company identifies two components the amount representing the credit loss which is recognized as other non-operating

expense in the Consolidated Statements of Operations and the amount related to other factors which is recognized in

AOCL unless there is plan to sell the security in which case it would be recognized in earnings The amount recognized in

AOCL for held-to-maturity debt securities is then amortized in earnings over the remaining life of such securities

Investments classified as trading are fair valued at the end of each reporting period through the Consolidated Statements

of Operations Interest and dividends on investments are reported in interest income and other income respectively Gains

and losses on sales of investments are determined using the specific identification method

ACCOUNTS AND NOTES RECEIVABLE AND ALLOWANCE FOR DOUBTFUL ACCOUNTSAccounts and

notes receivable are carried at amortized cost The Company periodically assesses the collectability of accounts receivable

considering factors such as specific evaluation of collectability historical collection experience the age of accounts receivable

and other currently available evidence of the collectability and records an allowance for doubtful accounts for the estimated

uncollectible amount as appropriate Certain of our businesses charge interest on accounts receivable either under contractual

terms or where charging interest is customary business practice In such cases interest income is recognized on an accrual

basis So long as the collection of interest is not reasonably assured interest income is recognized as cash is received

Individual accounts and notes receivable are written off when they are no longer deemed collectible

INVENTORYInventory primarily consists of coal fuel oil and other raw materials used to generate power and spare

parts and supplies used to maintain power generation and distribution facilities Inventory is carried at lower of cost or market

Cost is the sum of the purchase price and incidental expenditures and charges incurred to bring the inventory to its existing

condition or location Cost is determined under the first-in first-out FIFOaverage cost or specific identification method

Generally cost is reduced to market value if the market value of inventory has declined and it is probable that the utility of

inventory in its disposal in the ordinary course of business will not be recovered through revenue earned from the generation

of power

LONG-LIVED ASSETSLong-lived assets include property plant and equipment assets under capital leases and

intangible assets subject to amortization i.e finite-lived intangible assets

Property plant and equzpment

Property plant and equipment are stated at cost net of accumulated depreciation The cost of renewals and improvements

that extend the useful life of property plant and equipment are capitalized

Construction
progress payments engineering costs insurance costs salaries interest and other costs directly relating to

construction in
progress are capitalized during the construction period provided the completion of the project is deemed

probable or expensed at the time the Company determines that development of particular project is no longer probable The

continued capitalization of such costs is subject to ongoing risks related to successful completion including those related to

government approvals site identification financing construction permitting and contract compliance Construction in progress

balances are transferred to electric generation and distribution assets when an asset group
is ready for its intended use

Government subsidies liquidated damages recovered for construction delays and income tax credits are recorded as reduction

to property plant and equipment and reflected in cash flows from investing activities

Depreciation after consideration of salvage value and asset retirement obligations is computed primarily using the

straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the assets which are determined on composite or component basis

Maintenance and repairs are charged to expense as incurred Capital spare parts including rotable spare parts are included in

electric generation and distribution assets If the spare part is considered component it is depreciated over its useful life after

the part is placed in service If the spare part is deemed part of composite asset the part is depreciated over the composite

useful life even when being held as spare part

The Companys Brazilian subsidiaries which include both generation and distribution companies operate under

concession contracts Certain estimates are utilized to determine depreciation expense
for the Brazilian subsidiaries including

the useful lives of the property plant and equipment and the amounts to be recovered at the end of the concession contract The
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amounts to be recovered under these concession contracts are based on estimates that are inherently uncertain and actual

amounts recovered may differ from those estimates

Intangible Assets Subject to Amortization

Finite-lived intangible assets are amortized over their useful lives which range from 50 years The Company accounts

for purchased emission allowances as intangible assets and records an expense when utilized or sold Granted emission

allowances are valued at zero

Impairment of Long-lived Assets

When circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of long-lived assets asset group held-for-use may not be

recoverable the Company evaluates the assets for potential impairment using internal projections of undiscounted cash flows

expected to result from the use and eventual disposal of the assets Events or changes in circumstances that may necessitate

recoverability evaluation may include but are not limited to adverse changes in the regulatory environment unfavorable

changes in power prices or fuel costs increased competition due to additional capacity in the grid technological advancements

declining trends in demand or an expectation that it is more likely than not that the asset will be disposed of before the end of

its previously estimated useful life If the carrying amount of the assets exceeds the undiscounted cash flows and exceeds any

fair value of the assets an impairment expense is recognized for the excess up to the carrying amount of the long-lived assets

but up to any fair value for any individual long-lived asset that is determinable without undue cost and effort For regulated

assets an impairment expense could be reduced by the establishment of regulatory asset if recovery through approved rates

was probable For non-regulated assets impairment is recognized as an expense When long-lived assets meet the criteria to be

classified as held-for-sale and the carrying amount of the disposal group exceeds its fair value less costs to sell an impairment

expense is recognized for the excess up to the carrying amount of the long-lived assets if the fair value of the disposal group

subsequently exceeds the carrying amount while the disposal group is still held-for-sale any impairment expense previously

recognized will be reversed up to the lower of the prior expense or the subsequent excess

DEFERRED FINANCING COSTSCosts incurred in connection with the issuance of long-term debt are deferred and

amortized over the related financing period using the effective interest method or the straight-line method when it does not

differ materially from the effective interest method Make-whole payments in connection with early debt retirements are

classified as cash flows used in financing activities

EQUITY METHOD IN VESTMENTSInvestments in entities over which the Company has the ability to exercise

significant influence but not control are accounted for using the equity method of accounting and reported in Investments in

and advances to affiliates on the Consolidated Balance Sheets The Company periodically assesses if there is an indication that

the fair value of an equity method investment is less than its carrying amount When an indicator exists any excess of the

carrying amount over its estimated fair value is recognized as impairment when the loss in value is deemed other-than-

temporary and included in Other non-operating expense in the Consolidated Statements of Operations

The Company discontinues the application of the equity method when an investment is reduced to zero and the Company

is not otherwise committed to provide further financial support to the investee The Company resumes the application of the

equity method if the investee subsequently reports net income to the extent that the Companys share of such net income equals

the share of net losses not recognized during the period in which the equity method of accounting was suspended

GOODWILL AND INDEFINITE-LIVED INTANGIBLE ASSETSThe Company evaluates goodwill and indefinite-

lived intangible assets for impairment on an annual basis and whenever events or changes in circumstances necessitate an

evaluation for impairment The Companys annual impairment testing date is October

Goodwill

The Company evaluates goodwill impairment at the reporting unit level which is an operating segment as defined in the

segment reporting accounting guidance or component i.e one level below an operating segment In determining its

reporting units the Company starts with its management reporting structure Operating segments are identified and then

analyzed to identify components which make up these operating segments Two or more components are combined into single

reporting unit if they are economically similar Assets and liabilities are allocated to reporting unit if the assets will be

employed by or liability relates to the operations of the reporting unit or would be considered by market participant in

determining its fair value Goodwill resulting from an acquisition is assigned to the reporting units that are expected to benefit
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from the synergies of the acquisition Generally each AES business with goodwill balance constitutes reporting unit as they

are not reported to segment management together with other businesses and are not similar to other businesses in segment

Goodwill is evaluated for impairment either under the qualitative assessment option or the two-step test approach

depending on facts and circumstances of reporting unit including the excess of fair value over carrying amount in the last

valuation or changes in business environment If the Company qualitatively determines it is more likely than not that the fair

value of reporting unit is greater than its carrying amount the two-step impairment test is unnecessary Otherwise goodwill is

evaluated for impairment using the two step test where the carrying amount of reporting unit is compared to its fair value in

Step if the fair value exceeds the carrying amount Step is unnecessary If the carrying amount exceeds the reporting units

fair value this could indicate potential impairment and Step of the goodwill evaluation process is required to determine if

goodwill is impaired and to measure the amount of impairment loss to recognize if any When Step is necessary the fair

value of individual assets and liabilities is determined using valuations which in some cases may be based in part on third party

valuation reports or other observable sources of fair value as appropriate If the cariying amount of goodwill exceeds its

implied fair value the excess is recognized as an impairment loss

Most of the Companys reporting units are not publicly traded Therefore the Company estimates the fair value of its

reporting units using internal budgets and forecasts adjusted for any market participants assumptions and discounted at the rate

of return required by market participant The Company considers both market and income-based approaches to determine

range of fair value but typically concludes that the value derived using an income-based approach is more representative of fair

value due to the lack of direct market comparables The Company does use market data to corroborate and determine the

reasonableness of the fair value derived from the income-based discounted cash flow analysis

Indefinite-lived Intangible Assets

The Companys indefinite-lived intangible assets primarily include land use rights easements concessions and trade

name These are tested for impairment on an annual basis or whenever events or changes in circumstances necessitate an

evaluation for impairment If the carrying amount of an intangible asset exceeds its fair value the excess is recognized as

impairment expense When deemed appropriate the Company uses the qualitative assessment option under the accounting

guidance on goodwill and intangible assets to determine whether the existence of events or circumstances indicate that it is

more likely than not that an intangible asset is impaired If after assessing the totality of events and circumstances the

Company determines that it is not more likely than not that an intangible asset is impaired no further action is taken The

accounting guidance provides the option to bypass the qualitative assessment for any intangible asset in any period and proceed

directly to performing the quantitative impairment test

ACCOUNTS PAYABLE AND OTHER ACCRUED LIABILITIESAccounts payable consists of amounts due to

trade creditors related to the Companys core business operations These payables include amounts owed to vendors and

suppliers for items such as energy purchased for resale fuel maintenance inventory and other raw materials Other accrued

liabilities include items such as income taxes regulatory liabilities legal contingencies and employee-related costs including

payroll benefits and related taxes

REGULATORY ASSETS AND LIABILITIESThe Company records assets and liabilities that result from the

regulated ratemaking process that are not recognized under GAAP for non-regulated entities Regulatory assets generally

represent incurred costs that have been deferred due to the probability of future
recovery in customer rates Regulatory

liabilities generally represent obligations to make refunds to customers Management continually assesses whether the

regulatory assets are probable of future recovery by considering factors such as applicable regulatory changes recent rate

orders applicable to other regulated entities and the status of any pending or potential deregulation legislation If future recovery

of costs previously deferred ceases to be probable the related regulatory assets are written off and recognized in income from

continuing operations

PENSION AND OTHER POSTRETIREMENT PLANSThe Company recognizes in its Consolidated Balance

Sheets an asset or liability reflecting the funded status of pension and other postretirement plans with current year changes in

the funded status recognized in AOCL except for those plans at certain of the Companys regulated utilities that can recover

portions of their pension and postretirement obligations through future rates All plan assets are recorded at fair value AES
follows the measurement date provisions of the accounting guidance which require year-end measurement date of plan assets

and obligations for all defined benefit plans

INCOME TAXESDeferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the future tax consequences attributable to

differences between the financial statement carrying amounts of the existing assets and liabilities and their respective income
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tax bases The Company establishes valuation allowance when it is more likely than not that all or portion of deferred tax

asset will not be realized The Companys tax positions are evaluated under more-likely-than-not recognition threshold and

measurement analysis before they are recognized for financial statement reporting

Uncertain tax positions have been classified as noncurrent income tax liabilities unless expected to be paid within one

year
The Companys policy for interest and penalties related to income tax exposures is to recognize interest and penalties as

component of the provision for income taxes in the Consolidated Statements of Operations

ASSET RETIREMENT OBLIGATIONSThe Company records the fair value of the liability for legal obligation to

retire an asset in the period in which the obligation is incurred When new liability is recognized the Company capitalizes the

costs of the liability by increasing the carrying amount of the related long-lived asset The liability is accreted to its present

value each period and the capitalized cost is depreciated over the useful life of the related asset Upon settlement of the

obligation the Company eliminates the liability and based on the actual cost to retire may incur gain or loss

NONCONTROLLING INTERESTSNoncontrolling interests are classified as separate component of equity in the

Consolidated Balance Sheets and Consolidated Statements of Changes in Equity Additionally net income and comprehensive

income attributable to noncontrolling interests are reflected separately from consolidated net income and comprehensive

income in the Consolidated Statements of Operations and Consolidated Statements of Changes in Equity Any change in

ownership of subsidiary while the controlling financial interest is retained is accounted for as an equity transaction between

the controlling and noncontrolling interests Losses continue to be attributed to the noncontrolling interests even when the

noncontrolling interests basis has been reduced to zero

Although in general the noncontrolling ownership interest in earnings is calculated based on ownership percentage

certain of the Companys businesses are subject to certain profit sharing arrangements These agreements exist for Wind

Generation partnerships to designate different allocations of value among investors where the allocations change in form or

percentage over the life of the partnership For these businesses the Company uses the HLBV method when it is reasonable

approximation of the profit sharing arrangement HLBV uses balance sheet approach which measures the Companys equity

in income or loss by calculating the change in the amount of net worth the partners are legally able to claim based on

hypothetical liquidation of the entity at the beginning of reporting period compared to the end of that period

GUARANTOR ACCOUNTINGAt the inception of guarantee the Company records the fair value of guarantee as

liability with the offset dependent on the circumstances under which the guarantee was issued The Company does not

recognize guarantees given to third parties for its subsidiaries future performance

FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSLATIONA business functional currency is the currency of the primary economic

environment in which the business operates and is generally the currency in which the business generates and expends cash

Subsidiaries and affiliates whose functional currency is currency other than the U.S Dollar translate their assets and liabilities

into U.S Dollars at the current exchange rates in effect at the end of the fiscal period The revenue and expense accounts of

such subsidiaries and affiliates are translated into U.S Dollars at the
average exchange rates that prevailed during the period

Translation adjustments are included in AOCL Gains and losses on intercompany foreign currency transactions that are long-

term in nature and which the Company does not intend to settle in the foreseeable future are also recognized in AOCL Gains

and losses that arise from exchange rate fluctuations on transactions denominated in currency other than the functional

currency are included in determining net income Accumulated foreign currency translation adjustments are reclassified to net

income only when realized upon sale or upon complete or substantially complete liquidation of the investment in foreign

entity The accumulated adjustments are included in carrying amounts in impairment assessments where the Company has

committed to plan that will cause the accumulated adjustments to be reclassified to earnings

REVENUE RECOGNITIONRevenue from Utilities is classified as regulated in the Consolidated Statements of

Operations Revenue from the sale of energy
is recognized in the period during which the sale occurs The calculation of

revenue earned but not yet billed is based on the number of days not billed in the month the estimated amount of energy

delivered during those days and the estimated average price per customer class for that month Differences between actual and

estimated unbilled revenue are usually immaterial The Company has businesses where it sells and purchases power to and from

Independent System Operators ISOs and Regional Transmission Organizations RTOs In those instances the Company

accounts for these transaºtions on net hourly basis because the transactions are settled on net hourly basis Revenue from

Generation businesses is classified as non-regulated and is recognized based upon output delivered and capacity provided at

rates as specified under contract terms or prevailing market rates Certain of the Company PPAs meet the definition of an

operating lease or contain similararrangements Typically minimum lease payments from such PPAs are recognized as revenue
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on straight line basis over the lease term whereas contingent rentals are recognized when earned Revenue is recorded net of

any taxes assessed on and collected from customers which are remitted to the governmental authorities

SHARE-BASED COMPENSATIONThe Company grants share-based compensation in the form of stock options and

restricted stock units The expense is based on the grant-date fair value of the equity or liability instrument issued and is

recognized on straight-line basis over the requisite service period net of estimated forfeitures Currently the Company uses

Black-Scholes option pricing model to estimate the fair value of stock options granted to its employees

GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSESGeneral and administrative expenses include corporate and other

expenses related to corporate staff functions and initiatives primarily executive management finance legal human resources

and information systems which are not directly allocable to our business segments Additionally all costs associated with

business development efforts are classified as general and administrative expenses

DERIVATIVES AND HEDGING ACTIVITIESUnder the accounting standards for derivatives and hedging the

Company recognizes all contracts that meet the definition of derivative except those designated as normal purchase or normal

sale at inception as either assets or liabilities in the Consolidated Balance Sheets and measures those instruments at fair value

See the Companys fair value policy and Note 4Fair Value for additional discussion regarding the detennination of the fair

value The PPAs and fuel supply agreements entered into by the Company are evaluated to determine if they meet the definition

of derivative or contain embedded derivatives either of which require separate valuation and accounting To be derivative

under the accounting standards for derivatives and hedging an agreement would need to have notional and an underlying

require little or no initial net investment and could be net settled Generally these agreements do not meet the definition of

derivative often due to the inability to be net settled On quarterly basis we evaluate the markets for the commodities to be

delivered under these agreements to determine if facts and circumstances have changed such that the agreements could then be

net settled and meet the definition of derivative

Derivatives primarily consist of interest rate swaps cross-currency swaps foreign currency instruments and commodity

derivatives The Company enters into various derivative transactions in order to hedge its exposure to certain market risks

primarily interest rate foreign currency and commodity price risks Regarding interest rate risk the Company and our

subsidiaries generally utilize variable rate debt financing for construction projects and operations so interest rate swap lock

cap and floor agreements are entered into to manage interest rate risk by effectively fixing or limiting the interest rate exposure

on the underlying financing and are typically designated as cash flow hedges Regarding foreign currency risk we are exposed

to it as result of our investments in foreign subsidiaries and affiliates that may be impacted by significant fluctuations in

foreign currency exchange rates so foreign currency options and forwards are utilized where deemed appropriate to manage

the risk related to these fluctuations Cross-currency swaps are utilized in certain instances to manage the risk related to

fluctuations in both interest rates and certain foreign currencies In addition certain of our subsidiaries have entered into

contracts which contain embedded derivatives as portion of the contracts is denominated in currency other than the

functional or local currency of that subsidiary or the currency of the item Regarding commodity price risk we are exposed to

the impact of market fluctuations in the price of electricity fuel and environmental credits Although we primarily consist of

businesses with long-term contracts or retail sales concessions which provide our distribution businesses with franchise to

serve specific geographic region portion of our current and expected future revenues are derived from businesses without

significant long-term purchase or sales contracts We use an overall hedging strategy not just derivatives to hedge our financial

performance against the effects of fluctuations in commodity prices

The accounting standards for derivatives and hedging enable companies to designate qualifying derivatives as hedging

instruments based on the exposure being hedged The Company only has cash flow hedges at this time Changes in the fair

value of derivative that is highly effective designated and qualifies as cash flow hedge are deferred in AOCL and are

recognized into earnings as the hedged transactions affect earnings Any ineffectiveness is recognized in earnings immediately

For all designated and qualifying hedges the Company maintains formal documentation of the hedge and effectiveness testing

in accordance with the accounting standards for derivatives and hedging If AES determines that the derivative is no longer

highly effective as hedge hedge accounting will be discontinued prospectively For cash flow hedges of forecasted

transactions AES estimates the future cash flows of the forecasted transactions and evaluates the probability of the occurrence

and timing of such transactions Changes in conditions or the occurrence of unforeseen events could require discontinuance of

hedge accounting or could affect the timing of the reclassification of gains or losses on cash flow hedges from AOCL into

earnings

While derivative transactions are not entered into for trading purposes some contracts are not eligible for hedge

accounting Changes in the fair value of derivatives not designated and qualifying as cash flow hedges are immediately

recognized in earnings Regardless of when gains or losses on derivatives including all those where the fair value measurement
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is classified as Level are recognized in earnings they are generally classified as follows interest expense
for interest rate and

cross-currency derivatives foreign currency transaction gains or losses for foreign currency derivatives and non-regulated

revenue or non-regulated cost of sales for commodity and other derivatives However gains and losses on interest rate and

cross-currency derivatives are classified as foreign currency transaction gains and losses if they offset the remeasurement of the

foreign currency-denominated debt being hedged by the cross-currency swaps and the amount reclassified from AOCL to cost

of sales to offset depreciation where the variable-rate interest capitalized as part of the asset was hedged during its construction

Cash flows arising from derivatives are included in the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows as an operating activity given

the nature of the underlying risk being economically hedged and the lack of significant financing elements except that cash

flows on designated and qualifying hedges of variable-rate interest during construction are classified as an investing activity

The Company has elected not to offset net derivative positions in the financial statements Accordingly the Company

does not offset such derivative positions against the fair value of amounts or amounts that approximate fair value recognized

for the right to reclaim cash collateral receivable or the obligation to return cash collateral payable under master netting

arrangements

ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVEThe following accounting

standards have been issued but are not yet effective for and have not been adopted by AES

ASU No 2013-11 Income Taxes Topic 740 Presentation of an Unrecognized Tax Benefit When Net Operating Loss

Carryforward Similar Tax Loss or Tax Credit Carryforward Exists consensus of the FASB Emerging Issues Task

Force

In July 2013 the FASB issued ASU No 2013-11 which requires the netting of unrecognized tax benefits UTBs
against deferred tax asset for loss or other carryforward that would apply in settlement of uncertain tax positions Under the

new standard UTBs will be netted against all available same-jurisdiction loss or other tax carryforwards that would be utilized

rather than only against carryforwards that are created by the UTBs ASU No 2013-11 is effective for annual reporting periods

beginning after December 15 2013 and interim periods therein The new standard requires prospective adoption but allows

optional retrospective adoption Based on balances as of December 31 2013 the estimated impact to the Companys

Consolidated Balance Sheet is reduction of $71 million to Other noncurrent liabilities and an offsetting increase to

Deferred income taxes under Noncurrent Liabilities There will be no impact on the results of operations and cash flows

ASUNo 2013-7 Presentation of Financial Statements Topic 205 Liquidation Basis ofAccounting

In April 2013 the FASB issued ASU No 2013-7 which requires an entity to prepare
financial statements on liquidation

basis when liquidation is imminent unless the liquidation is the same as the plan specified in an entitys governing documents

created at its inception Under the liquidation basis of accounting an entity will measure and present assets at the estimated

amount of cash proceeds or other consideration that it expects to collect in settling or disposing of those assets in carrying out

its plan for liquidation This includes assets the entity previously had not recognized under U.S GAAP but expects to either

sell in liquidation or use in settling liabilities for example trademarks An entity will recognize and measure its liabilities in

accordance with U.S GAAP that otherwise applies to those liabilities An entity should not anticipate it will be legally released

from being the primary obligor under those liabilities either judicially or by creditors An entity will also accrue and separately

present the costs it expects to incur and the income it expects to earn during the course of the liquidation including any costs

associated with the disposal or settlement of its assets and liabilities ASU No 20 13-7 also requires additional disclosures ASU

No 2013-7 is effective for annual reporting periods beginning after December 15 2013 Early adoption is permitted The

adoption of ASU No 2013-7 is not expected to have significant impact on the Companys consolidated financial position

results of operations and cash flows

ASUNo 2013-5 Foreign Currency Matters Topic 830 Parents Accounting for the Cumulative Translation

Adjustment upon Derecognition of Certain Subsidiaries or Groups ofAssets within Foreign Entity or of an In vestment in

Foreign Entity

In March 2013 the FASB issued ASU No 20 13-5 which requires an entity to release any related cumulative translation

adjustment into net income when it ceases to have controlling financial interest in subsidiary or group of assets that is

business other than sale of in-substance real estate within foreign entity Accordingly the cumulative translation

adjustment should be released into net income only if the sale or transfer results in the complete or substantially complete

liquidation of the foreign entity in which the subsidiary or group of assets had resided For an equity method investment that is

foreign entity the partial sale guidance still applies As such pro rata portion of the cumulative translation adjustment

should be released into net income upon partial sale of such an equity method investment In those instances the cumulative
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adjustment is released into net income only if the partial sale represents complete or substantially complete liquidation of the

foreign entity that contains the equity method investment The amendments are effective
prospectively for fiscal

years and
interim reporting periods within those years beginning after December 15 2013 Any impact of adopting ASU No 2013-5 on
the Companys financial position and results of operations will depend on the nature and extent of future sales or dispositions of

any entities that had created cumulative translation adjustment

ASU No 2014-5 Service Concession Arrangements Topic 853 consensus of the FASB Emerging Issues Task Force

In January 2014 the FASB issued ASIJ No 20 14-5 stating the certain service concession arrangements with public-sector

grantors are not within the scope of lease accounting Operating entities entering into these
arrangements should not recognize

the related infrastructure as its property plant and equipment and should apply other accounting guidance The guidance is

effective for interim periods beginning after December 15 2014 Early adoption is permitted The guidance should be applied
on modified prospective basis to these arrangements in existence as of the beginning of the fiscal year of adoption The
cumulative effect of adoption would be recognized as an adjustment to the opening balance of retained earnings in the year of

adoption The Company is evaluating whether and to what extent the guidance would be applicable and have significant

impact on its consolidated financial position results of operations and cash flows

INVENTORY

Inventory is valued primarily using the average cost method The following table summarizes the Companys inventory
balances as of December 31 2013 and 2012

2013 2012

in millions

Coal fuel oil and other raw materials 334 372

Spare parts and supplies
350 347

Total
684 719

PROPERTY PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

The following table summarizes the components of the electric generation and distribution assets and other property plant
and equipment with their estimated useful lives The amounts are stated net of impairment losses recognized as further

discussed in Note 21 Asset Impairment Expense

Estimated December 31
Useful Life 2013 2012

in years in millions
Electric generation and distribution facilities 68 27619 26385
Other buildings -50 1726 2616
Furniture fixtures and equipment -30 312 386
Other

1-46 939 891

Total electric generation and distribution assets and other 30596 30278
Accumulated depreciation 9604 9145
Net electric generation and distribution assets and other2

20992 21133

Net electric generation and distribution assets and other related to the Companys held-for-sale businesses of$l.2 billion and $1.3

billion as of December31 2013 and 2012 respectively were excluded from the table above and were included in the noncurrent

assets of discontinued and held-for-sale businesses in the consolidated balance sheets

Net electric generation and distribution assets and other include unamortized internal use software costs of$l33 million and $141
million as of December 31 2013 and 2012 respectively

The following table summarizes depreciation expense including the amortization of assets recorded under capital leases
amortization of internal use software and interest capitalized during development and construction on qualifying assets for the

years ended December 31 2013 2012 and 2011

2013 2012 2011

in millions

Depreciation expense including amortization of assets recorded under capital leases 1193 1173 1078
Amortization of internal use software

36 45 42
Interest capitalized during development and construction 84 88 155
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Property plant and equipment net of accumulated depreciation of $15 billion and $16 billion was mortgaged pledged or

subject to liens as of December 31 2013 and 2012 respectively

The following table summarizes regulated and non-regulated generation and distribution property plant and equipment

and accumulated depreciation as of December 31 2013 and 2012

December 31

2013 2012

in millions

Regulated assets
13031 13395

Regulated accumulated depreciation
4732 4711

Regulated generation distribution assets and other net 8299 8684

Non-regulated assets
17565 16883

Non-regulated accumulated depreciation
4872 4434

Non-regulated generation distribution assets and other net 12693 12449

Net electric generation and distribution assets and other
20.992 21.133

The following table summarizes the amounts recognized which were related to asset retirement obligations for the years

ended December 31 2013 and 2012

2013 2012

in millions

Balance at January
120 110

Additional liabilities incurred

Liabilities settled

Accretion expense

Change in estimated cash flows
16

Translation adjustments

Balance at December31
142 120

The Companys asset retirement obligations covered by the relevant guidance primarily include active ash landfills water

treatment basins and the removal or dismantlement of certain plants and equipment There were no legally restricted assets for

purposes
of settling asset retirement obligations for the years ended December 31 2013 and 2012

Ownership of Coal-Fired Facilities

DPL has undivided ownership interests in seven coal-fired generation facilities jointly owned with other utilities As of

December 31 2013 DPL had $24 million of construction work in process at such facilities DPLs share of the operating

costs of such facilities is included in Cost of Sales in the Consolidated Statement of Operations and its share of investment in

the facilities is included in Property Plant and Equipment in the Consolidated Balance Sheet DPLs undivided ownership

interest in such facilities at December 31 2013 is as follows

DPL Share DPL Investment

Production Gross Plant Accumulated Construction

Ownership Capacity MW In Service Depreciation Work In Process

in millions

Production units

Beckjord Unit 50% 207

ConesvilleUnit4 17% 129 24

East Bend Station
31% 186 12

Killen Station
67% 402 306

Miami Fort Units and 36% 368 212 13

Stuart Station 35% 808 205 12 16

Zimmer Station
28% 365 177 25

Transmission various 41

Total
2465 979 69 24
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FAIR VALUE

The fair value of current financial assets and liabilities debt service reserves and other deposits approximate their

reported carrying amounts The estimated fair values of the Companys assets and liabilities have been determined using
available market information By virtue of these amounts being estimates and based on hypothetical transactions to sell assets

or transfer liabilities the use of different market assumptions and/or estimation methodologies may have material effect on
the estimated fair value amounts

Valuation Techniques

The fair value measurement accounting guidance describes three main approaches to measuring the fair value of assets
and liabilities market approach income

approach and cost approach The market approach uses prices and other
relevant information generated from market transactions involving identical or comparable assets or liabilities The income
approach uses valuation techniques to convert future amounts to single present value amount The measurement is based on
current market expectations of the return on those future amounts The cost approach is based on the amount that would
currently be required to replace an asset The Company measures its investments and derivatives at fair value on recurring
basis Additionally in connection with annual or event-driven impairment evaluations certain nonfinancial assets and liabilities

are measured at fair value on nonrecurring basis These include long-lived tangible assets i.e property plant and equipment
goodwill and intangible assets e.g sales concessions land use rights and emissions allowances etc. In general the Company
determines the fair value of investments and derivatives using the market approach and the income approach respectively In
the nonrecurring measurements of nonfinancial assets and liabilities all three approaches are considered however the value
estimated under the income approach is often the most representative of fair value Assets and liabilities are classified in their

entirety based on the lowest level of input that is significant to the fair value measurement The Companys assessment of the

significance of particular input to the fair value measurement requires judgment and may affect the determination of the fair

value of the assets and liabilities and their placement within the fair value hierarchy levels

Investments

The Companys investments measured at fair value generally consist of marketable debt and equity securities Equity
securities are measured at fair value using quoted market prices Debt securities primarily consist of unsecured debentures
certificates of deposit and government debt securities held by our Brazilian subsidiaries Returns and pricing on these
instruments are generally indexed to the CDI Brazilian equivalent to London Inter-Banic Offered Rate or LIBOR benchmark
interest rate widely used by banks in the interbank lending market or Selic overnight borrowing rate rates in Brazil Fair
value is determined from comparisons to market data obtained for similar assets and are considered Level in the fair value

hierarchy For more detail
regarding the fair value of investments see Note Investments in Marketable Securities

Derivatives

Any Level derivative instruments are exchange-traded commodity futures for which the pricing is observable in active

markets and as such these are not expected to transfer to other levels There have been no transfers between Level and Level

For all derivatives with the exception of any classified as Level the income approach is used which consists of

forecasting future cash flows based on contractual notional amounts and applicable and available market data as of the

valuation date Among the most common market data inputs used in the income approach include volatilities spot and forward
benchmark interest rates such as LIBOR and Euro Inter Bank Offered Rate EURIBOR foreign exchange rates and
commodity prices Forward rates with the same tenor as the derivative instrument being valued are generally obtained from
published sources with these forward rates being assessed quarterly at portfolio-level for reasonableness versus comparable
published information provided from another source When significant inputs are not observable the Company uses relevant

techniques to best estimate the inputs such as regression analysis or prices for similarly traded instruments available in the
market

For derivatives for which there is standard industry valuation model the Company uses third-party treasury and risk

management software product that uses standard model and observable inputs to estimate the fair value For these derivatives
the Company performs analytical procedures and makes comparisons to other

third-party information in order to assess the
reasonableness of the fair value For derivatives for which there is not standard industry valuation model such as PPAs and
fuel supply agreements that are derivatives or include embedded derivatives the Company has created internal valuation
models to estimate the fair value using observable data to the extent available At each quarter-end the models for the

commodity and foreign currency-based derivatives are generally prepared and reviewed by employees who globally manage the
respective commodity and foreign currency risks and are analytically reviewed independent of those employees
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Those cash flows are then discounted using the relevant spot benchmark interest rate such as LIBOR or EURIBOR

The Company then makes credit valuation adjustment CVA by further discounting the cash flows for nonperformance or

credit risk based on the observable or estimated debt spread of the Companys subsidiary or its counterparty and the tenor of the

respective derivative instrument The CVA for asset positions is based on the counterpartys credit ratings and debt spreads The

CVA for liability positions is based on the Parent Companys or the subsidiarys current debt spread In the absence of readily

obtainable credit information the Parent Companys or the subsidiarys estimated credit rating based on applying standard

industry model to historical financial information and then considering other relevant information and spreads of comparably

rated entities or the respective countrys debt spreads are used as proxy All derivative instruments are analyzed individually

and are subject to unique risk exposures

The Companys methodology to fair value its derivatives is to start with any
observable inputs however in certain

instances the published forward rates or prices may not extend through the remaining term of the contract and management

must make assumptions to extrapolate the curve which necessitates the use of unobservable inputs such as proxy commodity

prices or historical settlements to forecast forward prices In addition in certain instances there may not be market or market-

corroborated data readily available requiring the use of unobservable inputs Similarly in certain instances the spread that

reflects the credit or nonperformance risk is unobservable The fair value hierarchy of an asset or liability is based on the level

of significance of the input assumptions An input assumption is considered significant if it affects the fair value by at least

10% Assets and liabilities are classified as Level when the use of unobservable inputs is significant When the use of

unobservable inputs is insignificant assets and liabilities are classified as Level Transfers between Level and Level are

determined as of the end of the reporting period and result from changes in significance of unobservable inputs used to

calculate the CVA

Changes in the above significant unobservable inputs that lead to significant and unusual impact to current period

earnings are disclosed to the Financial Audit Committee For interest rate derivatives increases decreases in the estimates of

the Companys own credit spreads would decrease increase the value of the derivatives in liability position For foreign

currency derivatives increases decreases in the estimate of the above exchange rate would increase decrease the value of the

derivative For commodity and other derivatives in the above table increases decreases in the estimated inflation would

increase decrease the value of those embedded derivatives while increases decreases in the estimated market price for

power would increase decrease the value of that embedded derivative

Debt

Recourse and non-recourse debt are carried at amortized cost The fair value of recourse debt is estimated based on

quoted market prices The fair value of non-recourse debt is estimated differently based upon the type of loan In general the

carrying amount of variable rate debt is close approximation of its fair value For fixed rate loans the fair value is estimated

using quoted market prices or discounted cash flow analyses In the discounted cash flow analysis the discount rate is based on

the credit rating of the individual debt instruments if available or the credit rating of the subsidiary If the subsidiarys credit

rating is not available synthetic credit rating is determined using certain key metrics including cash flow ratios and interest

coverage as well as other industry specific factors For subsidiaries located outside the U.S in the event that the country rating

is lower than the credit rating previously determined the country rating is used for purposes of the discounted cash flow

analysis The fair value of recourse and non-recourse debt excludes accrued interest at the valuation date The fair value was

determined using available market information as of December 31 2013 The Company is not aware of any factors that would

significantly affect the fair value amounts subsequent to December 31 2013

Nonfinancial Assets and Liabilities

For nonrecurring measurements derived using the income approach fair value is determined using valuation models

based on the principles of discounted cash flows DCF The income approach is most often used in the impairment

evaluation of long-lived tangible assets goodwill and intangible assets The Company uses its internally developed DCF

valuation models as the primary means to determine nonrecurring fair value measurements though other valuation approaches

prescribed under the fair value measurement accounting guidance are also considered Depending on the complexity of

valuation an independent valuation firm may be engaged to assist management in the valuation process few examples of

input assumptions to such valuations include macroeconomic factors such as growth rates industry demand inflation exchange

rates and power and commodity prices Whenever possible the Company attempts to obtain market observable data to develop

input assumptions Where the use of market observable data is limited or not available for certain input assumptions the

Company develops its own estimates using variety of techniques such as regression analysis and extrapolations

For nonrecurring measurements derived using the market approach recent market transactions involving the sale of

identical or similar assets are considered The use of this approach is limited because it is often difficult to identify sale

transactions of identical or similar assets This approach is used in impairment evaluations of certain intangible assets

Otherwise it is used to corroborate the fair value determined under the income approach
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For nonrecurring measurements derived using the cost approach fair value is typically based upon replacement cost

approach Under this approach the depreciated replacement cost of assets is derived by first estimating the current replacement
cost of assets and then applying the remaining useful life percentages to such costs Further adjustments for economic and
functional obsolescence are made to the depreciated replacement cost This approach involves considerable amount of

judgment which is why its use is limited to the measurement of long-lived tangible assets Like the market approach this

approach is also used to corroborate the fair value determined under the income approach

Fair Value Considerations

In determining fair value the Company considers the source of observable market data inputs liquidity of the

instrument the credit risk of the counterparty and the risk of the Companys or its counterpartys nonperformance The
conditions and criteria used to assess these factors are

Sources of market assumptions

The Company derives most of its market assumptions from market efficient data sources e.g Bloomberg and Reuters
To determine fair value where market data is not readily available management uses comparable market sources and empirical
evidence to develop its own estimates of market assumptions

Market liquidity

The Company evaluates market liquidity based on whether the financial or physical instrument or the underlying asset
is traded in an active or inactive market An active market exists if the prices are fully transparent to market participants can be

measured by market bid and ask quotes the market has relatively large proportion of trading volume as compared to the

Companys current trading volume and the market has significant number of market participants that will allow the market to

rapidly absorb the quantity of assets traded without significantly affecting the market price Another factor the Company
considers when determining whether market is active or inactive is the presence of government or regulatory controls over

pricing that could make it difficult to establish market based price when entering into transaction

Nonperformance risk

Nonperformance risk refers to the risk that an obligation will not be fulfilled and affects the value at which liability is

transferred or an asset is sold Nonperformance risk includes but may not be limited to the Company or its counterpartys
credit and settlement risk Nonperformance risk adjustments are dependent on credit spreads letters of credit collateral other

arrangements available and the nature of master netting arrangements The Company and its subsidiaries are parties to various

interest rate swaps and options foreign currency options and forwards and derivatives and embedded derivatives which

subject the Company to nonperformance risk The financial and physical instruments held at the subsidiary level are generally
non-recourse to the Parent Company

Nonperformance risk on the investments held by the Company is incorporated in the fair value derived from quoted
market data to mark the investments to fair value
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Recurring Measurements

The following table sets forth by level within the fair value hierarchy the Companys financial assets and liabilities that

were measured at fair value on recurring basis as of December31 2013 and 2012

December 31 2013 December 31 2012

Level Level Level Total Level Level Level Total

in millions

Assets

AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE

Debt securities

Unsecured debentures 435 435 448 448

Certificates of deposit 151 151 143 143

Government debt securities 25 25 34 34

Subtotal 611 611 625 625

Equity securities

Mutual funds 44 44 56 56

Subtotal 44 44 56 56

Total available-for-sale 655 655 681 681

TRADING

Equity securities

Mutual funds 13 13 12 12

Total trading 13 13 12 12

DERIVATIVES

Interest rate derivatives 98 98

Cross currency derivatives

Foreign currency derivatives 15 98 113 79 81

Commodity derivatives 18 24 11

Total derivatives 136 104 240 18 82 100

TOTAL ASSETS 13 791 104 908 12 699 82 793

Liabilities

DERIVATIVES

Interest rate derivatives 221 101 322 153 412 565

Cross currency derivatives 11 11

Foreign currency derivatives 16 21 14

Commodity derivatives 15 17 13 17

Total derivatives 263 108 371 179 423 602

TOTAL LIABILITIES 263 108 371 179 423 602

Amortized cost approximated fair value at December 31 2013 and 2012
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The following tables present reconciliation of net derivative assets and liabilities measured at fair value on recurring
basis using significant unobservable inputs Level for the years ended December 31 2013 and 2012 presented net by type of

derivative where any foreign currency impacts are presented as part of gains losses in earnings or other comprehensive
income as appropriate Transfers between Level and Level are determined as of the end of the reporting period and

principally result from changes in the significance of unobservable inputs used to calculate the credit valuation adjustment

Balance at January

Total gains losses realized and unrealized

Included in earnings

Included in other comprehensive income derivative activity

Included in other comprehensive income foreign currency translation activity

Included in regulatory assets liabilities

Settlements

Transfers of assets liabilities out of Level

Balance at December

Total gains losses for the period included in earnings attributable to the change in

unrealized gains losses relating to assets and liabilities held at the end of the period

13 53 70

93 93

23 27

100 94

109 105

101 93

10 53 64

Balance at January

Total gains losses realized and unrealized

Included in earnings

Included in other comprehensive income derivative activity

Included in other comprehensive income foreign currency translation activity

Included in regulatory assets liabilities

Settlements

Transfers of assets liabilities into Level

Transfers of assets liabilities out of Level

Balance at December 31

Total gains losses for the period included in earnings attributable to the change in

unrealized gains losses relating to assets and liabilities held at the end of the period

Interest Cross Foreign
Rate Currency Currency Commodity Total

in millions

128 18 50 94

32 25

28 25

26 15 31

285 285

____ ____
412 72 341

28 24

Type of Derivative

Interest rate

Foreign currency

Embedded derivative -- Argentine Peso

Embedded derivative Euro

Other

Commodity

Other

Total

101 Subsidiaries credit spreads

98 Argentine Peso to U.S Dollar currency exchange rate after

year

Subsidiaries credit spreads

Amount or Range
Weighted Average

4.44%-5.87% 4.69%

9.94-21.11 16.35

4.44%

Nonrecurring Measurements

When evaluating impairment of goodwill long-lived assets discontinued operations and held-for-sale businesses and

equity method investments the Company measures fair value using the applicable fair value measurement guidance

Impairment expense is measured by comparing the fair value at the evaluation date to their then-latest available carrying

Year Ended December 31 2013

Interest Foreign

Rate Currency Commodity Total

in millions

412 72 341

Year Ended December 31 2012

The following table summarizes the significant unobservable inputs used for the Level derivative assets liabilities as

of December 31 2013

Fair

Value

in millions

Unobservable Input
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amount The following table summarizes major categories of assets and liabilities measured at fair value on nonrecurring

basis during the period and their level within the fair value hierarchy

Year Ended December 31 2013

Carrying
Fair Value

Gross

Amount Level Level Level Loss

in millions

Assets

Long-lived assets held and usedW

Itabo San Lorenzo
23 16

Beaver Valley
61 15 46

DPL Conesville
26 26

Long-lived assets held for sale

U.S wind turbines 25 25

Discontinued operations and held-for-sale businesses2

Cameroon 414 356 63

Saurashtra 19 12

Ukraine utilities
164 124 44

Poland wind projects
79 14 65

U.S wind projects
77 30 47

Equity method investments 240 111 129

Goodwill

DPL 623 316 307

Ebute 58 58

MountainView

Year Ended December 31 2012

Fair Value
Carrying

Gross

Amount Level Level Level Loss

in millions

Assets

Long-lived assets held and usedW

Kelanitissa 29 -- 10 19

U.S wind projects
21 21

Long-lived assets held for saleW

U.S wind turbines 45 25 20

St Patrick 33 22 11

Discontinued operations and held-for-sale businesses2

Tiszall
105 14 91

Equity method investments 205 155 50

Goodwill

DPL 2440 623 1817

See Note 21 Asset Impairment Expense for further information

See Note 23 Discontinued Operations and Held-For-Sale Businesses for further information Also the gross loss equals the carrying amount of the

disposal group less its fair value less costs to sell

See Note Other Non-Operating Expense for further information
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The following table summarizes the significant unobservable inputs used in the Level measurement of long-lived assets

during the year ended December 2013

Fair Value Valuation Technique Unobservable Input Range Weighted Average

in millions in millions

Long-lived assets held and used

Beaver Valley 15 Discounted cash flow Annual revenue growth 3% to 45% 19%
Annual pretax operating margin -42% to 41% 25%
Weighted-average cost of capital 7%

DPL Conesville Discounted cash flow Annual revenue growth -31% to 18% 0%
Annual pretax operating margin -9% to 18% 10%
Weighted-average cost of capital 8%

Itabo San Lorenzo Market approach Broker quote

Equity method investment

Elsta Ill Discounted cash flow Annual revenue growth -66% to 24% 0%
Annual pretax operating margin 15% to 68% 40%

_____________
Cost of equity 7.8% to 9.8% 8.4%

Total 133

Financial instruments not Measured at Fair Value in the Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets

The following table sets forth the carrying amount fair value and fair value hierarchy of the Companys financial assets

and liabilities that are not measured at fair value in the condensed consolidated balance sheets as of December31 2013 and

2012 but for which fair value is disclosed

Fair Value
Carrying
Amount Total Level Level Level

in millions

December 31 2013

Assets

Accounts receivable noncurrentW 260 194 194
Liabilities

Non-recourse debt 15380 15620 13397 2223
Recourse debt 5669 6164 6164

December 31 2012

Assets

Accountsreceivablenoncurrent 304 188 188

Liabilities

Non-recourse debt 14759 15481 13266 2215
Recourse debt 5962 6628 6628

These accounts receivable principally relate to amounts due from CAMMESA the administrator of the wholesale
electricity market in Argentina and

are included in Noncurrent assets Other in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets The fair value of these accounts receivable excludes

value-added tax of $46 million and $55 million at December 312013 and 2012 respectively

INVESTMENTS IN MARKETABLE SECURITIES

The Companys investments in marketable debt and equity securities as of December 31 2013 and 2012 by security class

and by level within the fair value hierarchy have been disclosed in Note Fair Value The security classes are determined

based on the nature and risk of security and are consistent with how the Company manages monitors and measures its

marketable securities As of December 31 2013 all available-for-sale debt securities had stated maturities within one year
Gains and losses on the sale of investments are determined using the specific-identification method Pretax gains and losses

related to available-for-sale and trading securities are generally immaterial for disclosure purposes For the years ended

December 31 2013 2012 and 2011 there were no realized losses on the sale of available-for-sale securities and no other-than-

temporary impairment of marketable securities recognized in earnings or other comprehensive income The following table

summarizes the
gross proceeds from sale of available-for-sale securities for the years ended December 31 2013 2012 and

2011

2013 2012 2011

in millions

Gross proceeds from sales of available-for-sale securities 4406 6489 6119

136



THE AES CORPORATION

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTSContiflued

DECEMBER 31 2013 2012 AND 2011

DERIVATIVE INSTRUMENTS AND HEDGING ACTIVITIES

Volume ofActivily

The following tables set forth by type of derivative the Companys outstanding notional under its derivatives and the

weighted-average remaining term as of December 31 2013 regardless of whether the derivative instruments are in qualifying

cash flow hedging relationships

Current Maximum

Derivative Derivative Weighted- of Debt

Derivative Notional Derivative Notional Average Currently Hedged

Interest Rate and Cross Currency Notional Translated to USD Notional Translated to USD Remaining Term by Index

in millions in years

Interest Rate Derivatives

LIBOR U.S Dollar 3493 3493 4675 4675 73%

EURIBOR Euro 574 789 575 791 12 83%

LIBOR British Pound 67 111 67 111 83%

Cross Currency Swaps

Chilean Unidad de Fomento 248 248 85%

The Companys interest rate derivative instruments primarily include accreting and amortizing notionals The maximum derivative

notional represents the largest notional at any point between December 31 2013 and the maturity of the derivative instrument which

includes forward-starting derivative instruments The interest rate and cross currency derivatives range in maturity through 2030 and

2028 respectively

The percentage of variable-rate debt currently hedged is based on the related index and excludes forecasted issuances of debt and

variable-rate debt tied to other indices where the Company has no interest rate derivatives

December 31 2013

Notional
Weighted-Averaf

Foreign Currency Derivatives Notional Translated to USD Remaining Term

in millions in years

Foreign Currency Options and Forwards

Chilean Unidad de Fomento
248

Chilean Peso 60521 115

Brazilian Real 182 78

Euro
53 73

Colombian Peso 133860 69

Argentine Peso
43

British Pound
35 57

Embedded Foreign Currency Derivatives

Argentine Peso
905 139 10

Kazakhstani Tenge
816

Represents contractual notionals The notionals for options have not been probability adjusted which generally would decrease them

Represents the remaining tenor of our foreign currency derivatives weighted by the corresponding notional These options and

forwards and these embedded derivatives range in maturity through 2017 and 2025 respectively

December 31 2013

Weighted-Average

Commodity Derivatives
Notional Remaining

Term

in millions in years

Power MWh

Represents the remaining tenor of our commodity derivatives weighted by the corresponding volume These derivatives range in

maturity through 2016

137



THE AES CORPORATION

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTSContinued
DECEMBER 31 2013 2012 AND 2011

Accounting and Reporting

Assets and Liabilities

The following tables set forth the Companys derivative instruments as of December 31 2013 and 2012 first by whether

or not they are designated hedging instruments then by whether they are current or noncurrent to the extent they are subject to

master netting agreements or similaragreements where the rights to set-off relate to settlement of amounts receivable and

payable under those derivatives and by balances no longer accounted for as derivatives

December 31 2013 December 31 2012

Designated Not Designated Total Designated Not Designated Total

in millions

Assets

Interest rate derivatives 96 98

Cross currency derivatives

Foreign currency derivatives 109 113 81 81

Commodity derivatives 16 24 11

Total assets 113 127 240 92 100
Liabilities

Interest rate derivatives 318 322 544 21 565
Cross currency derivatives 11 11

Foreign currency derivatives 15 21 14

Commodity derivatives 10 17 17

Total liabilities 351 20 371 565 37 602

December 31 2013 December 31 2012

Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities

in millions

Current
32 157 14 178

Noncurrent
208 214 86 424

Total
240 371 100 602

Derivatives subject to master netting agreement or similar agreement
_____________

Gross amounts recognized in the balance sheet 91 314 25 522
Gross amounts of derivative instruments not offset

Gross amounts of cash collateral received/pledged not offset

Net amount
79 299 16 508

Other balances that had been but are no longer accounted for as derivatives that

are to be amortized to earnings over the remaining term of the associated PPA 169 190 186 191
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Effective Portion of Cash Flow Hedges

The following tables set forth the pretax gains losses recognized in accumulated other comprehensive loss AOCL
and earnings related to the effective portion of derivative instruments in qualifying cash flow hedging relationships including

amounts that were reclassified from AOCL as interest expense related to interest rate derivative instruments that previously but

no longer qualify for cash flow hedge accounting as defined in the accounting standards for derivatives and hedging for the

years ended December 31 2013 2012 and 2011

Interest expense

Non-regulated cost of sales

Net equity in earnings of affiliates

Asset impairment expense

Gain on sale of investments

36 Interest expense

Foreign currency transaction gains losses

24 Foreign currency
transaction gains losses

Non-regulated revenue

Non-regulated cost of sales

Gains Losses Reclassified

from AOCL into Earnings

Years Ended December 31

2013 2012 2011

in millions

127 135

96
12
26

10
16

1801 233 159

21
10
18

12

Type of Derivative

Interest rate derivatives

Cross currency derivatives

Total

Classification in

Condensed Consolidated

Statements of Operations

Interest expense

Net equity in earnings of affiliates

Interest expense

Gains Losses Recognized in Earnings

Years Ended December 31

2013 2012 2011

in millions

42$ 2$

43 12

Gains Losses

Recognized in AOCL

Type of Derivative

Classification in Condensed Consolidated

Statements of Operations

Interest rate derivatives

Cross currency derivatives 18

Foreign currency derivatives

Commodity derivatives

Years Ended December 31

2013 2012 2011

in millions

155 175 475

10

125

Total 139 169 4871 ________ ________________

The pretax accumulated other comprehensive income loss expected to be recognized as an increase decrease to

income from continuing operations before income taxes over the next twelve months as of December 31 2013 is 119 million

for interest rate hedges $4 million for cross currency swaps $4 million for foreign currency hedges and $3 million for

commodity and other hedges

For the year
ended December 31 2012 pre-tax

losses of $10 million net of noncontrolling interests were reclassified into

earnings as result of the discontinuance of cash flow hedge because it was probable that the forecasted transaction would not

occur by the end of the originally specified time period as documented at the inception of the hedging relationship or within

an additional two-month time period thereafter There was no such item for the years ended December 31 2013 and 2011

Ineffective Portion of Cash Flow Hedges

The following table sets forth the pretax gains losses recognized in earnings related to the ineffective portion of

derivative instruments in qualifying cash flow hedging relationships as defined in the accounting standards for derivatives and

hedging for the years ended December 31 2013 2012 and 2011
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Not Design ated for Hedge Accounting

The following table sets forth the gains losses recognized in earnings related to derivative instruments not designated as
hedging instruments under the

accounting standards for derivatives and hedging and the amortization of balances that had been
but are no longer accounted for as derivatives for the year ended December 31 2013 2012 and 2011

Gains Losses Recognized in Earnings

Years Ended December 31Classification in Condensed Consolidated ___________ ________________________Type of Derivative Statements of Operations 2013 2012 2011

in millions
Interest rate derivatives Interest expense

Net equity in earnings of affiliates

Foreign currency derivatives Foreign currency transaction gains losses 64 141 60
Net equity in earnings of affiliates 24

Commodity and other derivatives
Non-regulated revenue 11 24 13

Regulated revenue 10
Non-regulated cost of sales

Regulated cost of sales 15
Income loss from operations of discontinued businesses 18 76

Total
29 149 20

Credit Risk-Related
Contingent Features

DPL utility within our United States strategic business unit has certain over-the-counter commodity derivative
contracts under master netting agreements that contain provisions that require DPL to maintain an investment-grade issuer
credit rating from credit rating agencies Since DPLs rating has fallen below investment grade certain of the counterparties to
the derivative contracts have requested immediate and ongoing full overnight collateralization of the mark-to-market loss fair
value excluding credit valuation adjustments which was $11 million and $13 million as of December 31 2013 and 2012
respectively for all derivatives with credit risk-related contingent features As of December 31 2013 and 2012 DPL had
posted $6 million and $5 million respectively of cash collateral

directly with third parties and in broker margin account andDPL held $3 million and $0 million respectively of cash collateral from
counterparties to its derivative instruments that

were in an asset position After consideration of the netting of
counterparty assets DPL could have been required to but did

not provide additional collateral of $0 million and $2 million as of December 31 2013 and 2012 respectively

FINANCING RECEIVABLES

Financing receivables are defined as receivables that have contractual maturities of greater than one year The
Company has financing receivables pursuant to amended agreements or government resolutions that are due from certain Latin
American governmental bodies primarily in Argentina The following table sets forth the breakdown of

financing receivables
by country as of December 31 2013 and 2012

2013 2012

in millions

ArgentinaW
164 196

Dominican Republic
35

Brazil

18
Total long-term financing receivables

184 _$ 239

Excludes noncurrent receivables of$122 million and $120 million respectively as of December 31 2013 and 2012 which have not
been converted into financing receivables and do not have contractual maturities of

greater than one year Also excludes the foreign
currency-related embedded derivative assets associated with the financing receivables which had fair value of $97 million and $69
million respectively as of December 31 2013 and 2012

ArgentinaAs result of
energy market reforms in 2004 and consistent with contractual arrangements AES Argentina

entered into three agreements with the Argentine government called as translated into English the Fund for the Investment
Needed to Increase the Supply of Electricity in the Wholesale Market FONINVEMEM Agreements to contribute portion
of their accounts receivable into fund for financing the construction of combined cycle and gas-fired plants These receivables
accrue interest and are collected in monthly installments over 10 years once the related plant begins operations In addition
AES Argentina receives an ownership interest in these newly built plants once the receivables have been fully repaid
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Collection of the principal
and interest on these receivables is subject to various business risks and uncertainties including but

not limited to the completion and operation of power plants which generate cash for payments of these receivables regulatory

changes that could impact the timing and amount of collections and economic conditions in Argentina The Company monitors

these risks including the credit ratings of the Argentine government on quarterly basis to assess the collectability of these

receivables The Company accrues interest on these receivables once the recognition criteria have been met The Companys

collection estimates are based on assumptions that it believes to be reasonable but are inherently uncertain Actual future cash

flows could differ from these estimates

The receivables under the first two FONINVEMEM Agreements are being actively collected since the related plants

commenced operations in 2010 In assessing the collectability of the receivables under these agreements the Company also

considers how the collections have historically been made timely in accordance with the agreements The receivables related to

the third FONINVEMEM Agreement are not currently due as commercial operation
of the two related gas-fired plants has not

been achieved In assessing the collectability of the receivables under this agreement the Company also considers the extent to

which significant milestones necessary to complete the plants have been achieved or are still probable

On March 26 2013 the Argentine government passed Resolution No 95/2013 Resolution 95 to develop new energy

regulatory framework that would apply to all generation companies with certain exceptions The new regulatory framework

remunerates fixed and variable costs plus margin that will depend on both the technology and fuel used to generate the

electricity On May 31 2013 Resolution 95 became effective retroactively to February 12013 During June 2013

CAMMESA the administrator of the wholesale electricity market in Argentina started the implementation by billing the

transactions according to the Resolution 95 procedures In addition Resolution 95 determines the portion of future outstanding

receivables that shall be contributed into the new trusts to be set up by the Argentine government

INVESTMENTS IN AND ADVANCES TO AFFILIATES

The following table summarizes the relevant effective equity ownership interest and carrying values for the Companys

investments accounted for under the equity method as of December 31 2013 and 2012

December 31

2013 2012 2013 2012

Affiliate Country Carrying Value in millions Ownership Interest

Silver Ridge Power Various 291 307 50% 50%

Barryt2
United Kingdom 100% 100%

CETt23 Brazil 13 N/A 72%

Chigen affiliates
China N/A 35%

Elsta25
Netherlands 120 219 50% 50%

Entek Turkey
165 234 50% 50%

Guacolda
Chile 245 196 35% 35%

OPGC India 186 199 49% 49%

Trinidad Generation Unlimited26 Trinidad 24 N/A 10%

Other affiliates
Various

Total investments in and advances to affiliates 1010 1196

Represent our investments in AES Solar Energy Ltd in Europe AES Solar Power LLC in the United States and AES Solar Power

PR LLC in Puerto Rico The collective solar energy affiliates were consolidated into single entity Silver Ridge Power during

2013

Represent VIEs in which the Company holds variable interest but is not the primary beneficiary

The Company acquired all of the noncontrolling interests of CET during the fourth quarter of 2013 which resulted in the

consolidation of this entity

Represent our investment in Chengdu AES Kaihua Gas Turbine Company Ltd The Company disposed of this investment during the

first quarter of 2013

The Company recognized $129 million impairment of its investment in Elsta during 2013 For additional information see Note

Other Non-Operating Expense

The Company sold its interest in Trinidad Generation Unlimited during the third quarter of 2013

The following investments accounted for under the equity method of accounting had changes in ownership interest

during the year or other circumstances leading to the equity
method of accounting

141



THE AES CORPORATION

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS_Continued
DECEMBER 31 2013 2012 AND 2011

AES Barry Ltd.The Company holds 100% ownership interest in AES Barry Ltd Barry dormant entity in the
United Kingdom that disposed of its generation and other operating assets Due to debt agreement no material financial or

operating decisions can be made without the banks consent and the Company does not control Barry As of December 31
2013 and 2012 other long-term liabilities included $55 million related to this debt agreement

Trinidad Generation Unlimited TGUAIthough the Companys ownership in TGU was 10% the Company
accounted for the investment as an equity method investment due to the Companys ability to exercise significant influence

through the supermajority vote requirement for any significant future project development activities The Company sold its

interest in TGU during the third quarter of 2013

Swnrnarized Financial Information

The following tables summarize financial information of the Companys 50%-or-less owned affiliates and majority-
owned unconsolidated subsidiaries that are accounted for using the equity method

Years ended December 31

Revenue

Operating margin

Net income loss

December 31

Current assets

Noncurrent assets

Current liabilities

Noncurrent liabilities

Noncontrolling interests

Stockholders equity

Elsta

China generation and wind

Inno Vent

Other

Total other non-operating expense

20/3

50%-or-less Owned Affiliates Majority-Owned Unconsolidated Subsidiaries

2013 2012 2011 2013 2012 2011

in millions in millions

1099 1868 1668 106 24

295 355 258 26 24

53 146

2013 2012 2013 2012

in millions in millions

842 1097

3722 5253 20 38

600 680 55

2096 2899 75 20

15 228
1853 2999 55 35

At December 31 2013 accumulated deficit included $168 million related to the undistributed earnings of the Companys
50%-or-less owned affiliates Distributions received from these affiliates were $6 million $22 million and $36 million for the

years ended December 31 2013 2012 and 2011 respectively As of December 31 2013 the aggregate carrying amount of our
investments in equity affiliates exceeded the underlying equity in their net assets by $214 million

OTHER NON-OPERATING EXPENSE

Years Ended December 31

2013 2012 2011

in millions

129

32 79

17

129 50 82

Elsta---Elsta BV Co CV Elsta 630 MW combined cycle gas-fired plant in the Netherlands is accounted for under
the equity method of accounting The Company evaluates its equity method investments for impairment whenever certain

indicators are present suggesting that the fair value of an equity method investment is less than its carrying value and the

evaluation would consider whether the decline is
other-than-temporary This analysis requires significant amount ofjudgment

to identify events or circumstances indicating that an equity method investment may be impaired Once an impairment indicator

is identified the Company must determine if an impairment exists and if so whether the impairment is other-than-temporary in

which case the equity method investment is written down to its estimated fair value During 2013 the Company identified an

impairment indicator resulting from initial negotiations with Elstas offlakers for an extension of the existing PPA which expires
during 2018 suggesting that the income earned under the existing PPA would likely be reduced upon an extension and that the

resulting decline in the estimated fair value of the Companys equity method investment in Elsta was other-than-temporary The
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Company recognized an impairment of $129 million by reducing the carrying value of $240 million to the estimated fair value

of $111 million The Company estimated fair value using probability-weighted outcomes which contemplated various scenarios

involving the amendments to the existing PPA

2012

China Generation and Inno VentIn the first quarter of 2012 the Company concluded that it was more likely than not that

it would sell its interest in its equity method investments in China and France and recorded other-than-temporary-impairment

OTTI of $32 million and $17 million respectively

2011

ChinaIn 2011 the Company recognized OTTI of $79 million on its equity method investments in China This primarily

included $74 million OTTI on Yangcheng 2100 MW coal-fired plant in which the Company held 25% equity interest During

the nine months ended September 30 2011 continually increasing coal prices in China reduced operating margins of coal

generation facilities with no corresponding increase in tariffs As of September 30 2011 Yangcheng had carrying amount of

$100 million which was written down to its estimated fair value of $26 million determined under the discounted cash flow

analysis and the difference was recognized as other non-operating expense

10 GOODWILL AND OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Goodwill

The following table summarizes the changes in the canying amount of goodwill by reportable segment for the years

ended December 31 2013 and 2012

Balance as of December 31 2011

Goodwill

Accumulated impairment losses __________

Net balance

Impairment losses

Goodwill acquired during the year

Foreign currency translation and other

Balance as of December 31 2012

Goodwill

Accumulated impairment losses __________

Net balance

Impairment losses

Goodwill associated with the sale of business

Foreign currency translation and other

Balance as of December 31 2013

Goodwill

Accumulated impairment losses __________

Net balance
__________ __________

Both the gross carrying amount and the accumulated impairment losses of the Asia generation segment have been reduced by $17

million with no impact on the net carrying amount for the segment This relates to Chigen which had fully impaired goodwill of $17

million and was sold during the year

DPLDuring the fourth quarter of 2013 the Company performed the annual goodwill impairment test at its DPL

reporting unit DPL and recognized goodwill impairment expense
of $307 million The reporting unit failed Step as its

fair value was less than its carrying amount primarily due to lower estimates of capacity prices in future years as well as lower

dark spreads contributing to lower overall operating margins The fair value of the reporting unit was determined under the

income approach using discounted cash flow valuation model The significant assumptions included within the discounted

cash flow valuation model were capacity price curves amount of the non-bypassable charge commodity price curves

dispatching valuation of regulatory assets and liabilities discount rates and deferred income taxes In Step goodwill was

determined to have an implied fair value of $316 million after the hypothetical purchase price allocation under the accounting

guidance for business combinations The goodwill
associated with the DPL acquisition is not deductible for tax

purposes Accordingly there is no financial statement tax benefit related to the impairment The pretax impairment impacted the

US Andes MCAC EMEA Asia Total

2672 899 149 180 80 3980

21 _________
122 17 160

2651 899 149 58 63 3820

1817 1817

2663 899 149 180 68 3959

1838 122 1960

825 899 149 58 68 1999

314 58 372

2658 899 149 180 68

2152 _________
180

506 899 149 68

3954

2332
1.622
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Companys effective tax rate for the year ended December 31 2013 which was 33% DPL is reported in the US SBU
reportable segment

The Company had previously recognized goodwill impairment expense of$l.82 billion in 2012 at the DPL reporting
unit During 2012 North American natural gas prices declined

significantly compared to the previous year which exerted
downward pressure on wholesale power prices in the Ohio power market These falling power prices compressed wholesale

margins at DPL and led to increased customer switching from DPL to other competitive retail electric service CRES
providers including DPLER who were offering retail prices lower than DPLs standard service offer In addition several
municipalities in DPLs service territory passed ordinances

allowing them to become government aggregators and contracted
with CRES providers to provide generation service to the customers located within the municipal boundaries further

contributing to the switching trend CRES providers also became more active in DPLs service territory These developments
reduced DPLs forecasted profitability operating cash flows and liquidity As result in September 2012 management
reduced its previous forecasts of profitability and operating cash flows Collectively these events were considered an interim
goodwill impairment indicator at the DPL reporting unit There were no interim impairment indicators identified for the

goodwill at DPLER The goodwill associated with the DPL acquisition is not deductible for tax purposes Accordingly there
was no financial statement tax benefit related to the impairment The pretax impairment impacted the Companys effective tax
rate for the year ended December 31 2012 which was 298%

Mountain ViewDuring the fourth quarter of 2013 the Company performed the annual goodwill impairment test at its

MountainView reporting unit two wind projects in California with an aggregate generation capacity of 67 MW and recognized
full impairment of goodwill of $7 million Factors contributing to impairment were lower forward power prices impacting

revenue after the expiration of the current PPA and higher discount rates In Step the fair value of MountainView was
determined under the income approach using discounted cash flow valuation model The significant assumptions included
within the discounted cash flow valuation model were power price curves fixed costs discount rates and income tax attributes

associated with the projects MountainView failed Step and its goodwill was determined to have no value in Step
Mountain View is reported in the US SBU reportable segment

Buffalo GapDuring the fourth quarter of 2013 the Company performed the annual goodwill impairment test at its

Buffalo Gap reporting unit three wind projects in Texas with an aggregate generation capacity of 524 MW The reporting unit

failed Step and Step was performed to measure the amount of goodwill impairment In Step after the hypothetical
purchase price allocation under the relevant accounting guidance the implied fair value of goodwill was greater than its

carrying amount As result no impairment was recognized Buffalo Gap is reported in the US SBU reportable segment

EbuteDuring the third quarter of 2013 the Company performed an interim goodwill impairment test at Ebute 294MW gas-fired plant in Nigeria and recognized the entire goodwill balance of $58 million as goodwill impairment expense
Ebute currently operates on leased land located within the PHCN Egbin Power Station Compound Egbin in Ijede Ikorodu
Lagos controlling stake in Egbin was sold to private investor as part of the Nigerian government privatization program in

2007 but the sale transaction did not close until the third
quarter of 2013 The Company has been evaluating Ebutes future

options for the continuation of the plant operation after the end of the current PPA on an ongoing basis The viability of
number of such options is subject to the Companys ability to secure among other things long-term land rights permits gas
transportation and supply agreements and new or extended PPA In this evaluation the Company has been continually
assessing the probability of success of each of these options Based on communications with the Nigerian government and other

power sector stakeholders it interacts with to secure the required key project components and agreements in September 2013
management determined that the prospects for Ebutes future expansion had significantly reduced These adverse developments
were considered as impairment indicators for Ebutes goodwill and long-lived assets The long-lived assets were deemed
recoverable based on the undiscounted cash flow recoverability analysis In Step the fair value of Ebute was determined

using the income approach based on discounted cash flow valuation model The significant assumptions included within the

discounted cash flow valuation model were the ability to obtain an extension to the existing land lease permits gas
transportation and supply agreements future PPA terms maintenance and growth capital expenditures and discount rates
Ebute failed Step and its goodwill was determined to have no value in Step Ebute is reported in the EMEA SBU reportable
segment

ChigenDuring the third quarter of 2011 the Company performed an interim impairment test at Chigen our wholly
owned subsidiary that held equity interests in Chinese ventures and recognized the entire goodwill balance of $17 million as

goodwill impairment expense The Company had identified higher coal prices and the resulting reduced operating margins in

China as an impairment indicator These factors had resulted in significant downward revision to Chigens cash flow forecasts

144



Subject to Amortization

Project development rights

Sales concessions12

Contractual payment rights3

Management rights

Emission allowances

Electric security plan

Contracts

Customer contracts and relationships

Other4

Subtotal

Indefinite-Lived Intangible Assets

Land use rights

Water rights

Trademark/Trade name

Other

Total

31 30 32 31

95 45 50 108 49 59

74 33 41 72 23 49

37 13 24 40 14 26

87 87
46 24 22 44 20 24

63 34 29 66 26 40

20 17 13 11

370 153 217 467 222 245

50 50

18 18

80 80 79 79

450 153 297 546 222 324

Represent development rights including but not limited to land control various permits and right to acquire equity interests in

development projects resulting from asset acquisitions by our wind operations in the U.K The balance excludes project development

rights of $70 million relating to our Poland wind operations that were fully impaired in the third quarter of 2013 and subsequently

sold in November 2013 See Note 23Discontinued Operations
and Held for Sale Businesses for further information

Excludes net balance of sales concessions of $32 and $34 million as of December 31 2013 and 2012 respectively relating to our

utility
businesses in Cameroon that have been included in noncurrent assets of Discontinued Operations and Held for Sale

Businesses See Note 23Discontinued Operations and Held for Sale Businesses for further information

Represent legal rights to receive system reliability payments from the regulator

Includes renewable energy certificates land use rights and various other intangible assets none of which is individually significant

The following table summarizes by category intangible assets acquired during the years ended December 31 2013 and

2012

Renewable energy
certificates

Other

Total

Renewable energy certificates

Water rights

Other

Total

Subject to Amortizationl

Indefinite-Lived

Subject to amortization

13 Indefinite-lived

Various

Various

N/A

N/A

As utilized

N/A

N/A
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Chigen failed Step and its goodwill was determined to have no value in Step Chigen was reported in the Asia SBU

reportable segment

Intangible Assets

The following tables summarize the balances comprising other intangible assets in the accompanying Consolidated

Balance Sheets as of December 31 2013 and 2012

December 31 2013 December 31 2012

Gross Accumulated Net Gross Accumulated Net

Balance Amortization Balance Balance Amortization Balance

in millions in millions

Subtotal

46

20

46

20

December 31 2013

Subject to Amortizationl Weighted Average Amortization

Amount Indefinite-Lived Amortization Period Method

in millions in years

Subject to amortization Various As utilized

Various N/A N/A

December 31 2012

Amount

in millions

Weighted Average
Amortization Period

19

in years

Amortization

Method
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The following table summarizes the estimated amortization expense by intangible asset category for 2014 through 2018

Estimated amortization expense

2014 2015 2016 2017 2018

in millions
Customer relationships contracts

Sales concessions

Contractual payment rights

Allother

Total 16$ 14$ 14$ 13$ 12

Intangible asset amortization expense was $29 million $115 million and $20 million for the years ended December 31
2013 2012 and 2011 respectively

146



11 REGULATORY ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

The Company has recorded regulatory assets and liabilities that it expects to pass through to its customers in accordance

with and subject to regulatory provisions as follows

REGULATORY ASSETS

Current regulatory assets

Brazil tariff recoveries

Energy purchases

Transmission costs regulatory fees and other

El Salvador tariff recoveries2

Other3

Total current regulatory assets

Noncurrent regulatory assets

Defined benefit pension obligations at IPL and DPL4X5

Income taxes recoverable from customers46

Brazil tariff recoveriesW

Energy purchases

Transmission costs regulatory fees and other

Deferred Midwest ISO costs7

Other3

Total noncurrent regulatory assets

TOTAL REGULATORY ASSETS

REGULATORY LIABILITIES

Current regulatory liabilities

Brazil tariff reset adjustmentt8

Efficiency program
costs9

Brazil regulatory asset base adjustment
13

Brazil tariff refundsW

Energy purchases

Transmission costs regulatory fees and other

Other

Total current regulatory liabilities

Noncurrent regulatory liabilities

Brazil tariff reset adjustment

Asset retirement obligations

Brazil regulatory asset base adjustment

Brazil special obligations2

Brazil tariff refundsW

Energy purchases

Transmission costs regulatory fees and other

Efficiency program costs9

Other10

Total noncurrent regulatory liabilities

TOTAL REGULATORY LIABILITIES

2012 Recovery/Refund Period

Annually as part of the tariff adjustment

Annually as part of the tariff adjustment

Quarterly as part of the tariff adjustment

Various

430 Various

81 Various

97

59

89

115

871

1279

445 Two Years

672 Over life of assets

Up to four tariff periods

46 Annually as part of the tariff adjustment

42 Annually as part of the tariff adjustment

Annually as part of the tariff adjustment

Various

Two Years

Annually as part of the tariff adjustment

Up to four tariff periods

Annually as part of the tariff adjustment

Annually as part of the tariff adjustment

Various

Recoverable or refundable per National Electric Energy Agency ANEEL regulations through the Annual Tariff Adjustment

IRT These costs are generally non-controllable costs and primarily consist of purchased electricity energy transmission costs and

sector costs that are considered volatile These costs are passed through for period of 12 months as part of the annual tariff

adjustment Any remaining balance is considered in the following annual tariff adjustment being total of 24 months to recover or

refund the costs
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December 31

2013

189

78

115

26

408

in millions

87

52

108

35

282

261

72

62

98

139

636

918

245

25

34

Annually as part of the tariff adjustment

Annually as part of the tariff adjustment

To be determined

Various

89

32

171

55

41

388

48

69

40

461

82

696

235

502

16

42

463 To be determined

10 17

17

1592 1702

2053 2090
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Deferred fuel costs incurred by our El Salvador subsidiaries associated with purchase of
energy from the El Salvador spot market and

the power generation plants In El Salvador the deferred fuel adjustment represents the variance between the actual fuel costs and the

fuel costs recovered in the tariffs The variance is recovered quarterly at the tariff reset period

Includes assets with and without rate of return Other current regulatory assets that did not earn rate of return were $13 million

and $19 million as of December 31 2013 and 2012 respectively Other noncurrent regulatory assets that did not earn rate of return

were $71 million and $60 million as of December 31 2013 and 2012 respectively Other current and noncurrent regulatory assets

primarily consist of

Unamortized losses on long-term debt reacquired or redeemed in prior periods at IPL and DPL which are amortized over
the lives of the original issues in accordance with the FERC and PUCO rules

Unamortized carrying charges and certain other costs related to Petersburg unit at IPL

Deferred storm costs incurred primarily in 2008 to repair storm damage at DPL which have been deferred until such time

that DPL seeks recovery in future rate proceeding

Additional Regulatory Asset Base RAB from favorable decision on tariff reset administrative appeal at Eletropaulo

Past expenditures on which the Company does not earn rate of return

The regulatory accounting standards allow the defined pension and postretirement benefit obligation to be recorded as regulatory

asset equal to the previously unrecognized actuarial gains and losses and prior service costs that are expected to be recovered through
future rates Pension expense is recognized based on the plans actuarially determined pension liability Recovery of costs is probable
but not yet determined Pension contributions made by our Brazilian subsidiaries are not included in regulatory assets as those

contributions are not covered by the established tariff in Brazil

Probability of recovery through future rates based upon established regulatory practices which permit the
recovery of current taxes

This amount is expected to be recovered without interest over the period as book-tax temporary differences reverse and become
current taxes

Transmission service costs and other administrative costs from IPLs participation in the Midwest ISO market which are recoverable

but do not earn rate of return Recovery of costs is probable but the timing is not yet determined

In July 2012 the Brazilian energy regulator the Regulator approved the periodic review and reset of component of Eletropaulos

regulated tariff which determines the margin to be earned by Eletropaulo The review and reset of this tariff component is retroactive

to July 2011 and will be applied to customers invoices from July 2012 to June 2015 From July 2011 through June 2012 Eletropaulo

invoiced customers under the then existing tariff rate as required by the Regulator As the new tariff rate is lower than the pre
existing tariff rate Eletropaulo is required to reduce customer tariffs for this difference over the next year Accordingly from July

2011 through June 2012 Eletropaulo recognized regulatory liability for such estimated future refunds which was subsequently

adjusted as of June 30 2012 upon the finalization of the new tariff with the Regulator The refund to customers was considered in the

2013 tariff adjustment which contemplates an amortization of 67.55% as from July 2013 The remaining balance representing

32.45% will be considered in the next annual tariff adjustment As of December31 2013 Eletropaulo had recorded current and

noncurrent regulatory liability of $245 million and $82 million respectively

Amounts received for costs expected to be incurred to improve the efficiency of our plants in Brazil as part of the IRT
10

Other current and noncurrent regulatory liabilities primarily consist of liabilities owed to electricity generators due to variance in

energy prices during rationing periods Free Energy Our Brazilian subsidiaries are authorized to recover or refund this cost

associated with monthly energy price variances between the wholesale energy market prices owed to the power generation plants

producing Free Energy and the capped price reimbursed by the local distribution companies which are passed through to the final

customers through energy tariffs The balance excludes asset retirement obligations that were reclassified out of Other

Obligations for removal costs which do not have an associated legal retirement obligation as defined by the accounting standards on
asset retirement obligations

12
Obligations established by ANEEL in Brazil associated with electric

utility concessions and represent amounts received from

customers or donations not subject to return These donations are allocated to support energy network expansion and to improve
utility operations to meet customers needs The term of the obligation is established by ANEEL Settlement shall occur when the

concession ends

13
Represents adjustments to the regulatory asset base resulting from an administrative ruling in December 2013 which compelled

Eletropaulo to refund customers beginning in July 2014

The current regulatory assets and liabilities are recorded in Other current assets and Accrued and other liabilities

respectively on the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets The noncurrent regulatory assets and liabilities are recorded in

Other noncurrent assets and Other noncurrent liabilities respectively in the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets

The following table summarizes regulatory assets and liabilities by reportable segment as of December 31 2013 and 2012
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December 31

2013 2012

Regulatory Assets Regulatory Liabilities Regulatory Assets Regulatory Liabilities

in millions

The following table summarizes the carrying amount and terms of non-recourse debt as of December 31 2013 and 2012

NON-RECOURSE DEBT ____________ _________ _________________

VARIABLE RATEW

Bank loans

Notes and bonds

Debt to or guaranteed by multilateral export credit agencies or

development banks2

Other

FIXED RATE
Bank loans

Notes and bonds

Debt to or guaranteed by multilateral export credit agencies or

development bankst2

Other __________ __________

SUBTOTAL

Less Current maturities __________

TOTAL _______

The interest rate on variable rate debt represents the total of variable component that is based on changes in an interest rate index

and of fixed component
The Company has interest rate swaps and option agreements in an aggregate notional principal amount of

approximately $3.6 billion on non-recourse debt outstanding at December 31 2013 These agreements economically fix the variable

component of the interest rates on the portion of the variable-rate debt being hedged so that the total interest rate on that debt has

been fixed at rates ranging from approximately 4.09% to 8.98% and 5.85% to 8.75% for swaps and options respectively These

agreements expire at various dates from 2014 through 2030

Multilateral loans include loans funded and guaranteed by bilaterals multilaterals development banks and other similar institutions

Non-recourse debt of $658 million as of December 2013 was excluded from non-recourse debt and included in current and

noncurrent liabilities of held for sale and discontinued businesses in the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets There were no

amounts excluded in 2012

Non-recourse debt as of December 31 2013 is scheduled to reach maturity as set forth in the table below

December 31
Annual Maturities

in millions

2014
2062

2015
692

2016
2422

2017
792

2018
1444

Thereafter
7968

Total non-recourse debt
15.380

Brazil SBU

US SBU

MCAC SBU

Total

12 DEBT

Non-Recourse Debt

260

550

1336

717

_____________
108 _________________

.211 2.053

427

737

115

1.279

1390

700

OX

Weighted Average
Interest Rate Maturity

December 31

2013 2012

in millions

3.30% 20142029 2783 3556

10.51% 20142040 1845 1887

2.46% 20142034 2446 1711

4.62% 20142043 349 349

5.06% 20142023 477 209

6.25% 20142073 7164 6448

4.65% 20142027 164 411

6.55% 20142061 152 188

15380 14759

2062 2494

13318 12265

As of December 31 2013 AES subsidiaries with facilities under construction had total of approximately $2.9 billion of

committed but unused credit facilities available to fund construction and other related costs Excluding these facilities under

construction AES subsidiaries had approximately $1.4 billion in number of available but unused committed credit lines to
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support their working capital debt service reserves and other business needs These credit lines can be used for borrowings
letters of credit or combination of these uses

Significant transactions

During the year ended December 31 2013 we had the following significant debt transactions at our subsidiaries

TietØ issued new debt of $496 million partially offset by repayments of $396 million

El Salvador issued new debt of $310 million partially offset by repayments of $301 million

Sul issued new debt of$153 million partially offset by repayments of $44 million

Mong Duong drew $471 million under its construction loan facility

DPL tenrnnated its $425 million term loan and replaced it with new $200 million term loan and had

additional repayments of $53 million

DPL issued $445 million of first mortgage bonds to partially repay $470 million of existing bonds which
were repaid at par on October 2013

IPL issued new debt of$l70 million partially offset by repayments of$l10 million

Masinloc refinanced its senior debt facility of $500 million and incurred loss on extinguishment of debt of

$43 million See Note 20Other Income and Expense for further information

Jordan drew $180 million under its construction loan facility

Cochrane drew $210 million under its construction loan facility

Gener issued $450 million ofjunior subordinated capital notes to pay Geners outstanding notes due March
2014 and development of new projects among other purposes and

Changuinola issued new debt of $420 million partially offset by repayments of $412 million

Non-Recourse Debt Covenants Restrictions and Defaults

The terms of the Companys non-recourse debt include certain financial and non-financial covenants These covenants are
limited to subsidiary activity and vary among the subsidiaries These covenants may include but are not limited to maintenance

of certain reserves minimum levels of working capital and limitations on incurring additional indebtedness

As of December 31 2013 and 2012 approximately $492 million and $560 million respectively of restricted cash was
maintained in accordance with certain covenants of the non-recourse debt agreements and these amounts were included within
Restricted cash and Debt service reserves and other deposits in the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets

Various lender and governmental provisions restrict the ability of certain of the Companys subsidiaries to transfer their

net assets to the Parent Company Such restricted net assets of subsidiaries amounted to approximately $2.2 billion at

December 31 2013

The following table summarizes the Companys subsidiary non-recourse debt in default or accelerated as of December 31
2013 and is included in the current portion of non-recourse debt

Primary Nature
December 31 2013

Subsidiary of Default Default Net Assets

in millions

Maritza
Covenant 850 714

Kavarna
Covenant 205 90

Total

1055

In addition to the defaults listed in the table above Sonel and Kribi in Cameroon and Saurashtra in India have been

classified as discontinued operations As of December 31 2013 Sonel Kribi and Saurashtra had debt in default of $257
million $247 million and $21 million and net assets of $387 million $3 million and $2 million respectively For further

information please see Note 23 Discontinued Operations and Held-for-Sale Businesses

The defaults are not payment defaults but are instead technical defaults triggered by failure to comply with other

covenants and/or other conditions such as but not limited to failure to meet information covenants complete construction or
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other milestones in an allocated time meet certain minimum or maximum financial ratios or other requirements contained in

the non-recourse debt documents of the Company

In addition in the event that there is default bankruptcy or maturity acceleration at subsidiary that meets the

applicable definition of materiality under the corporate debt agreements of The AES Corporation there could be cross-default

to the Companys recourse debt At December 31 2013 none of the defaults listed above results in cross-default under the

recourse debt of the Company

RECOURSE DEBT

The following table summarizes the carrying amount and terms of recourse debt of the Company as of December 31

2013 and 2012

Final
December 31

RECOIJRSE DEBT Interest Rate Maturity 2013 2012

in millions

Senior Unsecured Note
7.75% 2014 110 500

Senior Unsecured Note
7.75% 2015 356 500

SeniorUnsecuredNote
9.75% 2016 369 535

Senior Unsecured Note 8.00% 2017 1150 1500

Senior Secured Term Loan LIBOR 2.75% 2018 799 807

Senior Unsecured Note
8.00% 2020 625 625

Senior Unsecured Note
7.3 8% 2021 1000 1000

Senior Unsecured Note 4.88% 2023 750

Term Convertible Trust Securities 6.7 5% 2029 517 517

Unamortized discounts 22

SUBTOTAL 5669 5962

Less Current maturities 118 11

Total
5.551 5951

The table below summarizes the principal amounts due net of unamortized discounts under our recourse debt for the

next five years and thereafter

December 31
Net Principal Amounts Due

in millions

2014
118

2015
364

2016
368

2017
1158

764
2018

Thereafter

Total recourse debt

2897

5.669

On April 30 2013 the Company issued $500 million aggregate principal amount of 4.875% senior notes due 2023 On

May 17 2013 the Company issued an additional $250 million aggregate principal amount of 4.875% senior notes due 2023 to

form single series with the notes issued on April 30 2013 After this offering the Company completed the redemption of

$928 million aggregate principal of its existing 7.75% senior notes due 2014 7.75% senior notes due 2015 9.75% senior notes

due 2016 and 8.0% senior notes due 2017 through respective tender offers in May 2013 In June 2013 the Company redeemed

an additional $122 million of its 7.75% senior notes due 2014 as per
the optional redemption provisions of the senior note

indentures As result of these transactions the Company voluntarily reduced outstanding principal by $300 million and

extended maturities of an additional $750 million to 10 years
The Company recognized loss on extinguishment of debt of

$163 million on these transactions that is included in the Consolidated Statement of Operations

On July 26 2013 the Company entered into an amendment No to the senior secured credit facility dated as of July 29

2010 that amended the terms and conditions of the senior secured credit facility including the following changes

the final maturity date of the senior secured credit facility is extended to July 26 2018 from January 29 2015

the interest rate margin applicable to the senior secured credit facility is based on the credit rating assigned to

the loans under the senior secured credit facility with pricing at LIBOR 2.25% as of December 31 2013
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there is an undrawn fee of 0.50% per annum and

the subsidiary guarantors party to the senior secured credit facility are released from their obligations under

the old senior secured credit facility and have no obligations under the amended senior secured credit facility

The aggregate commitment for the senior secured credit facility remains $800 million There were no draws on this credit

facility as of December 31 2013 and 2012

Recourse Debt Covenants and Guarantees

The Companys obligations under the senior secured credit facilities are subject to certain exceptions secured by
all of the capital stock of domestic subsidiaries owned directly by the Company and 65% of the capital stock of certain

foreign subsidiaries owned directly or indirectly by the Company and

ii certain intercompany receivables certain intercompany notes and certain intercompany tax sharing agreements

The senior secured credit facilities are subject to mandatory prepayment under certain circumstances including the sale of

certain assets In such situation the net cash proceeds from the sale must be applied pro rata to repay the term loan using 60%
of net cash proceeds reduced to 50% when and if the parents recourse debt to cash flow ratio is less than 51 The lenders have

the option to waive their pro rata redemption

The senior secured credit facility contains customary covenants and restrictions on the Companys ability to engage in

certain activities including but not limited to limitations on other indebtedness liens investments and guarantees limitations

on restricted payments such as shareholder dividends and equity repurchases restrictions on mergers and acquisitions sales of

assets leases transactions with affiliates and off-balance sheet or derivative arrangements and other financial reporting

requirements

The senior secured credit facility also contains financial covenants requiring the Company to maintain certain financial

ratios including cash flow to interest coverage ratio calculated quarterly which provides that minimum ratio of the

Companys adjusted operating cash flow to the Companys interest charges related to recourse debt of l.3x must be maintained

at all times and recourse debt to cash flow ratio calculated quarterly which provides that the ratio of the Companys total

recourse debt to the Companys adjusted operating cash flow must not exceed maximum of7.5x

The terms of the Companys senior unsecured notes and senior secured credit facility contain certain covenants including
without limitation limitation on the Companys ability to incur liens or enter into sale and leaseback transactions

TERM CONVERTIBLE TRUST SECURITIES

Between 1999 and 2000 AES Trust HI wholly owned special purpose business trust and VIE issued approximately
10.35 million of $50 par value Term Convertible Preferred Securities TECONS with semi annual coupon payment of

$3.375 for total proceeds of $517 million and concurrently purchased $517 million of 6.75% Junior Subordinated Convertible
Debentures due 2029 the 6.75% Debentures issued by AES The Company consolidates AES Trust III in its consolidated
financial statements and classifies the TECONS as recourse debt on its Consolidated Balance Sheet The Companys
obligations under the 6.75% Debentures and other relevant trust agreements in aggregate constitute full and unconditional

guarantee by the Company of the TECON Trusts obligations As of December 31 2013 and 2012 the sole assets of

AES Trust Ill are the 6.75% Debentures

AES at its option can redeem the 6.75% Debentures which would result in the required redemption of the TECONS
issued by AES Trust III currently for $50 per TECON The TECONS must be redeemed upon maturity of the

6.75% Debentures The TECONS are convertible into the common stock of AES at each holders option prior to October 15
2029 at the rate of 1.4216 representing conversion price of $35.17 per share The maximum number of shares of common
stock AES would be required to issue should all holders decide to convert their securities would be 14.7 million shares

Dividends on the TECONS are payable quarterly at an annual rate of 6.75% The Trust is permitted to defer payment of

dividends for
up to 20 consecutive quarters provided that the Company has exercised its right to defer interest payments under

the corresponding debentures or notes During such deferral periods dividends on the TECONS would accumulate quarterly
and accrue interest and the Company may not declare or pay dividends on its common stock AES has not exercised the option
to defer any dividends at this time and all dividends due under the Trust have been paid
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13 COMMITMENTS

LEASESThe Company and its subsidiaries enter into long-term non-cancelable lease arrangements which for

accounting purposes are classified as either operating lease or capital lease Operating leases primarily include certain

transmission lines office rental and site leases Operating lease rental expense for the
years

ended December 31 2013 2012

and 2011 was $46 million $57 million and $59 million respectively Capital leases primarily include transmission lines at our

subsidiaries in Brazil vehicles and office and other operating equipment Capital leases are recognized in Property Plant and

Equipment within Electric generation and distribution assets The gross
value of the capital lease assets as of December 31

2013 and 2012 was $93 million and $94 million respectively The table below sets forth the future minimum lease payments

under operating and capital leases for continuing operations together with the present value of the net minimum lease payments

under capital leases as of December 31 2013 for 2014 through 2018 and thereafter

Future Commitments for

December 31 Capital Leases Operating Leases

in millions

2014 13 41

2015 13 42

2016 12 40

2017 11 40

2018 10 40

Thereafter 136 399

Total 195 602

Less Imputed interest 120

Present value of total minimum lease payments
75

CONTRACTSThe Companys operating subsidiaries enter into long-term contracts for construction projects

maintenance and service transmission of electricity operations services and purchase of electricity and fuel In general these

contracts are subject to variable quantities or prices and are terminable in limited circumstances only Electricity purchase

contracts primarily include energy auction agreements at our Brazil subsidiaries with extended terms from 2013 through 2028

The table below sets forth the future minimum commitments for continuing operations under these contracts as of December

31 2013 for 2014 through 2018 and thereafter Actual purchases under these contracts for the years ended December 31 2013

2012 and 2011 are also presented

Electricity Purchase Contracts Fuel Purchase Contracts Other Purchase Contracts

Actual purchases during the year ended December 31 in millions

2011 2463 1577 1515

2012 2819 1832 1637

2013 2665 1590 1743

Future commitments for the year ending December 31

2014 2793 1274 1526

2015 2792 718 1326

2016 2808 437 975

2017 2403 432 674

2018 2538 434 576

Thereafter 27831 3451 5419

Total 41165 6746 10496

14 CONTINGENCIES

Guarantees Letters of Credit

In connection with certain project financing acquisition and dispositions power purchase and other agreements the

Parent Company has expressly undertaken limited obligations and commitments most of which will only be effective or will be

terminated upon the occurrence of future events In the normal course of business the Parent Company has entered into various

agreements mainly guarantees and letters of credit to provide financial or performance assurance to third parties on behalf of

AES businesses These agreements are entered into primarily to support or enhance the creditworthiness otherwise achieved by
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business on stand-alone basis thereby facilitating the availability of sufficient credit to accomplish their intended business

purposes Most of the contingent obligations relate to future performance commitments which the Company or its businesses

expect to fulfill within the normal course of business The expiration dates of these guarantees vary from less than one year to

more than 21 years

The following table summarizes the Parent Companys contingent contractual obligations as of December 31 2013
Amounts presented in the table below represent the Parent Companys current undiscounted exposure to guarantees and the

range of maximum undiscounted potential exposure The maximum exposure is not reduced by the amounts if any that could

be recovered under the recourse or collateralization provisions in the guarantees The amounts include obligations made by the

Parent Company for the direct benefit of the lenders associated with the non-recourse debt of its businesses of $24 million

Number of Maximum Exposure Range for

Contingent Contractual Obligations Amount Agreements Each Agreement

in millions in millions

Guarantees 661 21 $1 280

Cash collateralized letters of credit 163 12 $1 109

Letters of credit under the senior secured credit facility $1
Total 825 36

As of December 31 2013 the Parent Company had no commitments to invest in subsidiaries under construction and to

purchase related equipment that were not included in the letters of credit discussed above During the year ended December 31
2013 the Company paid letter of credit fees ranging from 0.2% to 3.25% per annum on the outstanding amounts of letters of

credit

Environmental

The Company periodically reviews its obligations as they relate to compliance with environmental laws including site

restoration and remediation As of December 31 2013 the Company had recorded liabilities of $19 million for projected

environmental remediation costs Due to the uncertainties associated with environmental assessment and remediation activities

future costs of compliance or remediation could be higher or lower than the amount currently accrued Moreover where no

reserve has been recognized it is reasonably possible that the Company may be required to incur remediation costs or make

expenditures in amounts that could be material but could not be estimated as of December 31 2013 In aggregate the Company
estimates that the range of potential losses related to environmental matters where estimable to be up to $4 million The

amounts considered reasonably possible do not include amounts reserved as discussed above

Litigation

The Company is involved in certain claims suits and legal proceedings in the normal course of business The Company
accrues for litigation and claims when it is probable that liability has been incurred and the amount of loss can be reasonably

estimated The Company has evaluated claims in accordance with the accounting guidance for contingencies that it deems both

probable and reasonably estimable and accordingly has recorded aggregate reserves for all claims of approximately $239

million and $320 million as of December 31 2013 and 2012 respectively These reserves are reported on the consolidated

balance sheets within accrued and other liabilities and other noncurrent liabilities significant portion of the reserves

relate to employment non-income tax and customer disputes in international jurisdictions principally Brazil Certain of the

Companys subsidiaries principally in Brazil are defendants in number of labor and employment lawsuits The complaints

generally seek unspecified monetary damages injunctive relief or other relief The subsidiaries have denied any liability and

intend to vigorously defend themselves in all of these proceedings There can be no assurance that these reserves will be

adequate to cover all existing and future claims or that we will have the liquidity to pay such claims as they arise

The Company believes based upon information it currently possesses and taking into account established reserves for

liabilities and its insurance coverage that the ultimate outcome of these proceedings and actions is unlikely to have material

effect on the Companys consolidated financial statements However where no reserve has been recognized it is reasonably

possible that some matters could be decided unfavorably to the Company and could require the Company to pay damages or

make expenditures in amounts that could be material but could not be estimated as of December 31 2013 The material

contingencies where loss is reasonably possible primarily include claims under financing agreements disputes with offtakers

suppliers and EPC contractors alleged violation of monopoly laws and regulations income tax and non-income tax matters

with tax authorities and regulatory matters In aggregate the Company estimates that the range of potential losses where

estimable related to these reasonably possible material contingencies to be between $887 million and $1.4 billion The amounts
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considered reasonably possible do not include amounts reserved as discussed above These material contingencies do not

include income tax-related contingencies which are considered part of our uncertain tax positions

15 BENEFIT PLANS

Defined Contribution Plan

The Company sponsors one defined contribution plan the Plan qualified under section 401 of the Internal Revenue

Code All U.S employees of the Company are eligible to participate in the Plan except for those employees who are covered by

collective bargaining agreement unless such agreement specifically provides that the employee is considered an eligible

employee under the Plan The Plan provides matching contributions in AES common stock other contributions at the discretion

of the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors in AES common stock and discretionary tax deferred contributions

from the participants Participants are fully vested in their own contributions and the Companys matching contributions

Participants vest in other company contributions ratably over five-year period ending on the fifth anniversary of their hire

date For the year
ended December 31 2013 the Companys contributions to the Plan were approximately $15 million and for

the years
ended December 31 2012 and 2011 contributions were $21 million and $22 million per year respectively

Defined Benefit Plans

Certain of the Companys subsidiaries have defined benefit pension plans covering substantially all of their respective

employees Pension benefits are based on years of credited service age of the participant and average earnings Of the 30 active

defined benefit plans as of December 31 2013 are at U.S subsidiaries and the remaining plans are at foreign subsidiaries

2012

The following table reconciles the Companys funded status both domestic and foreign as of December 31 2013 and

CHANGE IN PROJECTED BENEFIT OBLIGATION

Benefit obligation as of January

Service cost

Interest cost

Employee contributions

Plan amendments

Plan settlements

Benefits paid

Assumption of plan due to the resolution of bankruptcy ptoceedingst1

Actuarial gain loss

Effect of foreign currency exchange rate changes

Benefit obligation as of December 31

CHANGE IN PLAN ASSETS

Fair value of plan assets as of January

Actual return on plan assets

Employer contributions

Employee contributions

Plan settlements

Benefits paid

Assumption of plan due to the resolution of bankruptcy proceedings

Effect of foreign currency exchange rate changes

Fair value of plan assets as of December

RECONCILIATION OF FUNDED STATUS

Funded status as of December 31

December 31

2013 2012

U.S Foreign U.S Foreign

in millions

1210 6768

16 26

46 515

1044 5761

14 18

48 509

75 407 51 431
51

138 1436 98 1412

721 505
1059 4.749 1.210 6.768

883 4712 762 4400

81 345 97 944

52 160 49 161

The Company assumed the pension plan for AES Eastern Energy on December 28 2012 as part of the settlement of the bankruptcy

proceedings See Note 23--Discontinued Operations and Held for Sale Businesses for further information

75 407 51 431
27

519 365
941 3.605 883 4.712

118 1.144 327 2.056
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The following table summarizes the amounts recognized on the Consolidated Balance Sheets related to the funded status

of the plans both domestic and foreign as of December 31 2013 and 2012

2013 2012

U.S Foreign U.S Foreign

in millions

AMOUNTS RECOGNIZED ON THE
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
Noncurrent assets

23

Accrued benefit liabilitycurrent

Accrued benefit liabilitynoncurrent 118 1163 327 2053
Net amount recognized at end of year 118 1.144 327 2.056

The following table summarizes the Companys accumulated benefit obligation both domestic and foreign as of
December 31 2013 and 2012

2013 2012

U.S Foreign U.S Foreign

in millions

Accumulated Benefit Obligation 1036 4686 1180 6662
Information for pension plans with an accumulated benefit obligation in

excess of plan assets

Projected benefit obligation 1059 4412 1210 6398
Accumulated benefit obligation 036 4366 1180 6319
Fair value of plan assets 941 3246 883 4360

Information for pension plans with projected benefit obligation in

excess of plan assets

Projected benefit obligation 1059 4425 1210 6768
Fair value of plan assets 941 3259 883 4712

$1.1 billion of the total net unfunded projected benefit obligation is due to Eletropaulo in Brazil

The table below summarizes the significant weighted average assumptions used in the calculation of benefit obligation
and net periodic benefit cost both domestic and foreign as of December 31 2013 and 2012

2013 2012

U.S Foreign U.S Foreign

Benefit Obligation

Discount rates
4.89% 10.80% 3.86% 8.28%

Rates of compensation increase
3.94% 6.44% 3.94% 6.47%

Periodic Benefit Cost

Discount rate 3.86% 8.28% 4.67% 9.54%

Expected long-term rate of return on plan assets 7.15% 11.16% 7.28% 10.81%
Rate of compensation increase 3.94% 6.47% 3.94% 5.99%

U.S subsidiary of the Company has defined benefit obligation of $651 million and $764 million as of December 31 2013 and
2012 respectively and uses salary bands to determine future benefit costs rather than rates of compensation increases Rates of

compensation increases in the table above do not include amounts related to this specific defined benefit plan
Includes an inflation factor that is used to calculate future periodic benefit cost but is not used to calculate the benefit obligation

The Company establishes its estimated long-term return on plan assets considering various factors which include the

targeted asset allocation percentages historic returns and expected future returns

The measurement of pension obligations costs and liabilities is dependent on variety of assumptions These

assumptions include estimates of the present value of projected future pension payments to all plan participants taking into

consideration the likelihood of potential future events such as salary increases and demographic experience These assumptions

may have an effect on the amount and timing of future contributions

The assumptions used in developing the required estimates include the following key factors

discount rates
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salary growth

retirement rates

inflation

expected return on plan assets and

mortality rates

The effects of actual results differing from the Companys assumptions are accumulated and amortized over future

periods and therefore generally affect the Companys recognized expense in such future periods

Sensitivity of the Companys pension funded status to the indicated increase or decrease in the discount rate and long-

term rate of return on plan assets assumptions is shown below Note that these sensitivities may be asymmetric and are specific

to the base conditions at year-end 2013 They also may not be additive so the impact of changing multiple factors

simultaneously cannot be calculated by combining the individual sensitivities shown The funded status as of December 31

2013 is affected by the assumptions as of that date Pension expense for 2013 is affected by the December 31 2012

assumptions The impact on pension expense from one percentage point change in these assumptions is shown in the table

below in millions

Increase of 1% in the discount rate 59
Decrease of 1% in the discount rate 48

Increase of 1% in the long-tenn rate of return on plan assets 52
Decrease of 1% in the long-term rate of return on plan assets 52

The following table summarizes the components of the net periodic benefit cost both domestic and foreign for the years

ended December 31 2013 2012 and 2011

2013 2012 2011

Components of Net Periodic Benefit Cost U.S Foreign U.S Foreign U.S Foreign

in millions

Service cost 16 26 14 18 18

Interest cost 46 515 48 509 33 564

Expected return on plan assets 64 484 55 444 33 509
Amortization of prior service cost

Amortization of net loss 23 77 19 38 13 22

Loss on curtailment

Settlement gain recognized

Total pension cost 26 134 30 122 25 100

The following table summarizes the amounts reflected in Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss including

accumulated other comprehensive loss attributable to noncontrolling interests on the Consolidated Balance Sheet as of

December 31 2013 that have not yet been recognized as components of net periodic benefit cost and amounts expected to be

reclassified to earnings in the next fiscal year

December 31 2013

Accumulated Other

Comprehensive Income Amounts expected to be

Loss reclassified to earnings in next fiscal year

U.S Foreign U.S Foreign

in millions

Prior service cost

Unrecognized net actuarial gain loss 20 998 37
Total 20 999 37
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The following table summarizes the Companys target allocation for 2013 and pension plan asset allocation both

domestic and foreign as of December31 2013 and 2012

Percentage of Plan Assets as of December 31

2013 2012

U.S Foreign U.S Foreign U.S Foreign

45% 15% 29% 37.09% 19.84% 32.28% 19.76%

51% 60% 85% 46.97% 75.32% 46.66% 76.21%

2% 0% 4% 2.44% 2.77% 2.57%

2% 0% 6% 13.50% 2.07% 1.06% 1.46%

100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00%

U.S Plans

Equity securities

Common stock

Mutual funds

Debt securities

Government debt securities

Corporate debt securities

Mutual funds

Real Estate

Real Estate

Other

December 31 2013 December 31 2012

Level Level Level Total Level Level Level Total

in millions

--s --s 46$ 134$ 134

303 151 151

32 32 32

159 149 153

251 227 227

Cash and cash equivalents 56 56 43 43

Other investments 40 31 71 38 105 143

Total plan assets 720 221 941 629 254 883

Mutual funds categorized as debt securities consist of mutual funds for which debt securities are the primary underlying investment

Asset Category

Equity securities

Debt securities

Real estate

Other

Total pension assets

Target Allocations

The U.S plans seek to achieve the following long-term investment objectives

maintenance of sufficient income and liquidity to pay retirement benefits and other lump sum payments

long-term rate of return in excess of the annualized inflation rate

long-terni rate of return net of relevant fees that meet or exceed the assumed actuarial rate and

long-term competitive rate of return on investments net of expenses that is equal to or exceeds various

benchmark rates

The asset allocation is reviewed periodically to determine suitable asset allocation which seeks to manage risk through

portfolio diversification and takes into account among other possible factors the above-stated objectives in conjunction with

current funding levels cash flow conditions and economic and industry trends The following table summarizes the Companys
U.S plan assets by category of investment and level within the fair value hierarchy as of December 31 2013 and 2012

46

303

24

159

251

23 23
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The investment strategy of the foreign plans seeks to maximize return on investment while minimizing risk The assumed

asset allocation has less exposure to equities in order to closely match market conditions and near term forecasts The following

table summarizes the Companys foreign plan assets by category of investment and level within the fair value hierarchy as of

December 31 2013 and 2012

December 312013 December 31 2012

Foreign Plans Level Level Level Total Level Level Level Total

in millions

Equity securities

Common stock 23 23 28 28

Mutual funds 322 322 457 457

Private equityW
370 370 446 446

Debt securities

Certificates of deposit

Unsecured debentures 13 13 16 16

Government debt securities 12 95 107 206 215

Mutual fundst2 174 2410 2584 139 3208 3347

Other debt securities
10 10

Real estate

Real estate 100 100 121 121

Other

Cash and cash equivalents 15 15

Participant loanst3 _________
60 60

_________
68 68

Totalpianassets 546 2529 530 3.605 634 3.443 635 4.712

Plan assets of our Brazilian subsidiaries are invested in private equities and commercial real estate through the plan administrator in

Brazil The fair value of these assets is determined using the income approach through annual appraisals based on discounted cash

flow analysis

Mutual funds categorized as debt securities consist of mutual funds for which debt securities are the primary underlying investment

Loans to participants are stated at cost which approximates fair value

The following table presents reconciliation of all plan assets measured at fair value using significant unobservable

inputs Level for the years ended December 31 2013 and 2012

2013 2012

in millions

Balance at January
635 755

Actual return on plan assets

Returns relating to assets still held at reporting date 26 64
Returns relating to assets sold during the period

Purchases sales and settlements net

Change due to exchange rate changes 79 59
Balance at December31 530 635

The following table summarizes the estimated cash flows for U.S and foreign expected employer contributions and

expected future benefit payments both domestic and foreign

U.S Foreign

in millions

Expected employer contribution in 2014 56 167

Expected benefit payments for fiscal year ending

2014
62 381

2015
63 396

2016
64 409

2017
66 425

2018
67 440

2019-2023 361 2437
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16 EQUITY

Equity Transactions with Noncontrolling interests

During the
year ended December 31 2013 the Company completed transactions which increased noncontrolling

interests in Alto Maipo and Cochrane two projects under development in Chile Although there was decrease in the

Companys ownership interest the Company retained control of both projects which continue to be accounted for as

consolidated subsidiaries The difference between the fair value of the consideration received for these transactions and the

corresponding adjustment to noncontrolling interest of $16 million was recognized as an equity transaction through Additional

Paid-in Capital

The following table summarizes the net income loss attributable to The AES Corporation and all transfers to from

noncontrolling interests for the years ended December 31 2013 and 2012

2013 2012

in millions

Net income loss attributable to The AES Corporation 114 912
Transfers to from the noncontrolling interest

Net increase in The AES Corporations paid-in capital for sale of subsidiary shares 16

Increase decrease in The AES Corporations paid-in capital for purchase of subsidiary shares

Net transfers to from noncontrolling interest 10 11

Change from net income attributable to The AES Corporation and transfers to from noncontrolling interests 124 901

Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss

The changes in accumulated other comprehensive loss by component net of tax and noncontrolling interests for the year
ended December 31 2013 were as follows

Unrealized Unfunded Available for Foreign currency
derivative pension sale securities translation

losses net obligations net net adjustment net Total

in millions

481 382
78

128 13 36 178

174 91
____________ 227 38

307 291 2.284 2.882

Balance at January

Other comprehensive income before reclassifications

Amounts reclassified from accumulated other

comprehensive loss

Net current-period other comprehensive income

Balance at December 31

46

2057 2920
263 140
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Reclassifications out of accumulated other comprehensive loss for the year ended December 31 2013 were as follows

Details About Accumulated Other Year Ended

Comprehensive Loss Components
Affected Line Item in the Consolidated Statement of Operations December 31 2O13

in millions

Unrealized derivative losses net

Non-regulated revenue

Non-regulated cost of sales

Interest expense
137

Gain on sale of investments 21
Foreign currency transaction gains losses

Income from continuing operations before taxes and equity in earnings of affiliates 174

Income tax expense
41

Net equity in earnings of affiliates

Income from continuing operations 139

Income from continuing operations attributable to noncontrolling interests 11

Net income attributable to The AES Corporation 128

Amortization of defined benefit pension actuarial loss net

Regulated cost of sales 73
Non-regulated cost of sales

General and administrative expenses

Income from continuing operations before taxes and equity in earnings of affiliates 78
Income tax expense

26

Income from continuing operations 52
Income from continuing operations attributable to noncontrolling interests 39

Net income attributable to The AES Corporation
13

Available-for-sale securities net

Interest income

Net income attributable to The AES Corporation

Foreign currency translation adjustment net

Gain on sale of investments

Net loss from disposal and impairments of discontinued businesses 35
Net income attributable to The AES Corporation

36

Total reclassflcations for the period net of income tax and noncontrolling interests 178

Amounts in parentheses indicate debits to the consolidated statement of operations

Dividend

On November 2013 the Board of Directors of the Company declared quarterly common stock dividend of $0.05 per

share payable on February 18 2014 to shareholders of record at the close of business on February 2014

Stock Repurchase Program

On December 112013 the Board of Directors the Board of the Company increased the size of the common stock

repurchase program the Program by authorizing the repurchase of up to an additional $2 11 million of the Companys

common stock leaving approximately $450 million available for purchases of the Companys common stock in one or more

transactions including through open-market repurchases Rule lobs-i plans and privately negotiated
transactions There can be

no assurances as to the amount timing or prices of repurchases which may vary
based on market conditions and other factors

The Program does not have an expiration date and it can be modified or terminated by the Companys Board at any time

On December 18 2013 the Company completed the underwritten secondary public offering the Offering of

46000000 shares the Offered Shares of its common stock by the Terrific Investment Corporation the Selling

Stockholder subsidiary controlled by China Investment Corporation at price of $13.45 per
share The Offered Shares

included the full exercise of the underwriters option to purchase up to 6000000 additional shares of the Companys common

stock to cover over-allotments which option was exercised in full by the underwriters on December 13 2013 The Company

did not receive any
of the proceeds from the Offering Also on December 18 2013 the Company completed the repurchase of

20 million shares of its common stock from the Selling Stockholder at price per
share of$12.912 for an aggregate purchase

price of $258 million
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During the year ended December 31 2013 shares of common stock repurchased under the Program including the 20

million share repurchase in December referenced above totaled 25297042 at total cost of$322 million The cumulative purchases

under the Program totaled 94728430 shares at total cost of $1.1 billion which includes nominal amount of commissions

average price per share of $12.10 including commissions As of December 31 2013 $191 million was available under the

Program

The common stock repurchased has been classified as treasury stock and accounted for using the cost method total of

90808168 and 66415984 shares were held as treasury stock at December 31 2013 and 2012 respectively Restricted stock

units under the Companys employee benefit plans are issued from treasury stock The Company has not retired any common
stock repurchased since it began the Program in July 2010

17 SEGMENTS AND GEORGRAPHIC INFORMATION

The segment reporting structure uses the Companys management reporting structure as its foundation to reflect how
the Company manages the business internally and is organized by geographic regions which provide better socio-political

economic understanding of our business In 2012 the management reporting structure was re-organized along six strategic

business units SBUs led by our Chief Executive Officer CEO During the fourth quarter of 2013 in conjunction
with finalization of its reporting structure the Company revised its internal reporting to align more closely with its operations

As result the Company applied the accounting guidance for segment reporting and determined that its reportable segments
have changed and are now aligned with the six SBUs All prior-period results have been retrospectively revised to reflect the

new segment reporting structure The Company has decreased from nine to the following six reportable segments based on the

six SBUs

USSBU
Andes SBU
Brazil SBU

MCAC SBU

EMEA SBU and

Asia SBU

Corporate and Other Silver Ridge Power formerly AES Solar Holding Company and certain other unconsolidated

businesses are accounted for using the equity method of accounting therefore their operating results are included in Net
Equity in Earnings of Affiliates on the face of the Consolidated Statements of Operations not in revenue or Adjusted pre-tax
contribution Adjusted PTC Corporate and Other also includes corporate overhead costs which are not directly associated

with the operations of our six reportable segments and other intercompany charges such as self-insurance premiums which are

fully eliminated in consolidation

The Company uses Adjusted PTC as its primary segment performance measure Adjusted PTC non-GAAP measure is

defined by the Company as pre-tax income from continuing operations attributable to AES excluding unrealized gains or losses

related to derivative transactions unrealized foreign currency gains or losses gains or losses due to dispositions and

acquisitions of business interests losses due to impairments and costs due to the early retirement of debt For the year ended

December 31 2013 the Company changed the definition of Adjusted PTC to exclude the gains or losses attributable to AES
common stockholders at our equity method investments for these same types of items Previously these amounts were not

excluded from the calculation of Adjusted PTC Accordingly the Company has also reflected the change in the comparative

year ended December 31 2012 The Company has concluded that Adjusted PTC best reflects the underlying business

performance of the Company and is the most relevant measure considered in the Companys internal evaluation of the financial

performance of its segments Additionally given its large number of businesses and complexity the Company concluded that

Adjusted PTC is more transparent measure that better assists the investor in determining which businesses have the greatest

impact on the overall Company results

Total revenue includes inter-segment revenue primarily related to the sale of coal between Andes and the US No material

inter-segment revenue relationships exist between other segments Corporate allocations include certain self-insurance activities

which are reflected within segment adjusted PTC All intra-segment activity has been eliminated with respect to revenue and

adjusted PTC within the segment Inter-segment activity has been eliminated within the total consolidated results Asset

information for businesses that were discontinued or classified as held-for-sale as of December 2013 is segregated and is

shown in the line Discontinued businesses in the accompanying segment tables
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Information about the Companys operations by segment for the years ended December 31 2013 2012 and 2011 was as

follows

Intersegment External Revenue

2013 2012 2011 2013 2012 2011 2013 2012 2011

in millions

3630 3736 2088 3630 3736 2087

2639 3020 2989 33 36 2638 2987 2953

5015 5788 6640 5015 5788 6640

2713 2573 2327 2712 2573 2324

1347 1344 1469 1347 1343 1467

550 733 625 550 733 625

15901 17.203 $16146 10 39 48 $15891 17.164 16.098

Intersegment

2013 2012 2011 2013 2012 2011 2013 2012 2011

in millions

181 11 40 53 451 443 234

510 19 16 32 372 353 478

212 321 415 215 324 418

339 387 307 12 10 351 397 310

345 375 276 12 352 373 288

142 201 100 144 203 102

624 717 650 54 37 41 678 754 691

1207 1339 1139 1207 1339 1139

Reconciliation to Income from Continuing Operations before Taxes and Equity Earnings of Affiliates

Non-GAAP Adjustments

Unrealized derivative gains losses
57 120 31

Unrealized foreign currency gains losses 41 13 50

Dispositionlacquisition gains
30 206

Impairment losses 588 1951 337

Loss on extinguishment of debt 225 16 46
Pre-tax contribution 440 529 737

Add income from continuing operations before taxes attributable to noncontrolling interests 633 794 1521

Less Net equity in earnings losses of affiliates
25 35

Income from continuing operations before taxes and equity in earnings of affiliates 1.048 230 2.260

Adjusted pre-tax contribution in each segment before intersegment eliminations includes the effect of intercompany transactions with

other segments except for interest charges for certain management fees and the write-off of intercompany balances

Assets by segment as of December 31 2013 2012 and 2011 were as follows

Depreciation and Amortization Capital Expenditures

2013 2012 2011 2013 2012 2011 2013 2012 2011

in millions

9952 10651 12714 440 518 300 426 405 406

7356 6619 6482 186 174 151 471 389 385

8388 9710 10602 259 281 331 588 718 738

5075 5030 4962 145 136 116 Ill 192 220

4191 4085 4086 155 145 159 341 162 196

2810 2587 1800 33 30 32 576 221 150

1718 1960 3445 55 85 148 52 143 335

921 1188 1255 21 25 25 14 40 31

40.411 41.830 45.346 1.294 1.394 1.262 2.579 2.270 2.461

Total Revenue
Revenue

Year Ended December 31

US SBU

Andes SBU

Brazil SBU

MCAC SBU

EMEA SBU

Asia SBU

Corporate and Other

Total Revenue

Adjusted Pre-Tax Contribution

Year Ended December 31

US SBU

Andes SBU

Brazil SBU

MCAC SBU

EMEA SBU

Asia SBU

Corporate and Other

Total Adjusted Pre-Tax Contribution

Total Adjusted

Pre-tax Contribution

440 403

353 369

External Adjusted

Pre-tax Contribution

Total Assets

US SBU

Andes SBU

Brazil SBU
MCAC SBU

EMEA SBU

Asia SBU

Discontinued businesses

Corporate and Other

eliminations

Total Assets
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Interest Income Interest Expense

2013 2012 2011 2013 2012 2011

in millions

USSBU 290 291 194
Andes SBU 37 20 20 135 128 126
Brazil SBU 210 278 346 364 305 452

MCACSBU 20 33 22 138 192 166
EMEA SBU

80 94 108
Asia SBU

30 43 46

Corporate and Other eliminations 445 491 438
Total 275 348 398 1.482 1.544 1.530

Investments in and Advances to Affiliates Equity in Earnings Losses

2013 2012 2011 2013 2012 2011

in millions

USSBU 1$
Andes SBU 248 198 188 44 18 35

Brazil SBU

MCAC SBU 24 19

EMEA SBU 286 454 512 10

Asia SBU 186 202 367 10 32

Corporate and Other eliminations 289 318 336 28 28 5Q
Total 1.010 1.196 1.422 25 35

The table below presents information by country about the Companys consolidated operations for each of the three

years in the period ended December 31 2013 and as of December 31 2013 and 2012 respectively Revenue is recorded in the

country in which it is earned and assets are recorded in the country in which they are located

Revenue Property Plant Equipment net

2013 2012 2011 2013 2012

in millions

United StatesW 3630 3736 2088 7523 7540
Non-U.S

Brazil2 5015 5788 6640 5293 5756
Chile 1569 1679 1608 3312 2993
El Salvador 860 854 755 292 284

Dominican Republic 832 761 674 689 670

United Kingdom 558 505 587 603 578

Argentina3 545 857 979 256 278

Colombia 523 453 365 412 383

Philippines 497 559 480 776 800

Mexico 440 397 404 748 759

Bu1garia4 422 369 251 1606 1606
Puerto Rico 328 293 298 562 570

Panama 250 266 189 1028 1069

Kazakhstan 156 151 145 183 141

Jordan 142 121 124 439 222

Sri Lanka 53 169 140

Spain 119 258

Cameroon5

Ukraine6

Hungary7

Vietnam
1296 887

OtherNon-U.S.8 71 87 113 87 91

Total Non-U.S 12261 13428 14010 17589 17095

Total 15891 17164 16098 25112 24635
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Excludes revenue of $23 million $63 million and $396 million for the years ended December 31 2013 2012 and 2011 respectively

and property plant and equipment of $69 million and $123 million as of December 31 2013 and 2012 respectively related to

Condon Mid-West Wind Eastern Energy Thames Red Oak and Ironwood which were reflected as discontinued operations and

assets held for sale in the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Operations and Consolidated Balance Sheets Additionally

property plant and equipment excludes $25 million as of December 31 2012 related to wind turbines which were reflected as assets

held for sale in the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets

Excludes revenue of $124 million for the year ended December 2011 related to Brazil Telecom which was reflected as

discontinued operations in the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Operations

Excludes revenue of $102 million for the year ended December 2011 related to our Argentina distribution businesses which were
reflected as discontinued operations in the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Operations

Our wind project in Maritza started operations in June 2011

Excludes revenue of $474 million $457 million and $386 million for the years ended December 31 2013 2012 and 2011

respectively and property plant and equipment of $1100 million and $992 million as of December 31 2013 and 2012 respectively

related to Dibamba Kribi and Sonel which were reflected as discontinued operations and assets held for sale in the accompanying
Consolidated Statements of Operations and Consolidated Balance Sheets

Excludes revenue of $187 million $491 million and $418 million for the years ended December 31 2013 2012 and 2011

respectively and property plant and equipment of $112 million as of December 31 2012 related to Kievoblenergo and

Rivnooblenergo which were reflected as discontinued operations and assets held for sale in the accompanying Consolidated

Statements of Operations and Consolidated Balance Sheets

Excludes revenue of $18 million and $219 million for the years ended December 31 2012 and 2011 respectively related to Borsod

Tiszapalkonya and Tisza II which were reflected as discontinued operations and assets held for sale in the accompanying
Consolidated Statements of Operations

Excludes revenue of $6 million $11 million and $18 million for the years ended December 31 2013 2012 and 2011 respectively

and property plant and equipment of $19 million and $54 million as of December 31 2013 and 2012 respectively related to

Saurashtra Poland wind and our carbon reduction projects which were reflected as discontinued operations and assets held for sale

in the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Operations and Consolidated Balance Sheets

18 SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION

STOCK OPTIONSAES grants options to purchase shares of common stock under stock option plans to employees
and non-employee directors Under the terms of the plans the Company may issue options to purchase shares of the Companys
common stock at price equal to 100% of the market price at the date the option is granted Stock options are generally granted
based upon percentage of an employees base salary Stock options issued under these plans in 2013 2012 and 2011 have

three-year vesting schedule and vest in one-third increments over the three-year period The stock options have contractual

term often
years At December 31 2013 approximately 15 million shares were remaining for award under the plans In all

circumstances stock options granted by AES do not entitle the holder the right or obligate AES to settle the stock option in

cash or other assets ofAES

The following table presents the weighted average fair value of each option grant and the underlying weighted average

assumptions as of the grant date using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model

December 31

2013 2012 2011

Expected volatility 23% 26% 31%
Expected annual dividend yield 1% 1%

Expected option term years

Risk-free interest rate 1.13% 1.08% 2.65%

Fair value at grant date 2.23 3.04 4.54

The Company exclusively relies on implied volatility as the expected volatility to determine the fair value using the

Black-Scholes option-pricing model The implied volatility may be exclusively relied upon due to the following factors

The Company utilizes valuation model that is based on constant volatility assumption to value its employee
share options

The implied volatility is derived from options to purchase AES common stock that are actively traded

The market prices of both the traded options and the underlying shares are measured at similarpoint in time and

on date reasonably close to the grant date of the employee share options

The traded options have exercise prices that are both near-the-money and close to the exercise price of the

employee share options and

The remaining maturities of the traded options on which the estimate is based are at least one year
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The Company uses simplified method to determine the expected term based on the average
of the original contractual

term and the pro rata vesting period This simplified method is used for stock options granted during 2013 2012 and 2011 This

simplified method may be used as the Companys stock options have the following characteristics

The stock options are granted at-the-money

Exercisability is conditional only on performing service through the vesting date

If an employee terminates service prior to vesting the employee forfeits the stock options

If an employee terminates service after vesting the employee has limited time to exercise the stock option and

The stock option is nonhedgeable and not transferable

The Company does not discount the grant date fair values to estimate post-vesting restrictions Post-vesting restrictions

include black-out periods when the employee is not able to exercise stock options based on their potential knowledge of

information prior to the release of that information to the public

The following table summarizes the components of stock-based compensation related to employee stock options

recognized in the Companys financial statements

December 31

2013 2012 2011

in millions

Pre-tax compensation expense

Tax benefit

Stock options expense net of tax

Total intrinsic value of options exercised 10

Total fair value of options vested

Cash received from the exercise of stock options
13

No cash was used to settle stock options or compensation cost capitalized as part of the cost of an asset for the years

ended December 31 2013 2012 and 2011 As of December 31 2013 $3 million of total unrecognized compensation cost

related to stock options is expected to be recognized over weighted average period of 1.8 years

summary of the option activity for the year ended December 31 2013 follows number of options in thousands dollars

in millions except per option amounts

Weighted Weighted Average Aggregate

Average Exercise Remaining Contractual Intrinsic

Options Price Term in years Value

Outstanding at December 31 2012 7883 14.91

Exercised 1349 9.56

Forfeited and expired 1097 16.70

Granted 1428 11.25

Outstanding at December 31 2013 6.865 14.91 5.1 12

Vested and expected to vest at December 31 2013 6.618 15.04 5.0 11

Eligible for exercise at December 31 2013 4.646 16.42 3.6

The aggregate
intrinsic value in the table above represents the total pre-tax intrinsic value the difference between the

Companys closing stock price on the last trading day of 2013 and the exercise price multiplied by the number of in-the-money

options that would have been received by the option holders had all option holders exercised their options on December 31

2013 The amount of the aggregate
intrinsic value will change based on the fair market value of the Companys stock

The Company initially recognizes compensation cost on the estimated number of instruments for which the requisite

service is expected to be rendered In 2013 AES has estimated weighted average
forfeiture rate of 25.50% for stock options

granted in 2013 This estimate will be revised if subsequent information indicates that the actual number of instruments

forfeited is likely to differ from previous estimates Based on the estimated forfeiture rate the Company expects to expense

$2.4 million on straight-line basis over three year period approximately $0.8 million per year related to stock options

granted during the year
ended December 31 2013
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Restricted Stock UnitsThe Company issues restricted stock units RSUs under its long-term compensation plan

The RSUs are generally granted based upon percentage
of the participants base salary The units have three-year vesting

schedule and vest in one-third increments over the three-year period Units granted prior to 2011 are required to be held for an

additional two years
before they can be converted into shares and thus become transferable There is no such requirement for

units granted in 2011 and afterwards In all circumstances restricted stock units granted by AES do not entitle the holder the

right or obligate AES to settle the restricted stock unit in cash or other assets of AES

For the years ended December 31 2013 2012 and 2011 RSUs issued had grant date fair value equal to the closing

price of the Companys stock on the grant date The Company does not discount the grant date fair values to reflect any post-

vesting restrictions RSUs granted to employees during the years
ended December 31 2013 2012 and 2011 had grant date fair

values per RSU of $11.19 $13.54 and $12.65 respectively

The following table summarizes the components of the Companys stock-based compensation related to its employee

RSUs recognized in the Companys consolidated financial statements

December 31

RSU expense
before income tax

Tax benefit

RSU expense net of tax

Total value of RSUs convertedW

Total fair value of RSUs vested

Amount represents fair market value on the date of conversion

2013 2012 2011

in millions

12 11 11

31 31

9$ 8$
10

12 12 10

There was no cash used to settle RSUs or compensation
cost capitalized as part of the cost of an asset for the years

ended

December 31 2013 2012 and 2011 As of December 31 2013 $13 million of total unrecognized compensation cost related to

RSUs is expected to be recognized over weighted average period of approximately 1.7 years
There were no modifications to

RSU awards during the year ended December 31 2013

summary of the activity of RSUs for the year ended December 31 2013 follows number of RSUs in thousands

Nonvested at December 31 2012

Vested

Forfeited and expired

Granted

Nonvested at December 31 2013

Vested at December 31 2013

Vested and expected to vest at December 31 2013

Weighted Average Weighted Average

Grant Date Fair 1emaining Vesting

RSUs Values Term

2092 13.02

12.82

12.55

1444 11.19 _______________

2.257 12.01 1.8

2315 8.68

4353 10.26

2013 2012 2011

942 1138 982

905 761 442

407 312 150

942
337

The Company initially recognizes compensation cost on the estimated number of instruments for which the requisite

service is expected to be rendered In 2013 AES has estimated weighted average forfeiture rate of 24.18% for RSUs granted

in 2013 This estimate will be revised if subsequent information indicates that the actual number of instruments forfeited is

likely to differ from previous estimates Based on the estimated forfeiture rate the Company expects to expense $12 million on

straight-line basis over three year period related to RSUs granted during the year
ended December 31 2013

The table below summarizes the RSUs that vested and were converted during the years ended December 31 2013 2012

and 2011 number of RSUs in thousands

RSUs vested during the year

RSUs converted during the year net of shares withheld for taxes

Shares withheld for taxes
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Performance Stock UnitsThe Company issues performance stock units PSUs to officers under its long-term
compensation plan PSUs are restricted stock units of which 50% of the units awarded include market condition and the
remaining 50% include performance condition Vesting will occur if the applicable continued employment conditions are
satisfied and for the units subject to the market condition the Total Stockholder Return TSR on AES common stock
exceeds the TSR of the Standard and Poors 500 Utilities Sector Index over the three-year measurement period beginning on
January of the grant year and ending on December 31

St

of the third year and for the units subject to the performance
condition if the Companys actual Adjusted EBITDA meets the performance target over the three-year measurement period
beginning on January 1st of the grant year and ending on December 31

St

of the third year The market and performance
conditions determine the vesting and final share equivalent per PSU and can result in earning an award payout range of 0% to
200% depending on the achievement In all circumstances PSUs granted by AES do not entitle the holder the right or obligateAES to settle the restricted stock unit in cash or other assets of AES

The effect of the market condition on PSUs issued to officers of the Company during 2013 is reflected in the awards fair
value on the

grant date The results of the valuation estimated the fair value at $13.28 per share equating to 119% of the
Companys closing stock price on the date of grant PSUs that included market condition granted during the

year ended
December31 2013 2012 and 2011 had grant date fair value per RSU of$13.28 $19.75 and $17.68 respectively The fair
value of the PSUs with performance condition had grant date fair value of $11.17 equal to the closing price of the

Companys stock on the grant date The Company believes that it is probable that the performance condition will be met this
will continue to be evaluated throughout the performance period If the fair value of the market condition was not applied to
PSUs issued to officers the total grant date fair value of PSUs granted during the year ended December 31 2013 would have
decreased by $1 million

Restricted stock units with market condition awarded to officers of the Company prior to 2011 contained only the
market condition measuring the TSR on AES common stock These units were required to be held for an additional two years
subsequent to vesting before they could be converted into shares and become transferable There is no such requirement for the
shares granted during 2011 and afterwards

The
following table summarizes the components of the Companys stock-based compensation related to its PSUs

recognized in the Companys consolidated financial statements

December 31

2013 2012 2011

in millions
PSU expense before income tax

Tax benefit

PSU
expense net of tax

Total value of PSUs converted1

Total fair value of PSUs vested

Amount represents fair market value on the date of conversion

There was no cash used to settle PSUs or compensation cost capitalized as part of the cost of an asset for the
years ended

December 31 2013 2012 and 2011 As of December 31 2013 $7 million of total unrecognized compensation cost related to
PSUs is expected to be

recognized over weighted average period of approximately 1.8 years There were no modifications to
PSU awards during the year ended December 31 2013

summary of the activity of PSUs for the year ended December 31 2013 follows number of PSUs in thousands

Weighted Average Weighted Average
Grant Date Fair

Remaining
PSUs Values Vesting Term

Nonvested at December 31 2012
1082 14.96

Vested

Forfeited and expired 367 12.94
Granted

624 12.23
________________Nonvested at December 31 2013

1339 14.24 1.4
Vested at December 31 2013

343 6.68
Vested and expected to vest at December 31 2013

1486 12.68
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The Company initially recognizes compensation cost on the estimated number of instruments for which the requisite

service is expected to be rendered In 2013 AES has estimated forfeiture rate of 25.50% for PSUs granted in 2013 This

estimate will be revised if subsequent information indicates that the actual number of instruments forfeited is likely to differ

from previous estimates Based on the estimated forfeiture rate the Company expects to expense
$6 million on straight-line

basis over three year period approximately $2 million per year related to PSUs granted during the year ended December 31

2013

The table below summarizes the PSUs that vested and were converted during the years ended December 31 2013 2012

and 2011 number of PSUs in thousands

2013 2012 2011

PSUs vested during the year

343

PSUs converted during the year net of shares withheld for taxes

Shares withheld for taxes

19 CUMULATIVE PREFERRED STOCK OF SUBSIDIARIES

Our subsidiaries IPL and DPL had outstanding shares of cumulative preferred stock of $78 million at December 31 2013

and 2012

IPL had $60 million of cumulative preferred stock outstanding at December 31 2013 and 2012 which represented five

series of preferred stock The total annual dividend requirements were approximately $3 million at December 31 2013 and

2012 Certain series of the preferred stock were redeemable solely at the option of the issuer at prices between $100 and $118

per share Holders of the preferred stock are entitled to elect majority of IPLs board of directors if IPL has not paid dividends

to its preferred stockholders for four consecutive quarters Based on the preferred stockholders ability to elect majority of

IPLs board of directors in this circumstance the redemption of the preferred shares is considered to be not solely within the

control of the issuer and the preferred stock is considered temporary equity and presented in the mezzanine level of the

Consolidated Balance Sheets in accordance with the relevant accounting guidance for noncontrolling interests and redeemable

securities

DPL had $18 million of cumulative preferred stock outstanding at December 31 2013 and 2012 which represented
three

series of preferred stock issued by DPL wholly owned subsidiary of DPL The total annual dividend requirements were

approximately $1 million at December 31 2013 The DPL preferred stock may be redeemed at DPLs option as determined

by its board of directors at per-share redemption prices between $101 and $103 per share plus cumulative preferred dividends

In addition DPLs Amended Articles of Incorporation contain provisions that permit preferred stockholders to elect members

of the DPL Board of Directors in the event that cumulative dividends on the preferred stock are in arrears in an aggregate

amount equivalent to at least four full quarterly dividends Based on the preferred stockholders ability to elect members of

DPLs board of directors in this circumstance the redemption of the preferred shares is considered to be not solely within the

control of the issuer and the preferred stock is considered temporary equity and presented in the mezzanine level of the

Consolidated Balance Sheets in accordance with the relevant accounting guidance for noncontrolling interests and redeemable

securities
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20 OTHER INCOME AND EXPENSE

Other Income

Other income generally includes contract terminations gains on asset sales and extinguishments of liabilities favorable

judgments on contingencies and other income from miscellaneous transactions The components of other income are

summarized as follows

Years Ended December 31

2013 2012 2011

in millions

Contract termination Beaver Valley 60
Gain on sale of assets

12 21 46
Reversal of legal contingency 10

Insurance proceeds
38 11

Tax credit settlement
31

Gain on extinguishment of tax and other liabilities
14

Other
34 39 40

Total other income
125 98 142

Other Expense

Other expense generally includes losses on disposal of assets losses resulting from debt extinguishments legal

contingencies and losses from other miscellaneous transactions The components of other
expense are summarized as follows

Years Ended December 31

2013 2012 2011

in millions

Loss on disposal of assets
51 64 66

Contract termination

Other
18 18 20

Total other expense 76 82 86

21 ASSET IMPAIRMENT EXPENSE

Year Ended December 31

2013 2012 2011

in millions

Beaver Valley
46

Conesville DPL
26

ltabo San Lorenzo
16

U.S wind turbines and projects
41 116

Kelanitissa
19 42

St Patrick
11

Other
15

total asset impairment expense 95 73 173

BeaLer Valley In January 2013 Beaver Valley wholly owned 125 MW coal-fired plant in Pennsylvania entered into

an agreement to early terminate its PPA with the offtaker in exchange for lump-sum payment of $60 million which was
received on January 92013 The termination was effective January 82013 Beaver Valley also terminated its fuel supply
agreement Under the PPA termination agreement annual capacity agreements between the offtaker and PJM Interconnection
LLC PJM regional transmission organization for 2013 -2016 have been assigned to Beaver Valley The termination of
the PPA resulted in significant reduction in the future cash flows of the asset group and was considered an impairment
indicator The carrying amount of the asset group was not recoverable The carrying amount of the asset group exceeded the fair

value of the asset group resulting in an asset impairment expense of $46 million Beaver Valley is reported in the US SBU
reportable segment

IPL Conesville During the fourth quarter of 2013 the Company tested the
recoverability of long-lived assets at

Conesvile 129 MW coal-fired plant in Ohio jointly-owned by DPL wholly-owned subsidiary ofAES Gradual
decreases in power prices as well as lower estimates of future capacity prices in conjunction with the DPL reporting unit

failing Step of the annual goodwill impairment test were determined to be impairment indicators The Company performed
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long-lived asset impairment test and determined that the carrying amount of the asset group was not recoverable The

Conesville asset group was determined to have zero fair value using discounted cash flows under the income approach As

result the Company recognized an asset impairment expense
of $26 million Conesville is reported in the US SBU reportable

segment

Itabo San LorenzoDuring the third quarter
of 2013 the Company tested the recoverability of long-lived assets at San

Lorenzo 35 Megawatt MW LNG fueled plant of Itabo Itabo was informed by Super-Intendencia de Electridad SIE the

system regulator in the Dominican Republic that it would not receive capacity revenue going forward This communication in

combination with current adverse market conditions were determined to be an impairment indicator The Company performed

long-lived asset impairment test considering different scenarios and determined that based on undiscounted cash flows the canying

amount of San Lorenzo was not recoverable The fair value of San Lorenzo was determined using the market approach based on

broker quote and it was determined that its carrying amount of $23 million exceeded the estimated fair value of $7 million As

result the Company recognized an asset impairment expense of $16 million Itabo is reported in the MCAC SBU reportable

segment

U.S wind turbines and projects In 2012 and 2011 the Company recognized asset impairment expense of $41 million

and $116 million respectively on certain wind turbines and projects The wind turbines held in storage met the held-for-sale

criteria due to less viable internal deployment scenarios and the ongoing receipt of offers from potential buyers Accordingly

the Company measured the turbines at fair value less cost to sell under the market approach In June 2013 the Company sold

these turbines and recognized an after tax gain of $2 million In addition the Company determined that two early-stage wind

development projects that were capitalizing
certain project costs were no longer probable because of the Companys shift in

capital allocation for developing these projects The Company assessed the value of the projects using the market approach and

after consultation with third party valuation firms and internal development staff the fair value was determined to be zero

resulting in full impairment These wind turbines and projects were reported in the US SBU reportable segment

KelanitissaIn 2012 and 2011 the Company recognized asset impairment expense of $19 million and $42 million

respectively for the long-lived assets at Kelanitissa diesel-fired generation plant in Sri Lanka The Company continued to

evaluate the recoverability of its long-lived assets at Kelanitissa as result of both the requirement to transfer the plant to the

government at the end of the PPA and the expectation
of lower future operating cash flows The evaluations during this period

indicated that the long-lived assets were no longer recoverable and accordingly were written down to their estimated fair

value Kelanitissa is reported in the Asia SBU reportable segment

St PatrickIn 2012 the Company received approval from its Board of Directors for the sale of its wholly owned

subsidiary Ferme Eolienne Saint Patrick SAS St Patrick Upon meeting the held-for-sale criteria including the Boards

approval long-lived assets with carrying amount of $33 million were written down to their fair value of $22 million i.e the

sale price attributed to St Patrick and an impairment expense
of $11 million was recorded The sale transaction subsequently

closed on June 28 2012 St Patrick was reported in the EMEA SBU reportable segment

22 INCOME TAXES

In come Tax Provision

The following table summarizes the expense
for income taxes on continuing operations for the years

ended

December 31 2013 2012 and 2011

2013 2012 2011

in millions

Federal

Current
28

Deferred
110 24 150

State

Current

Deferred
11

Foreign

Current
509 538 837

Deferred
30 136 33

Total
343 685 656
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Effective and Statutory Rate Reconciliation

The following table summarizes reconciliation of the U.S statutory federal income tax rate to the Companys effective

tax rate as percentage of income from
continuing operations before taxes for the years ended December 2013 2012 and

2011

2013 2012 2011

Statutory Federal tax rate
35 35 35

State taxes net of Federal tax benefit 3% 21
Taxes on foreign earnings 4% 32% 2%
Valuation allowance

16 3%
Uncertain tax positions 5%
Bad debt deduction

Change in tax law l% 17
Goodwill impairment

12 276
Other--net

2% 1%
Effective tax rate

33 298 29

The current income taxes receivable and payable are included in Other Current Assets and Accrued and Other Liabilities

respectively on the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets The noncurrent income taxes receivable and payable are
included in Other Noncurrent Assets and Other Noncurrent Liabilities respectively on the accompanying Consolidated Balance
Sheets The following table summarizes the income taxes receivable and payable as of December 31 2013 and 2012

2013 2012

in millions
Income taxes receivablecurrent

206 294
Income taxes receivablenoncurrent

15
Total income taxes receivable

206 309
Income taxes payable--current

322 393
Income taxes payablenoncurrent

Total income taxes payable
324 395

Deferred Income TaxesDeferred income taxes reflect the net tax effects of
temporary differences between the

carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for income tax purposes and

operating loss and tax credit carryforwards These items are stated at the enacted tax rates that are expected to be in effect

when taxes are actually paid or recovered

As of December 31 2013 the Company had federal net operating loss carryforwards for tax purposes of approximately
$2.8 billion expiring in years 2023 to 2033 Approximately $77 million of the net operating loss carryforward related to stock
option deductions will be recognized in additional paid-in capital when realized The Company also had federal general
business tax credit carryforwards of approximately 18 million expiring primarily from 2021 to 2033 and federal alternative

minimum tax credits of approximately $5 million that
carry forward without expiration The Company had state net operating

loss carryforwards as of December31 2013 of approximately $7.1 billion expiring in years 2016 to 2033 As of December31
2013 the Company had foreign net operating loss carryforwards of approximately $3.9 billion that expire at various times
beginning in 2014 and some of which

carry forward without expiration and tax credits available in foreign jurisdictions of

approximately $15 million $1 million of which expire in 2017 to 2024 and $14 million of which carryforward without
expiration

Valuation allowances increased $195 million during 2013 to $1.1 billion at December 31 2013 This net increase was
primarily the result of valuation allowance activity at one of our Brazilian subsidiaries

Valuation allowances increased $2 million during 2012 to $895 million at December 31 2012 This net increase was
primarily the result of valuation allowance activity at certain U.S state jurisdictions

The Company believes that it is more likely than not that the net deferred tax assets as shown below will be realized when
future taxable income is generated through the reversal of existing taxable temporary differences and income that is expected to

be generated by businesses that have long-term contracts or history of generating taxable income The Company continues to

monitor the utilization of its deferred tax asset for its U.S consolidated net operating loss carryforward Although management
believes it is more likely than not that this deferred tax asset will be realized through generation of sufficient taxable income
prior to expiration of the loss carryforwards such realization is not assured
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The following table summarizes the deferred tax assets and liabilities as of December 31 2013 and 2012

2013 2012

in millions

Differences between book and tax basis of property 2178 2089

Other taxable temporary differences 337 377

Total deferred tax liability
2515 2466

Operating loss carryforwards
2108 1592

Capital loss carryforwards
103 108

Bad debt and other book provisions
277 330

Retirement costs
291 611

Tax credit carryforwards
38 46

Other deductible temporary differences 420 512

Total gross deferred tax asset 3237 3199

Less valuation allowance 1090 895

Total net deferred tax asset 2147 2304

Net deferred tax asset liability
3681 1621

The Company considers undistributed earnings of certain foreign subsidiaries to be indefinitely reinvested outside of the

United States and accordingly no U.S deferred taxes have been recorded with respect to such earnings in accordance with the

relevant accounting guidance for income taxes Should the earnings be remitted as dividends the Company may be subject to

additional U.S taxes net of allowable foreign tax credits It is not practicable to estimate the amount of any additional taxes

which may be payable on the undistributed earnings

Income from operations in certain countries is subject to reduced tax rates as result of satisfying specific commitments

regarding employment and capital investment The Companys income tax benefits related to the tax status of these operations

are estimated to be $70 million $81 million and $60 million for the years ended December 31 2013 2012 and 2011

respectively The per share effect of these benefits after noncontrolling interests was $0.09 $0.10 and $0.07 for the years ended

December 31 2013 2012 and 2011 respectively The benefit related to our operations in the Philippines will expire in the

fourth quarter of 2014 The Companys income tax benefits related to these specific operations are estimated to be $41 million

$60 million and $34 million for the years ended December 31 2013 2012 and 2011 The per
share effect of these benefits after

noncontrolling interests was $0.05 $0.07 and $0.04 for the years ended December 31 2013 2012 and 2011

The following table summarizes the income loss from continuing operations before income taxes net equity in earnings

of affiliates and noncontrolling interests for the years ended December 31 2013 2012 and 2011

2013 2012 2011

in millions

U.S 575 1921 524

Non-U.S 1623 2151 2784

Total
1.048 230 2.260

Uncertain Tax Positions

Uncertain tax positions have been classified as noncurrent income tax liabilities unless expected to be paid in one year

The Companys policy for interest and penalties related to income tax exposures is to recognize interest and penalties as

component of the provision for income taxes in the Consolidated Statements of Operations

As of December 31 2013 and 2012 the total amount of gross accrued income tax related interest included in the

Consolidated Balance Sheets was $12 million and $17 million respectively The total amount of gross accrued income tax

related penalties included in the Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31 2013 and 2012 was $1 million and $4

million respectively

The total expense benefit for interest related to unrecognized tax benefits for the years ended December 31 2013 2012

and 2011 amounted to $4 million $3 million and $3 million respectively For the years ended December 31 2013 2012 and

2011 the total expense benefit for penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits amounted to $3 million $1 million and $0

million respectively
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We are potentially subject to income tax audits in numerous jurisdictions in the U.S and internationally until the

applicable statute of limitations expires Tax audits by their nature are often complex and can require several years to complete
The following is summary of tax years potentially subject to examination in the significant tax and business jurisdictions in

which we operate

Jurisdiction
Tax Years Subject to Examination

Argentina 2006-2013

Brazil
2008-2013

Chile
2009-2013

Colombia
2011-2013

El Salvador
2010-2013

United Kingdom 2009-2013
United States Federal 2010-2013

As of December 31 2013 2012 and 2011 the total amount of unrecognized tax benefits was $392 million $475 million

and $464 million respectively The total amount of unrecognized tax benefits that would benefit the effective tax rate as of

December 31 2013 2012 and 2011 is $360 million $444 million and $418 million respectively of which $26 million $45

million and $47 million respectively would be in the form of tax attributes that would warrant full valuation allowance

The total amount of unrecognized tax benefits anticipated to result in net decrease to unrecognized tax benefits within

12 months of December 31 2013 is estimated to be between $6 million and $10 million

The following is reconciliation of the beginning and ending amounts of unrecognized tax benefits for the years ended

December 31 2013 2012 and 2011

2013 2012 2011

in millions

Balance at January 475 464 430

Additions for current year tax positions 12

Additions for tax positions of prior years 10 29 49
Reductions for tax positions of prior years 29 18
Effects of foreign currency translation

Settlements 65
Lapse of statute of limitations 32
Balance at December31 392 475 464

The Company and certain of its subsidiaries are currently under examination by the relevant taxing authorities for various

tax years The Company regularly assesses the potential outcome of these examinations in each of the taxing jurisdictions when

determining the adequacy of the amount of unrecognized tax benefit recorded While it is often difficult to predict the final

outcome or the timing of resolution of any particular uncertain tax position we believe we have appropriately accrued for our

uncertain tax benefits However audit outcomes and the timing of audit settlements and future events that would impact our

previously recorded unrecognized tax benefits and the
range of anticipated increases or decreases in unrecognized tax benefits

are subject to significant uncertainty It is possible that the ultimate outcome of current or future examinations may exceed our

provision for current unrecognized tax benefits in amounts that could be material but cannot be estimated as of December 31
2013 Our effective tax rate and net income in any given future period could therefore be materially impacted

23 DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS AND HELD-FOR-SALE BUSINESSES

Discontinued operations include the results of the following businesses

Poland wind projects sold in November 2013

U.S wind projects held for sale in November 2013

Cameroon held for sale in September 2013

Saurashtra held for sale in September 2013

Ukraine utilities sold in April 2013

Tisza II sold in December 2012
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Red Oak and Ironwood sold in April 2012

Argentina utilities sold in November 2011

Eletropaulo TelecomunicacOes Ltda and AES Communications Rio de Janeiro S.A collectively Brazil

Telecom our Brazil telecommunication businesses sold in October 2011

Carbon reduction projects disposed of in June 2012

Poland and the U.K Wind projects abandoned in December 2011

Eastern Energy in New York disposed of in December 2012

Borsod in Hungary disposed of in November 2011

Thames in Connecticut disposed of in December 2011

Information for businesses included in discontinued operations and the income loss on disposal and impairment of

discontinued operations for the years
ended December 31 2013 2012 and 2011 is provided in the tables below

2013 2012 2011

in millions

Revenue 689 1.043 1661

Income loss from operations of discontinued businesses before income tax 73 206

Income tax benefit expense 24 26 48

Income loss from operations of discontinued businesses after income tax 27 47 158

Net gain loss from disposal and impairments of discontinued businesses after income tax 152 16 86

Poland wind projectsIn November 2013 the Company sold AES Polish Wind Holdings B.V Poland Wind

wholly owned subsidiary that held ownership interests ranging between 61 %89% in ten wind development projects in Poland

Net proceeds from the sale transaction were $7 million and loss on disposal of $2 million was recognized In the third quarter

of 2013 the Company had recognized impairments of $65 million on these projects when these were classified as held and

used Poland Wind was previously reported in the EMEA SBU reportable segment

US wind projectsIn November 2013 the Company executed an agreement for the sale of its 100% membership

interests in three wind projects with an aggregate generation capacity of 234 MW Condon in California Lake Benton tin

Minnesota and Storm Lake II in Iowa Under the terms of the sale agreement the buyer has an option to purchase the

Companys 100% interest in Armenia Mountain 101 MW wind project in Pennsylvania at fixed price of $75 million The

option is exercisable between January 2015 and April 2015 both dates inclusive Upon meeting the held-for-sale criteria

for Condon Lake Benton and Storm Lake 11 the Company recognized an impairment of $47 million of which $7 million was

attributable to noncontrolling interests held by tax equity partners representing the difference between their aggregate carrying

amount of $77 million and the fair value less costs to sell of $30 million The sale transaction closed on January 30 2014 and

net proceeds of $27 million were received Approximately $3 million of the net proceeds received has been deferred and

allocated to the buyers option to purchase Armenia Mountain These wind projects were previously reported in the US SBU

reportable segment Armenia Mountain has not yet met the held-for-sale criteria and accordingly is reflected within continuing

operations

SaurashtraIn October 2013 the Company executed sale agreement for the sale of its wholly owned subsidiary AES

Saurashtra Private Ltd 39 MW wind project in India The transaction is subject to lenders approval and customary conditions

precedent The lenders approval was received in January 2014 and the sale is expected to close in the first quarter of 2014

Since meeting the held-for-sale criteria the Company recognized an impairment of $12 million representing the difference

between its carrying amount of $19 million and fair value less costs to sell of $7 million The sale transaction closed on

February 24 2014 and net proceeds of $8 million were received Saurashtra was previously reported in the Asia SBU reportable

segment

CameroonIn September 2013 the Company executed sale agreements for the sale ofAES White Cliffs B.V owner of

56% of AES SONEL S.A AES Kribi Holdings B.V owner of 56% of Kribi Power Development Company S.A andAES

Dibamba Holdings B.V owner of 56% of Dibamba Power Development Company S.A. The transaction is subject to the

Cameroon government approval and certain conditions precedent which should be fulfilled or waived before March 31 2014

The transaction is expected to close in the first quarter of 2014 Since meeting the held-for-sale criteria the Company

recognized impairments of $63 million representing the difference between their aggregate carrying amount of $414 million

and fair value less costs to sell of $351 million These businesses were previously reported in EMEA SBU reportable segment
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Ukraine utilitiesIn April 2013 the Company completed the sale of its two utility businesses in Ukraine to VS Energy
International and received net proceeds of 113 million after working capital adjustments The Company sold its 89.1% equity

interest in AES Kyivoblenergo which serves 881000 customers in the Kiev region and its 84.6% percent equity interest in

AES Rivneoblenergo which serves 412000 customers in the Rivne region The Company recognized net impairments of $38

million during the 2013 These businesses were previously reported in the EMEA SBU reportable segment

Tisza IlIn December 2012 the Company completed the sale of its 100% ownership interest in Tisza II 900 MW gas
oil fired plant in Hungary Net proceeds from the sale transaction were $14 million and the Company recognized loss on

disposal of $87 million net of tax including the realization of cumulative foreign currency translation loss of $73 million In

2011 and 2010 the long-lived asset group of Tisza II was evaluated for impairment due to deteriorating economic and business

conditions in Hungary and was determined to be unrecoverable based on undiscounted cash flows As result the Company
had measured the asset group at fair value using discounted cash flows analysis and recognized asset impairment expense of

$52 million and $85 million in 2011 and 2010 respectively which is included in loss from operations of discontinued

businesses above Tisza II was reported in the EMEA SBU reportable segment

Red Oak and IronwoodIn April 2012 the Company completed the sale of its 100% interest in Red Oak an 832 MW
coal-fired plant in New Jersey and Ironwood 710 MW coal-fired plant in Pennsylvania for $228 million and recognized

gain of $73 million net of tax Both Red Oak and Ironwood were reported in the US SBU reportable segment

Argentina utilitiesIn November 2011 the Company completed the sale of its 90% equity interest in Edelap and Edes
two utility companies in Argentina serving approximately 329000 and 172000 customers respectively and its 51% equity
interest in Central Dique 68 MW gas and diesel generation plant collectively Argentina utilities in Argentina Net

proceeds from the sale were approximately $4 million The Company recognized loss on disposal of $338 million net of tax

including the realization of cumulative foreign currency translation loss of $208 million These businesses were previously

reported in the Andes SBU reportable segment

Brazil TelecomIn October 2011 subsidiary of the Company completed the sale of its ownership interest in two

telecommunication companies in Brazil The Company held approximately 46% ownership interest in these companies through
the subsidiary The

subsidiary received net proceeds of
approximately $893 million The gain on sale was approximately $446

million net of tax These businesses were previously reported in the Brazil SBU reportable segment

Carbon reduction projectsIn December 2011 the Companys board of directors approved plans to sell its 100% equity
interests in its carbon reduction businesses in Asia and Latin America The aggregate carrying amount of $49 million of these

projects was written down as their estimated fair value was considered zero resulting in pre-tax impairment expense of $40

million which is included in income from operations of discontinued businesses The impairment expense recognized was
limited to the carrying amounts of the individual assets within the asset group where the fair value was greater than the

carrying amount When the disposal group met the held for sale criteria the disposal group was measured at the lower of

carrying amount or fair value less cost to sell Carbon reduction projects were previously reported in the Asia and MCAC SBU
reportable segments

Poland and the U.K wind projectsIn the fourth quarter of 2011 the Company determined that it would no longer

pursue certain development projects in Poland and the United Kingdom due to revisions in its growth strategy As result the

Company abandoned these projects and recognized the related project development rights which were previously included in

intangible assets as loss on disposal of discontinued operations of $22 million net of tax These wind projects were

previously reported in the EMEA SBU reportable segment

Eastern EnergyIn March 2011 AES Eastern Energy AEE met the held for sale criteria and was reclassified from

continuing operations to held for sale AEE operated four coal-fired power plants Cayuga Greenidge Somerset and Westover

representing generation capacity of 1169 MW in the western New York power market In 2010 AEE had recognized pre-tax

impairment expense of $827 million due to adverse market conditions In December 2011 AEE along with certain of its

affiliates filed for bankruptcy protection and was recorded as cost method investment In December 2012 the AEE
bankruptcy proceedings were finalized and gain of $30 million net of tax was recognized in gain on disposal of discontinued

businesses AEE was previously reported in the US SBU reportable segment

BorsodIn November 2011 Borsod which holds two coal/biomass-fired generation plants in Hungary with generating

capacity of 161 MW filed for liquidation and was recorded as cost method investment Borsod was previously reported in the

EMEA SBU reportable segment
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ThamesIn December 2011 Thames 208 MW coal-fired plant in Connecticut met the discontinued operations criteria

and its operating results were retrospectively reflected as discontinued operations Thames had filed for liquidation in February

2011 and was recorded as cost method investment with the historical operating results reflected in discontinued operations

Thames was previously reported in the US SBU reportable segment

24 ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSITIONS

Acquisitions

DPLIn 2011 AES completed the acquisition of 100% of the common stock of DPL Inc DPL the parent company

of The Dayton Power and Light Company DPL utility based in Ohio for approximately $3.5 billion pursuant to the

terms and conditions of definitive agreement the Merger Agreement dated April 19 2011 Upon completion of the

acquisition DPL became wholly owned subsidiary of AES

Dispositions

Trinidad Generation UnlimitedOn July 10 2013 the Company completed the sale of its 10% equity interest in

Trinidad Generation Unlimited an equity method investment to the government of Trinidad and received net proceeds of $31

million The carrying amount of the investment was $28 million and gain of $3 million was recognized

Cartagena On April 26 2013 the Company sold its remaining interest in AES Energia Cartagena S.R.L AES

Cartagena 1199 MW gas-fired generation business in Spain upon the exercise of purchase option included in the 2012

sale agreement where the Company sold its majority interest in the business Net proceeds from the exercise of the option were

approximately $24 million and the Company recognized pretax gain of $20 million during the second quarter of 2013 In

2012 the Company had sold 80% of its 70.81% equity interest in Cartagena and had recognized pretax gain of $178 million

Under the terms of the 2012 sale agreement the buyer was granted an option to purchase the Companys remaining 20%

interest during five-month period beginning March 2013 which was exercised on April 26 2013 as described above

Due to the Companys continued ownership interest which extended beyond one year from the completion of the sale of

its 80% interest in February 2012 the prior-period operating results of AES Cartagena were not classified as discontinued

operations

Inno Vent and St PatrickOn June 28 2012 the Company closed the sale of its equity interest in InnoVent and

controlling interest in St Patrick Net proceeds from the sale transactions were $42 million The prior period operating results

of St Patrick were not deemed material for reclassification to discontinued operations See Note 21Asset Impairment

Expense and Note 9Other Non-Operating Expense for further information

ChinaOn September 2012 and December 31 2012 the Company completed the sale of its interest in equity method

investments in China These investments included coal-fired hydropower and wind generation facilities accounted for under

the equity method of accounting Net proceeds from the sale were approximately $133 million and the Company recognized

pretax gain of $27 million on the transaction which is reflected as gain on sale of investment See Note 9Other Non-

Operating Expense for further information

25 EARNINGS PER SHARE

Basic and diluted earnings per share are based on the weighted-average number of shares of common stock and potential

common stock outstanding during the period Potential common stock for purposes of determining diluted earnings per share

includes the effects of dilutive restricted stock units stock options and convertible securities The effect of such potential

common stock is computed using the treasury stock method or the if-converted method as applicable

The following tables present reconciliation of the numerator and denominator of the basic and diluted earnings per share

computation for income from continuing operations for the years ended December 31 2013 2012 and 2011 In the table below

income represents the numerator and weighted-average shares represent the denominator
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Years Ended December 31
2013 2012 2011

Sper $per Sper
Income Shares Share Loss Shares Share Income Shares Share

in millions except per share data

BASIC EARNINGS PER SHARE

Income loss from continuing operations

attributable to The AES Corporation common
stockholders 284 743 0.38 960 755 1.27 506 778 0.65

EFFECT OF DILUTIVE SECURITIES

Stock options

Restricted stock units
________

DILUTED EARNINGS PER SHARE 284 748 0.38 960 755 1.27 506 783 0.65

The calculation of diluted earnings per share excluded million million and million options outstanding at

December 31 2013 2012 and 2011 respectively that could potentially dilute basic earnings per share in the future These

options were not included in the computation of diluted earnings per share because their exercise price exceeded the average
market price during the related period

The calculation of diluted earnings per share excluded million options outstanding at December 31 2012 that could

potentially dilute earnings per
share in the future These options were not included in the computation of diluted earnings per

share for the year ended December 31 2012 because their inclusion would be anti-dilutive given the loss from continuing

operations in the related period Had the Company generated income from continuing operations in the year ended

December 2012 million of potential common shares of common stock related to the restricted stock units would have

been included in diluted average shares
outstanding

The calculation of diluted earnings per share also excluded million restricted stock units outstanding at December 31
2013 and 2012 that could potentially dilute basic earnings per share in the future These restricted stock units were not included

in the computation of diluted earnings per share because the average amount of compensation cost per share attributed to future

service and not yet recognized exceeded the average market price during the related period and thus to include the restricted

units would have been anti-dilutive The calculation of diluted earnings per share also excluded million restricted stock units

outstanding at December 31 2012 that could potentially dilute earnings per share in the future These restricted units were not

included in the computation of diluted earnings per share for the year ended December 2012 because their impact would be

anti-dilutive given the loss from continuing operations Had the Company generated income from continuing operations in the

year ended December 31 2012 million of potential common shares of common stock related to the restricted stock units

would have been included in diluted
average shares outstanding

For the
years ended December 31 2013 2012 and 2011 all convertible debentures were omitted from the earnings per

share calculation because they were anti-dilutive

During the
year ended December 31 2013 million shares of common stock were issued under the Companys profit

sharing plan and million shares of common stock were issued upon the exercise of stock options

26 RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

AES is diversified power generation and utility company organized into six market-oriented Strategic Business Units

SBUs See additional discussion of the Companys principal markets in Note 17Segment and Geographic Information
Within our six SBUs we have two primary lines of business Generation and Utilities The Generation line of business uses

wide range of fuels and technologies to generate electricity such as coal gas hydro wind solar and biomass Our Utilities

business is comprised of businesses that transmit distribute and in certain circumstances generate power In addition the

Company has operations in the renewables area These efforts include projects primarily in wind and solar

Operating and Economic RisksThe Company operates in several developing economies where macroeconomic
conditions are usually more volatile than developed economies Deteriorating market conditions often

expose the Company to

the risk of decreased earnings and cash flows due to among other factors adverse fluctuations in the commodities and foreign

currency spot markets Additionally credit markets around the globe continue to tighten their standards which could impact our

ability to finance growth projects through access to capital markets Currently the Company has below-investment grade

rating from Standard Poors of BB- This could affect the Companys ability to finance new and/or existing development
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projects at competitive interest rates As of December 31 2013 the Company had $1.6 billion of unrestricted cash and cash

equivalents

During 2013 approximately 77% of our revenue and 97% of our revenue from discontinued businesses was generated

outside the United States and significant portion of our international operations is conducted in developing countries We

continue to invest in several developing countries to expand our existing platform
and operations International operations

particularly the operation financing and development of projects in developing countries entail significant risks and

uncertainties including without limitation

economic social and political instability in any particular country or region

inability to economically hedge energy prices

volatility in commodity prices

adverse changes in currency exchange rates

government restrictions on converting currencies or repatriating funds

unexpected changes in foreign laws regulatory framework or in trade monetary or fiscal policies

high inflation such as Argentina See Note 29Subsequent Events for the Argentine Peso devaluation after year end

and monetary fluctuations

restrictions on imports of coal oil gas or other raw materials required by our generation businesses to operate

threatened or consummated expropriation or nationalization of our assets by foreign governments

unwillingness of governments government agencies similar organizations or other counterparties to honor their

commitments

unwillingness of governments government agencies courts or similarbodies to enforce contracts that are

economically advantageous to subsidiaries of the Company and economically unfavorable to counterparties against

such counterparties whether such counterparties are govermnents or private parties

inability to obtain access to fair and equitable political regulatory administrative and legal systems

adverse changes in government tax policy

difficulties in enforcing our contractual rights or enforcing judgments or obtaining just result in local jurisdictions

and

potentially
adverse tax consequences

of operating in multiple jurisdictions

Any of these factors individually or in combination with others could materially and adversely affect our business

results of operations and financial condition In addition our Latin American operations experience volatility in revenue and

earnings which have caused and are expected to cause significant volatility in our results of operations and cash flows The

volatility is caused by regulatory and economic difficulties political instability indexation of certain PPAs to fuel prices and

currency
fluctuations being experienced in many of these countries particularly Argentina This volatility reduces the

predictability and enhances the uncertainty associated with cash flows from these businesses

Our inability to predict influence or respond appropriately to changes in law or regulatory schemes including any

inability to obtain reasonable increases in tariffs or tariff adjustments for increased expenses could adversely impact our results

of operations or our ability to meet publicly announced projections or analysts expectations Furthermore changes in laws or

regulations or changes in the application or interpretation of regulatory provisions in jurisdictions where we operate

particularly our Utility businesses where electricity tariffs are subject to regulatory review or approval could adversely affect

our business including but not limited to

changes in the determination definition or classification of costs to be included as reimbursable or pass-through costs

changes in the definition or determination of controllable or noncontrollable costs

adverse changes in tax law

changes in the definition of events which may or may not qualify as changes in economic equilibrium

changes in the timing of tariff increases

other changes in the regulatory determinations under the relevant concessions or

changes in environmental regulations including regulations relating to GHG emissions in any of our businesses

Any of the above events may result in lower margins for the affected businesses which can adversely affect our results of

operations
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THE AES CORPORATION

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTSContinued
DECEMBER 31 2013 2012 AND 2011

Foreign Currency RisksAES operates businesses in many foreign countries and such operations could be impacted by
significant fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates Fluctuations in currency exchange rate between Dollar and the

following currencies could create significant fluctuations to earnings and cash flows the Argentine peso the Brazilian real the

Dominican Republic peso the Euro the Chilean peso the Colombian peso the Philippine peso and the Kazakhstan Tenge

ConcentrationsDue to the geographical diversity of its operations the Company does not have any significant
concentration of customers or sources of fuel supply Several of the Companys generation businesses rely on PPAs with one or

limited number of customers for the majority of and in some cases all of the relevant businesses
output over the term of the

PPAs However no single customer accounted for 10% or more of total revenue in 2013 2012 or 2011

The cash flows and results of operations of our businesses depend on the credit quality of their customers and the

continued ability of their customers and suppliers to meet their obligations under PPAs and fuel supply agreements If

substantial portion of the Companys long-term PPAs and/or fuel supply were modified or terminated the Company would be

adversely affected to the extent that it was unable to replace such contracts at equally favorable terms

27 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Certain of our businesses in Panama the Dominican Republic and Kazakhstan are partially owned by governments either

directly or through state-owned institutions In the ordinary course of business these businesses enter into
energy purchase and

sale transactions and transmission
agreements with other state-owned institutions which are controlled by such governments

At two of our generation businesses in Mexico the offiakers exercise significant influence but not control through

representation on these businesses Board of Directors These offiakers are also required to hold nominal
ownership interest in

such businesses In Chile we provide capacity and energy under contractual arrangements to our investments which are
accounted for under the equity method of

accounting Additionally the Company provides certain support and management
services to several of its affiliates under various agreements The Companys Consolidated Statements of Operations included
the following transactions with related parties for the years indicated

Years Ended December 31

2013 2012 2011

in millions

RevenueNon-Regulated 825 820 657
Cost of SalesNon-Regulated 161 120 125

Interest expense
10

The following table summarizes the balances receivable from and payable to related parties included in the Companys
Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31 2013 and 2012

2013 2012

in millions

Receivables from related parties
109 146

Accounts and notes payable to related parties 67 195

During 2013 the Company repurchased 20 million shares of its common stock from China Investment CorporationCIC for $258 million See Note 16 Equity Stock Repurchase Program for further information

During 2011 the Company sold 19% of its interest in Mong Duong to Stable Investment Corporation subsidiary of
CIC At December 31 2011 Terrific Investment Corporation also subsidiary of CIC owned approximately 15% of the

Companys outstanding shares of common stock and has representation on the Companys Board of Directors

28 SELECTED QUARTERLY FINANCIAL DATA UNAUDITED

Quarterly Financial Data

The following tables summarize the unaudited quarterly statements of operations for the Company for 2013 and 2012
Amounts have been restated to reflect discontinued operations in all periods presented and reflect all adjustments necessary in

the opinion of management for fair statement of the results for interim periods

180
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTSContinued

DECEMBER 31 2013 2012 AND 2011

Quarter Ended 2013

Revenue

Operating margin

Income loss from continuing operations net of tax

Discontinued operations net of tax ____________ ____________

Net income loss

Net income loss attributable to The AES Corporation __________

Basic income loss per
share

Income loss from continuing operations attributable to The AES Corporation net of tax

Discontinued operations attributable to The AES Corporation net of tax
___________ ___________

Basic income loss per share attributable to The AES Corporation
___________ ___________

Diluted income loss per share

Income loss from continuing operations attributable to The AES Corporation net of tax

Discontinued operations attributable to The AES Corporation net of tax
__________ __________

Diluted income loss per share attributable to The AES Corporation ___________ ___________

Dividends declared per common share
___________

Quarter Ended 2012

Mar31 June30 Sept30 Dec31

in millions except per share data

4448 3990 4353 4373

1044 693 964 882

504 150 1429 355

11 57 27 32
515 207 1.402 323

341 140 1.568 175

Revenue

Operating margin

Income loss from continuing operations net of tax2

Discontinued operations net of tax

Net income loss

Net income loss attributable to The AES Corporation ___________ ___________ ___________ ___________

Basic income loss per share

Income loss from continuing operations attributable to The AES Corporation net of tax 0.43 0.10 2.12 0.29

Discontinued operations attributable to The AES Corporation net of tax 0.02 0.08 0.02 0.06

Basic income loss per share attributable to The AES Corporation
0.45 0.18 2.10 0.23

Diluted income loss per share

Income loss from continuing operations attributable to The AES Corporation net of tax

Discontinued operations attributable to The AES Corporation net of tax ___________ ___________ ___________ ___________

Diluted income loss per share attributable to The AES Corporation ___________ ___________ ___________ ___________

Dividends declared per common share
____________ ____________

Includes pretax impairment expense
of $48 million $0 million $74 million and $467 million for the first second third and fourth

quarters of 2013 respectively See Note 1Asset Impairment Expense and Note 10Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets for

further discussion

Includes pretax impairment expense of$lO million $18 million $1.9 billion and $31 million for the first second third and fourth

quarters of 2012 respectively See Note 21Asset Impairment Expense and Note 10Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets for

further discussion

29 SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

Argentina Exchange RateIn the third week of January 2014 the Argentine Peso experienced significant decline

against the U.S dollar after the central bank reduced its intervention in currency
markets The Argentine economy faced

sustained high inflation in several recent years based on unofficial estimates the inflation statistics published by the

government are approximately 10% lower The expectations for the unofficial inflation in 2014 remain high If this situation

continues Argentina may face the risk of hyperinflation as defined in U.S GAAP situation where the cumulative inflation

over three years approximates 100% or more As of December 31 2013 the aggregate carrying amount of the Companys

investment in Argentina was $481 million

U.S Wind projects saleThe sale of U.S wind projects closed on January 30 2014 See Note 23 Discontinued

Operations and Held-for-Sale Businesses for further information

Mar31 June30 Sept30 Dec31

in millions except per share data

4150 3943 3998 3800

749 901 927 670

230 332 341 173

31 118 31
199 333 223 204

82 167 71 206

0.15 0.22 0.24 0.23

0.04 0.15 0.05

0.11 0.22 0.09 0.28

0.15 0.22 0.24 0.23

0.04 0.15 0.05

0.11 0.22 0.09 0.28

0.08 0.09

0.43 0.10 2.12 0.29

0.01 0.08 0.02 0.06

0.44 0.18 2.10 0.23

0.04 0.04
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Recourse Debt On February 14 2014 the Company commenced tender offers to purchase collectively the Tender

Offers for cash up to total of $300 million aggregate principal amount of its outstanding 7.75% senior notes due 2015
9.75% senior notes due 2016 and 8.00% senior notes due 2017 The tender offers are subject to certain customary terms and
conditions which are described in the tender offer documentation including obtaining financing to fund the tender offers The
Tender Offers are scheduled to expire at 1159 p.m New York City time on March 14 2014 unless extended or earlier

terminated by AES

SaurashtraThe sale of AES Saurashtra Private Ltd closed on February 24 2014 See Note 23 Discontinued

Operations and Held-for-Sale Businesses for further information
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ITEM CHANGES INAND DISAGREEMENTS WITHACCOUNTANTS ONA CCOUNTING AND

FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

None

ITEM 9A CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Conclusion Regarding the Effectiveness of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

The Company maintains disclosure controls and procedures that are designed to ensure that information required to be

disclosed in the reports that the Company files or submits under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as amended the

Exchange Act is recorded processed summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the SECs rules and

forms and that such information is accumulated and communicated to the Chief Executive Officer CEOand Chief

Financial Officer CFOas appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosures

The Company carried out the evaluation required by Rules 3a-l 5b and 5d- 15b under the supervision and with the

participation of our management including the CEO and CFO of the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and

procedures as defined in the Exchange Act Rules 3a- 15e and Sd- 15e Based upon this evaluation the CEO and CFO

concluded that as of December 31 2013 our disclosure controls and procedures were effective

Managements Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

Management of the Company is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial

reporting as defined in Rule 13a-15f under the Exchange Act The Companys internal control over financial reporting is

process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial

statements for external purposes
in accordance with GAAP and includes those policies and procedures that

pertain to the maintenance of records that in reasonable detail accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and

dispositions of the assets of the Company

provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements

in accordance with GAAP and that receipts and expenditures of the Company are being made only in accordance with

authorizations of management and directors of the Company and

provide reasonable assurance that unauthorized acquisition use or disposition of the Companys assets that could have

material effect on the financial statements are prevented or detected timely

Management including our CEO and CFO does not expect that our internal controls will prevent or detect all errors and

all fraud control system no matter how well designed and operated can provide only reasonable not absolute assurance

that the objectives of the control system are met Further the design of control system must reflect the fact that there are

resource constraints and the benefits of controls must be considered relative to their costs In addition any evaluation of the

effectiveness of controls is subject to risks that those internal controls may become inadequate in future periods because of

changes in business conditions or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures deteriorates

Management assessed the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31 2013 In

making this assessment management used the criteria established in Internal ControlIntegrated Framework issued by the

Committee of Sponsoring Organizations COSO in 1992 Based on this assessment management believes that the Company

maintained effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31 2013

The effectiveness of the Companys internal control over financial reporting as of December 31 2013 has been audited

by Ernst Young LLP an independent registered public accounting firm as stated in their report which appears
herein

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

There were no changes that occurred during the quarter ended December 31 2013 that have materially affected or are

reasonably likely to materially affect our internal control over financial reporting
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Board of Directors and Stockholders of The AES Corporation

We have audited The AES Corporations internal control over financial reporting as of December 31 2013 based on criteria

established in Internal
Control-Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway

Commission 1992 framework the COSO criteria The AES Corporations management is responsible for maintaining
effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial

reporting included in the accompanying Managements Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting Our responsibility
is to express an opinion on the Companys internal control over financial reporting based on our audit

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board United States
Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal

control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects Our audit included obtaining an understanding of

internal control over financial reporting assessing the risk that material weakness exists testing and evaluating the design and

operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk and performing such other procedures as we considered

necessary in the circumstances We believe that our audit provides reasonable basis for our opinion

companys internal control over financial reporting is process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the

reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external
purposes in accordance with generally

accepted accounting principles companys internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures
that pertain to the maintenance of records that in reasonable detail accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and

dispositions of the assets of the company provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit
preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles and that receipts and

expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the

company and provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition use or

disposition of the companys assets that could have material effect on the financial statements

Because of its inherent limitations internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements Also
projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate
because of changes in conditions or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate

In our opinion The AES Corporation maintained in all material respects effective internal control over financial
reporting as

of December 31 2013 based on the COSO criteria

We also have audited in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board United States
the consolidated balance sheets of The AES Corporation as of December 31 2013 and 2012 and the related consolidated

statements of operations comprehensive income changes in equity and cash flows for each of the three years in the period
ended December 31 2013 of The AES Corporation and our report dated

February 25 2014 expressed an unqualified opinion
thereon

/si Ernst Young LLP

McLean Virginia

February 25 2014

ITEM 9B OTHER INFORMATION

None
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PART III

ITEM 10 DIRECTORS EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The following information is incorporated by reference from the Registrants Proxy Statement for the Registrants 2014

Annual Meeting of Stock Holders which the Registrant expects will be filed on or around March 42014 the 2014 Proxy

Statement

information regarding the directors required by this item found under the heading Board of Directors

information regarding AESs Code of Ethics found under the heading AES Code of Business Conduct and

Corporate Governance Guidelines

information regarding compliance with Section 16 of the Exchange Act required by this item found under the

heading Governance MattersSection 16a Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance and

information regarding AESs Financial Audit Committee found under the heading The Committees of the Board

FinancialAudit Committee the Audit Committee

Certain information regarding executive officers required by this Item is set forth as supplementary item in Part hereof

pursuant to Instruction to Item 401b of Regulation S-K The other information required by this Item to the extent not

included above will be contained in our 2013 Proxy Statement and is herein incorporated by reference

ITEM 11 EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The following information is contained in the 2014 Proxy Statement and is incorporated by reference the information

regarding executive compensation contained under the heading Compensation Discussion and Analysis and the Compensation

Committee Report on Executive Compensation under the heading Report of the Compensation Committee

ITEM 12 SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENTAND

RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners

See the information contained under the caption Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners Directors and

Executive Officers of the Proxy Statement for the 2014 Annual Meeting of Shareholders of the Registrant which information

is incorporated herein by reference

Security Ownership of Directors and Executive Officers

See the information contained under the caption Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners Directors and

Executive Officers of the Proxy Statement for the 2014 Annual Meeting of Shareholders of the Registrant which information

is incorporated herein by reference

Changes in Control

None

Securities Authorized for Issuance under Equity Compensation Plans

The following table provides information about shares of AES common stock that may be issued under AES equity

compensation plans as of December 31 2013
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Securities Authorized for Issuance under Equity Compensation Plans As of December 31 2013

Number of securities

remaining available for

Weighted average future issuance under
exercise price of equity compensation plans

outstanding options excluding securities

warrants and rights reflected in column

14.91 14571150

14.91 14.571.150

Number of securities

to be issued upon exercise

of outstanding options

warrants and rights

15174730

15174730

Plan category

Equity compensation plans approved by security holdersW

Equity compensation plans not approved by security

holders

Total

The following equity compensation plans have been approved by the Companys Stockholders

The AES Corporation 2003 Long Term Compensation Plan was adopted in 2003 and provided for 17000000
shares authorized for issuance thereunder In 2008 an amendment to the Plan to provide an additional 12000000
shares was approved by AES stockholders bringing the total authorized shares to 29000000 In 2010 an

additional amendment to the Plan to provide an additional 9000000 shares was approved by AESs stockholders

bringing the total authorized shares to 38000000 The weighted average exercise price of Options outstanding
under this plan included in Column is $14.86 excluding PSU and RSU awards with 14571150 shares

available for future issuance

The AES Corporation 2001 Plan for outside directors adopted in 2001 provided for 2750000 shares authorized for

issuance The weighted average exercise price of Options outstanding under this plan included in Column is

$18.62 In conjunction with the 2010 amendment to the 2003 Long Term Compensation plan ongoing award
issuance from this plan was discontinued in 2010 Any remaining shares under this plan which are not reserved for

issuance under outstanding awards are not available for future issuance and thus the amount of 2061723 shares is

not included in Column above

The AES Corporation Second Amended and Restated Deferred Compensation Plan for directors provided for

2000000 shares authorized for issuance Column excludes the Director stock units granted thereunder In

conjunction with the 2010 amendment to the 2003 Long Term Compensation Plan ongoing award issuance from
this plan was discontinued in 2010 as Director stock units will be issued from the 2003 Long Term Compensation
Plan Any remaining shares under this plan which are not reserved for issuance under outstanding awards are not
available for future issuance and thus the amount of 105341 shares is not included in Column above

The AES Corporation lncentive Stock Option Plan adopted in 1991 provided for 57500000 shares authorized for

issuance The weighted average exercise price of Options outstanding under this plan included in Column is

$35.44 This plan terminated on June 2001 such that no additional grants may be granted under the plan after

that date Any remaining shares under this plan which are not reserved for issuance under outstanding awards are

not available for future issuance in light of this plans termination and thus 24354930 shares are not included in

Column above

Includes 6958098 of which 2658412 are vested and 4299686 are unvested shares
underlying PSU and RSU

awards assuming performance at maximum level 1351573 shares underlying Director stock unit awards and

6865059 shares issuable upon the exercise of Stock Option grants for an aggregate number of 15174730 shares

ITEM 13 CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

The information regarding related party transactions required by this item is included in the 2014 Proxy Statement found

under the headings Transactions with Related Persons Proposal Election of Directors and The Committees of the Board and
are incorporated herein by reference

ITEM 14 PRINCIPAL CCOUNTANT FEES AND SER VICES

The information concerning principal accountant fees and services included in the 2014 Proxy Statement contained under

the heading information Regarding The Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm Fees Services and Independence
and is incorporated herein by reference
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PART IV

ITEM 15 EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

Financial Statements

Financial Statements and Schedules Page

Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31 2013 and 2012 115

Consolidated Statements of Operations for the years ended December 31 2013 2012 and 2011 116

Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income for the years ended December 31 2013 2012 and 2011 117

Consolidated Statements of Changes in Equity for the years ended December 31 2013 20121 and 2011 118

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended December 31 2013 2012 and 2011 119

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 120

Schedules S-2-S-8

Exhibits

3.1 Sixth Restated Certificate of Incorporation of The AES Corporation is incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit

3.1 of the Companys Form 10-K for the year ended December 31 2008

3.2 By-Laws of The AES Corporation as amended and incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 3.1 of the

Companys Form 8-K filed on August 11 2009

There are numerous instruments defining the rights of holders of long-term indebtedness of the Registrant and its

consolidated subsidiaries none of which exceeds ten percent of the total assets of the Registrant and its

subsidiaries on consolidated basis The Registrant hereby agrees to furnish copy of any of such agreements to

the Commission upon request Since these documents are not required filings under Item 601 of Regulation S-K

the Company has elected to file certain of these documents as Exhibits 4.a4.p

4.a Junior Subordinated Indenture dated as of March 1997 between The AES Corporation and Wells Fargo Bank
National Association as successor to Bank One National Association formerly known as The First National

Bank of Chicago is incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 4.a of the Companys Form 10-K for the year

ended December 31 2008

4.b Third Supplemental Indenture dated as of October 14 1999 between The AES Corporation and Wells Fargo

Bank National Association as successor to Bank One National Association is incorporated herein by reference to

Exhibit 4.b of the Companys Form 10-K for the year ended December 31 2008

4.c Senior Indenture dated as of December 1998 between The AES Corporation and Wells Fargo Bank National

Association as successor to Bank One National Association formerly known as The First National Bank of

Chicago is incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 4.01 of the Companys Form 8-K filed on December 11
1998 SEC File No 001-12291

4.d Form of Second Supplemental Indenture dated as of June 11 1999 between The AES Corporation and Wells

Fargo Bank National Association as successor to Bank One National Association formerly known as The First

National Bank of Chicago is incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 4.01 of the Companys Form 8-K filed

on June 11 1999 SEC File No 001-12291

4.e Third Supplemental Indenture dated as of September 12 2000 between The AES Corporation and Wells Fargo

Bank National Association as successor to Bank One National Association is incorporated herein by reference to

Exhibit 4.e of the Companys Form 10-K for the year ended December 31 2008

4.f Form of Fifth Supplemental Indenture dated as of February 2001 between The AES Corporation and Wells

Fargo Bank National Association as successor to Bank One National Association is incorporated herein by

reference to Exhibit 4.1 of the Companys Form 8-K filed on February 2001 SEC File No 00 1-12291

4.g Form of Sixth Supplemental Indenture dated as of February 22 2001 between The AES Corporation and Wells

Fargo Bank National Association as successor to Bank One National Association is incorporated herein by

reference to Exhibit 4.1 of the Companys Form 8-K filed on February 21 2001 SEC File No 001-12291
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4.h Ninth Supplemental Indenture dated as of April 2003 between The AES Corporation and Wells Fargo Bank
National Association as successor by consolidation to Wells Fargo Bank Minnesota National Association is

incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 4.6 of the Companys Form S-4 filed on December 2007

4.i Form of Tenth Supplemental Indenture dated as of February 13 2004 between The AES Corporation and Wells

Fargo Bank National Association as successor by consolidation to Wells Fargo Bank Minnesota National

Association is incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 4.1 of the Companys Form 8-K filed on February 13
2004 SEC File No 001-12291

4.j Eleventh Supplemental Indenture dated as of October 15 2007 between The AES Corporation and Wells Fargo
Bank National Association is incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 4.7 of the Companys Form S-4 filed on
December 2007

4.k Twelfth Supplemental Indenture dated as of October 15 2007 between The AES Corporation and Wells Fargo

Bank National Association is incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 4.8 of the Companys Form S-4 filed on
December 2007

41 Thirteenth Supplemental Indenture dated as of May 19 2008 between The AES Corporation and Wells Fargo

Bank National Association is incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 4.l of the Companys Form 10-K for

the year ended December 31 2008

4.m Fourteenth Supplemental Indenture dated as of April 2009 between The AES Corporation and Wells Fargo

Bank National Association is incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 99.1 of the Companys Form 8-K filed

on April 2009

4.n Fifteenth Supplemental Indenture dated as of June 15 2011 between The AES Corporation and Wells Fargo
Bank National Association is incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 4.3 of the Companys Form 8-K filed on
June 15 2011

4.o Indenture dated October 2011 between Dolphin Subsidiary II Inc and Wells Fargo Bank National

Association is incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 4.1 of the Companys Form 8-K filed on October

2011

Sixteenth Supplemental Indenture dated April 30 2013 between The AES Corporation and Wells Fargo Bank
N.A as Trustee is incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 4.1 of the Companys Form 8-K filed on April 30
2013 SEC File No 001-12291

10.1 The AES Corporation Profit Sharing and Stock Ownership Plan are incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit

of the Registration Statement on Form S-8 Registration No 33-49262 filed on July 1992

10.2 The AES Corporation Incentive Stock Option Plan of 1991 as amended is incorporated herein by reference to

Exhibit 10.30 of the Companys Form 10-K for the year ended December 31 1995 SEC File No 00019281

10.3 Applied Energy Services Inc Incentive Stock Option Plan of 1982 is incorporated herein by reference to

Exhibit 10.31 of the Registration Statement on Form S-i Registration No 33-40483

10.4 Deferred Compensation Plan for Executive Officers as amended is incorporated herein by reference to

Exhibit 10.32 of Amendment No to the Registration Statement on Form S-i Registration No 33-40483

10.5 Deferred Compensation Plan for Directors as amended and restated on February 17 2012 is incorporated herein

by reference to Exhibit 10.5 of the Companys Form 10-K for the
year ended December 31 2012

10.6 The AES Corporation Stock Option Plan for Outside Directors as amended and restated on December 2007 is

incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.6 of the Companys Form 10-K for the year ended December 31
2012

10.7 The AES Corporation Supplemental Retirement Plan is incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.63 of the

Companys Form 10-K for the
year ended December 31 1994 SEC File No 00019281

10.7A Amendment to The AES Corporation Supplemental Retirement Plan dated March 13 2008 is incorporated herein

by reference to Exhibit 0.9.A of the Companys Form 10-K for the
year ended December 31 2007

10.8 The AES Corporation 2001 Stock Option Plan is incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.12 of the

Companys Form 10-K for the year ended December 31 2000 SEC File No 001-12291

10.9 Second Amended and Restated Deferred Compensation Plan for Directors is incorporated herein by reference to

Exhibit 10.13 of the Companys Form 10-K for the year ended December 31 2000 SEC File No 001-12291

10.10 The AES Corporation 2001 Non-Officer Stock Option Plan is incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.12 of

the Companys Form 10-K for the
year ended December 31 2002 SEC File No 001-12291
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10.1 0A Amendment to the 2001 Stock Option Plan and 2001 Non-Officer Stock Option Plan dated March 13 2008 is

incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 2.A of the Companys Form 10-K for the
year

ended

December 31 2007

10.11 The AES Corporation 2003 Long Term Compensation Plan as amended and restated on April 22 2010 is

incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the Companys Form 8-K filed on April 27 2010

10.12 Form of AES Nonqualified Stock Option Award Agreement under The AES Corporation 2003 Long Term

Compensation Plan Outside Directors is incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.2 of the Companys

Form 8-K filed on April 27 2010

10.13 Form of AES Performance Stock Unit Award Agreement under The AES Corporation 2003 Long Term

Compensation Plan filed herewith

10.14 Form of AES Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement under The AES Corporation 2003 Long Term

Compensation Plan filed herewith

10.15 Form of AES Performance Unit Award Agreement under The AES Corporation 2003 Long Term Compensation

Plan filed herewith

10.16 Form of AES Nonqualified Stock Option Award Agreement under The AES Corporation 2003 Long Term

Compensation Plan filed herewith

10.17 The AES Corporation Restoration Supplemental Retirement Plan as amended and restated dated December 29

2008 is incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.15 of the Companys Form 10-K for the year ended

December 31 2008

10 17A Amendment to The AES Corporation Restoration Supplemental Retirement Plan dated December 2011 is

incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 7A of the Companys Form 10-K for the year ended December 31

2012

10.18 The AES Corporation International Retirement Plan as amended and restated on December 29 2008 is

incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.16 of the Companys Form 10-K for the year ended December 31

2008

10.1 8A Amendment to The AES Corporation International Retirement Plan dated December 2011 is incorporated

herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 8A of the Companys Form 10-K for the year ended December 31 2012

10.19 The AES Corporation Severance Plan as amended and restated on October 28 2011 is incorporated herein by

reference to Exhibit 10.19 of the Companys Form 10-K for the
year

ended December 31 2011

10.20 The AES Corporation Amended and Restated Executive Severance Plan dated August 2012 is incorporated

herein by reference to Exhibit 10.2 of the Companys Form lO-Q for the period ended June 30 2012

10.21 The AES Corporation Performance Incentive Plan as amended and restated on April 22 2010 is incorporated

herein by reference to Exhibit 10.4 of the Companys Form 8-K filed on April 27 2010

10.22 The AES Corporation Deferred Compensation Program For Directors dated February 17 2012 is incorporated

herein by reference to Exhibit 10.22 of the Companys Form 10-K filed on December 31 2011

10.23 The AES Corporation Amended and Restated Employment Agreement with Paul Hanrahan is incorporated herein

by reference to Exhibit 99.1 of the Companys Form 8-K filed on December 31 2008

10.24 The AES Corporation Amended and Restated Employment Agreement with Victoria Harker is incorporated

herein by reference to Exhibit 99.2 of the Companys Form 8-K filed on December 31 2008

10.25 The AES Corporation Employment Agreement with AndrØs Gluski is incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit

99.3 of the Companys Form 8-K filed on December 31 2008

10.26 Separation Agreement between Paul Hanrahan and The AES Corporation dated September 2011 is

incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the Companys Form 10-Q for the period ended September 30 2011

10.27 Mutual Agreement between AndrØs Gluski and The AES Corporation dated October 2011 is incorporated

herein by reference to Exhibit 10.2 of the Companys Form l0-Q for the period ended September 30 2011

10.28 Separation Agreement dated April 27 2012 between the Company and Victoria Harker is incorporated herein

by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the Companys Form 10-Q for the period ended June 30 2012
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10.29 Separation Agreement dated November 19 2012 between the Company and Edward Hall III is incorporated
herein by reference to Exhibit 10.29 of the Companys Form 10-K for the year ended December 31 2012

10.30 Amendment No dated as of July 26 2013 to the Fifth Amended and Restated Credit and Reimbursement

Agreement dated as of July 29 2010 is incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the Companys Form
8-K filed on July 29 2013

l0.30A
Sixth Amended and Restated Credit and Reimbursement Agreement dated as of July 26 2013 among The AES
Corporation Delaware corporation the Banks listed on the signature pages thereof Citibank N.A as

Administrative Agent and Collateral Agent Citigroup Global Markets Inc as Lead Arranger and Book Runner
Bane of America Securities LLC as Lead Arranger and Book Runner and Co-Syndication Agent Barclays

Capital as Lead Arranger and Book Runner and Co-Syndication Agent RBS Securities Inc as Lead Arranger
and Book Runner and Co-Syndication Agent and Union Bank N.A as Lead Arranger and Book Runner and Co
Syndication Agent is incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10 l.A of the Companys Form 8-K filed on July
29 2013

lO.30B Appendices and Exhibits to the Sixth Amended and Restated Credit and Reimbursement Agreement dated as of

July 29 2013 is incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.l.B of the Companys Form 8-K filed on July 29
2013

10.31 Collateral Trust Agreement dated as of December 12 2002 among The AES Corporation AES International

Holdings II Ltd Wilmington Trust Company as corporate trustee and Bruce Bisson an individual trustee is

incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 4.2 of the Companys Form 8-K filed on December 17 2002 SEC
File No 001-12291

10.32
Security Agreement dated as of December 12 2002 made by The AES Corporation to Wilmington
Trust Company as corporate trustee and Bruce Bisson as individual trustee is incorporated herein by reference

to Exhibit 4.3 of the Companys Form 8-K filed on December 17 2002 SEC File No 001-12291

10.33 Charge Over Shares dated as of December 12 2002 between AES International Holdings II Ltd and Wilmington
Trust Company as corporate trustee and Bruce Bisson as individual trustee is incorporated herein by reference

to Exhibit 4.4 of the Companys Form 8-K filed on December 17 2002 SEC File No 001-12291

10.34 Stock Purchase Agreement between The AES Corporation and Terrific Investment Corporation dated November
2009 is incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the Companys Form 8-K filed on November 11

2009

10.35 Stockholder Agreement between The AES Corporation and Terrific Investment Corporation dated March 12 2010
is incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the Companys Form 8-K filed on March 15 2010

10.36 Agreement and Plan of Merger dated April 19 2011 by and among The AES Corporation DPL Inc and Dolphin
Sub Inc is incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 2.1 of the Companys Form 8-K filed on April 20 2011

10.37 Credit Agreement dated as of May 27 2011 among The AES Corporation as borrower the banks listed therein
and Bank of America N.A as administrative agent is incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the

Companys Form 8-K filed on June 2011

10.37A Amendment No.1 dated February 27 2013 to the Credit Agreement dated as of May 27 2011 among The AES
Corporation as borrower the banks listed therein and Bank of America N.A as administrative agent is

incorporated herein by reference to exhibit 10.1 of the Companys Form 10-Q for the period ending March 31
2013

10.38 Common Stock Repurchase Agreement dated as of December 112013 by and between The AES Corporation
and Terrific Investment Corporation is incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the Companys Form 8-

filed on December 13 2013

12 Statement of computation of ratio of earnings to fixed charges filed herewith

21 Subsidiaries of The AES Corporation filed herewith

23.1 Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm Ernst Young LLP filed herewith

24 Powers of Attorney filed herewith

1.1 Rule 3a- 4a/l Sd- 14a Certification of AndrØs Gluski filed herewith

31.2 Rule 13a-14a/15d-l4a Certification of Thomas OFlynn filed herewith

32.1 Section 1350 Certification of AndrØs Gluski filed herewith

32.2 Section 1350 Certification of Thomas OFlynn filed herewith
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1Ol.INS XBRL Instance Document filed herewith

101 .SCH XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document filed herewith

101 .CAL XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document filed herewith

101 .DEF XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document filed herewith

10l.LAB XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document filed herewith

101 .PRE XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document filed herewith

Schedules

Schedule ICondensed Financial Information of Registrant

Schedule 11Valuation and Qualifying Accounts
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15d of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as amended the Company
has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized

THE AES CORPORATION

Company

Date February 25 2014 By Is ANDREs GLUSKI

Name AndrØs Gluski

President Chief Executive Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as amended this report has been signed below by

the following persons on behalf of the Company and in the capacities and on the dates indicated

Name Title Date

President Chief Executive Officer Principal Executive Officer and Director

AndrØs Gluski
February 25 2014

Director

Zhang Guobao February 25 2014

Director

Charles Harrington February 25 2014

Director

Kristina Johnson February 25 2014

Director

Tarun Khanna February 25 2014

Director

Philip Lader February 25 2014

Director

James Miller February 25 2014

Director

Sandra Moose February 25 2014

Director

John Morse February 25 2014

Director

Moises Naim
February 25 2014

Chairman of the Board and Lead Independent Director

Charles Rossotti February 25 2014

Director

Sven Sandstrom February 25 2014

is THoMAs OFLYNN Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer Principal Financial

Thomas OFlynn
Officer

February 25 2014

is SHARON VIRAG Vice President and Controller Principal Accounting Officer

Sharon Virag
February 25 2014

By is BRIAN MILLER
February 25 2014

Attorney-in-fact
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THE AES CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

INDEX TO FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

Schedule ICondensed Financial Information of Registrant S-2

Schedule 11Valuation and qualifying Accounts 5-8

Schedules other than those listed above are omitted as the information is either not applicable not required or has been

thrnished in the financial statements or notes thereto included in Item hereof

See Notes to Schedule

S-l



THE AES CORPORATION

SCHEDULE CONDENSED FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF PARENT

BALANCE SHEETS

December 31

2013 2012

in millions

ASSETS

Current Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 131 305

Restricted cash 177 227

Accounts and notes receivable from subsidiaries 708 594

Deferred income taxes

Prepaid expenses and other current assets 39 28

Total current assets 1059 1162

Investment in and advances to subsidiaries and affiliates 9245 9393

Office Equipment

Cost 78 86

Accumulated depreciation 65 72
Office equipment net 13 14

Other Assets

Deferred financing costs net of accumulated amortization of $71 and $58 respectively 75 76

Deferred income taxes 857 573

Other Assets

Total other assets 933 649

Total 11250 11218

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS EQUITY
Current Liabilities

Accounts payable 15 15

Accounts and notes payable to subsidiaries 49 50

Accrued and other liabilities 216 241

Senior notes payablecurrent portion 118 11

Total current liabilities 398 317

Long-term Liabilities

Senior notes payable 5034 5434

Junior subordinated notes and debentures payable 517 517

Accounts and notes payable to subsidiaries 859 242

Other long-term liabilities 112 139

Total long-term liabilities 6522 6332

Stockholders equity

Common stock

Additional paid-in capital 8443 8525

Accumulated deficit 150 264
Accumulated other comprehensive loss 2882 2920
Treasury stock 1089 780
Total stockholders equity 4330 4569

Total 11250 11218

See Notes to Schedule
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THE AES CORPORATION

SCHEDULE CONDENSED FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF PARENT

STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

For the Years Ended December 31

Revenue from subsidiaries and affiliates

Equity in earnings loss of subsidiaries and affiliates

Interest income

General and administrative expenses

Other Income

Other Expense

Loss on extinguishment of debt

Interest expense

Income loss before income taxes

Income tax benefit expense

Net income loss

See Notes to Schedule

32 20 59

498 437 352

66 119 158

171 213 227

165

436 502 444

173 933 116
287 21 174

114 912 58

2013 2012 2011

in millions

14

11
99

15 18

S-3



THE AES CORPORATION

SCHEDULE CONDENSED FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF PARENT

STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31 2013 2012 AND 2011

Available-for-sale securities activity

Change in fair value of available-for-sale securities net of income tax

expense benefit of $0 $0 and $0 respectively

Reclassification to earnings net of income tax expense benefit of $0
$0 and $0 respectively

Total change in fair value of available-for-sale securities

Foreign currency translation activity

Foreign currency translation adjustments net of income tax expense
benefit of $10 $0 and $18 respectively

Reclassification to earnings net of income tax expense benefit of $0
$0 and $0 respectively

Total foreign currency translation adjustments net of tax

Derivative activity

Change in derivative fair value net of income tax expense benefit of

$3 $33 and $95 respectively

Reclassification to earnings net of income tax expense benefit of

532 551 and $21 respectively

Total change in fair value of derivatives net of tax

Pension activity

Prior service cost for the period net of tax

Net actuarial loss for the period net of income tax expense benefit of

542 $64 and $25 respectively

Amortization of net actuarial loss net of income tax expense benefit of

55 55 and $1 respectively

Total change in unfunded pension obligation

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME LOSS
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME LOSS

See Notes to Schedule

NET INCOME LOSS

2013 2012 2011

in millions

114 912 58

263 127 297

36 37 154

227 90 143

46 108 311

128 161 121

174 53 190

78 130 43

13

91 125 41
38 162 375

152 1074 317
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THE AES CORPORATION

SCHEDULE CONDENSED FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF PARENT

STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

For the Years Ended December 31

Net cash provided by operating activities

Investing Activities

Proceeds from asset sales net of expenses

Investment in and net advances to subsidiaries

Return of capital

Increase decrease in restricted cash

Additions to property plant and equipment

Purchase sale of short term investments net

Net cash provided by used in investing activities

Financing Activities

Borrowings payments under the revolver net

Borrowings of notes payable and other coupon bearing securities

Repayments of notes payable and other coupon bearing securities

Loans to from subsidiaries

Purchase of treasury stock

Proceeds from issuance of common stock

Common stock dividends paid

Payments for deferred financing costs

Net cash used in provided by financing activities

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash

Increase decrease in cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents beginning

Cash and cash equivalents ending

Supplemental Disclosures

Cash payments for interest net of amounts capitalized

Cash payments for income taxes net of refunds

418 694 719

44

24

466 513 2638

295 295

750 2050

1210 236 477

152 236

322 301 279

119 30
17 75

1057 1091 1513

174 116 405
305 189 594

131 305 189

479 392

2013 2012 2011

in millions

201

230

50

11

168
660

2655
304

261

28

13

See Notes to Schedule

442

11
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THE AES CORPORATION

Application of Significant Accounting Principles

SCHEDULE
NOTES TO SCHEDULE

The Schedule Condensed Financial Information of the Parent includes the accounts of The AES Corporation the

Parent Company and certain holding companies

Accounting for Subsidiaries and AffihiatesThe Parent Company has accounted for the earnings of its subsidiaries on

the equity method in the financial information

Income TaxesPositions taken on the Parent Companys income tax return which satisfy more-likely-than-not

threshold will be recognized in the financial statements The income tax expense or benefit computed for the Parent Company
reflects the tax assets and liabilities on stand-alone basis and the effect of filing consolidated U.S income tax return with

certain other affiliated companies

Accounts and Notes Receivable from SubsidiariesAmounts have been shown in current or long-term assets based on

terms in agreements with subsidiaries but payment is dependent upon meeting conditions precedent in the subsidiary loan

agreements

ReclassificationsDuring the current year certain amounts that have previously been reported as part of General and

administrative expenses on the Statement of Operations have been reclassified to Loss on extinguishment of debt Other

income or Other expense The prior period amounts reported as General and administrative
expenses

have been reclassified to

conform to current presentation

Debt

Senior Notes and Loans Payable

December 31

Senior Unsecured Note

Senior Unsecured Note

Senior Unsecured Note

Senior Unsecured Note

Senior Secured Term Loan

Revolving Loan under Senior Secured Credit Facility

Senior Unsecured Note

Senior Unsecured Note

Senior Unsecured Note

Unamortized discounts

SUBTOTAL

Total

Less Current maturities

Interest Rate Maturity 2013 2012

in millions

110 500

356 500

369 535

1150 1500

799 807

2014

2015

2016

2017

2018

2018

2020

2021

2023

22
5152 5445

118 11
5034 5434

Junior Subordinated Notes Payable

December 31

Term Convertible Trust Securities

Interest Rate Maturity 2013 2012

in millions

6.75% 2029 517 517

FUTURE MATURITIES OF DEBT---Recourse debt as of December 31 2013 is scheduled to reach maturity as set

forth in the table below

7.75%

7.75%

9.75%

8.00%

LIBOR 2.75%

LIBOR 2.25%

8.00%

7.38%

4.88%

625

1000

750

625

1000

S-6



December 31

2014

2015

2016

2017

2018

Thereafter

Total debt

2013 2012 2011

in millions

Subsidiaries 818 1140 1091

Affiliates

Guarantees and Letters of Credit

GUARANTEESIn connection with certain of its project financing acquisition and power purchase agreements the

Company has expressly undertaken limited obligations and commitments most of which will only be effective or will be

terminated upon the occurrence of future events These obligations and commitments excluding those collateralized by letter of

credit and other obligations discussed below were limited as of December 31 2013 by the terms of the agreements to an

aggregate of approximately $661 million representing 21 agreements with individual exposures ranging from less than $1

million up to $280 million

LETTERS OF CREDITAt December 31 2013 the Company had $1 million in letters of credit outstanding under the

senior unsecured credit facility representing agreements with individual exposures ranging up to less than $1 million which

operate to guarantee performance relating to certain project development and construction activities and subsidiary operations

At December 31 2013 the Company had $163 million in cash collateralized letters of credit outstanding representing 12

agreements with individual exposures ranging from less than $1 million up to $109 million which operate to guarantee

performance relating to certain project development and construction activities and subsidiary operations During 2013 the

Company paid letter of credit fees ranging from 0.2% to 3.25% per annum on the outstanding amounts

Annual Maturities

in millions

118

364

368

1158

764

2897

5669

Dividends from Subsidiaries and Affiliates

Cash dividends received from consolidated subsidiaries and from affiliates accounted for by the equity method were as

follows

S-7



THF AES CORPORATION

SCHEDULE II

VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS

IN MILLIONS

Balance at Beginning of Charged to Cost Amounts Translation Balance at the End of

the Period and Expense Written off Adjustment the Period

Allowance thr accounts receivables

current and noncurrent

Year ended December 2011 212 26 41 22 175

Year ended December 312012 175 114 79 15 195

Year ended 31 2013 195 38 77 22 134

S-8
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AES Executive Leadership Team

AndrØs Gluski

President and Chief Executive Officer

Brian Miller

Executive Vice President General Counsel

Corporate Secretary

Thomas OFlynn

Executive Vice President Chief

Financial Officer

Andrew Vesey

Executive Vice President Chief

Operating Officer

Elizabeth Hackenson

Senior Vice President Chief Information

Officer and Global Business Services

AES Board of Directors

Charles Rossotti Chairman
Senior Advisor The Carlyle Group former

Commissioner the IRS former Founder

and Chairman American Management

Systems Inc

AndrØs Gluski

President and Chief Executive Officer

The AES Corporation

Zhang Guo Bao

Vice-Chairman of the Chinese National

Development and Reform Commission

former Administrator of the Chinese

National Energy Administration

Charles Harrington

Chairman and CEO of Parsons Corporation

Kristina Johnson

CEO of Enduring Hydro LLC former

Undersecretary for Energy at the

Department of Energy former Provost and

Senior Vice President for Academic Affairs

atthejohns Hopkins University

Tarun Khanna

Jorge Paulo Lemann Professor at the

Harvard Business School

Philip Lader

Chairman WPP Group plc Senior Advisor

Morgan Stanley former U.S Ambassador to

the Court of St Jamess

James Miller

Former Chairman of PPL Corporation

former Executive Vice President of

USEC Inc President for two ABB Group

subsidiaries

Sandra Moose

President Strategic Advisory Services

LLC Chairperson of the Board of Trustees

Natixis Advisor and Loomis Sayles Funds

former Managing Partner and Director

The Boston Consulting Group

John Morse

Retired Senior Vice President Finance

and CFO Washington Post Company

former Partner Price Waterhouse now

PricewaterhouseCoopers former Trustee

and President Emeritus of the College

Foundation of The University of Virginia

MoisØs Naim

Senior Associate in the International

Economics Program at the Carnegie

Endowment for International Peace and

international columnist and broadcaster

Former Editor in Chief for Foreign Policy

magazine Former Minister of Industry and

Trade and the Central Bank for Venezuela

former Executive Director for the World Bank

Sven Sandstrom

CEO of Hand in Hand International

former Chair for International Funding

Negotiations for the African Development

Bank and the Global Fund to Fight AIDS

TB and Malaria

Company Information

Corporate Office

The AES Corporation

4300 Wilson Boulevard

Arlington VA 22203

USA

703-522-1315

Website

www.aes.com

AES Stock Information

Common stock of The AES

NYSE
Corporation trades under the

symbol AES The AES Corporation is proud

to meet the
listing requirements of the

NYSE the worlds leading equities market

Number of Shareholders

As of December 31 2013 there were

approximately 5930 AES shareholders

of record and 722503856 shares of AES

common stock outstanding

Transfer Agent

The AES Corporation has designated

Computershare Investor Services

Computershare to be its transfer agent

for AES common stock

Please contact Computershare if you need

assistance with lost or stolen AES stock

certificates directly held by you issues

related to dividend checks address changes

name changes and stock transfers

By mail

Computershare

P.O Box 30170

College Station TX 77842-3170

Overnight

Computershare

211 Quality Circle Suite 210

College Station TX 77845

877-373-6374

www.computershare.com/investor

Independent Auditors

Ernst Young

Investor Relations Information

Please visit the Investor Relations section

of the AES website at www.aes.com or you

may contact member of the AES Investor

Relations team

General invest@aes.com

Ahmed Pasha Vice President

Investor Relations 703-682-6451

Media Inquiries

General mediainquiries@aes.com

Amy Ackerman Manager External

Communications 703-682-6399

AES Code of Conduct

AES is committed to demonstrating the

highest standards of business ethics in alt

that we do To that end AES has adopted

Code of Conduct which is available at

our website
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